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To Our Shareholders:

We are pleased to present our fiscal 2006 anrual report and share the clinical and
commercial developments achieved by Accentia during the fiscal year. We reached
significant clinical milestones in the development of SinuNase™ and BiovaxID™ during
the year and also accomplished the commercial taunch of MD Turbo™ and regulatory
approval of AutovaxID™. We remain focused on the development and commercialization
of late-stage, targeted therapeutic clinical products in the areas of respiratory disease
and, through our majority-owned publicly-traded subsidiary, Biovest International Inc.,

oncology.

> > > Looking Back on Fiscal 2006

Product Development Programs:

Significant progress was made during the year in the development of SinuNase and
BiovaxID, our two primary product candidates, both of which are currently in Phase 3
clinical trials. With respect to SinuNase, a potential prescription intranasal amphotericin
B formutation in development to treat chronic sinusitis was granted Fast-Track Status
fram the product from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in June 2006. As
a result, we moved forward and recently commenced the first of two confirmatory 16-
week Phase 3 clinical trials. If SinuNase is approved by the FDA, Accentia will have the
first product available for the estimated 31 million Americans that suffer from chronic
stnusitis. Additionally, in August we signed an amendment to our license agreement with
the Mayo Foundation for Medical Research and Education {Mayo Clinic) that granted
Accentia an exclusive worldwide license to all nan-prescription, over-the-counter
products based on amphotericin B that are intended to treat symptoms associated
with chronic sinusitis. We intend to explore all commercial opportunities through our

agreement with Mayo and look forward to reporting SinuNase developments in 2007.

Through our majority-owned subsidiary, Biovest International, significant advancements
were made this year in the development of BiovaxID, a personalized biologic therapeutic
vaccine in development for folticular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Biovest was granted Fast-
Track Status from the FDA and Orphan Medicinal Product Designation by the European
Medicines Agency in October 2006. In 2006 Biovest received regulatory approval

to open up to 30 new clinical sites in Russia and the Ukraine which is expected to




dramatically increase the number of patients being enrolled for treatment with BiovaxID
during the next 12 to 18 months. BiovaxID also received further clinical recognition
this year through an independent study that demonstrated a highly significant clinical
benefit from the use of a BiovaxID formulation in relapsed non-Hodgkins lymphoma
patients. We are targeting patient enrollment to be complete in 2008 and look forward

to updating you on BiovaxID developments as we move forward.

Commercial Launch

This year, we also announced the commercial launch of MD Turbo and FDA approval of
AutovaxID, and we look forward to the commercialization of both products in 2007. In
the third quarter, we received inventory of MD Turbo and initiated the U.S. commercial
launch in June. The device is now available at pharmacies to patients by prescription, and
is the first and only commercial product available to provide breath-activated delivery
and dose-counting capabilities for traditional asthma inhalers. We also successfully
established MD Turbo as a covered prescription benefit in managed care plans covering
approximately 150 million people and as a covered benefit with plan sponsors under
Medicare Part D. Through our internal sales force at Accentia Pharmaceuticals and the
co-promotion agreement with Exaeris, Inc., we are aggressively marketing MD Turbo and

anticipate that the product will gain significant exposure in 2007.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 20086, Biovest received clearance from the FDA for the
commerctal sale of AutovaxID, the first and only device to automate the production of
complex biologics including BiovaxID. Commercial sales of the AutovaxiD commenced
in the 4th quarter of 2006. Biovest is in the process of creating a new 24,000 sq.
ft. AutovaxlD manufacturing facility in St. Louis, Missouri to meet the anticipated
demand for these instruments. We feel that AutovaxID has the potential to replace
conventional cell-growth chambers that require up to ten times as much laboratory
space, as well as additional labor and increased expenses. The instrument is expected
to be a significant enabling technology for the emerging field of personalized medicine
by allowing companies to process personalized therapeutics in far less costly facilities
while still maintaining sterility and strict segregation of patient-specific materials. We
look forward to accelerating the AutovaxID production program and anticipate reporting

expanding sales in fiscal year 2007.




> > > Business Strategy Moving Forward

Since our inception, our goal has been to acquire, develop, and commercialize innovative
late-stage biopharmaceutical and medical device products that offer the potential for
superior efficacy and safety and that address significant unmet medical needs. Both
SinuNase and BiovaxID are good examples of our product strategy. As we move forward,
we will remain focused on identifying, acquiring, developing and commercializing
additional late-stage clinical products. In particular, we will seek products that are
based on already approved drugs for new indications, andfor new formulations pursuant
to issued patents, in order to create additional clinically and economically valuable
products. These kinds of opportunities often can access the less costly and less time-
consuming 5(5(b){2) regulatory pathway, which allows sponsars to reference prior
publications and approvals of the active pharmaceutical ingredient, albeit in different
formulations.. By focusing on these kinds of preduct opportunities, Accentia believes
that it can expand its product offerings with less risk, less expense, and less time than
required for new chemica!l entities, which must use a lengthier and more rigorous
regulatory pathway. On this front, we intend to pursue the acquisition of these kinds
of additional products that could increase the value of our development pipeline and
complement our existing products and product candidates. This may consist of product
or technetogy acquisitions, in-licensing, or company acquisitions. Although our primary
emphasis in acquiring new products will be in the respiratory and oncology therapeutic
areas, including supportive care, we will consider products in other therapeutic areas

that meet our stringent criteria.

We would like to note the extraordinary efforts throughout fiscal 2006 of our management
team and employees. They continue to build value for Accentia, and we appreciate
their dedication to the company. We also thank you, our shareholders, for your ongoing

commitment and support. We are pleased to have you as a part of the Accentia family.
Sincerely,

W E. O st fJi 10

Francis E. O'Donnell, Jr., M.D.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this annual report on Form 10-K that are not strictly historical in nature are forward-looking statements. These
statements include, but are not limited to, statements about: the timing of the commencement, enrollment, and completion of
our clinical trials for our product candidates; the progress or success of our product development programs; the status of
regulatory approvals for our product candidates; the timing of product launches; our ability to protect our intellectual
property and operate our business without infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others; and our estimates for
future performance, anticipated operating losses, future revenues, capital requirements, and our needs for additional
financing. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,”
“estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “‘potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “should,” “will,” “would,” **goal,” and
similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are only predictions hased on current
information and expectations and involve a number of risks and uncertainties. The underlying information and expectations
are likely to change over time. Actual events or results may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking
statements due to various factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth under the caption “Risk Factors” in “ITEM 1A.
RISK FACTORS” and clsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation
1o publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.
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PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

In this annual report on Form 10-K, unless the context indicates otherwise, references to “Accentia,” “the Company,” “our
company,” “we,” “us,” and similar references refer to Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All references
to years in this Form 10-K, unless otherwise noted, refer to our fiscal years, which end on September 30. For example, a

reference to “2006™ or “fiscal 2006” means the 12-month period ended September 30, 2006.

LETY

Overview

We are a biopharmaccutical company focused on the development and commercialization of late-stage, targeted therapeutic
clinical products in the arcas of respiratory disease and, through our majority-owned publicly-traded subsidiary, Biovest
International Inc., oncology. We have two products with fast-track status in Phase 3 clinical trials, Our first such product
candidate, SinuNase™, is being developed as a treatment for chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS), also commonly referred to as
chronic sinusitis, which is a chronic inflammatery condition of the paranasal sinuses that results in nasal congestion, facial
pain and pressure, nasal discharge, and headaches. SinuNase is an amphotericin B suspension that is self-administered into a
patient’s nasal cavity for the treatment of CRS. if approved by the FDA, we expect that SinuNase would be the first
pharmaceutical product indicated for the treatment of chronie sinusitis. We submitted an Investigational New Drug
Application, or IND, with the FDA for SinuNase in April 2005 and we have recently commenced the first of two Phase 3
clinical trials for SinuNase for patients who have recurrent CRS.

Our second product candidate, BiovaxID™, under development by our subsidiary, Biovest International In¢., a publicly held
company in which we currently hold approximately 78% of the outstanding capital stock (“Biovest”) is a patient-specific
anti-cancer vaccine focusing on the treatment of follicular non-Hodgkins lymphoma, or follicular NHL. Follicular NHL is a
cancer of the lymphatic systcm that results when the body’s follicle center cells, which are a type of white blood cell, become
abnormal and eventually spread throughout the body growing and dividing in an uncontrolled fashion. BiovaxID is a
customized anti-cancer vaccine that is derived from a patient’s own cancer cells and is designed to utilize the power of the
patient’s immune system to recognize and destroy cancerous lymphoma cells while sparing normal cells. We produce this
vaccine by extracting the patient’s fumor cells and then replicating and purifying the unique antigen that is present only on
the surface of the patient's own tumor cells. Biovest is currently conducting a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for Biovax1D in
patients with the indolent, or low-grade, form of B-cell follicular NHL.

We are a vertically-integrated commercial enterprise with demonstrated competencies in the identification, development,
regulatory approval, pricing, reimbursement, managed care contracting, manufacturing, and sales and marketing of
biopharmaceuticals and medical devices. We currently market respiratory products through our Accentia Pharmaceuticals
division, which has a dedicated specialty sales force. Qur pharmaceutical product consulting business provides a broad range
of services, including preduct candidate sefection, outcomes research on the economic profiles of pharmaceuticals and
biologics, pricing and market assessment on these products, reimbursement strategies and various services designed to
expedite clinical trials to companies and institutions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical markets as well as for
our internal use. Our instrument business manufactures equipment used in the production of cells and other biclogics based
on the hollow-fiber production method and includes our newly introduced automated instrument, AutovaxID.




We were incorporated in Florida in 2002. Our principal executive offices are located at 324 South Hyde Park Avenue, Suite
350, Tampa, Florida 33606. Our telephone number at that address is {813) 864-2554. Our [nternet website address is
www.accentia.net, and all of our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available free of charge on our
website. Any information that is included on or linked to our [nternet site is not a part of this annual report on Ferm 10-K.

Qur Business Strategy

Our goal is to acquire, develop, and commercialize innovative late-stage biopharmaceutical products that offer the potential
for superior efficacy and safety as compared te competitive products and that address sigmficant unmet medical needs. To
achieve this goal, the key elements of our strategy include:

»  Completing clinical development and obtaining regulatory approval for SinuNase and BiovaxID. We
intend to complete our Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNasc and BiovaxID and to aggressively pursue
regulatory approvals for both products.

o fdentifving and acquiring additional late-stage clinical products and techmologies. We intend to pursue
the acquisition of additional late-stage products that could increase the value of our development pipeline
and complement our existing products and product candidates. This may consist of product acquisition,
in-licensing, or company acquisitions. We intend to screen product opportunities and focus on products
for which substantial clinical evidence of safety and efficacy has already been demonstrated. We also
intend to screen potential product opportunities based on their regulatory pathways, pharmacoeconomic
profiles and their payor reimbursement prospects. Although our primary emphasis in acquiring new
products will be in the respiratory and oncology therapeutic areas, we will consider products in other
therapeutic areas if they satisfy our screening criteria.

*  Leveraging our broad range of internal capabilities to support our ongoing development and
commercialization efforts. We believe that our broad range of in-house service capabilities provides a
strong platform on which to develop new biopharmaceutical products. We plan to leverage our specialty
phanmaceutical business, pharmaceutical product consulting business and biologics production
capabilitics to pursue, attract, screen, and develop new therapies to increase the size of our development
pipeline and commercialize our products.

»  Pursuing strategic relationships on a selective basis for product development or distribution. We may
from time 1o time consider entering into strategic relationships with third-parties in order to facilitate the
development of new products and to market and distribute our approved products. Such strategic
relationships could be in the form of licensing. distribution arrangements, or joint ventures. In some
cases, the acquisition of new products could be effected through the acquisition or licensing of individual
products or technologies or the acquisition of an entire business.

We evaluate on a continuing basis, and as appropriate, adjust, our business strategy as discussed above in light of market
conditions and other relevant factors such as available financing, opportunitics for strategic relationships, and changes
impacting our current and future products and product candidates.

SinuNase¢

We are developing a product for the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis or CRS based on an intranasal formulation of
amphotericin B, and we intend to market and sell this product under the name SinuNase. Rhinosinusitis is an inflammatory
condition of the paranasal sinuses. which are air cavities within the facial bones that are lined by mucus. Rhinosinusitis
occurs when the mucus membrane in the nose and the paranasal sinuses become inflamed and swell, thereby blocking the
nasal passage or limiting drainage from the sinuses into the nose and throat and causing pressure and pain in the sinuses.
Rhinosimsitis results in a vartety of symptoms, including nasal congestion, facial pain and pressure, nasal discharge, and
headaches. Rhinosinusitis is generally categorized into two types: acute rhinosinusitis, which is a temporary short-term
condition commonly associated with colds and other viral infections, and chronic rhinosinusitis, which is an ongoing
condition that lasts for three or more months but often continues for years. The FDA has advised us, and we concur, that
chronic sinusitis or CS should be considered to be the indication for SinuNase rather than CRS, although there is a growing
belief in the medical community that the terms are interchangeable.

SinuNase is an intranasal antifungal suspension formulated for the treatment of CRS. SinuNasc’s active ingredient is
amphotericin B, which is an antifungal medication currently used as an intravenous formulation to treat a wide variety of
systemic fungal infections. As a result of research and studies performed at Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota, it has been
discovered that a hypersensitivity to airborne molds plays a significant role in CRS and that the condition can be substantially
relieved using an intranasal application of low-dose antifungals. Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research
(“MAYO") has been issued a U.S. patent relating to this treatment method and has filed a European counterpart patent
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application for the therapy. Our rights to SinuNase are based on a license agreement with MAYO which gives us the
exclusive worldwide right to commercialize MAYQ’s patented CRS treatment method using the antifungal amphotericin B.
Although Mayo Foundation's clinical trials on its CRS therapy were based on the use of amphotericin B. MAYO's patents
and patent applications with respect to the therapy broadly apply to the topical application of any antifungals for the
treatment of CRS. [n December 2005, we entered into an option agreement with MAYO giving us the exclusive right until
December 2006 {which has since been extended to December 2007), without obligation, to scek to negotiate a license for all
antifungals in addition to Amphotericin B. In the event that we are not successful in negotiating such additional licenses,
MAYQ is not precluded from licensing to third-parties, including potential competitors, the use of antifungals other than
amphotericin B for the treatment of CRS. If MAYO grants such  license to a third-party, and if the use of such other
antifungal is shown to have an efficacy and safety profile that equals or exceeds that of amphotericin B for treatment of CRS,
we may not be able to commercialize or generate revenue from SinuNase and our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Market Opportunity

Rhinosinusitis is one of the most commenly reporied chronic diseases in the U.S., affecting an estimated 14% of the
population. Approximately 31 million Americans suffer from rhinosinusitis every year, and an estimated 90% of all
rhinosinusitis cases are chronic. According to the March 1999 Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, overall health
care expenditures attributable to rhinosinusitis were estimated to be $5.8 billion in direct costs during 1996. A primary
diagnosis of acute bacterial rhinosinusitis or chronic rhinosinusitis accounted for 58.7% of all expenditures, or $3.5 billion,
for 1996. CRS also results in indirect costs for Americans, such as greater than 70 million lost activity days and reduced
social and physical functioning. As set forth in the December 2004 Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, at least

30 million courses of antibiotics are prescribed each year for CRS, and it is one of the leading forms of chronic disease. The
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services estimated that, during a 12-month period ending in 2000, CRS accounted for
9.2 million primary care office visits, 1.1 million surgical specialty office visits, 951,000 medical specialty office visits,

1.3 million cutpatient department hospital visits, and 693,000 emergency department visits. The U.S. Department of

Health & Muman Services also estimates that approximately 500,000 people resorted to sinus surgery in 1996,

Causes and Treatment of CRS

Currently, there is no FDA-approved therapy for CRS. The lack of an effective treatment for CRS has historically been due to
an inability of the medical community to identify the underlying cause of the condition. Due to lack of knowledge rcgarding
the cause of CRS, most treatment methods {or CRS have focused only on the symptoms of the disease.

As a result of studies begun by Mayo Clinic, researchers have discovered that airborne fungi play a major role in triggering
CRS. Like pollen, fungi are present in the air in every region of the world. and Mayo Clinic’s studies have demonstrated that
fungi are normally present in the mucus of the nasal passages and the sinuses of most everyone, including these without CRS.
Mayo Clinic’s research has also shown that, in patients with CRS, the production of certain key mediators that mediate the
inflammation in CRS result from an abnormal immune system response to certain airborme fungi. In CRS patients, the
presence of this normally innocucus fungi in the mucus triggers an immune response that results in the activation of
esonophils. which are immune cells that are predominantly involved in the body’s defense against parasites and foreign
organisms. [n the mucus, the activation of esonophils triggers an immune defense response and leads to a release of highly
destructive and toxic defensive protcins. One such protein is eosinophilic major basic protein, or MBP, which is a substance
that attacks fungi but also severely damages the nasal and sinus membranc tissue. Over time, this damage typically leads to
inflammation, medification, and blockage of the nasal and sinus drainage passages, as well as polyps and small growths in
the nasal passage and the sinuses. Because the damaged tissue is vulnerable to invasion by bacteria and viruses. this damage
can also lead to secondary infections.

Prior (o the research done at Mayo Clinic, the presence of fungi in the nasal mucus of CRS patients was theorized but largely
undetected due 10 the unavailability of effective and accurate methods to detect the presence of the fungi. A study published
by Mayo Clinic in 2002 described a new technique for detecting the fungi in mucus, and using this technique, researchers
found that 96% of patients with CRS had fungi in their mucus. These results were confirmed in a European study that was
published in 2003 in Laryngoscope by the American Laryngological, Rhinological and Otological Society, which reported
that the presence of fungal organisms in both healthy and CRS patients was demonstrated by positive fungal cultures in 91%
of individuals in each group. A study by the University of Mainz in Germany published in 2004 in the American Journal of
Rhinology reported that fungal DNA was detected in 100% of mucus samples from CRS patients.

Historically. the treatment of CRS has largely focused on the use of antibiotics, intranasal or orally administered
corticosteroids, and sinus surgery. While antibiotics are useful in treating the acute exacerbations that result from the bacterial
invasion of the damaged paranasal tissue of CRS patients, no antibiotic has proven effective in eradicating the underlying
cause of CRS. Intranasal and orally administered corticosteroids, which are potent anti-inflammatory hormones, have been
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used to reduce the inflammation and immune response that play a role in CRS, but oral corticosteroids can cause serious side
effects and must be avoided or cautiously used with patients that have certain conditions, such as gastrointestinal ulcers, renal
discase, hypertension, diabetes, osteoporosis, thyroid disorders, and intestinal disease. Surgery is frequently used in CRS
paticnts to improve the drainage of their sinuses based on the assumption that the disease can be reversed by identifying and
correcting the obstruction associated with the condition, but while such surgery usually offers temporary relief of symptoms,
studies have shown that it is typically not curative.

Clinical Studies on Amphotericin B Therapy

[n several published studies, an intranasal administration of amphotericin B has been shown to reduce paranasal
inflammation in CRS patients by suppressing the population of fungi in the nasal cavity and mucus, thereby reducing or
preventing the immune system response that causes CRS. The following is an overview of the studies that were referenced in
our IND as submitted to the FDA:

Number of
Study Nature of Study Patients Results
2002 Mayo . Open label study 51 - 75% demonstrated improvement in sinus
Clinic Study Twice daily intranasal application of 20 Symptoms.
millimeters of amphotericin B in each nstril . 35% demonstrated elimination of signs
. Formulation: 100 micrograms of of paranasal inflammation (endoscopic
amphotericin B per milliliter of solution evaluation).

. 39% showed improvement of at least
one disease stage (endoscopic
evaluation)

2002 Geneva - Open label study T4 . 48% of patients with stage [ or Il nasal
University Study, Four weeks of twice daily of 20 po]yFOSIIs had.ﬁ:omplele disappearance of
millimeters of amphotericin B in each nasal polyposis.
nostril
. Formulation: 100 micrograms of
amphotericin B per milliliter suspension
2004 Mayo . Double blind, randomized placebo 24 Statistically significant reduction in

Clinic Study

controlled study

Twice daily intranasal applications of a 20

mucosal inflammation and reduction in
inflammatory markers.

milliliter solution with a concentration of
250 micrograms of amphotericin B per
milliliter

2002 Mayo Clinic Study. In this prospective open label chinical trial conducted at Mayo Clinic and published in 2002 in the
Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 51 patients were given a twice daily intranasal application of an amphotericin B
solution in each nostril in the amount of 20 milliliters per application per nostril. Generally, in an open label trial, both the
researchers and participants know the drug and dosage that the participant is taking. The concentration of the administered
solution was 100 micrograms of amphotericin B per milliliter of solution. The study reported that the therapy resulted in
symptom improvement and a reduction in nasal obstruction and discharge, as assessed by endoscopic evaluation and/or CT
scan. In this study, patients received the intranasal amphotericin B solution for 3 to 17 months (at an average of 11.3 months),
and following a three-month or longer treatment course, improvement in nasal obstruction and nasal discharge symptoms was
demonstrated in 38 of 51 of patients, or 75%, as demonstrated by a patient questionnaire. Endoscopic evaluation found 18 of
51 patients, or 35%, to be free from signs of paranasal inflammation at the conclusion of the trial, and an additional 20
patients, or 39%, had improvement of at lcast one diseasc stage. CT scans were available for 13 patients and demonstrated
significant reduction in nasal mucosal thickening and occlusion of the paranasal sinuses.

2002 Geneva University Stucly. In this prospective open label study conducted by Geneva University in Switzerland and
published in 2002 in the Journal of Laryngology & Otology, 74 patients were administered four weeks of twice daily
intranasal application of an amphotericin B suspension. The dosage regimen and amphotericin B concentration used in this
study were the same as in the open label Mayo Clinic study. The endpoint of the study was a determination of whether there
was complete disappearance of nasal polypesis after endoscopic examination, Of the 74 patients in the study, prior to
treatment, 13 had stage [, 48 had stage [1, and 13 had stage i of nasal polyposis. Following four weeks of treatment with
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amphotericin B, the number of patients with stage [, 11, and I of the disease was 5, 21, and 13, respectively. This represented
a complete disappearance of nasal polyposis in 48% of the combined number of patients with stages [ or Il of the disease,
although none of the patients with stage [ of the disease experienced a complete disappearance. Partial disappearance of
nasal polyposis or other improvements in condition were not a part of the reported outcomes in this study.

2004 Mayo Clinic Studhv. In this double blind study of 24 patients conducted at Mayo Clinic and published in the January
2004 Joumnal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, amphotericin B was shown to be effective in decreasing mucosal
thickening associated with CRS. Generally, in a double blind trial, neither the subjects of the study nor the rescarchers know
the drug, dosage, or other critical aspects of the study in order to guard against bias and the ¢ffects of the placebo. [n this
study, the pattents were given twice daily intranasal applications of a 20 milliliter solution with a concentration of 250
micrograms of amphotericin B per milliliter, The primary cutcome measure, which was a reduction in mucosal thickening
measured by CT scan, was statistically significant at six months with an approximate 9% reduction in mucosal thickening in
paticnts treated with amphotericin B versus a slight worsening of mucosal thickening in placebo-treated patients. Endoscopic
evaluation of the patients demonstrated statistically significant improvement at three and six months. Eosinophil-derived
neurotoxin and other markers of inflammation were decreased in the mucus of patients treated with the amphotericin B,

Development Status

We submitted an IND with the FDA for SinuNase in April 2005, and the IND was accepted by the FDA in May 2005. [n
April 2006, the FDA granted our SinuNase trial Fast Track status. In calendar year 2006, we commenced the first of two
Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase. Each of these trials is expected to enroll enough patients 10 allow 300 patients 10 be
randomized 1:]1 between treatment arm and placebo control arm. Qur primary endpoint for these studies is patient reported
outcomes measuring the resolution of cardinal symptorms associated with severe post-surgical CRS and secondary endpoints
including nasal endoscopy and CT scan of the sinuses.

We anticipate that the SinuNase NDA will be filed as a 505(b) (2) application, which is a type of NDA that will enable us to
rely in part on the FDA’s previous findings of safety and efficacy for an oral suspension of amphotericin B and on previously
published clinical studies of intranasal amphotericin B for CRS.

Our initial IND for SinuNase is for an amphotericin B suspension that is self-administered by squirting the antifungal
suspension from a plastic applicator through each nostril in order to bathe the nasal cavity. We expect to subsequently file a
supplement to the IND to add a second product consisting of an encochleated version of the amphotericin B. Encochleation is
a proprietary process in which a phospholipid, a phosphorous-containing fatty acid, is used as an excipient, an inert additive
used as a drug delivery vehicle, to extend the shelf-life of the product in an aqueous, or water-based, medium. We anticipate
that the encochleated version of SinuNase, if successfully developed and approved, will be administered with a pump spray
and will be indicated for maintenance treatments in patients whose CRS is less severe. The encochleated version of the
product is being developed by us under a license agreement with BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc., or BDSI, under
which we have been granted exclusive worldwide rights 10 BDSI's encochleation technology for amphotericin B used in CRS
and asthma treatments.

Even though SinuNase is not approved by the FDA for treatment of CRS, based on available research and scientific articles, a
number of physicians currently prescribe a compounded formulation of amphotericin B solution to treat CRS. Qur
representatives educate physicians about Mayo Clinie’s research and studies relating to the causes and potential treatment
methods for CRS, and the availability of compounding services. These compounded formulations are custom-produced
solutions made by pharmacists for individual patients and their needs because commercially available dosage forms are not
available. While we are not permitted to market SinuNase unless and until the therapy is approved by the FDA, we currently
sublicense our rights 10 the compounded variant of the therapy to compounding phanmacies in exchange for a royalty.
However, if SinuNase is approved by the FDA, these sublicenses will terminate, and compounding pharmacies will be unable
to compound copies of the approved solution without individual medical need for a compounded variation, such as
substitution of an inactive ingredient to which a patient is allergic.

Proprietary Rights

Our rights to SinuNase are based on a license agreement with MAYQ. Our license agreement with MAY O gives us the
exclusive worldwide right to commercialize MAYO's patented CRS treatment method using the antifungal amphotericin B.
Although MAYO's clinical trials on its CRS therapy were based on the use of amphotericin B, MAYO’s patents and patent
applications with respect to the therapy broadly apply to the topical application of any antifungals for the treatment of CRS.
In December 2005, we entered into an Option Agreement with MAYO giving us the exclusive right until December 2006
(which has since been extended to December 2007), without obligation, to seek to negotiate a license for all antifungals in
addition to amphotericin B. In the event that we are not successful in negotiating such additional licenses, MAYQ is not
precluded from licensing to third-parties, including potential competitors, the use of antifungals other than amphotericin B for
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the treatment of CRS. If MAY QO grants such a licensc to a third-party, and if the use of such other antifungal is shown to have
an efficacy and safety profile that equals or exceeds that of amphotericin B for this application, we may not be able to
commercialize or generate revenue from SinuNase and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

We hold an exclusive license to market and sell products made from amphotericin B based on MAY('s patented treatment
method for CRS. Although amphotericin B has ot been approved by the FDA for the treatment of CRS, a number of
physicians currently prescribe a compounded formulation of amphotericin B solution far their CRS patients. These
formulations are prepared by compounding pharmacies that are in the business of preparing custom-made solutions using
FDA-approved active ingredients. While we have sublicensed our rights to the compounded variant of the product to
compounding pharmacies, we are aware that other compounding pharmacies may be preparing similar compounded
formulations in violation of one or more claims of our licensed patents. Because these patent violations may be sporadic and
dispersed, we may not be able to easily identify the violations. In addition, because the patents that we license from MAYO
relate to a method of treating CRS, if other amphotericin B sotutions become commercially available for other indications,
we may not be able to prevent physicians from prescribing such other solutions for CRS on an off-label basis. Such actions
could hinder our ability 10 generate enough revenue to justify development costs and to achieve or maintain profitability.

Sales, Marketing, and Manufacturing

If the FDA approves SinuNase for the initial indication of recurrence of CRS after sinus surgery, we anticipate that we may
market and sell the product through our own sales force directly to otolaryngologists (ear, nose, and throat surgeons) who are
treating CRS patients and potentially through third-party sales and marketing relationships. There are approximately 10,500
ear, nose, and throat specialists in the U.S., and we currently market other products to these specialists. Additionally, we may
seek to establish marketing relationships with third-parties. We anticipate that the labeling for SinuNase will be indicated
specifically for “chronic sinusitis,” which is a more widely used name for the condition than “chronic rhinosinusitis.”

We anticipate that the initial SinuNase suspension will be self-administered by patients, who will use a single-dose, packet of
ingredients to be mixed by the patient with sterile water and then administered by the patient into the nasal cavity through
each nostril. We have selecled the third-party contract manufacturer to produce the product for our clinical trials.

BiovaxiD

BiovaxID is an injectable patient-specific vaccine that we are developing to treat the follicular form of non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma, or NHL. We acquired our rights for BiovaxID through a cooperative research and development agreement
{(CRADA) with National Cancer Institute (NCI). BiovaxID is a customized immunotherapy that is derived from a patient’s
own cancer cells and is designed to wtilize the power of each patient’s immune system to recognize and destroy cancerous
lymphoma cells while sparing normal cells. BiovaxiD is currently undergoing a pivotal Phase 3 clinical triat with patients
diagnosed with the indolent follicular form of B-cell NHL. Biovax1D is being developed by Biovest, our publicly held,
majority-owned subsidiary.

The Human Immune System

The immune system is the body's natural defense mechanism for recognizing and combating viruses, bacteria, cancer celis,
and other disease-causing organisms. The primary discase fighting functions of the immune system is carried out by white
blood cells. In response to the presence of disease, white blood cells can mediate two types of immune responses, referred to
as innate immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity refers to a broad, first line of immune defense that occurs as a
part of an individual’s natural biological makeup. Adaptive immunity, on the other hand, is specifically generated by a
person’s immune system throughout the person’s lifetime as he or she is exposed to particular pathogens, which are agents
such as bacleria or other microorganisms that cause disease. In contrast to the broad but unspecific respense of innate
immunity, the adaptive immune response generates a highly specific, long-lasting, and powerful protection from repeated
infection by the same pathogen. This adaptive immune response facilitates the use of preventative vaccines that protect
against viral and bacterial infections such as measles, polio, diphtheria, and tetanus.

Adaptive immunity is mediated by a subset of white blood cells called lymphocytes, which are divided into two types: B-
cells and T-cells. In the bloodstream, B-cells and T-cells recognize molecules known as antigens, which are proteins or other
substances that are capable of triggering a response in the immune system. Antigens include toxins, bacteria, foreign blood
cells, and the cells of ransplanted organs. When a B-cell recognizes a specific antigen, it secretes proteins, known as
antibodies, which in turn bind to a target containing that antigen and tag it for destruction by other white blood cells, When a
T-cell recognizes an antigen, it either promotes the activation of other white blood cells or initiates destruction of the target
cells directly. A person’s B-cells and T-cells can collectively recognize a wide variety of antigens, but cach individual B-cell




or T-cell will recognize only one specific antigen. Consequently, in cach person’s bloodstream, only a relatively few
lymphocytes will recognize the same antigen.

In the case of cancer, cancer cells produce molecules known as tumor-associated antigens, which may or may not be present
in normal cells but may be over-produced in cancer cells. T-cells and B-cells have receptors on their surfaces that enable
them to recognize the tumor associated antigens. While cancer cells may naturally trigger a T-cell-based immune response
during the initial appearance of the disease, the immune system response may not be sufficiently robust to eradicate the
cancer. The human body has developed numerous immune suppression mechanisms to prevent the immune system {rom
destroying the body’s nonmal tissues, and because all cancer cells are originally normal tissue cells, they are ofien able to
aberrantly exploit these mechanisms to suppress the body’s immune response, which would normally destroy them. Even
with an activated immune system, the number and size of tumors can overwhelm the immune system.

In the case of cancer and other diseases, immunotherapies are designed to utilize a person’s immune system it an attempt to
combat the disease. There arc two forms of immunotherapy used to treat diseases: passive and active. Passive
immunotherapy is exemplified by the intravenous infusion into a patient of antibodies specific to the particular antigen, and
while passive immunotherapies have shown clinical benefits in some cancers, they require repeated infusions and can cause
the destruction of normal cells in addition to cancer cells. An active immunotherapy, on the other hand, gencrates an adaptive
immune response by introducing an antigen into a patient, often in combination with other components that can enhance an
immune response 1o the antigen. Although active immunotherapeutics have been successful in preventing many infectious
diseases, their ability to combat cancers of various types has been limited by a variety of factors, including the inability of
tumor antigens to elicit an effective immune response, difficulty in identifying suitable target tumor antigens, inability to
manufacture tumor antigens in sufliciently pure form, and inability to manufacture sufficient quantities of tumor antigens.
Nevertheless, there are many active immunotherapeutics for cancer in the late stages of clinical trials, and some are
demonstrating encouraging results.

There are two features of B-cell foilicular NHL that make it a particularly attractive form of cancer for treatment with an
active immunotherapeutic approach. First, the malignant B-cell lymphocytes in follicular NHL have a unique, identifiable
twmor-specific anmigen domain that is expressed on the surface of each and every cancerous B-cell in a particular patient and
not expressed on any other cells. This is in contrast to other solid cancer tumors, such as prostate, pancreatic, or lung
carcinomas, which have a heterogeneous expression of different kinds ot antigens on their cell surfaces and for which
identification and inclusion of all tumor-specific antigens is very challenging. Second, in cases of relapse after conventional
treatment, the malignant B-cells in follicular NHL represent the original cancerous clone. Consequently, the cancer cells that
survive treatment of NHL seem to always represent tumor cells with the same antigen idiotype as the original tumor. An
idiotype consists of the characteristics of an antigen that make it unique. In follicular NHL patients, the idiotype antigen
protein expressed on the tumor cell’s surface is not functioning as an antigen because of its failure to elicit a sufficient
imimune response to the presence of the tumor cells, and the goal of our BiovaxID active immunotherapy is to trigger the
body’s immune system to recognize such protein as an antigen by intreducing a purified version of the idiotype antigen.
modified by conjugation to a foreign carrier protein, into the patient’s system in conjunction with an immune system
stimulant, as described mere specifically below.

Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma

NHL is a cancer of the lymphatic system, which is a part of the immune system and serves as the body’s primary blood
filtering and disease fighting tissue. In NHL, specific cells in the lymphatic system become abnormal and multiply in an
uncontrolled manner, outliving their normal programmed lifespan, and spreading through the body. NHL can occur in both
B-cells and T-cells.

NHL is the sixth most common cancer and the sixth leading cause of death among cancers in the U.S. Approximately 85% of
diagnosed cases of NHL are in the form of B-cell NHL, while 15% are T-cell NHL. There are approximately 55,000 new
cases of NHL diagnosed each year in the U.S. with a comparable number estimated in Europe, and an estimated 12,500 of the
1).S. cases each year are a type of B-cell NHL known as indolent follicular NHL. Our IND and Phase 3 clinical trial for
Biovax!D are for indolent follicular NHL.

NHL is usually classified for clinical purposes as being either “indolent™ or “aggressive,” depending on how quickly the
cancer cells are likely to grow and spread, The indolent, or slow-growing, form of NHL has a very slow growth rate and may
need little or no treatment for months or possibly years. Aggressive, or fast-growing, NHL tends to grow and spread quickly
and cause severe symptoms, Indolent and aggressive NHL each constitute approximately half of all newly diagnosed B-cell
NHL, and roughly half of the indolent B-cell NHL is follicular NHE. Follicular NHL is a form of NHL that is derived from a
type of cell known as a follicte center cell. Despite the slow progression of indotent B-cell NHL, the disease is almost
invariably fatal. According to the American Cancer Society, the median survival time from diagnosis for patients with




indolent B-cell NHL having stage IH or IV follicular B-cell NHL is between seven and ten years. Unlike indolent B-cell
NHL. approximately 30-60% of aggressive B-cell NHL cases are cured by standard chemotherapy.

Chemotherapy is widely used as a first line of trcatment for NHL. Although chemotherapy can substantially reduce the tumor
mass and in most cases achieve a clinical remission, the remissions are generally short-lived. Indolent B-cell NHL patients
generally relapse within a few months or years of initial treatment, and the cancer usually becomes increasingly resistant to
{urther chemotherapy treatments, Eventually, the patient’s response to therapy is so brief and weak that further chemotherapy
would offer no clinical benefit.

A number of passive immunotherapies, such as Rituxan, Bexxar. and other monoclonal antibodies, are approved by the FDA
for the treatment of indolent B-cell follicular lymphoma. These therapics have been used as primary treatment and also as
part of combination treatment including chemotherapy. A monoclonal antibody is a type of antibody produced in large
quantity that is specific to an antigen that is expressed by tumor cells but may also be expressed by at least some normal cells.
These NHL antibody therapies target an antigen that all B-cell lymphocytes, both normal and cancerous, have on their
surface. As such, the effects of therapy include a temporary reduction in normal B-cell lymphocytes, which can predispose
patients to the risk of infection. Generally, these therapies alone have failed to provide unlimited remissions for most patients,
and their cost and side-effects are often significant, Moreover. as passively administered antibodies, they do not elicita
sustained immune response to tumor cells, Nevertheless, some recent studies suggest that sustained remissions might be
possible with the use of these passive immunotherapies at or near the time of initial diagnosis, either alone or in combination
with chemotherapy, and we do not believe that the use of passive and active immunotherapeutics are necessarily mutually
exclusive. Rituxan is used in approximately 85% of all new cases of NHL per year, and U.S. sales of Rituxan exceeded $1.8
billion in 2005,

Development of Patient-Specific Vaccine for NHL

During the late 1980s, physicians at Stanford University began development of an active immunotherapy for the treatment of
indolent B-ccll NHL, and the work was thereafter continued by Dr. Larry Kwak and his colleagues at the NCI. In 1996, the
NCl began a Phase | clinical trial and selected our Biovest subsidiary to preduce the vaccine for the trial. In 2001, Biovest
entered into CRADA, with the NCI under which we jointly conducted the Phase 3 clinical trial pursuant to the Investigational
New Drug application, or IND, which had been filed by the NCl in 1994. In April 2004, sponsorship of the IND was formally
transferred from the NCI to us and in November 2006 the CRADA terminated.

Studies have shown that treatment with an active immunotherapy should allow a patient’s own immune system to produce
both B-cells and T-cells that recognize numerous portions of the tumor antigen and generate clinically significant immune
responscs. These studies have been published in the October 22, 1992 issue of The New England Journal of Medicine, the
May 1. 1997 issue of Bload, and the October 1999 issuc of Nature Medicine. With respect to follicular NHL and other
cancers, tumor cells remaining in the patient afier completion of surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy are the cause of tumor
retapse. Thesce residual tumor cells cannot be detected by imaging, but their destruction may be feasible by active
inmunotherapy. With a patient-specific active vaccine, patients receive their own tumor idiotype, as the vaccine is
customized for the tumor target of the individual patient, Repeated vaccination with such a tumor vaccine provides the
patient’s immune system with an additional opportunity to be effectively activated by the tumor cell itself.

Our rescarch has focused on the indolent form of follicular NHL, which accounts for about 90% of newly diagnosed cases of
follicular NHL. In about 40-70% of the indolent cases, there is transformation of the indolent form to a more aggressive
lymphoma, such as large-cell follicular NHL, This transformation is typically an early event in the course of the discase,
usually occurring before the sixth year after diagnosis, and it is mainly observed in patients with known adverse prognostic
factors. 1t is the goal of BiovaxID to intervene in the transformation process by treating newly diagnosed patients in their first
clinical remission with the hope of inducing indefinitely prelonged remission and thereby eliminating the possibility of
transformation to a more aggressive form of the discase.

BiovaxID Treatment and Production Process

BiovaxlD is designed to utilize the power of each patient’s immune system and cause it to recognize and destroy cancerous
lymphoma B-cells while sparing normal B-cells. Typically, all of a patient’s cancerous B-cells are replicate clones of a single
malignant B-cell, and, accordingly, all of a patient’s cancerous B-cells express the same surface antigen idiotype which is
absent from non-cancerous cells. Biovax1D is designed to use the patient’s own antigen idiotype from the patient’s tumor
cells 1o direct the patient’s itnmune system to mount a targeted immunc response against the tumor cells. in general, the
therapy seeks to accomplish this result through the extraction of tumor cells from the patient, the culturing and growing of a
cell eulture that secrets idiotype proteins found in the patient’s tumor cells, the production and enhancement of a purified
version of the cancer idiotype antigen, and the injection of the resulting vaccine into the patient. By introducing a highly-
concentrated purified version of the cancer antigen into the patient’s system, the vaccine is designed to trigger the immune
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system to mount a more robust response to the specific antigen, in contrast to the comparatively weak and insufficient pre-
vaccination responsc. Because the antigen is specific to the caticerous B-cells and not found on normal B-cells, the immune
response should target the cancerous B-cells for destruction and not cause harm (o the normal cells.

The BiovaxID production and treatment process begins when a sample of the patient’s tumer is extracted by a biopsy
performed by the treating physician at the time of diagnosis. and the sample is shipped refrigerated to our manufacturing
facility in Worcestler, Massachusetts. At our manufacturing facility, we identify the antigen idiotype that is expressed on the
surface of the patient’s umor cells through laboratory analysis. The patient’s tumor cells are then fused with an exclusively
licensed laboratory ccll line from Stanford University to create a hybridoma. A hybridoma is a hybrid cell resulting from the
fusion of a patient tumor cell and a murine/human heterohybridoma myeloma cell, which is an antibody-secreting cell created
from a fused mouse and human cell. The purpose of creating a hybridoma is to create a cell that secretes antibody proteins
bearing the same idiotype or antigen as the patient’s tumor cells. The hybridoma cell can be used to produce the vaccine
because the tumor-specific antigen expressed on the surface of the patient’s tumor cells is itself an antibody.

After the creation of the hybridoma, we determine which hybridoma cells display the same antigen idiotype as the patient’s
tumor cells, and those cells are selected 10 produce the vaccine. The selected hybridoma cells are then sceded into our hollow
fiber bioreactors, where they are cultured and where they secrete an antibody bearing the same idiotype antigen as the
patient’s tumor cells. The secreted antigens are then collected from the cells growing on the hollow fibers. After a sufficient
amount of antigen is collected for the production of an appropriate amount of the vaccine, the patient’s antigen idiotype is
purified using an affinity chromatography column. Affinity chromatography is a tcchnique used to separate and purify a
biological molecule from a mixture by passing the mixture through a column containing a substance to which the biological
molecule binds,

The resulting purified idiotype antigen is then conjugated, or joined together, with keyhole limpet hemocyanin, or KLH, to
create the vaccine. KLH is a foreign carrier protein that is used to improve the immunogenicity, or ability to eveke an
immune response, of the tumor-specific antigen. The vaccine is then frozen and shipped to the treating physician. At the
treating physician’s office, the vaccine is thawed and injected into the patient as an antigen.

We expect that the initial vaccination will typically commence six months after the patient enters clinical remission following
chemotherapy. The vaccine is administered in conjunction with GM-CSF, a natural immune system growth factor that is
administered with an antigen to stimulate the immune system and increase the response to the antigen. The patient is
administered five monthly injections of the vaceine in the amount of '/2 milligram of vaccine per injection, with the
injections being given over a six-month period of time in which the fifth month is skipped. Through this process, the patient-
specific antigens are used to stimulate the patient’s immune system into targeting and destroying B-cells bearing the same
antigen idiotype.

To our knowledge, BiovaxID is the only NHL vaccine currently in development under an IND that is produced through a
hybridoma process. The hybridoma process is different from the recombinant processes being used by other companies that
are currently developing an active idiotype immunotherapeutic for NHL. In the recombinant process, the patient’s own tumor
cells are not fused with lymphocytes, but instead the vaccine is produced by introducing genetic material bearing certain
portions (known as the variable light and variable heavy chains) of the tumor-derived idiotype protein into mammalian or
insect cells. Whereas the hybridoma method will produce high-fidelity copies of the antigen that, through clonal
reproduction, exactly replicates the original gene sequences of the tumor specific idiotype of the parent tumor cell, the
recombinant method gives rise (o protein products that have combinations of gene sequences different from those of the
patient’s tumor.

We use a method known as “hollow-fiber perfusion” to produce the cell cultures used in the manufacture of BiovaxID.
Itollow-fiber perfusion, as compared to other cell culture methods, secks to grow cells to higher densities more closely
approaching the density of cells naturally occurring in body tissue. The hollow-Iiber perfusion method involves using hair-
like plastic fibers with hollow centers which are intended to simulate human capillaries. Thousands of these fibers are
inserted in a cartridge, which we refer to as a bioreactor. The cells are grown on the outside of the hollow fibers while
nutrient media used to support cell growth is delivered through the hollow centers of the fibers. The fiber walls have small
pores, allowing nutrients to pass from the hollow center to the cells. The fibers act as filters and yield concentrated secreted
products. Because the cells are immobilized in the bioreactor, the concentrated product can be harvested during the ongoing
cell growth process. We believe that hollow-fiber technology permits the harvests of cell culture products with generally
higher purities than stirred-tank fermentation, a common alternative cell culture method, thereby reducing the cost of
purification as compared to stirred tank fermentation. Additionally, the technology associated with the hollow-fiber process
generally minimizes the amount of costly nutrient media required for cell growth as opposed to other cell culturing
techniques.




We believe that our vaccine’s anti-tumeor effect could exceed that of non-targeted traditional therapy, such as chemotherapy,
as our therapy arises from the immune system’s defense cells’ innate ability to selectively target tumor antigen while not
attacking the normal healthy B-cells. The immune response triggered by our vaccine against the cancerous tissue is a natural
discase-fighting mechanism without causing the side-effects associated with chemotherapy and radiation used to traditionally
treat NHL, We also believe that our vaccine’s effectiveness could exceed that of passive immunotherapies, such as Rituxan,
Bexar. and other monoclonal antibodies. Unlike Biovax1D, these therapies do not target the unique antigen idiotype that is
found on the surface of the patient’s tumor cells. Instead, they target an antigen that is common to all B-cells, known as the
CD-20 antigen, which results in the undesirable destruction of normal B-cells.

Manufacture of BiovaxiD

We manufacture BiovaxID at Biovest’s own manufacturing facility in Worcester, Massachusetts. If we receive FDA approval
of the vaccine, we may continue to manufacture the vaccine at our existing facility in Worcester, although we will likely need
to develop additional facilities or utilize third-party contract manufacturers to fully support commercial production for the
U.S. markets. To penetrate markets outside of the U.S., we may enter into agreements such as collaborations with well-
established companies that have the capabilities to produce the product, licenses, joint ventures or other arrangements o
produce and/or market the product in such countries. To facilitate commercial production of the vaccine, we are developing
proprietary manufacturing equipment, for which we have filed “AutovaxID™ as a trademark. AutovaxID integrates and
automates various stages of vaccine production. We believe that the AutovaxID system will reduce the space and staff’
currently required for production of the vaccine. We are also planning to commercially manufacture and sell AutovaxiD
instruments,

Because we use KLH in the BiovaxID manufacturing process, we have entered into a supply agreement with BioSyn
Arzneimitte] GmbH, or BioSyn, 1o supply us with KLH. Under this agreement, BioSyn is obligated 1o use commercially
reasonablc efforts to fulfill all of our orders of KLH, subject to certain annual minimum orders by us. However, BioSyn does
not have a specific obligation to supply us with the amounts of KLH currently being supplied and neccssary for our current
clinical trial purposes or for commercialization. The supply agreement specifies a purchase price for the KLH and also
provides for a one-time licensing fee payable by us in installments. The agreement expires in December 2007 but will
automatically renew for unlimited successive terms of five years each unless we provide notice of termination to BioSyn at
least six months before the expiration of any term. The agreement can be terminated prior te expiration by either party upon
the winding-up or receivership of the other party or upon a default that remains uncured for 60 days. Also, the agreement can
be terminated by BioSyn if we cease to develop BiovaxID.

Development Status

In April 2004, the NCI formally transferred sponsorship of the IND for BiovaxID to our Biovest subsidiary, which gives
Biovest the right to communicate and negotiate with the FDA relating to the approval of BiovaxID and to conduct the clinical
trials for the vaccine. BiovaxID is in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial which was started in January 2000 by the NC1. In
November 2006, we terminated our CRADA with the NCI to continue the Phase 3 clinical trial of BiovaxID with a new
principal investigator, primary clinical trial site, and Data Monitoring Committee outside of the NCI, as further described in
the section titled “Proprietary Rights 1o BiovaxID” below. As of September 30, 2006, there were 17 clinical sites and 216
paticnts enrolled in the clinical trial.
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The following summarizes the results and status of our ongoing, recently completed, and currently planned clinical trials for
BiovaxID as of September 30, 2006:

No. of Patients

Treated with Median
Clinical BipvaxID or Time-to-Disease
Trial / Indication Phase Study Design Contrel Progression Status
Trial No. BV301 Phase 3 Randomized, 375 planned Treatment phase in ~ Enrolling patients
Indolent follicular B-cell double blind with progress o treatment
— KLH-treated phase; 216 have
NHL patients in first
s control group been enrolled
complete remission 164 of which had
following chemotherapy: 5 E © J ¢ d
immunizations over 24 cen randomize
weeks to receive
BiovaxID or
control)
Trial No. T93-0164 Phase 2 Open label, single 20 Follow-up period Treatment phase
Indolent follicular B-celt arm exceeded 9 vears as ofcompleted;

September 2006: patients in long-

NHL patients in first term follow-up

complete remission 45% of patients were

following chemotherapy; 5 disease free at that

immunizations over 24 time and 95% of

weeks patients were alive at
that time

The objective of our Phase 3 clinical study is to measure the efficacy of the active idiotype vaccination in regard to
prolongation of the period of disease-free survival when compared to treatment with a control vaccine consisting solely of
KLH in patients with B-cell indolent follicular NHL. The patients being treated under this protocol have been diaghosed with
previously untreated Stage 2 with bulky adenopathy or 3-4 follicular NHL, Grades I-1Ha, which are the indolent slowly
progressing forins of the disease that historically have been incurable, PACE chemotherapy (prednisone, doxorubicin,
cytoxan and etoposide) is administered until patients achieve their best response, which is a minimum of six cycles over six
to eight months. Those patients achieving a complete remission are then randomized to receive vaccination with either
BiovaxID or the KLH control in a 2:1 ratio, respectively. Of the 375 patients who will be in a complete remission (CR/CRu)
after chermotherapy in the BV301 study, 250 patients are scheduled to be randomly selected, or randomized, for the
BiovaxID treatment arm, and 125 are scheduled to be randomized to the control arm, KLH-KLH. Of the 250 patients who are
scheduled to be randomized to the BiovaxID treatment arm, we estimate that approximately one third have completed the
series of vaceinations and are in the follow-up phase of the trial. The patients being treated with BiovaxiD have received or
are receiving a series of five subcutaneous injections of the therapeutic vaccine administered over a six-month period. Each
vaccination is accompanied by a series of four injections of GM-CSF. After a six-month waiting period while the patient’s
immune system reconstitutes, the patient initiates the vaccination series. The primary ¢ndpoint is a comparison between
treatment groups of the median duration of disease-free survival measured from the time of randomization to the point of
confirmed relapse. Data from the trial are reviewed periodically (at least annually) by an independent safety data monitoring
beard, and at the June 2006 meeting of this board, no safety concerns regarding the trial were identified. We are seeking to
complete enrollment for our Phase 3 clinical trial by the fourth quarter of 2008. To complete enrollment in that timeframe, we
will need to continue our efforts to significantly increase the rate at which we are currently enrolling patients. To accomplish
our desired rate of enrollment, we have already activated various clinical sites in Russia and will initiate sites in Ukraine as
well, The first patients were enrolled from those countries in November 2006. Furthermore, the Rituxan-based regimen,
CHOP-R may be added to the current protocol as an additional choice of induction chemotherapy next to PACE by the end of
2006. This might allow the addition of U.S. sites and increase in the overall patient accrual. The implementation of CHOP-R
would increase the desired overall randomization number of 375 to 540. Following the completion of enrollment, we will
continue to monitor the participating patients and analyze resulting data. At such time that an interim analysis of the data
confirms & statistically significant difference between the active and control groups in relation to our clinical endpoint, the
data will be assembled for submission of a Biologics License Application requesting the FDA’s approval for
commercialization of BiovaxID. The time it takes to reach the clinical endpoint following the completion of enrollment,
which may take several years, will depend on a variety of factors, including the relative efficacy of the vaccine, the
magnitude of the impact of the vaccine on time-to-tumor progression, drop-out rates of clinical trial patients, and the median
follow-up time subseguent to administration of vaccine or control,




The objective of the NCI's Phase 2 clinical investigation was 1o study the ability of an idiotype vaccine to elicit tumot-
specific T-cell immunity in follicular B-cell NHL patients, as measured by the ability of the patient’s T-cells to specifically
destroy their own tumor cells in vitro and to exert anti-tumor effects as measured by the elimination of cells from the
peripheral blood of a uniform group of patients. In this study conducted by the NCI, 20 patients who had achieved complete
remission following chemotherapy received a series of five Biovax1D and GM-CSF injections over a six-month period. Of
the 20 patients, 11 had a molecular marker in their lymphoma cells considered a hallmark of follicular NHL. As assessed by
clearance of this marker from their blood, eight of these 11 patients (73%) totally cleared all residual tumor cells post
vaccination {(molecular remission). The molecular remission was sustained for as long as the patients were followed, for a
median follow-up of 18 months, with a range of eight to 32 months, In the Phase 2 study, 75% of the patients treated with
BiovaxID developed antibodies to their individual tumor cells and 95% developed T-cell immune responses specific for the
patient’s NHL idiotype. At an interim study assessment, 18 of 20 patients remained in continuous complete remission for a
median 42 months, with a range of 28 to 52 months. After long-term follow-up at nine years post vaccination, as reported by
the NCl in 2005 to the American Society of Hematology, 19 of 20 paticnts remained alive, and 9 of 20 patients remained in
complete continuous remission.

In October 2006, we were granted orphan drug designation for BiovaxID by the EMEA (European Medicines Agency). This
designation is intended to promote the development of products that may offer therapeutic benefits for diseases affecting less
than five in 10,000 people in the Furopean Union (EU). The Cormmission of the European Union entered Biovax1D into the
European Community’s Drug Register for Rare Diseases. Orphan drug designation provides opportunities for free protocol
assistance, fee reductions for access to the centralized community procedures before and after marketing authorization, and
10 years of market exclusivity following drug approval. The EMEA represents 25 EU countries, including France, Germany,
Belgium, ltaly, Spain, and the United Kingdom. We had previously applied to the FDA for orphan drug designation for the
use of BiovaxID for the treatment of certain forms of follicular B-cell NHL, but the FDA has determined that BiovaxID is
ineligible for orphan drug designation in the absence of further information and clarification. We have no plans to further
pursue this designation with the FDA at this time.

In May 2006, we were granted fast-track designation for BiovaxID by the FDA. Fast-Track is a formal mechanism to interact
with the FDA using approaches that are available to all applicants for marketing applications. The benefits of Fast-

Track include scheduled meetings to seek FDA input into development plans, the option of submitting a NDA in sections
rather than all components simultaneously, and the option of requesting evaluation of studies using surrogate endpoints. The
Fast-Track designation is intended for the combination of a product and a claim that addresses an unmet medical need, but is
independent of Priority Review and Accelerated Approval. An applicant may use any or all of the compenents of Fast-Track
without the formal designation. Fast-Track designation does not necessarily lead to a Priority Review or Accelerated
Approval.

Proprietary Rights to BiovaxiD

Our proprietary position in the BiovaxID vaccine and production process is based on a combination of patent protection,
trade secret protection and our ongoing innovation. Although the composition of matter of the BiovaxID vaccine is not
patentable, we have filed a PCT patent application relating to the type of cell media that is used to grow cell cultures in the
production of our vaccine. In addition, we have filed a PCT patent application relating (o certain features of an integrated
production and purification system that we are developing to produce and purify the vaccine in an automated closed system.
Our proprietary production system will use fully enclosed and disposable components for each paticnt’s vaccine. We believe
that, without the availability of an automated production and purification system, the methods used to produce a patient-
specific immunotherapy are time-consuming and labor-intensive, resuliing in a very expensive process that would be difficult
to scale up. An application has also been filed for the registration of the trademark BiovaxID.

On August 30, 2001, our Biovest subsidiary entered into the CRADA with the NCI under which we began the process of
assuming control over the ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial being conducted pursuant to NCI's protocol. On April 29, 2004, the
IND for BiovaxID was formally transferred from the NCI to our Biovest subsidiary, making us, rather than the NCI, the
sponsor and responsible party. Following the transfer of the IND to us, the trial related functions that continued to be
performed at the NCI were largely limited to pathology laboratory services, the operation and maintenance of the small
primary frial site and administrative trial oversight through the NCI Data Safety and Monitoring Board (DSMB). On
September 25, 2006, our Biovest subsidiary provided written notice to the NCI in accordance with the terms of the CRADA
to terminate the CRADA at the end of the sixty day notice period. Under the terms of the CRADA, we are obligated to
continue to provide vaccine to the NCI at no charge for purposes of the NCI’s studies that are within the scope of the
CRADA. We believe that our trial site at MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, Texas, which is presently the most active
trial site, will become the new primary trial site. We have identified two highly qualified pathology laboratories, including
the University of Turino, [taly, one of which will be selected to provide the on-going pathology laboratory services. A new
Data Monitoring Committee has replaced the functions previously performed by the DSMB. We do not believe that the
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termination of the CRADA or the pending transfer of certain trial related functions will adversely impact the treatment of
existing patients, the enrollment of new patients, or the overall time line of the trial.

In September 2004, we entered into an agreement with Stanford University giving us worldwide rights to use two proprietary
hybridoma cell lines that are used in the production of BiovaxID. These are the same cell lines that have been used by
researchers at Stanford and the NCI to perform their studies of the hybridoma idiotype vaccine in NHL. This agreement gives
us exclusive rights to these cell lines through 2019 in the ficlds of B-cell and T-cell cancers, and it gives us non-exclusive
rights in such fields of use at all times after 2019.

The agreement also gives us the right to sublicense or transfer the licensed biclogical materials to collaborators in the
licensed fields. Under our agreement with Stanford, we paid Stanford an up-front license fee of $15,000 and are obligated to
pay a yearly maintenance fee of $10,000 per year thereafter. The agreement also provides that we will pay Stanford $100,000
within one year following FDA approval of BiovaxID or five years following the agreement date (whichever occurs first),
and following approval we will pay Stanford a running royalty of the higher of $50.00 per patient or 0.05% of the amount
received by us for each Biovax!D patient treated using this cell line. This running royalty will be creditable against the yearly
maintenance fee. Qur agreement with Stanford obligates us to diligently develop, manufacture, market, and sell Biovax1D
and to provide progress reports (o Stanford regarding these activities. We can terminate this agreement at any time upon 30
days prior written notice, and Stanford can terminate the agreement upon a breach of the agreement by us that remains
uncured for 30 days after written notice of the breach from Stanford.

Sales and Marketing

If BiovaxID moves closer to potential regulatory approval, we currently plan to seek to identify a suitable strategic pariner for
purposes of collaborating in the marketing and distribution of BiovaxID in the U.S. Altematively, if we obtain regulatory
approval for BiovaxID prior to forming such a strategic relationship, we plan to build a small, highly-focused sales and
marketing force to market BiovaxID to oncologists. We believe that a relatively small but highly trained sales force can serve
the oncology market in North America due to the limited number of oncologists. There are approximately 8,400 medical
oncologists in the U.S. To penetrate oncology markets outside the U.S., we may establish collaborations with companies
already positioned in the oncology field to assist in the commercialization of BiovaxID.

On February 27, 2004, we entered into a Biologics Distribution Agreement with McKesson Corporation, a large
pharmaceutical distributor that gives McKesson Corporation exclusive distribution rights for all of our biologic products,
which include BiovaxID, antigens, monaclonal antibodies, and cell cultures.

Previously, we had agreed to provide commercialization services relating to BiovaxID under an exclusive agreement with
Biovest. On October 31, 2006, the Commercialization Agreement was superseded by a Licensing Agreement under which we
earn a 19.5% royalty on all sales of Biovax[D.

Specialty Pharmaceutical Products

We have a specialty pharmaceutical business, Accentia Pharmaceuticals, through which we currently sell our Respi-TANN®,
MD Turbo™ products and CRSFungal Profile™ test through our dedicated sales force. At September 30, 2006, we had
approximately 48 salespeople. Our specialty pharmaceutical business, previously named TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc., has
been renamed, Accentia Pharmaceuticals.

Respi~TANN is a unique family of antitussive and other ingredients, including a decongestant for temporary relief of cough
and nasal congestion accompanying respiratory tract conditions associated with the common cold, influenza, sinusitis, and
bronchitis. MD Turbo is a breath-actuated inhaler device that is designed to work in conjunction with most metered-dose
inhalers. Metered-dose inhalers, or MDIs, are small hand-held devices that are used to deliver inhaled drugs by housing the
aerosol canisters containing such drugs and triggering the release of the drugs from the canisters. MDIs are the most
commonly prescribed type of inhalation device for patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.
CRSFungal Profile is a proprietary diagnostic test for determining the level of major basic protein, or MBP, in a patient’s
mucus. MBP is an esonophils-derived protein that we believe can be used to diagnose CRS by measuring the concentration of
it in a patient’s mucus.

In addition to our currently marketed products, we have two products, AllerNase™ and Emezine®, currently being developed
for us by third-parties. AllerNase is a novel formulated suspension of an intranasal topical steroid indicated for the treatment
of allergic and non-allergic rhinitis. Emezine is a product for control of nausea and vomiting, consisting of a formulation of
prochlorperazine maleate that is placed between the upper lip and gum for transbuccal absorption, which is absorption into
the bloodstream through the cheek.
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We anticipate that our specialty pharmaceutical business may strategically support our commercialization efforts related to
SinuNase especially among specialists such as otolarnygologists (ENTs) and allergists, assuming FDA approval. This
business may further facilitate our ability to acquire additional products and/or product candidates and potentially establish
strategic relationships.

Pharmaceutical Product Consulting Services

Through our subsidiary, Analytica [nternational, Inc. (Analytica), we provide a broad range of consulting services to
companies and institutions in the pharmaceultical, biotechnology, and medical markets, including some of the world’s largest
pharmaceutical companies. We provide these services to clients throughout the world, and we also utilize these services for
our own product development efforts in order to, among other things, evaluate and analyze the market and potential pricing
of our product candidates. Our development and commercialization services include outcomes rescarch on the economic
profiles of pharmaceuticals and biologics. pricing and market assessment on these products, and various services designed to
expedite clinical trials. We also use these services to evaluate the payor reimbursement prospects of our products and to
develop reimbursement strategices.

We provide our commercialization and development services through a team of employees who are based in offices in New
York and Germany. This team includes research professionals at the Master’s and Doctoral level in the ficlds of medicine,
cpidemiology, biochemistry, statistics, engineering, public health, pharmacy, health ecconomics, and business administration.

Instrument Production

We manufacture instruments to produce biologic products such as mammalian cells, proteins, monoclonal antibodies, and
other cell culture products. Our instruments are based on the hollow-fiber method of biologic production. In November 2006,
we announced the introduction of our new automated instrument, named AutovaxID™, which is designed to reduce the cost
and spacc-dependent requirements of manual biologics production. In addition to selling our instruments, including the
AutovaxiD, to biopharmaccutical and biotechnology companics, medical schools, universities, rescarch facilities, hospitals,
and public and private laboratories, we use our instruments to manufacture our BiovaxID vaccine. Additionally, we produce
biologic materials for third-parties on a contract basis using our instruments. This business is conducted through Biovest, our
majority owned subsidiary, which is also the developer and manufacturer of our Biovax1D vaccine.

Sales and Marketing

Qur sales force currently consists of approximately 48 full-time employees for the marketing and sale of our current specialty
pharmaceutical products. We expect that we will continue to use our sales force to market and sell Respi~TANN, CRS
Fungal Profile. and MD Turbo and if approved, SinuNase, AllerNase, and Emezine. Altematively, we may elect to enter into
third-party sales relationships. If we obtain regulatory approval for BiovaxID, we plan to build at Biovest a small, highly-
focused sales and marketing force or enter into third-party sales and marketing relationships to market the product to the
oncology market, although we may also establish marketing relationships with third-parties to penetrate this market,
particularly in forcign countries. We are evaluating our business strategy with regard 1o our specialty pharmaceutical
business, including its staffing requirements and the availability of co-promotion marketing opportunitics.

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive and includes a number of established large and mid-sized pharmaceutical
companies. as well as smaller emerging companies, whose activities are directly focused on our target markets and areas of
expertise. If approved, our product candidates will compete with a large number of products that could include over-the-
counter treatments, prescription drugs, and prescription drugs that arc prescribed off-label. In addition, new developments,
including the development of other drug technologies and methods of preventing the incidence of discase, occur in the
pharmaceutical indusiry at a rapid pace. These developments may render our product candidates or technologies obsolete or
noncompetitive.

1f approved. each of our product candidates will compete for a share of the existing market with numerous products that have
become standard treatments recommended or prescribed by physicians. For example, we believe the primary competition for
our product candidates are:

+  For SinuNase, we are not aware of any third-party that is marketing or developing a comparable product
to treat CRS with amphotericin B, although it is possible that other antifungals may be formulated for

CRS. In addition, our CRS therapy will compete with alternative treatments for CRS, including surgery,
antibiotics, and corticosteroids.




= For BiovaxiD, we are aware of several companies focusing on the development of active
immunotherapies for NHL, including Genitope Corporation, Antigenics, Inc., and Favrille, Inc. None of
these companies uses the hybridoma method to produce a patient-specific vaccine, and of these
companies. only Genitope and Favrille have a product candidate in Phase 3 clinical trials. Several
companies, such as Biogen ldec, and Immunomedics, Inc., are involved in the development of passive
immunotherapies for NHL. These passive immunotherapies include Rituxan, a monoclonal antibody, and
Zevalin and Bexxar, which are passive radioimmunotherapy products.

»  For AllerNase, we will compete with the other intransal corticosteroids currently marketed including
Flonase®, Nasonex*, Rhinocort Aqua®, Nasacort AQ*, and Nasarel*

»  For MD Turbo, we will compete with 3M Corporation’s Maxair™ product, which is a breath-actuated
inhaler device usable with only one medication, as well as with standard MDIs that are not breath-
actuated, including MDIs manufactured by generic albuterol manufacturers such as Dey, IVAX, Zenith,
and GlaxoSmithKline. We believe that the Maxair™ breath-actuated MDI represented about 2% of MDI
sales in 2003 in the U.S. We will also compete with MDI spacers and holding chambers such as Opti-
Chamber, Inspirease, and Aerochamber.

»  For Emezine, we are not aware of any other transbuccal administered formulation of prochlorperazine
maleate that is approved for marketing in the U.S., although we will compete with other prochlorperazine
products being marketed and sold in the U.S. by GlaxoSmithKline and other gencric manufacturers.

»  For Respi~TANN we compete with a wide variety of branded and generic prescription cough, cold, and
allcrgy medications, such as Tussionex. Our Respi~TANN product competes in the antitussive
combination market, in which Allegra-D and Zyriec D are the largest coimpetitors with about 58% and
28% of the market, respectively.

We expect to compete on, among other things, the safety and efficacy of our products and more desirable treatment regimens,
combined with the eflcctiveness of our experienced management team, Competing successfully will depend on our continued
ability 1o attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel, to identify and secure the rights to and develop pharmaceutical
products and compounds and to exploit these products and compounds commerciaily before others are able to develop
competitive products,

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the United States at the federal, state, and local levels and foreign countries extensively regulate,
among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising, distribution, sampling,
marketing, and import and export of pharmaceutical products, biologics, and medicat devices. All of our products in
development will require regulatory approval by government agencies prior to commercialization. In particular, human
therapeutic products are subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical trials and other approval procedures of the FDA and
similar regulatory authorities in foreign countries. Various federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations also
govern testing, manufacturing, safety, labeling. siorage, and record-keeping related to such preducts and their marketing. The
process of obtaining these approvals and the subsequent process of maintaining substantial compliance with appropriate
federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. In
addition, statutes, rules. regulations, and policies may change and new legislation or regulations may be issued that could
delay such approvals.

Pharmaceutical Product Regulation

In the United States. the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, regulates drugs and well-characterized biologics under
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and implementing regulations that are adopted under the FDCA, In the
case of biologics, the FDA regulates such products under the Public Health Service Act. If we fail 1o comply with the
applicable requirements under these faws and regulations at any time during the product development process, approval
process, ot after approval, we may become subject o administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the
FDA’s refusal 1o approve pending applications, withdrawals of approvals, clinical holds, warning letters, product recalls,
product seizures, total or partial suspension of our operations, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. Any
agency enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us. The FDA also administers certain controls over the
export of drugs and biologics from the U.S.




Under the United States regulatory scheme, the development process for new pharmaceutical products can be divided into
three distinet phases:

= Preclinical Phase. The preclinical Phase Involves the discovery, characterization, product formulation
and animal testing necessary to prepare an Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for submission
to the FDA. The IND must be accepted by the FDA before the drug can be tested in humans,

*  Clinical Phase. The clinical phase of development follows a successful IND submission and involves the
activities necessary to demonstrate the safety, tolerability, efficacy, and dosage of the substance in
humans, as well as the ability o produce the substance in accordance with the FDA’s current Good
Manufacturing Processes (cGMP) requirements, Data from these activities are compiled in a New Drug
Application, or NDA, or for biologic products a Biologics License Application, or BLA, for submission
to the FDA requesting approval to market the drug,

*  Post-Approval Phase. The post-approval phase follows FDA approval of the NDA or BLA, and involves
the production and continued analytical and clinical monitoring of the product. The post- approval phase
may also involve the development and regulatory approval of product modifications and line extensions,
including improved dosage forms, of the approved product, as well as for generic versions of the
approved drug, as the product approaches expiration of patent or other exclusivity protection.

Each of these three phases is discussed further below.

Preclinical Phase. The development of a new pharmaceutical agent begins with the discovery or synthesis of a new molecule
or well-characterized biologic. These agents are screencd for pharmacological activily using various animal and tissue
models, with the goal of selecting a lead agent for further development. Additional studies are conducted to confirm
pharmacological activity, to generate safety data, and to evaluate prototype dosage forms for appropriate release and activity
characteristics. Once the pharmaceutically active molecule is fully characterized, an initial purity profile of the agent s
established. During this and subsequent stages of development, the agent is analyzed to confirm the integrity and quality of
material produced. In addition, development and optimization of the initial dosage forms to be used in clinical trials are
completed, together with analytical models to determine product stability and degradation. A bulk supply of the active
ingredient to support the necessary dosing in initial clinical trials must be secured. Upon successful completion of preclinical
safety and efficacy studies in animals, an IND submisston is prepared and provided to the FDA for review prior to
commencement of hurnan clinical trials. The IND consists of the initial chemistry, analytical, formulation, and animal testing
data generated during the preclinical phase. In general, the review period for an IND submission is 30 days, after which, if no
comments are made by the FDA, the product candidate can be studied in Phase 1 clinical trials.

The process for the development of biologic products, such as our BiovaxID product, parallels the process outlined above.
Biologics, in contrast to drugs that are chemically synthesized, are derived from living sources, such as humans, amimals, and
microorganisms. Most biologics are complex mixtures that are not easily identified or characterized and have activity that 1s
different from the activity of small, organic molecules normally found in drugs. Because of the diversity of the nature of
biologic products and their substantial molecular size (usually hundreds of times larger than small, organic molecules
associated with drugs), special technology is often required for their production and subsequent analysis. Biologic products,
especially proteins, may be produced with living cells. Purity testing of biologics can be complex since living cells may
harbor viruses and other agents. The potential presence of these agents, and the requirement to establish degradation profiles
and identify impurities associated with production and purification, further require establishing, validating, and conducting
specialized tests and analyses. Formulation development in this area is often more complex than for small, organic drug
substances. For example, molecules produced using recombinant DNA technology are inherently less stable than their
organic counterparts because structural integrity must be maintained through administration and distribution of the product.
Accordingly, certain aspects of the development process for biologic products may be more challenging than similar aspects
encountered in the development of drugs.

Clinical Phase. Following successful submission of an IND, the sponsor is permitted 1o conduct clinical trials involving the
administration of the investigational product candidate to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators in
accordance with good clinical practice, Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the
objectives of the study and the parameters to be used in assessing the safety and the efficacy of the drug. Each protocol must
be submitted to the FDA as part of the iND prior to beginning the trial. Each trial must be reviewed, approved and conducted
under the auspices of an independent Institutional Review Board, and each trial, with limited exceptions, must include the
patient’s informed consent. Typically, clinical evaluation involves the following time-consuming and costly three-phase
sequential process:

s Phase I. Phase 1 human clinical trials are conducted in a limited number of healthy individuals to
determine the drug’s safety and tolerability and includes biological analyses to determine the availability

16




and metabolization of the active ingredient following administration, The total number of subjects and
patients included in Phase 1 clinical trials varies, but is generally in the range of 20 to 80 people.

»  Phase 2. Phase 2 clinical trials involve administering the drug to individuals who suffer from the target
disease or condition to determine the drug’s potential efficacy and ideal dose. These clinical trials are
typically well controlled, closely monitored, and conducted in a relatively small number of patients,
usually involving no more than several hundred subjects. These trials require scale up for manufacture of
increasingly larger batches of bulk chemical. These batches require validation analysis to confirm the
consistent composition of the product.

»  Phase 3. Phase 3 clinical trials are performed after preliminary evidence suggesting effectiveness of a
drug has been obtaincd and safety (toxicity), tolerability, and an ideal dosing regimen have been
established. Phase 3 clinical trials are intended to gather additional information about the effectiveness
and safety that is needed to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the drug and to complete the
information needed to provide adequate instructions for the usc of the drug, alse referred to as the Official
Product Information. Phase 3 trials usually include from several hundred to several thousand subjects.

Throughout the clinical phase, samples of the product made in different batches are tested for stability to establish shelf life
constraints. In addition, large-scale production protocols and written standard operating procedures for each aspect of
commercial manufacture and testing must be developed.

Phase 1, 2, and 3 testing may not be completed successfully within any specified time period, if at all. The FDA closely
monitors the progress of each of the three phases of clinical trials that are conducted under an IND and may, at its discretion,
reevaluate, alter, suspend, or terminate the testing based upon the data accumulated to that peint and the FDA’s assessment of
the risk/benefit ratio to the patient. The FDA may suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time for various reasons,
including a finding that the subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. The FDA can also request
additional clinical trials be conducted as a condition to product approval. Additionally, new government requirements may be
established that could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our products under development. Furthermore, institutional
review boards, which are independent entities constituted to protect human subjects in the institutions in which clinical trials
are being conducted, have the authority to suspend clinical trials at any time for a variety of reasons, including safety issues.

New Drug Application (NDA) or Biologics License Application (BLA)

Afier the successful completion of Phase 3 clinical trials, the sponsor of the new drug submits an NDA, or BLA in the case of
biclogics, to the FDA requesting approval to market the product for one or more indications. An NDA, or BLA, 1sa
comprehensive, multi-volume application that includes, among other things, the results of all preclinical and ctinical studies,
information about the drug’s composition, and the sponsor’s plans for producing, packaging, and labeling the drug. Under the
Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003, an application also is required to include an assessment, generally based on clinical
study data, on the safety and efficacy of drugs for all relevant pediatric populations before the NDA is submitted. The statute
provides for waivers or deferrals in certain situations. We have applied for a pediatric assessment waiver for Emezine but we
can make no assurances that such situations apply to our other products. In most cases, the NDA or BLA must be
accompanied by a substantial user fee. In return, the FDA assigns a goal of 10 months from acceptance of the application to
return of a first “complete response,” in which the FDA may approve the product or request additional information.

The submission of the application is no guarantee that the FDA will find it complete and accept it for filing. The FDA
reviews all NDAs and BLAs submitted before it accepts them for filing. It may refuse to file the application and request
additional information rather than accept the application for filing, in which case, the application must be resubmitted with
the supplemental information, After application is deemed filed by the FDA, the FDA reviews an NDA or BLA to determine,
among other things, whether a product is safe and effective for its intended use. The FDA has substantial discretion in the
approval process and may disagree with an applicant’s interpretation of the data submitted in its NDA or BLA. Drugs that
successfully complete NDA or BLA review may be marketed in the United States, subject to all conditions imposed by the
FDA. Prior to granting approval, the FDA generally conducts an inspection of the facilities, including outsourced facilities,
which will be involved in the manufacture, production, packaging, testing and control of the drug product for cGMP
compliance. The FDA will not approve the application unless cGMP compliance is satisfactory. If the FDA determines that
the marketing application, manufacturing process, or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, it will outline the
deficiencies in the submission and will often request additional testing or information. Notwithstanding the submission of any
requested additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the marketing application does not satisfy the
regulatory criteria for approval and refuse to approve the application by issuing a “not approvable” letter.

The length of the FDDA’s review ranges from a few months to many years.
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Fast-Track Review

The Food and Drug Administration Modernization Act of 1997, or the Modemization Act, establishes a statutory program for
the approval of “Fast-Track™ products, which arc defined under the Modernization Act as new drugs or biologics intended for
the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition that demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for this
condition. To determine whether a condition is “serious™ for the purposes of Fast-Track designation, the FDA considers
several factors including, the condition’s impact on survival, day-to-day functioning, and the likelihood that the disease, if
teft untreated, will progress from a less severe condition to a more serious one. If awarded, the Fast-Track designation applies
to the product only for the indication for which the designation was received. Under the Fast-Track program, the sponsor of a
new drug or biologic may request the FDA 10 designate the drug or biologic as a Fast-Track product in writing at any time
during the clinical development of the product. The act specifies that the FDA must determine if the product qualifies for
Fast-Track designation within 60 days of receipt of the sponsor’s request.

Fast-Track designation offers a product the benefit of approval based on surrogate endpoints that generally would not be
acceptable for approval and also offers possible early or rolling acceptance of the marketing application for review by the
agency. However, the time periods te which the FDA has committed in reviewing an application do not begin until the
sponsor actually submits the application. The FDXA may subject approval of an application for a Fast-Track product to post-
approval studies to validate the surrogate endpoint or confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint, and the FDA may also
subject such approval to prior review of all premotional materials. In addition, the FDA may withdraw its approval of a Fast-
Track product on a number of grounds, including the sponsor’s failure to conduct any required post-approval study with due
diligence and failure to continue to meet the criteria for designation.

Fast-Track designation should be distinguished from the FDA’s other programs for expedited development and review,
aithough products awarded Fast-Track status may also be eligible for these other benefits. Accelerated approval refers to the
use of less than well-established surrogate endpoints discussed above. Priority review is a designation of an application after
it has been submitted to FDA for approval. The agency sets the target date for agency actions on the applications of products
that receive priority designation for six months, where products under standard review receive a ten month target.

The FDA has granted “Fast-Track” review status to both SinuNase and BiovaxID, which means that these products may be
eligible for expedited review procedures by the FDA. However, we cannot predict the impact, if any, that Fast-Track
designation will actually have on the duration of the regulatory approval process for these product candidates, and the FDA
may deny regulatory approval of either or both of these product candidates notwithstanding their Fast-Track designation.

Post-Approval Phase

If the FDA approves the NDA, BLA, or ANDA application, as applicable, the pharmaceutical product becomes available for
physicians to prescribe in the United States. Afier approval, we are still subject to continuing regulation by FDA, including
record keeping requirements, subrnitting periodic reports to the FDA, reporting of any adverse experiences with the product,
and complying with drug sampling and distribution requirements. In addition, we are required to maintain and provide
updated safety and efficacy information to the FDA. We are also required to comply with requirements concerning
advertising and promotional labeling. In that regard, our advertising and promotional materials must be truthful and not
misleading. We are also prohibited from promoting any non-FDA approved or “off-label” indications of products. Failure to
comply with those requirements could result in significant enforcement action by the FDA, including warning letters, orders
to pull the promotional materials, and substantial fines. Also, quality control and manufacturing procedures must continue to
conform to cGMP after approval.

Drug and biologics manufacturcrs and their subcontractors are required to register their facilities and products manufactured
annually with FDA and certain state agencies and are subject to periodic unanncunced inspections by the FDA to assess
compliance with cGMP regulations. Facilities may also be subject to inspections by other federal, foreign, state, cr local
agencies. In addition, approved biological drug products may be subject to lot-by-lot release testing by the FDA before these
products can be commercially distributed. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue 10 expend time, money, and effort in
the area of production and quality control to maintain compliance with cGMP and other aspects of regulatory compliance.
We use, and will continue to use, third-party manufacturers. 10 produce certain of our products in chinical and commercial
quantities, and future FDA inspections may identify compliance issues at our facilities or at the facilities of our contract
manufacturers that may distupt production or distribution, or require substantial resources to correct.

In addition, following FDA approval of a product, discovery of problems with a product or the failure to comply with
requirements may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer, or holder of an approved marketing application, including
withdrawal or recall of the product from the market or other voluntary or FDA-initiated action that could delay further
marketing. Newly discovered or developed safety or effectiveness data may require changes to a product’s approved labeling,
including the addition of new warnings and contraindications. Also, the FDA may require post-market testing and
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surveillance 1o monitor the product’s safety or efficacy, including additional clinical studies, known as Phase 4 trials, to
evaluate long-term effeets,

Harch-Waxman Act

Under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch-Waxman Act,
Congress created an abbreviated FDA review process for generic versions of pioncer (brand name) drug products. In order to
preserve the incentives of pioneer drug manufacturers to innovate, the Hatch-Waxman Act also provides for patent term
restoration and the award, in certain circumstances, of non-patent marketing exclusivities.

Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDAs)

An ANDA is a type of application in which approval is based on a showing of “sameness™ to an already approved drug
product. ANDAs do not contain full reports of safety and effcctiveness, as do NDAs, but rather demonstrate that their
proposed products are “the same as™ reference products with regard to their conditions of use, active ingredient(s), route of
administration, dosage form, strength, and labeling. ANDA applicants are also required to demonstrate the “biocquivalence”
of their products to the reference product. Biocquivalence gencrally means that there is no significant difference in the rate
and extent to which the active ingredient(s) in the products becomes available at the site of drug action.

All ANDAs must contain data relating to product formulation, raw material suppliers, stability, manufacturing, packaging,
Jabeling, and quality control, among other information. The timing of final FDA approval of an ANDA depends on a variety
of factors, including whether the applicant has challenged any patents claiming the reference product and whether the pioneer
manufacturer is entitied to one or more periods of non-patent marketing exclusivity. In certain circumstances, these
marketing exclusivities can extend beyond the life of a patent, and block the approval of ANDAs afier the date on which the
patent expires. [f the FDA concludes that all substantive ANDA requirements have been satisfied, but final approval is
blocked because of a patent or a non-patent marketing exclusivity, the FDA may issue the applicant a “tentative approval”
letter.

505(b)(2) Applications

If a proposed product represents a change from an already approved product, yet does not qualify for submission under an
ANDA pursuant to an approved suitability petition, the applicant may be able to submit a type of NDA referred to as a
“505(b)(2) application.” A 505(b)(2) application is an NDA for which one or more of the investigations relied upon by the
applicant for approval was not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of
reference or use from the person by or for whom the investigation was conducted. The FDA has determined that 505(b)(2)
applications may be submitted for products that represent changes from approved products in conditions of use, active
ingredient(s), route of administration, dosage form, strength, or bioavailability. A 505(b)(2) applicant must provide FDA with
any additional clinical data necessary to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of the product with the proposed change(s).
Conseguently, although duplication of preclinical and certain clinical studies is avoided through the use a 505(b)(2)
application, specific studies may be required. We plan to submit a 505(b}(2) application for SinuNase, and Arius, our
development partner for our Emezine product, submitted a 505(b)(2) application for Emezine in April 2005.

Patent Term Restoration

The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides for the restoration of a portion of the patent term lost during product development and
FDA review of an application. However. the maximum period of restoration cannot exceed 5 years, or restore the total
remaining term of the patent to greater than 14 years from the date of FDA approval of the product. The patent term
restoration period is generally one-half the time between the effective date of the IND and the date of submission of the
NDA., plus the time between the date of submission of the NDA and the date of FDA approval of the product. Only one
patent claiming each approved product is eligible for restoration and the patent holder must apply for restoration within 60
days of approval. The United States Patent and Trademark Office, in consultation with FDA, reviews and approves the
application for patent term restoration. In the future, we may consider applying for patent term restoration for some of our
currently owned or licensed patents, depending on the expected length of clinical trials and other factors involved in the filing
of an NDA,

ANDA and 505(8)(2) Applicant Challenges to Patents and Generic Exclusivity

ANDA and 505(b)(2) applicants arc required to list with FDA each patent that claims their approved products and for which
claims of patent infringement could reasonably be asserted against unauthorized manufacturers. ANDA and 505(b)(2)
applicants must then certify regarding each of the patents listed with the FDA for the product(s) it references. An applicant
can certify that there is no listed patent, that the listed patent has cxpired. that the application may be approved upon the date
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of expiration of the listed patent, or that the patent is invalid or will not be infringed by the marketing of the applicant’s
product. This last certification is referred to as a “Paragraph 1V certification.”

It a Paragraph IV certification is filed, the applicant must also provide notice to the NDA holder and patent owner stating that
the application has been submitted and providing the factual and legal basis for the applicant’s opinion that the patent is
invalid or not infringed. The NDA holder or patent owner may sue the ANDA or 505(b}(2) applicant for patent infringement,
If the NDA holder or patent owner files suit within 45 days of receiving notice of the application, a one-time 30-month stay
of FDA’s ability to approve the ANDA or 505(b)(2) application is triggered. FDA may approve the proposed product before
the expiration of the 30-month stay if'a court finds the patent invalid or not infringed or shortens the period because parties
have failed to cooperate in expediting the litigation.

As an incentive to encourage generic drug manufacturers to undertake the expenses associated with Paragraph IV patent
litigation, the first ANDA applicant to submit a substantially complete ANDA with a Paragraph IV certification to a listed
patent may be eligible for a 180-day period of marketing exclusivity. For ANDAS filed after December 8, 2003 that use a
reference product for which no Paragraph IV certification was made in any ANDA before that date, this exclusivity blocks
the approval of any later ANDA with a Paragraph IV centification referencing the same product. For these ANDAs, the
exclusivity period runs from the date when the generic drug is first commercially marketed.

For other ANDASs, the 180-day exclusivity period blocks the approval of any later ANDA with a Paragraph IV certification
referencing at least the same patent, if not the same product, and may be triggered on the date the generic drug is first
commercially marketed or the date of a decision of a court holding that the patent that was the subject of the Paragraph 1V
certification is invalid or not infringed. This decision must be from a court from which no appeal can be or has been taken,
other than a petition to the United States Supreme Court.

If multiple generic drug manufacturers submit substantially complete ANDAs with Paragraph [V certifications on the first
day that any such ANDAs are submitted, all of these manufacturers will share in a single 180-day exclusivity period. Note
also that these periods of 180-day exclusivity may be subject to forfeiture provisions, requiring relinquishment of the
exclusivity in some situations, including cases where commercial marketing of the generic drug does not occur within a
certain time period.

Non-Patent Marketing Exclusivities

The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides three years of “new use™ marketing exclusivity for the approval of NDAs, 505(b)(2)
applications, and supplements, where those applications contain the results of new clinical investigations (other than
bioavailability studies) essential to the FDA’s approval of the applications. Such applications may be submitted for new
indications, dosage forms, strengths, or new conditions of use of already approved products. So long as the new clinical
investigations are essential to the FDA's approval of the change, this three-year exclusivity prohibits the final approval of
ANDAs or 505(b)(2) applications for products with the specific changes associated with those clinical investigations. It does
not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) applications for other products containing the same active
ingredient.

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

Some jurisdictions, including the Uniled States and the European Union, designate drugs intended for relatively small patient
populations as “orphan drugs.” The FDA, for example, grants orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat rare diseases
or conditions that affect fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States or drugs for which there is no reasonable
expectation that the cost of developing and making the drugs available in the United States will be recovered. In the United
States orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting an application for approval of the product.

Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval
process. If a product which has an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the indication
for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to a marketing exclusivity. For seven years, the FDA may not
approve any other application, including NDAs or ANDAS, to market the “same drug” for the same indication. The only
exception is where the second produet is shown to be “clinically superior™ to the product with orphan drug exclusivity, as that
phrase is defined by the FDA and if there is an inadequate supply.

Manufacturing

Changes to the manufacturing process or site during or following the completion of clinical trials requires sponsors (o
demonstrate 1o the FDA that the product under new conditions is comparable to the product that was the subject of earlier
clinical testing. This requirement applies to relocations or expansions of manufacturing facilities, such as the recent
consolidatien of all of the steps in the BiovaxID production process 1o our Worcester, Massachusetts plant and possible
expansion 10 additional facilities that may be required for successful commercialization of the vaccine. A showing of
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comparability requires data demonstrating that the product continues to be safe, pure, and potent and may be based on
chemical, physical, and biological assays and, in some cases, other non-clinical data. If we demonstrate comparability,
additional clinical safety and/or efficacy trials with the new product may not be needed. If the FDA requires additional
clinical safety or efficacy trials to demonstrate comparability, our clinical trials or the FDA approval of BiovaxID may be
delayed.

We anticipate that the manufacture of the other products in our development pipeline will be outsourced to experienced
¢GMP-compliant medical manufacturing companies. In addition, our currently marketed specialty pharmaceutical products
are manufactured by third-party contract manufacturers, as identified elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Prescription Drug Wrap-Up (DEST II Products)

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the Act) of 1938 was the first statute requiring pre-market-approval of drugs by
the FDA. These approvals, however, focused exclusively on safety data. In 1962, Congress amended the Act to require that
sponsors demonstrate that new drugs are effective, as well as safe, in order to receive FDA approval. This amendment also
required the FDA to conduct a retrospective evaluation of the effectiveness of the drug products that the FDA approved
between 1938 and 1962 on the basis of safety alone. The agency contracted with the National Academy of Science/National
Research Council (NAS/NRC) to make an initial evaluation of the effectiveness of many drug products. The FDA’s
administrative implememtation of the NAS/NRC reports was called the Drug Efficacy Study Implementation (DEST).

Drugs that were not subject to applications approved between 1938 and 1962 were not subject to DESI review. For a period
of time, the FDA permitted these drugs to remain on the market without approval. In 1984, however, spurred by serious
adverse reactions to onc of these products, Congress urged the FDA to expand the new drug requirements 10 include all
marketed unapproved prescription drugs. The FDA created a program, known as the Prescription Drug Wrap-Up, to address
these remaining unapproved drugs. Most of these drugs contain active ingredients that were first marketed prior to the 1938
Act, We believe that several of our marketed pharmaceutical products fall within this category.

The FDA asserts that all drugs subject to the Prescription Drug Wrap-Up are on the market iltegally and are subject to FDA
enforcement discretion because there is an argument that all prescription drugs must be the subject of an approved drug
application. There arc a couple of narrow exceptions. For example, both the 1938 and 1962 Acts include grandfather
provisions exempting certain drugs from the new drug requirements. The 1938 clause exempts drugs that were on market
prior to the passage of the 1938 Act and contain the same representations concerning the conditions of use as they did prior to
passage of the Act. The 1962 Act exempts, in certain circumstances, drugs that have the same composition and labeling as
they had prior to the passage of the 1962 Act. The agency and the courts have interpreted these two exceptions very narrowly.
As to drugs marketed over the counter, the FDA exempts through regulation products that are determined to be generally
recognized as safe and effective (GRAS/GRASE) and have been used to a material extent and for a material time,

The FDA has adopted a risk-based enforcement policy that prioritizes enforcement of new drug requirements for unapproved
drugs that pose a safety threat, lack evidence of effectiveness and prevent patients from pursuing effective therapies, and that
are marketed fraudulently. In addition, the FDA has indicated that approval of an NDA for one drug within a class of drugs
marketed without FDA approval may also trigger agency enforcement of the new drug requirements. Once the FDA issues an
approved NDA for one of the drug products at issue or completes the efficacy review for that drug product, it may require
other manufacturers to also file a NDA or an abbreviated NDA (ANDA) for that same drug in order to continue marketing it
in the United States. While the FDA generally provides sponsors a one year grace period, the agency is not statutorily
required to do so.

Pharmacy Compounding

The FDA does not regulate the practice of pharmacy but does evaluate pharmacies to determine if their compounding
practice qualifies them as drug manufacturers for the purpose of food and drug laws. I the FDA considers the actions of a
compounding pharmacy to be similar to those of a drug manufacturer, the FDA will take action to stop such pharmacy
compounding until a new drug application is approved for the marketing of such drugs.

Medical Device Regulation

New medical devices, such as our MD Turbo product, are also subject to FDA approval and extensive regulation under the
FDCA. Under the FDCA, medical devices are classified into one of three classes: Class 1, Class 11, or Class 111. The
classification of a device into one of these three classes generally depends on the degree of risk associated with the medical
device and the extent of control needed to ensure safety and effcctiveness.

Class I devices are those for which safety and cffectiveness can be assured by adherence to a st of general controls. These
general controls include compliance with the applicable portions of the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, which sets forth
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good manufacturing practice requirements; facility registration and product reporting of adverse medical events listing;
truthful and non-misleading labeling; and promotion of the device only for its cleared or approved intended uses. Class 11
devices are also subject to these general controls, and any other special controls as deemed necessary by the FDA to ensure
the safety and effectiveness of the device. Review and clearance by the FDA for these devices is typically accomplished
through the so-called 510(k) pre-market notification procedure. When 510(k) clearance is sought, a sponsor must submit a
pre-market notification demonstrating that the proposed device is substantially equivalent to a previously approved device. If
the FDA agrees that the proposed device is substantially equivalent to the predicate device, then 510(k) clearance to market
will be granted. After a device receives $10(k) clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or
effectiveness, or that would constitute a major change in its intended use, requires a new 510(k) clearance or could require
pre-market approval, Our instruments and disposables used for the production of cell cultures are generally regulated as Class
I devices exempt from the 510(k) clearance process.

Clinical trials are almost always required to support a PMA application and are sometimes required for a 510(k) pre-market
notification. These trials gencrally require submission of an application for an investigational device exemption, or IDE. An
IDE must be supported by pre-clinical data, such as animal and laboratory testing results, which show that the device is safe
to test in humans and that the study protocols are scientifically sound. The IDE must be approved in advance by the FDA for
a specified number of patients, unless the product is deemed a non-significant risk device and is eligible for more abbreviated
investigational device exemption requirements.

Both before and after a medical device is commercially distributed, manufacturers and marketers of the device have ongoing
responsibilities under FDA regulations. The FDA reviews design and manufacturing practices, labeling and record keeping,
and manufacturers’ required reports of adverse experiences and other information to identify potential problems with
marketed medical devices. Device manufacturers are subject to periodic and unannounced inspection by the FDA for
compliance with the Quality Systemn Regulation, current good manufacturing practice requirements that govern the methods
used in, and the facilitics and controls used for, the design, manufacture, packaging, servicing, labeling, storage, installation,
and distribution of all finished medical devices intended for human use.

If the FDA finds that a manufacturer has failed to comply or that a medical device is incffective or poses an unreasonable
health risk, it can institute or seek a wide variety of enforcement actions and remedies, ranging from a public warning letter to
more severe actions such as:

*  fines, injunctions, and civil penalties;

*  recall or seizure of products;

*  operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
*  refusing requests for 510{k) clearance or PMA approval of new products;
*  withdrawing 510(k) clearance or PMA approvals already pranted; and

*  criminal prosecution.

The FDA also has the authority to require repair, replacement or refund of the cost of any medical device.

The FDA also administers certain controls over the export of medical devices from the U.S., as internationa) sales of medical
devices that have not received FDA approval are subject to FDA export requirements. Additionally, each foreign country
subjects such medical devices to its own regulatory requirements. In the European Unton, a single regulatory approval
process has been created, and approval is represented by the CE Mark.

Other Regulation in the United States

Controlled Substances Act. Qur Xodol pain product, and one of our Histex products all contain hydrocodone or oxycodone, a
narcotic that is a “controlled substance” under the Controlled Substances Act. The federal Controlled Substances Act (CSA),
Titte II of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, is a consolidation of numerous laws
regulating the manufacture and distribution of narcotics and other substances, including stimulants, depressants and
hallucinogens. The CSA is administered by the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), a division of the U.S. Department
of Justice, and is intended to prevent the abuse or diversion of controlled substances into illicit channels of commerce.

Any person or firm that manufactures, distributes, dispenses, imports, or exports any controlled substance (or proposes to do
so) must register with the DEA. The applicant must register for a specific business aclivity related to controlled substances,
including manufacturing or distributing, and may engage in only the activity or activities for which it is registered. The DEA
conducts periedic inspections of registered establishments that handle controlled substances. In addition, a recent law
requires DEA review of labeling, promotion, and risk management plans for certain controlled substances as a condition of
DEA spending. Failure to comply with relevant DEA regulations, particularly as manifested in the loss or diversion of
controlled substances, can result in regulatory action including civil penalties, refusal to renew necessary registrations, or
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initiating proceedings to revoke those registrations. In certain circumstances, violations can lead to criminal prosecution.
Mikart, which manufactures our pain products, is registered with the DEA to manufacture and distribute controlled
substances.

Some of our products also contain pscudoephedrine. The DEA regulates pseudoephedrine, pursuant to the CSA and the
Domestic Chemical Diversion Control Act of 1993, as a “listed chemical” because it can be used in the production of illicit
drugs. There are two groups of listed chemicals, List | chemicals and List Il chemicals; List [ chemicals are more strictly
regulated. Pseudoephedrine is a List | chemical. Persons or firms who manufacture, distribute, import, or export listed
chemicals in amounts above specified threshold levels, or chemical mixtures that contain listed chemicals above specified
threshold amounts. must fulfill certain requirements regarding, among other things, registration, recordkeeping, reporting,
and security. Pseudoephedrine is subject to tighter controls than most other listed chemicals that are lawfully marketed under
the Federal Food, Drug. and Cosmetic Act.

In addition to these federal statutory and regulatory obligations, there may be state and local laws and regulations relevant to
the handling of controlled subsiances or listed chemicals.

Tovic Substances Control Aet. The Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA. has promulgated regulations under Section 5
of the Toxic Substances Control Act, or TSCA, which require notification procedures for review of certain so-called
[ntergeneric microorganisms before they are introduced into commerce. Intergeneric microorganisms are those formed by
deliberate combinations ol genetic material from organisms classified in different taxonomic genera, which are types of
animal o plant groups. The regulations provide exemptions from the reporting requirements for new microorganisms used
for research and development when the rescarcher or institution is in mandatory compliance with the National Institutes of
Health Guidelines for Research Involving Recombinant DNA Molecules, or NIH Guidelines. Those researchers voluntarily
following the NIH Guidelines can, by documenting their use of the NIH Guidelines, satisfy EPA’s requirements for lesting in
contained structures. The EPA may enforce the TSCA through enforcement actions such as seizing noncompliant substances,
seeking injunctive relief, and assessing civil or criminal penalties. We believe that our research and development activitics
involving intergeneric micreorganisms comply with the TSCA, but there can be no assurance that restrictions, fines or
penalties will not be imposed on us in the future,

Health Care Coverage and Reimbursement. Commercial success in marketing and sclling our products depends, in part, on
the availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party health care payers, such as government and private
health insurers and managed care organizations. Third-party payers are increasingly chatlenging the pricing of medical
products and services. Government and private sector initiatives to limit the growth of health care costs, including price
regulation, compelitive pricing, coverage and payment policics, and managed-care arrangements, are continuing in many
countries where we do business. including the U.S. These changes are causing the marketplace to put increased emphasis on
the delivery of more cost-effective medical products.

Government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, private health care insurance, and managed-care plans have
attempted to control costs by limiting the amount of reimbursement they will pay for particular procedures or treatments.
This has created an increasing level of price sensitivity among customers for our products. Examples of how limits on drug
coverage and reimbursement in the United States may cause drug price sensitivity include the growth of managed care.
changing Medicare reimbursement methodologies, and drug rebates and price controls. Some third-party payors must also
approve coverage for new or innovative devices or therapics before they will reimburse health care providers who use the
medical devices or therapics. Even though a new medical product may have been cleared for commercial distribution, we
may find limited demand for the product until reimbursement approval has been obtained from governmental and private
third-party payors.

Anti-Kickback Laws, In the United States, there are federal and state anti-kickback laws that prohibit the payment or receipt
of kickbacks. bribes or other remuneration to induce the purchase, order or recornmendation of health care products and
services. These laws constrain the sales. marketing and other promotional activities ol pharmaceutical companies, such as us,
by limiting the kinds of financial arrangements (including sales programs) we may have with prescribers, purchasers,
dispensers and users of drugs and biologics. The HHS Office of Inspector General (O1G) has issued Compliance Guidance
for pharmaceutical manufacturers which, among other things, identifies manufacturer practices implicating the federal anti-
kickback law (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)) and describes elements of an effective compliance program. The OIG Compliance
Guidance is voluntary, and we have not adopted a formal compliance program modeled after the one described in the OIG
guidance. Although none of our practices have been subject to challenge under any anti-kickback laws, due to the breadth of
the statutory provisions of some of these laws, it is possible that some of our practices might be challenged under one or more
of these laws in the future. Violations of these laws can lead to civil and criminal penalties, including imprisonment, fines
and exclusion from participation in federal health care programs. Any such violations could have a matetial adverse effect on
our business, financial condition. results of operations or cash flows.
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Health Information Privacy and Security. Individually identifiable health information is subject to an array of federal and
state regulation. Federal rules promulgated pursuant to the Health Information Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
(“HIPAA”) regulate the use and disclosure of health information by “covered entities” (which includes individual and
institutional providers from which we may receive individually identifiable health information). These regulations govern,
among other things, the use and disclosure of health information for research purposes, and require the covered entity to
obtain the written authorization of the individual before using or disclosing health information for research. Failure of the
covered entity to obtain such authorization (absent obtaining a waiver of the authorization requirement from an Institutional
Review Board) could subject the covered entity to civil and criminal penalties. As the implementation of this regulation is
still in its early phases, we may experience delays and complex negotiations as we deal with each entity’s differing
interpretation of the regulations and what is required for compliance. Further, HIPAA’s criminal provisions are not limited in
their applicability to “covered persons,” but apply to any “person™ that knowingly and in violation of the statute obtains or
discloses individually identifiable health information. Alse, where our customers or contractors are covered entities,
including hospitals, universities, physicians or clinics, we may be required by the HIPAA regulations to enter into “business
associate” agreements that subject us to certain privacy and security requirements, including making our books and records
available for audit and inspection by HHS and implementing certain health informaticn privacy and security safeguards. In
addition, many states have laws that apply to the use and disclosure of health information, and these laws could also affect
the manner in which we conduct our research and other aspects of our business. Such state laws are not preempted by the
federal privacy law where they afford greater privacy protection to the individual. While activities to assure compliance with
health information privacy laws are a routine business practice, we are unable to predict the extent to which our resources
may be diverted in the event of an investigation or enforcement action with respect to such laws.

Foreign Regulation

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval of a product by the comparable regulatory
authorities of foreign countries before we can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. The
approval process varies from country to country, and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval.
The requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing, and reimbursement also vary greatly
from country to country. Although governed by the applicable country, clinical trials conducted outside of the United States
typically are administered under a three-phase sequential process similar to that discussed above for pharmaceutical products.
Clinical trials conducted in the European Union must comply with the EU Clinical Trials Directive.

Under European Union regulatory systems, we may submit marketing authorization applications either under a centralized or
decentralized procedure for most products. The centralized procedure, which is available for medicines produced by
biotechnology or which are highly innovative, provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization that is valid for all
European Union member states. Under European Commission Regulation 726/2004, the centralized authorization procedure
is required for all biotechnology-derived medicinal products developed through recombinant DINA technology, controlled
expression of genes coding for biologically active proteins, and hybridoma and monocional antibody methods. 1t is also
required for designated orphan medicinal products and all new active substances indicated for the treatment of AIDS, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorder, or diabetes. This authorization is a marketing authorization approval, or MAA. The decentralized
procedure provides for mutual recognition of national regulatory autherity approval decisions. Under this procedure, the
holder of a national marketing authorization granted by one member state may submit an application to the remaining
member states. Within 90 days of receiving the applications and assessment report, each member state must decide whether
to recognize approval. This procedure is referred o as the mutual recognition procedure, or MRP,

In addition, regulatory approval of prices is required in most countries other than the United States. We face the risk that the
prices which result from the regulatory approval process would be insufficient to generate an acceptable retum to us or our
collaborators.

BiovaxID Manufacturing

We manufacture BiovaxID primarily at Biovest’s manufacturing facility in Worcester, Massachusetts operated by its
subsidiary, Biovax, Inc. We believe that our facilities are sufficient to produce the vaccine required for the product’s clinical
trials. We are in the process of conforming to FDA regulations that will enable this consolidation. If we receive FDA
approval of the vaccine, we may continue to manufacture the vaccine at our existing facility in Worcester, although we will
likely need to develop additional facilities or utilize third-party contract manufacturers to fully support commercial
production for the U.S. markets. To penetrate markets outside of the U.S., we may enter into collaborations with well-
established compantes that have the capabilities (o produce the product. To facilitate commercial production of the vaccine,
we are developing proprietary manufacturing equipment that integrates and automates various stages of vaccine production.
We believe that such equipment will reduce the space and staff currently required for production of the vaccine.
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We anticipate that the manufacture of the other products in our development pipeline will be outsourced to experienced
cGMP-compliant medical manufacturing companies. In addition, our currently marketed specialty pharmaceutical products
are manufactured by third-party contract manufacturers, as identified elsewhere in this annual report on Form 106-K.

Intellectual Property

We are pursuing a number of methods to establish and maintain market exclusivity for our product candidates fo the greatest
extent possible, including secking patent protection, the use of statutory market exclusivity provisions, and otherwise
protecting our intellectual property.

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain proprietary protection for our product candidates,
technology, and know-how; to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others; and to prevent others from
infringing our proprietary rights. Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietary position by, among other methods, filing
United States and foreign patent applications when possible relating to our proprietary technology, inventions, and
improvements that are important to our business. We also rely on trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological
innovation, and in-licensing opportunities to develop and maintain our proprietary position.

The following is information regarding our owned and licensed patents and patent applications that we consider material to
our business:

+  With respect to SinuNase, MAYO holds one issued U.S. patent relating to the treatment of CRS with
intranasal antifungals and another U.S. patent relating to the treatment of asthma through muco-
administration of antifungals. It also holds one related European Union counterpart patent application for
the CRS therapy. Each of these patents expires in October 2018. Each of these issued patents and patent
applications are exclusively licensed by us under our license agreement with MAYQO.

«  With respect to BiovaxID, we have filed a first PCT application relating to the type of cell media used 10
grow cell cultures in the production of BiovaxID, and we have filed a second PCT application relating to
certain features of the integrated production and purification system used to produce and purify the
vaccine in an automated closed system.

+  With respect to the MD Turbo device, Respirics holds four issued U.S. patents relating to the device, each
of which expires in June 2016, and one pending U.S. patent application relating to the device. We have
exclusive U.S. distribution rights to the device under our agreement with Respirics.

+  With respect to AllerNase, Collegium filed a patent application titled “Temperature Stable Formulations
and Methods of Development” (Pub #: US-2005-0153946) on December 14" 2004.

The patent positions of companies like ours are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Our
ability to maintain and solidify our proprietary position for our technology will depend on our success in obtaining effective
claims and enforcing those claims once granted. We do not know whether any of our patent applications or those patent
applications that we license will result in the issuance of any patents. Our issued patents and those that may issue in the
future, or those licensed to us, may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop
competitors from marketing related products or the length of term of patent protection that we may have for our products. In
addition, the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive
advantages against competitors with similar technology. Furthermore, our competitors may independently develop similar
technologies or duplicate any technology developed by us. Because of the extensive time required for development, testing
and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that, before any of our products can be commercialized, any related
patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantage of
the patent.

We rely in some circumstances on trade secrets to protect our technology, particularly with respect lo certain aspects of our
Biovax]D manufacturing process. However, trade sccrets are difficult to protect. We seek to protect our proprietary
technology and processes, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors, and
other contractors. These agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition,
our trade sccrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. To the extent that our
employees, consultants, or contractors use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to
the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.

We use Accentia™, Accentia Biopharmaceuticals™, and the Accentia Biopharmaceuticals logo as trademarks in the U.S.
and other countries, and we are seeking U.S. trademark registrations for Accentia Biopharmaceuticals™ and the Accentia
Biopharmaceuticals logo. We are also seeking U.S. trademark registrations for BiovaxlD™, Biovest™, SinuNase™,
CRSFungal Profile™, Respi~TANN* is a registered trademark of TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc., our wholly owned
subsidiary. We use AllerNase™ as trademarks in the U.S. and other countries.
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Customers

For the 2006 fiscal year, two of our customers, both wholesale distributors, accounted for more than 10% of our revenue.
Revenues from Cardinal Health and McKesson Corporation represented approximately 18.9% and 17.5% of our revenue for
the years ended September 30, 2006. For the 2005 and 2004 fiscal years, two of our customers, both wholesale distributors,
accounted for more than 10% of our revenue. Revenues from Cardinal Health represented approximately 25.0% and 15.3%
of our revenue for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and revenues from McKesson Corporation
represented approximately 14.6% of our revenue for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Third-Party Reimbursement and Pricing Controls

In the United States and ¢lsewhere, sales of pharmaceutical products depend in significant part on the availability of
reimbursement to the consumer from third-party payors, such as government and private insurance plans. Third-party payors
are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. It will be time-consuming and expensive
for us to go through the process of seeking reimbursement from Medicare and private payors. Our products may not be
considered cost effective, and coverage and reimbursement may not be available or sufficient to allow us to sell our products
on a competitive and profitable basis. The passage of the Medicare Prescription Drug and Modernization Act of 2003
imposes new requirements for the distribution and pricing of prescription drugs which may affect the marketing of our
products.

In many foreign markets, including the countries in the European Union, pricing of pharmaceutical products is subject to
governmental control. In the United States, there have been, and we expect that there will continue to be, a number of federal
and state proposals to implement similar governmental pricing control. While we cannot predict whether such legislative or
regulatory proposals will be adopted, the adoption of such proposals could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and profitability.

Employees

As of September 30, 2006, we had 258 full-time employees (including Biovest). None of our employees is represented by
labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We have not experienced any work stoppages, and we consider
our employee relations to be good.

Executive Officers

The following table scts forth our current executive officers and their ages as of September 30, 2006:

Name Age Puosition
Francis E. O’Donnell, Jr., M.D. ; Chairman of the Board; Chief Executive Qfficer
Steven R. Arikian, M.D. 49  President and Chief Operating Officer, Biopharmaceutical Products
and Services; Director
Alan M. Pearce 57 Chief Financial Officer; Director
Martin G, Baum* 40  President and Chief Operating Officer of Specialty Pharmaceuticals/Director *

Francis E. O 'Donnell, Jr., M.D. has served as our Chairman of the Board since the company’s founding in March 2002 and
has served as our Chief Executive Officer since September 2003. Dr. O’Donnell also served as our President from September
2003 through November 2004. Since 1995, Dr. O’Donnell has served as manager of The Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, a
biotechnology business development and investment company. Since May 2002, Dr. O’Donnell has also served as the
Chairman of the Board of BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc., a publicly traded drug delivery technology company, and
since June 2003, he has served as a director (and as Co Vice-Chairman since 2004) of Biovest International, Inc., our
majority owned, publicly held subsidiary. He is co-founder and a director of RetinaPharma Technologies, Inc., a privately
held biotechnology company developing novel pharmaceuticals and related products for the prevention, treatment, rescue,
and recovery of ophthalmic and other neurodegenerative and neurovascular disease, He is the former Professor and
Chairman, Department of Ophthalmology, St. Louis University School of Medicine. Dr. O’ Donnell has published over 30
peer-reviewed scientific articles and has been awarded 34 U.S. patents. He is the recipient of the 2000 Jules Stein Award
from Retinitis Pigmentosa International and is a Trustee for St. Louis University and The Health Careers Foundaltion.

Dr. O’Donnell is a graduate of the Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, where he received his speciaity training at the Wilmer
Ophthalimological Institute.

Steven R. Arikian, M.D. began serving as a director in April 2002. Since November 2004, Dr. Arikian has served as President
and Chief Operating Officer of Product Development and Market Services. In February 2005, his title was changed to
President and Chief Operating Officer, Biopharmaceutical Products and Services. From January 2003 to November 2004, he
was President of Pre-Market Services and Operations and from April 2002 to January 2003, he was President of Pre-Market
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Services. Since 1997, Dr. Arikian has served as the Chainnan, Chief Executive Officer, and founder of our Analytica
subsidiary, and September 2004, he has served and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Biovest. Since 2003,

Dr. Arikian has served as a director, and since 2004 has served as Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman, of
Biovest International, Inc., our majority-owned, publicly held subsidiary. Dr. Arikian began providing pharmaceutical clients
with Clinical and Outcomes Research services in 1988. He served as President of The Center for Health Outcomes and
Economics at Bristol Myers Squibb from May 1995 to July 1997, whete he supervised a staff of over 50 professionals
responsible for development of global health outcomes research. He has designed and implemented research projects in the
United States, Canada, Latin America and Europe. Dr. Arikian holds a faculty appointment at the Columbia University
Mailman School of Public Health. He has also held faculty appointments at the University of Toronto and the University of
Kentucky. He is widely published in the peer-reviewed literature and has been a frequent speaker at industry and trade group
sponsored meetings on topics including Formulary Management, Pharmaceutical Pricing, Multi-Nattonal Health Economic
Studies, and Pharmacoepidemiology. Dr. Arikian is a graduate of Fordham University with a degree in Biology and is also a
graduate of the University of Catania (Italy) Medical School.

Alan M. Pearce has served as a director and our Chief Financial Officer since August 2004. Prior to serving as our Chief
Financial Officer, Mr. Pearce served as Senior Vice President, Financial Services for McKesson Corporation, a large publicly
traded healthcare company, from April 1999 to March 2004. Mr. Pearce also currently serves on the advisory boards of The
Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University BioEngineering Foundation and The Hopkins Capital Group. He also
previously served as a director and a member of the finance committee of XL Insurance Company. From September 2002 to
September 2005, Mr. Pearce served as a director of BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc. Mr. Pearce is a graduate of
Georgta Tech, where he eamed a B.S. degree in Industrial Management, and the University of Texas, where he earned an
MBA degree in finance.

* (On October 27, 2006, Martin G. Baum resigned as President and Chief Operating Officer, Specialty Pharmaceuticals, a
division of the Company, and as an employee of the Company and its subsidiaries including Teamm Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., as well as and from any Boards of subsidiaries of the Company on which he served The resignations described above
were not the result of any disagreement with the Company knewn to an executive officer of the Company on any matter
relating to the Company’s operations, policies or practices.

Available Information

We were incorporated in the State of Florida in 2002. Our principal executive offices are located at 324 South Hyde Park
Avenue, Suite 350, Tampa, Florida 33606, and our telephone number at that address is (813} 864-2554. We maintain an
[nternet website at www.accentia.net. However, information found on, or that can be accesscd through, our website is not
incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K. We make available free of charge on or through our website
our filings with the Securitics and Exchange Commission, or SEC, including this annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments 1o those reports filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronicaily file such material with,
or furnish it to, the SEC. Further, a copy of this annual report is located at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street
N. E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and
other information regarding our filings at www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS
Risk Factors

This report contains forward-looking staternents (within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995)
that are based on management’s current expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about the Company and its
business. In addition, other written or oral statements which constitute forward-fooking statements may be made from time 10
time by or on behalf of Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. Any statement in this report that is not a statement of historical
fact is a forward-looking statement, and in some cases, words such as “helieve,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “intend,”
“may,” “anticipate,” “plans,” “seeks,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual outcomes and results to differ materially from the
anticipated outcomes or result. These statements are not guarantees of future performance, and undue reliance should not be
placed on these statements. Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. undertakes no obligation to update publicly any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

» EENTS
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Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in our forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, the following;

Risks Related to Our Business

We are largely dependent on the success of our two most significant product candidates, SinuNase and BiovaxID, and we
may not be able to successfully commercialize these therapies.

We have expended and will continue to expend significant time, money, and effort on the development of our two most
significant product candidates, SinuNase and BiovaxID. We have incurred significant costs and may never generate
significant revenues from commercial sales of these products, if approved. Neither of these products is approved for
marketing in any jurisdiction, and they may never be commercialized. Before we can market and sell these products, we will
need to demonstrate in clinical trials that these products are safe and effective and wiil also need to obtain necessary
approvals from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and similar foreign regulatory agencies.

If we fail to successfully commercialize either or both of SinuNase and BiovaxID, we may be unable to generate
sufticient revenue to sustain and grow our business, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations will be
adversely affected.

If we fail to obtain FDA approval of SinuNase, BiovaxID, or any of our other current or Sfuture product candidates, we
will be unable to commercialize these products.

Development, testing, manufacturing and marketing of pharmaceutical products are subject to extensive regulation by
numerous governmental authorities in the U.S. and other countries. The process of obtaining FDA approval of
pharmaceutical products is costly and time consuming. Any new pharmaceutical product must underge rigorous preclinical
and clinical testing and an extensive regulatory approval process mandated by the FDA. Such regulatory review includes the
determination of manufacturing capability and product performance.

In addition to seeking approval from the FDA for SinuNase and BiovaxID, we intend to seek the governmental
approval required to market our products in England, Germany, France, ltaly, Spain, and potentially additional countries. We
anticipate commencing the applications required in some or all of these countries following approval by the FDA; however,
we may determine to file applications in advance of the FDA approval if we determine such filings to be both time and cost
effective. Marketing of our products in these countries, and in most other countries, is not permitted until we have obtained
required approvals or exemptions in each individual country.

In addition, patient-specific active immunotherapies such as BiovaxID are complex, and regulatory agencies lack
expericnce with them. To date, the FDA has not approved for marketing a patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapy for
any form of cancer. This lack of precedent and experience may lengthen the regulatory review process and impede our ability
to obtain timely FDA approval for BiovaxID, if at all. Even if BiovaxID is approved by the FDA, the FDA’s lack of
precedent and experience with respect to a patient-specific active idiotype vaccine may increase our development costs and
otherwise delay or prevent commercialization.

There can be no assurance that the pharmaceutical products currently in development, or those products acquired or in- I
licensed by us, will be approved by the FDA. In addition, there can be no assurance that all necessary approvals will be
granted for future products or that FDA review or actions will net involve delays caused by the FDDA’s request for additional
information or testing that could adversely affect the time 1o market and sale of the products. For our currently marketed
products and our future products, failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements can, among other things, result in
the suspension of regulatory approval, as well as possible civil and criminal sanctions.

Any delay in any approval or any failure to obtain approval of a product could delay or impair our ability to
commercialize that product and to generate revenue as well as increase costs for that product.

Before we can scek regulatory approval of SinuNase, BiovaxiD, or any other product candidates, we may need to
successfully complete clinical trials, outcomes of which are uncertain,

Conducting clinical trials is a lengthy, time-consuming, and expensive process, and the results of these trials are
inherently uncertain. Completion of necessary clinical trials may take several years or more. Qur commencement and rate of
completion of clinical trials may be delayed by many factors, including:

*  ineffectiveness of our product candidate or perceptions by physicians that the product candidate is not safe or
cffective for a particular indication;

*  inability to manufacture sufficient quantities of the product candidate for use in clinical trials;

*  delay or failure in obtaining approval of our clinical trial protocols from the FDA or institutional review boards;
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»  slower than cxpected rate of patient recruitment and enrollment;

»  inability to adequately follow and monitor patients aficr treatment;
«  difficulty in managing multiple clinical sites;

+ unforeseen safety issues;

«  govermment or regulatory delays; and

» clinical trial costs that are greater than we currently anticipate.

Even if we achieve positive interim results in clinical trials, these results do not necessarily predict final results, and
positive results in carly trials may not be indicative of success in later trials. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical
industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after promising results in earlier trials. Negative
or inconclusive results er adverse medical events during a clinical trial could cause us lo repeat or terminate a clinical trial or
require us to conduct additional trials. We do not know whether our existing or any future clinical trials will demonstrate
safety and efficacy sufficiently to result in marketable products. Qur clinical trials may be suspended at any time for a variety
of reasons, including if the FDA or we believe the patients participating in our trials are exposed to unacceptable health risks
or if the FDA finds deficiencies in the conduct of these trials.

Failures or perceived failures in our clinical trials will directly detay our product development and regulatory approval
process, damage our business prospects, make it difficult for us to establish collaboration and partnership relationships, and
negatively affect our reputation and competitive position in the pharmaceutical community.

We have incurred significant costs in our development efforts to date and may never generate significant revenues from
commercial sales of onr product candidates, if approved,

With respect to our product candidates, we have focused primarily on developing and preparing for the regulatory
approval process for SinuNase, the patented therapy for CRS that we license from MAYO and conducting clinical trials and
seeking regulatory approval for BiovaxID, a patient-specific vaccine for treating indolent follicular NHL. With respect to
SinuNase, we have paid $2.0 million in up-front royalties on this product. To date, we have received only limited revenues in
connection with sublicensing fees from pharmacies for using the patented therapy for CRS to compound patient-specific
antifungal nasal products. We have generated no revenues to date from the commercial sale of Biovaxil and must conduct
significant additional clinical trials before we can seek the regulatory approvals necessary to begin commercial sales of this
vaccine. Our net loss for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $43.4 million and $44.7 million and
$23.2 million, respectively As of September 30, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of $161.6 million. We expect to
continue to incur significant operating expenses and capital expenditures as we:

»  conduct clinical trials;

= conduct research and development on existing and new product candidates;

+  seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

«  commercialize our product candidates, if approved;

*  hire additional clinical, scientific, sales and marketing and management personnel; and

*  identify and license additional product candidates.

If product candidates fail in clinical trials or do not gain regulatory approval or gain regulatory approval for more
restricted indications than we have anticipated, we may not generate significant revenues from any of our product candidates.
In addition, we may continue to experience net losses for the foreseeable future, in which case our accumulated deficit will
continue to increase, and we may exhaust our resources and be unable to complete the development of our product
candidates. If we are unable to fund the continuing development of our product candidates or if we fail to generate significant
revenues from any of our product candidates, you could lose all or part of your investment.

We anticipate that we will need substantial additional funding in the future, and if we are unable to raise capital when
needed, we would be forced to delay, reduce, or eliminate our product development programs or commercialization efforts.

Developing biopharmaceutical preducts, conducting clinical trials, establishing manufacturing capabilities, and
marketing developed products is expensive. We anticipate that we will need to raise substantial additional capital in the
future in order to complete the commercialization of SinuNase following the submission of the NDA and to fund the
development and commercialization of our specialty pharmaceutical product candidates. Furthermore, we anticipate that
Biovest will need to raise substantial additional capital in order to continye the clinical trials for BiovaxiD. Additional
sources of funding have not been established; however, additional financing is currently being sought from a number of
sources, including the sale of Biovest equity or debt securities, strategic collaborations, recognized research funding
programs, as well as domestic and/or foreign licensing of Biovest’s vaccine. Biovest management is currently in the process
of exploring various financing alternatives, and has hired investment consultants to assist in these efforts. Based on our
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current operating plans, we expect that our existing capital and cash flow from operations, together with borrowing
availability under our existing lines of credit, will be sufficient to fund our operations and development activities into the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 assuming Biovest receives its own funding. We have received a report from our independent
registered public accounting firm on our consolidated financial statements for our liscal years ended September 30, 2006,
2005, 2004, in which our auditors have included explanatory paragraphs indicating that our significant net losses and
working capital deficiency cause substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

We expect 1o finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, or corporate
collaboration and licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our
stockholders may experience additional dilution, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. If our
Biovest subsidiary raises funds through the issuance of equity sccurities, our equity interest in Biovest could be substantially
diminished. If our Biovest subsidiary raises additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangemenits, it may be
necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or our product candidates or grant licenses on terms that are not
favorabie to us. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all, If adequate funds
are not available from the foregoing sources, we may consider additional strategic financing options, including sales of assets
or business units (such as specialty pharmaceuticals, market services or cell culture equipment) that are non-essential to the
ongoing development or future commercialization of SinuNasc, or we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or
eliminate one or more of our rescarch or development programs or curtail some of our commercialization cfforts, We may
seck to access the public or private equity markets whenever conditions are favorable, even if we do not have an immediate
need for additional capital at this time.

We cannot predict the impact, if any, that “Fase-Track” status will have on the regularory approval process for SinuNase
and BiovaxID.

The FDA has granted “Fast-Track™ review status to both SinuNase and BiovaxID, which means that these products
may be eligible for expedited review procedures by the FDA. However, we cannot predict the impact, if any, that Fast-Track
designation will actually have on the duration of the regulatory approval process for these product candidates, and the FDA
may deny regulatory approval of cither or both of these product candidates notwithstanding their Fast-Track designation.

Failure to enroll patients in our clinical trials may cause delays in developing SinuNase, BiovaxID, or any other product
candidate.

We may encounter delays in development and commercialization, or fail 1o obtain marketing approval, of SinuNase,
BiovaxID. or any other product candidate that we may develop if we are unable to enroll enough patients to complete clinical
trials. Our ability to enroll sufficient numbers of patients in our clinical trials depends on many factors, including the size of
the patient population, the naturc of the protocol, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial,
and competing clinical trials. We have from time 10 time experienced. and are currently experiencing. slower-than-expected
patient enrollment in our BiovaxID clinical trial. To complete enrollment of our Phase 3 clinical trial for BiovaxID in 2008,
as anticipated, we will need to continuc our efforts to significantly increase the rate at which we are enrolling patients in that
trial and to increase the number of clintcal trial sites. Also, the Phase 3 clinical trial for our BiovaxID vaccine may experience
slower-than-anticipated enroliment due (o an increasing tendency ol physicians to preseribe Rituxan, a monoclonal antibody,
as a first line of treatment for NHL instead of chemotherapy, while our clinical trial protocol for BiovaxID requires a patient
to first achieve a six-month remission following chemotherapy treatment. The NCI Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB)
for BiovaxID has expressed concemns about the rate of enrollment in our Biovax1D clinical trial and has thereforc
recommended that the trials be discontinued at the NCI site. Accordingly, we have transferred the safety and monitoring
oversight function in this trial to a new global Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) and wili designate a new principal
investigative site. Delays in planned patient enrollment may result in increased costs and harm our ability 10 complete our
clinical trials and obtain regulatery approval,

In light of the perceived change in the standard of care for initial treatiment of NHL, we have submitted a Protocol
amendment to the FDA to add a CHOP-R (reatment arm to the trial. CHOP-R is an alternative chemotherapy regimen that
includes Rituxan. We have received the verbal approval of this amendment from FDA., and upon formal approval of the
amended Protocol. we will commence accrual of patients to the trial who will receive CHOP-R. While we expect that this
alternative chemotherapy will significantly increase patient accrual, we cannot guarantee that the enroliment increase will be
sufficient to complete trial enrollment in the desired timeframe.

Our clinical trials for SinuNase and/or BiovaxID may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or
regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical and/or preclinical testing Jor these product candidates or cease
our trials.

We are currently engaged in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for BiovaxID, and we have commenced the first of two
Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase. We do not know whether our existing or future clinical trials will demonstrate safety and
efficacy sufficiently to result in marketable products. For example, safety and cfficacy results attained in our anticipated
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Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase may be less positive than the results obtained in Mayo Clinic’s previous clinical trials for
SinuNasc, and we may be unable to establish efficacy or the safety profile required for approval without supporting Phase |
and 2 studies. Furthermore, we could be required to conduct a Phase 2 study or safety study contemporaneously with, the
Phase 3 studies. or could be required to conduct more than two Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase if our two initial
concurrent trials are not confirmatory. With respect to BiovaxID, safety and efficacy results attained in our pivotal Phase 3
clinical trial for BiovaxID may be less positive than the results obtained in the NCI's Phase 2 clinical trials for BiovaxID.
Because our clinical trials for both BiovaxID and SinuNase may produce negative or inconclusive results, we may decide, or
regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical and/or preclinical testing for these product candidates or cease our
clinical trials. If this happens, we may not be able to obtain approval for these products or the anticipated time to market for
these products may be substantially delayed. and we may also experience significant additional development costs. We may
also be required to undertake additional clinical testing if we change or expand the indications for our product candidates.

The clinical trials for SinuNase and BiovaxID have demonstrated that certain side effects may be associated with these
treatments, and ongoing or future clinical trials may reveal additional unexpected or unanticipated side effects.

In clinical trials conducted to date by Mayo Clinic. a small number of CRS patients have demonstrated a sensitivity or
suspected allergy to amphotericin B that was non-systemic and temporary, but these patients fully recovered quickly afier the
cessation of treatment with amiphotericin B, A relatively small number of patients in the BiovaxID ¢linical trials have
experienced adverse events, none of which were life-threatening, at the time of vaccine or control administration, but it seems
likely from the nature of these events that they were either unrelated to the study or were due 1o the concomitant
administration of GM-CSF. Also, skin irritation consisting of redness and induration, or hardening of the tissue, at the site of
Biovax!D or contrel injection has been noted. but this condition has generally lasted only a few days and was limited to skin
surrounding the injection site. The NCI Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) for BiovaxID. which historically has
reviewed all adverse event reports related 1o BiovaxiD, has not expressed any concerns to date about the safety of the
vaccine, although we arc transferring the trial to a new DMC following concerns raised by the NCI DSMB regarding
administrative matters, including the rate of enrollment in our BiovaxID climcal trial. We cannot guarantee that our current or
future trials for BiovaxID and SinuNase will not demonsirate additional adverse side effects that may delay or cven preclude
regulatory approval. Even if either or both of BiovaxID and SinuNase receive regulatory approval, if we or others identify
previously unknown side effects following approval, regulatory approval could be withdrawn and sales of the product could
be significantly reduced.

If we do not in the future obtain a license from MAYOQ for antifungals other than amphotericin B in the treatment of CRS,
therr MAYQ will not be precluded from licensing its patented CRS therapy fo third-parties using other antifungals.

Qur rights to SinuNase are based on a license agreement with MAYO. Our license agreement with MAYO gives us the
exclusive worldwide right to commercialize MAYO’s patented CRS treatment method using the antifungal amphotericin B.
Although MAYO's clinical trials on its CRS therapy were based on the use of amphotericin B, MAYO’s patents and patent
applications with respect to the therapy broadly apply to the topical application of any antifungals for the treatment of CRS.
In December 2003, we entered into an Option Agreement with MAY O giving us the exclusive right until December 2006
(which has since been extended to December 2007), without obligation, to seek to negotiate a license for all antifungals in
addition to amphotericin B. In the event that we are not successful in negotiating such additional licenses, MAY O is not
prectuded from licensing to third-parties, mcluding potential competitors, the use of antifungals other than amphotericin B for
the treatment of CRS. IF MAYQ grants such a license to a third-party, and if the use of such other antifungal is shown o have
an efficacy and safety profile that equals or exceeds that of amphotericin B for this application, we may not be able to
commercialize or generate revenue from SinuNase and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

Delays in clinical testing could result in increased costs to us and delay our ability to generate revenue.

Significant delays in clinical testing could materially impact our product development costs. We do not know whether
planned clinical trials will begin on time, will need to be restructured, or will be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical
trials can be delayed for a varicty of reasons, including delays in obtaining regulatory approval (o commence and continue a
study, delays in reaching agreement on acceptable clinical study terms with prospective sites, delays in obtaining institutional
review board approval to conduct a study al a prospective site. and delays in recruiting patients to participate in a study. For
example, when the IND for BiovaxID was transferred by the NCI to us, we cxperienced delays in our clinical trials because
the investigative sites for the wrials were required 1o get new approvals from institutional review boards, which are
independent bodies that oversee the conduct of research involving human subjects.

The FDA may require that we conduet clinical studies on the safety and cfficacy of our drug product candidates for all
relevant pediatric populations as part of the approval process. We have applicd for a pediatric assessment waiver from FDA
for our Emezine product and plan to submit waiver applications for our other products, as applicable, but we can make no
assurances that such waivers will be granted. 1f the FDA requires us to amend cur study protocols 1o address pediatric
populations, the approval of our products may be delayed.
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In addition, we typically rely on third-party clinical investigators o conduct our clinical trials and other third-party
organizations to oversec the operations of such clinical trials and to perforn data collection and analysis. As a result, we may
face additional delays outside of our control if these parties do not perform their obligations in a timely fashion. Significant
delays in testing or regulatory approvals for SinuNase. BiovaxID, or any of our other current or future product candidates,
could cause delays in. and could even prevent the commercialization of such product and generation of revenue from that
product and could cause our costs to increase.

Inability to obtain regulatory approval for our manufacturing facility or to manufacture on a commercial scale may delay
or disrupt our commercialization efforis.

Before we can obtain FDA approval for any new drug, the manufacturing facility for the drug must be inspected and
approved by the FDA. Therefore, before we can obtain the FDA approval necessary to allow us to begin commercially
manufacturing BiovaxID, we must pass a pre-approval inspection of our BiovaxID manufacturing facility by the FDA. In
order to obtain approval. we will need to ensure that all of our processes, methods, and equipment are compliant with the
current Good Manufacturing Practices, or ¢cGMP, and perform exiensive audits of vendors. contract laboratories, and
suppliers. The cGMP requirements govern quality control of the manufacturing process and documentation policies and
procedures. We have undertaken steps towards achieving compliance with these regulatory requirements required for
commercialization. In complying with cGMP, we will be obligated to expend time, money, and effort in production, record
keeping, and quality control fo assure that the product meets applicable specifications and other requiremenits. If we fail 1o
comply with these requircments, we could experience product liability claims from patients receiving our vaccines, we might
be subject to possible regulatory action and we may be limited in the jurisdictions in which we are permitted to sell
Biovax|D.

We are currently manufacturing BiovaxID for our clinical trials at our facility in Worcester, Massachusetts. Qur
manufacturing facility in Worcester is currently subject to licensing requircments of the Massachusetts Department of Public
Health. Our facility is subject to inspection by the FDA as well as by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health at any
time. Failure to obtain and maintain a license from the Massachusetts Department of Public Health or to meet the inspection
criteria of the FDA and the Massachusctts Department of Public Health would disrupt our manufacturing processes, increase
cosls, and would harm our business. [f an inspection by the FDA, the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, or forcign
regulatory authorities indicates that there are deficiencies. we would be required (o take remedial actions or our facility may
be closed, and we may be subject to additional enforcement activity,

In order to commercialize BiovaxlD, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, we will need to develop and
qualify one or more additional manufacturing facilities. Preparing g facility for commercial manufacturing may involve
unanticipated delays, and the costs of complying with state, local, and FDA regulations may be higher than we anticipated. In
addition, any material changes we make to the manufacturing process may require approval by the FDA and state or foreign
regulatory autherities. Obtaining these approvals is a lengthy, involved process, and we may experience delays. Such delays
could increase costs and adversely affect our business. In general, the FDA views ¢cGMP standards as being more rigorously
applied as products move forward in development and commercialization. In seeking to comply with these standards, we may
encounter problems with, among other things. controlling costs and quality control and assurance. Although we believe that
our BiovaxID manufacturing facility in Worcester, Massachusetts is currently cGMP compliant, it may be difficult to
maintain compliance with cGMP standards as the development and commercialization of BiovaxID progresses, if it
progresses. In addition, although we intend to use the Worcester facility for purposes of commercial-scale manufacturing of
BiovaxID, the demands and increasingly rigorous cGMP standards that will be applicable to that facility may require us to
construct a new and difTerent facility or seek a third-party contract manufacturer for the therapy, which could also cause
increased costs.

We have been denied orphan drug exclusivity for BiovaxlD, and our competitors may obtain orphan drug exclusivin.

We have applicd for orphan drug designation for the use of BiovaxID for the treatment of certain forms of follicular B-
cell NHL. Under the Orphan Drug Act. the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a “rare disease
or condition,” which generally is a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States.
Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting a Biologics License Application, or BLA. After the FDA
grants orphan drug designation to a product, the generic identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are
publicly disclosed by the FDA. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the
regulatory review and approval process. [f a product which has an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first
FDA approval for the indication for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan exclusivity, which means
that the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug for the same indication for a period of seven
years, except in limited circumstances such as greater effectiveness, greater safety, major contribution to patient care, or
inadequate supply. Even though we have applied for orphan drug status, the FDA has determined that BiovaxID is ineligible
for orphan drug designation in the absence of further information and clarification. Although we have successfully achieved
the equivalent of Orphan Drug designation in the European Union, we have not vet determined whether we will continue 1o
pursue orphan drug designation for Biovax1D in the U.S. Even if designated as an orphan drug, BiovaxID may not be
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approved, or may not be approved before other applications, or granted orphan drug exclusivity if approved. Our competitors
may obtain orphan drug exclusivity for products competitive with our preduct candidates before we do or even if we do not
cbtain such status, in which case we would be excluded from that market if the FDA deems the competitive drug to be the
same drug as BiovaxID. Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for BiovaxID, we may not be able to maintain it. For
example, if a competitive product is shown to be clinically superior to our product, any orphan drug exclusivity we have
obtained will not block the approval of such competitive product.

The commercialization of our product candidates may not be profitable.

In order for the commercialization of our product candidates to be profitable, our products must be cost-effective and
economical to manufacture on a commercial scale. Furthermore, if our products do not achieve market acceptance, we may
not be profitable. Subject to regulatory approval, we expect to incur significant sales, marketing, and manufacturing expenses
in connection with the commercialization of SinuNase, BiovaxID, and our other product candidates. Even if we receive
additional financing, we may not be able to complete planned clinica! trials and the development, manufacturing, and
marketing of any or all of our product candidates. Qur future profitability will depend on many factors, including, but not
limited to:

+  the cost and timing of developing a commercial scale manufacturing facility or the costs of outsourcing our
manufacturing of Biovax!D;

« the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending, and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
+ the costs of establishing sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities;
»  the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

+  the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing, and other arrangements that we may establish.

Even if we receive regulatory approval for BiovaxID, including regulatory approval of a commercial scale
manufacturing facility, we may not ever receive significant revenues from BiovaxID. Additionally, although we currently
receive licensing revenue from compounding pharmacies to produce antifungal solutions for CRS upon the prescription of
licensed physicians, we may not receive significant revenues from an FDA-approved CRS therapy for many years. With
respect to the products in our development pipeline that are being developed by third parties, our ability to generate revenues
from those products will depend in large part on the efforts of those third parties. To the extent that we are not successful in
commercializing our product candidates, our product revenues will suffer, we will incur significant additional losses and the
price of our common stock will be negatively affected.

We have no experience manufacturing BiovaxID or any other immunotherapies for the number of patients and at a cost
that would enable widespread commercial use.

To date, we have only manufactured BiovaxID in quantities necessary to support our ongoing clinical trials for
BiovaxID. We have no experience in manufacturing BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies, for the number of patients and
at a cost that would support commercial use, In addition, since no other company has manufactured for commercial sale a
patient-specific immunotherapeutic product derived from the patient’s own cancer cells, there are no precedents from which
we could learn. If we or a third-party are unable to manufacture sufficient quantities of BiovaxID at a reasonable cost to
support commercial use, we will not be able to commercialize BiovaxID and generate revenue, despite significant
development expenditures.

We may experience difficulties in manufucturing BiovaxID or in obtaining approval of the change in manufacturing site
Jrom the FDA, which could prevent us from completing our ongoing clinical trials and delay the commercialization of
BiovaxID.

Manufacturing BiovaxID is complex and requires coordination internally among our employees as well as externally
with physicians, hospitals and third-party suppliers and carriers. This process involves several risks that may lead to failures
or delays in manufacturing Biovax1D, including:

s difficulties in obtaining adequate tumor samples from physicians;

= difficulties in timely shipping of tumor samples to us or in the shipping of BiovaxID to the treating physicians
due to errors by third-party carriers, transportation restrictions or other reasons;

+  destruction of, or damage te, tumor samples or BiovaxID during the shipping process due to the improper
handling by third-party carriers, hospitals, physicians or us;

»  destruction of, or damage to, tumor samples or BiovaxID during storage at our facility; and

»  difficulties in ensuring the availability, quality, and consistency of materials provided by our suppliers.
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If we experience any difficulties in manufacturing BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, our
ongoing clinical trials may be delayed and commercialization of Biovax1D, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop, may be delayed. resulting in delays in generating revenue and increased costs.

In addition, changes to the manufacturing process during or following the completion of clinical trials requires
sponsors to demonstrate to the FDA (hat the product under new conditions is comparable to the product that was the subject
of carlier clinical testing. This requirement applies to relocations or expansions of manufacturing facilitics, such as the
possible expansion to additional facilities that may be required for successful commercialization of the vaccine, resulting in
increased costs.

A showing of comparability requires data demonstrating that the product continues to be safe, pure, and potent and may
be based on chemical, physical, and biological assays and, in some cases, other non-clinical data. 1f we demonstrate
comparability, additional clinical safety and/or efficacy trials with the new product may not be needed. The FDA will
determinc if comparability data are sufficient to demonstrate that additional clinical studies arc unnecessary. If the FDA
requires additional clinical safety or efficacy trials to demonstrate comparability, our clinical trials or FDA approval of
BiovaxID may be delayed, which would cause delays in generating revenue and increased costs.

We are dependent on third-party development pariners for the development and regulatory approval of sonte of our
products and on third-party contract manufacturers for the supply of many of our products.

Some of the products in our development pipeline are being developed by third parties, and in some cases, these third
partics are responsible for obtaining necessary regulatory approvals for the products. In addition, with the exception of
BiovaxID, we currently rely, or will in the future rely, on third-party contract manufacturers to produce our currently
marketed products and the product candidates in our pipeline. We are or will be substantially dependent on the following
third-partics in connection with the following products:

*  Collegium Pharmaceutical, Inc. is the developer of our AllerNase product, which is to be manufactured through a
third-party contract manufacturer,

*  The MD Turbo device was developed by Respirics, Inc., which was responsible for seeking regulatory clearance
or approval of the product. Respirics will also be the exclusive supplier of MD Turbo to us, and Respirics will be
responsible for engaging and managing one or more contract manufacturers for the product.

*  ANI Laboratories is the exclusive manufacturer for our Respi~TANN product.

Our ability to commeicialize the products that we develop with our partners and generate revenues from product sales
depends on our partners’ ability to assist us in establishing the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, obtaining and
maintaining regulatory approvals and achieving market acceptance of the products once commercialized. Qur partners may
elect to delay or terminate development of one or more product candidates, independently develop products that could
compete with ours, or fail to commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of products developed through
their strategic relationships with us. If our partners fail to perform as we expect, our potential for revenue from products
developed through our strategic relationships with them could be dramatically reduced.

The risks associated with our reliance on contract manufacturers include the following:

«  Contract manufacturers may encounter difficulties in achieving volume production, quality control, and quality
assurance and also may experience shortages in qualified personnel and obtaining active ingredients for our
products.

*  Ifwe need to change manufacturers, the FDA and corresponding foreign regulatory agencics must approve these
manufacturers in advance, This would involve testing and pre-approval inspections to ensure compliance with
FDA and foreign regulations and standards.

+  Contract manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic, unannounced inspection by the FDA and corresponding
state and foreign agencies or their designees to ensure strict compliance with cGMP and other governmental
regulations and corresponding foreign standards. Other than through contract, we do not have control over
compliance by our contract manufacturers with these regulations and standards. Our present or future contract
manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGMP and other FDA requirements or similar regulatory
requirements outside the United States. Failure of contract manufacturers to comply with applicable regulations
could result in sanctions being imposed on us in some cases, including fines, injunctions, failure of regulatory
authorities to grant marketing approval of our product candidates, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals,
seizures or recalls of product candidates, operating restrictions, and criminal prosecutions, any of which could
significantly and adversely affect our business.

«  Contract manufacturers may breach the manufacturing agreements that we or our development partners have
entered into with them because of factors beyond our control or may terminate or fail to renew a manufacturing
agreement based on their own business priorities at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us,
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[ we are not able to obtain adequate supplies of our current and future products, it will be more difficult for us 1o
develop our product candidates and compete effectively. If we or any of our third-party development partners are unable 1o
continue to access sufficient supply from our third-party contract manufacturers, we may not be able to find another suitable
source of supply that meets our need to manufacture the MD Turbo device or any of our other products. Dependence upon
third partics for the manufacture of our product candidates may reduce our profit margins, if any, on the sale of our products
and may limit our ability to develop and deliver products on a timely and competitive basis, which could delay our ability to
generate revenue and increase Costs,

Seme of our specialty pharmaceutical products are not the subject of FDA-approved new drug applications.

New drugs must be the subject of an FDA-approved NDA, or ANDA, application demonstrating safcty and
cifectiveness before they may be marketed in the United States. Some prescription and other drugs marketed by
pharmaceutical companies are not the subject of an approved marketing application because new drug applications requiring
demonstration of safety and effectivencss were not required at the time that these active ingredients were initially marketed.
Whilc the FDA reviewed classes of these products in the 1960s and 1970s as part of the Drug Efficacy Study Implementation
(DESI) program, there are several types of drugs, including some cold and cough drugs, which the FDA has not yet evaluated
and remain on the market without FDA approval.

Respi~TANN is marketed in the United States without an FDA-approved marketing application because it has been
considered by us to be identical, related. or similar to products that have existed in the market without an NDA or ANDA.
This product is marketed subject to the FDA's regulatory discretion and/or enforcement policics. FD'A has adopted a risk-
based enforcement policy concerning unapproved drugs. The agency has articulated that, in enforcing the new drug
application requirements, it prioritizes drugs that pose potential safety risks, lack evidence of effectiveness and prevent
patients from sceking effective therapies. and those that are marketed fraudulently. In addition, the FDA has indicated that
approval of an NDA for one drug within a class of drugs marketed without FDA approval may also trigger agency
enforcement of the new drug requirements, Once the FDA issues an approved NDA for one of the drug products at issue or
completes the efficacy review for that drug product, it may require us to also file a NDA or ANDA application for that saine
drug in order to continue marketing it in the United States. While the agency generally provides sponsors a one year grace
period, the agency is not statutorily required (o do so. In addition, although we may be given time 1o submit a marketing
application before the agency would take enforcement action, the time it takes us to complete the necessary clinical studies
and submit an application 1o FDA may cxceed this time period, resuiting in an interruption of marketing. It is also possible
that the FDA could disagree with our determination that this product is identical, refated, or similar to products that have
existed in the marketplace without an NDA or ANDA.

In addition, our Respi~TANN product contains a timed-release dosage mechanism utilizing tannic acid. 1n 1960, the
FDA issued a policy stating that when a timed-release dosage feature is added to a drug, then an approved NDA is required in
order to market the drug. While listed in the Code of Federal Regulations, this policy has never gone through the neiice and
comment rulemaking process required for the development of an FDA regulation. Additionally, numerous tannic-acid based
medications have been introduced by other pharmaceutical companies since the FDA’s pronouncement without an NDA,
Consequently, in continuing to market this product, we rely on the FDAs enforcement diseretion with respect to the product,
but we cannot guarantec that the FDA will not in the future choose 1o require an NDA or ANDA lor the product,
notwithstanding the fact that similar products have been marketed for many years,

If we fail to enter into and maintain successful strategic relationships for our product candidates, we may have to reduce
or delay our product candidate development or increase our expenditures.

Our sirategy for developing, manufacturing, and commercializing products in certain therapeutic areas currently
requires us to enter into and successfully maintain strategic relationships with pharmaceutical companies or other industry
participants to advance our programs and reduce our expenditures on cach program. In addition 1o our development pariners
for MD Turbo, AllerNase and Emezine, we have to date formed strategic relationships with Pharmaceutical Product
Development, Inc. and other companies. We may not be able o negotiate additional strategic relationships on acceptable
terms, if at all. If we are not able to maintain our existing strategic relationships or establish and maintain additional strategic
relationships, we may have to limit the size or scope of, or delay, one or more of our product development programs or
rescarch programs, or undertake and fund these programs ourselves. If we clect to increase our expenditures to fund product
development programs or research programs on our own, we will need to obtain additional capital, which may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all.
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In addition to the patent applications that we have filed and the patent we hold relating to the method of producing
BiovaxID, SinuNase is the subject of a patent that we license from MA YO that expires in 2018, The MD Turbo device is the
subject of four issued U.S. patents and one pending U.S. application that are held by Respirics, Inc., our development partner

If we acquire other complementary technologies or companies, our financial performance could suffer, and such
acquisitions involve a number of risks.

We may from time to time actively seek to identify and acquire companies, technologies, or pharmaceutical preducts
with attributes complementary to our products and services. Acquisitions that we make may involve numerous risks,
including;

diverting management’s attention from other business concerns;
being unable to maintain uniform standards, centrols, procedures, and policies;
entering markets in which we have no direct prior experience;

improperly evaluating new services and technologies or otherwise being unabile to fully exploit the anticipated
opportunity; and

being unable 1o successfully integrate the acquisition.

Any of the factors listed above would adversely affect our results of operations.

We are not able to prevent third parties, including potential competitors, from developing and selling an anti-cancer
vaccine for NHL having the same composition of matter as BiovaxID.

Our BiovaxID vaccine is based on research and studies conducted at Stanford University and the NCL As a result of
published studies, the concept of the vaccine and its composition of matter are in the public domain and cannot be patented
by us, the NCI, or any other party. We have filed a PCT patent application on the type of cell media that is used to grow cell
cultures in the preduction of our vaccine, and we have filed a PCT patent application on certain features of the integrated
production and purification system used to produce and purify the vaccine in an automated closed system. However, we
cannot prevent other companies using different manufacturing processes from developing active immunotherapies that
directly compete with BiovaxID.

We are aware of several companies focusing on the development of active immunotherapies for NHL, including
Genitope Corporatien, Antigenics. Inc., Favrille, Inc., and Large Scale Biology Corporation. We believe none of these
companies uses the hybridoma method to produce a patient-specific vaccine, and of these companies, only Genitope and
Favrille have a product candidate in Phase 3 clinical trials. Several companies, such as Genentech, inc., Curia Corporation,
Biogen Idec, and Immunomedics, Inc., are involved in the developmern of passive immunotherapies for NHL, These passive
immunotherapies include Rituxan, a monoclonal antibody, and Zevalin and Bexxar, which are passive radioimmunotherapy
products. Competition could impair cur ability 1o generate revenue and could increase costs.

Our proprietary rights may not adequately protect our technologies and product candidates,

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and trade secret protection
of our technologies and product candidates as well as successfully defending these patents against third-party challenges. We
will only be able to protect our technologies and product candidates from unauthorized use by third parties to the extent that
valid and enforceable patents or trade secrets cover them. Furthermore, the degree of future protection of our proprietary
rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us
to gain or keep our competitive advaniage.

for MD Turbo, and these patents expire in 2016.

The patent positions of life sciences companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual
questions for which important tegal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims
allowed in such companies’ patents has emerged to date in the United States. The patent situation outside the United States is
even more uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other
countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may
be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents. For example:

we or our licensors might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent
applications and issued patents;

we or our licensors might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;

others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;
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* itis possible that none of our pending patent applications or the pending patent applications of cur licensors will
result in issued patents;

»  ourissued patents and issued patents of our licensors may not provide a basis for commercially viable products,
or may not provide us with any competitive advantages. or may be challenged and invalidated by third parties;

*  we may not develop additional proprietary technologies or product candidates that are patentable; or

= the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

We also rely on trade secrets to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe patent protection is
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. While we use reasonable efforts to protect our trade
secrets, our or our strategic partners” employees, consultants, contractors, or scientific and other advisors may unintentionally
or willfully disclose our information to competitors. If we were (o enforce a claim that a third party had illegally obtained and
was using our trade secrets. it would be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition,
courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. Moreover, if our competitors
independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods, and know-how, it will be more difficult for us to enforce our patent
rights and our business could be harmed.

1f we are not able to defend the patent or trade secret protection position of our technologies and product candidaies,
then we will not be able to exchude competitors from developing or marketing competing products, and we may not generate
enough revenue from product sales to justify the cost of development of our products and to achieve or maintain profitability.
We may find it difficult to prevent componnding pharmacies from preparing compounded formulations of amphotericin B
solution for the reatment of CRS in violation of the patents that we license.

We hold an exclusive license to market and sell products made from amphotericin B based on MAYO’s patented
treaument method for CRS. Although amphotericin B has not been approved by the FDA for the treatment of CRS, a number
of physicians currently prescribe a compounded formulation of amphotericin B solution for their CRS patients. These
formulations are prepared by compounding pharmacies that are in the business of preparing custom-made solutions using
FDA-approved active ingredients. While we have sublicensed our rights 1o the compounded variant of the product to
compounding pharmacics, we arc aware that other compounding pharmacies may be preparing similar compounded
formulations in vielation of one or more claims of our licensed patents. Because these patent violations may be sporadic and
dispersed, we may not be able to easily identify the violations. [n addition, because the patents that we license from MAYO
relate to a method of treating CRS. if other amphotericin B solutions become commercially available for other indications,
we may not be able to prevent physicians from prescribing such other solutions for CRS on an off-label basis. Such actions
could hinder our ability to generate enough revenue to justify development costs and to achieve or maintain prefitability.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, such lirigation will be costly and time consuming,
and an unfavorable outcome would have a significant adverse effect on our business.

Qur ability 10 commercialize our products depends on our ability to sell such preducts without infringing the patents or
other proprictary rights of third parties. Numerous United States and foreign issued patents and pending applications, which
are owned by third parties, exist in the various areas in which we have products or are sceking to create products, including
patents relating to specific antifungal formulations and mcthods of using the formulations to treat infections, as well as
patents relating to serum-based vaccines and methods for detection of lymphoma. The interpretation of patent claims is
complex and uncertain. The legal standards governing claim interpretations are evolving and changing. Thus, any significant
changes in the legal standards would impact the way that we interpret the claims of third-party patents in our product areas.
In addition, because patent applications can take several years to issue, there may be currently pending applications, unknown
to us, which may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe. There could also be existing patents
of which we are not aware that our product candidates may inadvertently infringe.

If a third party claims that we infringe on their patents or other proprictary rights, we could face a number of issues that
could seriously harm our competitive position, including:

« infringement and other intellectual property claims which, with or without merit, can be costly and time
consuming to litigate and can delay the regulatory approval process and divert management’s attention from our
cere business strategy;

= substantial damages for past infringement which we may have 10 pay if a court determines that our products or
technologics infringe upon a competitor’s patent or other proprietary rights;

= acourt prohibiting us from selling or licensing our products or technologies unless the holder licenses the patent
or other proprictary rights to us, which it is not required to do;

« ifalicense is available from a holder, we may have to pay substantial rovaltics or grant cross licenscs to our
patents or other proprietary rights; and
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+  redesigning our process so that it does not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial time
and expense.

Such actions could harm our competitive position and our ability 10 generate revenue and could result in increased
cosls.

If federal or state enforcement authorities characterize any portion of the fees payable to us by sublicenses of our CRS
therapy as remuneration for recommending or referring business to the compounding pharmacies, then such fees could
be challenged under federal and/or state anti-kickback laws.

We have sublicensed our rights to Mayo Clinic’s patented CRS therapy 1o several compounding pharmacies that pay us
a sublicensing fee cach time they dispense an antifungal for CRS treatmeni under a physician’s prescription. We may enter
into additional sublicensing arrangements in the future with other compounding pharmacies and charge similar royalties. We
also maintain a small group from our specialty pharmaceuticals business to educate physicians about Mayo Clinic’s research
and studies relating 1o the causes and potential treatment methods for CRS. We believe that the fees payable to us by
sublicensed compounding pharmacies are payable solely for the grant of the sublicense to the Mayo Clinic’s CRS therapy,
and such sublicense fees are payable regardless of the source of the prescription. However, if federal or state enforcement
authorities characterize any part of these sublicense fees as remuneration o us in exchange for arranging for or
recommending the services of, or otherwise referring business to, these compounding pharmacies, then these sublicense fees
could be challenged under federal and/or state anti-kickback laws. To the exient that enforcement is initiated, we could face
fines and other penalties. which could harm our business.

The revenues that we receive from sublicensing the amphotericin B therapy for CRS to compounding pharmacies could
be materially adversely impacted by FDA enforcement action,

Although we cannot market SinuNase until we obtain FDA approval, our license agreement with MAYQ permits us o
sublicense MAYQ's patent rights related to amphotericin B for use as a therapy for CRS to compounding pharmacies under
license agreements approved by MAYO. Such compounding pharmacies would then have the right to use the sublicense to
compound the product for prescribing physicians. Pharmacy compounding is considered to be part of the practice of
pharmacy, regulated by state pharmacy practice acts. The FDA does nol typically exercise its enforcement authority against
traditional pharmacy compounding whereby pharmacists extemporaneously compound and manipulate reasonable quantities
of human drugs upon receipt of a valid prescription for an individually idemtified patient from a licensed practitioner.
However, the FDA has taken enforcement action against pharmacies whosc activities the FDA believes exceed the scope of
the practice of pharmacy by engaging in the actual manufacturing of drug products. The FDA has identified that such
activities may include, but not be fimited to, compounding drugs in anticipation of receiving prescriptions, using commercial-
scale manufacturing or testing cquipment for compounding, failing to document individual medical need for the compounded
product, and failing to operate in conformance with state law regulating the practice of pharmacy. In the event that the FDA
takes an enforcement action against any of the compounding pharmacies to which we may sublicense the amphotericin B
therapy, the revenues we receive could materially decline, which could harm our business. We have no assurance that the
FDA will refrain from taking enforcement actions against any of the compounding pharmacies, nor can we assure you that
laws related to the FDDA's regulation of compounding pharmacies will not provide the FDA with additional enforcement
authority against compounding pharmacics, all o which could result in a decline in our revenues which would harm our
business. In addition, our representatives educate physicians about the availability of the compounding services, and while
wc believe that such inforimation does not represent promotion of the preduct, the FDDA may disagree, and we could be
subjcet to enforcement action, including but not limited to a warning letter demanding that we cease the provision of such
information.

Physicians muay be reluctant to prescribe amphotericin B for treatment of CRS while it is an unapproved indication.

Physicians are permitied to prescribe drug for unapproved indications, sometimes referred to as “off-label” uses, as part
of the practice of medicine. However, the federal Medicaid program, which provides significant reimbursement for
prescription drugs, restricts the types and uses of drugs which may be paid for with federal funds. The Medicaid program
primarily provides reimbursement only for drugs used for medically accepted indications. A medically accepted indication is
defined as a usc that has either been approved by the FDA or is supported by specific compendia set forth in the Medicaid
statute, in which off-label usage is significantly restricted. Submission of a claim to federal or state governments for
rcimbursement of an off-label use of a drug not eligible for such reimbursement could be considered a false claim under the
Federal False Claims Act. if such claim was submitted knowing it was false. Although the federal government has focused its
attention in this area on the activities of drug manufacturers in promoting off-label uscs of their products, these actions have
been high profile and have involved substantial settlements. Such governmental activity has heightened concerns of
physicians regarding off-label prescribing. This may result in a decline in prescriptions of amphotericin B for treatment of
CRS. Such decline could cause our revenues 1o decline materially and harm the business of our company.
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We currently depend on a sole-source supplier for KLH, a critical raw material used in the manufacture of BiovaxiD, and
physicians who adminisier BiovaxID depend on a sole-source supplier for GM-CSF, an immune system stimulant
administered with BiovaxiD.

We currently depend on single source suppliers for critical raw materials used in Biovax1D and other components used
in the manufacturing process and required for the administration of BiovaxID. In particular, manufacturing of BiovaxID
requires keyhole limpet hemocyanin, or KLH. a foreign carrier protein. We purchase KLH from BioSyn Arzneimittel GmbH,
or BioSyn, a single source supplier. We have entered into a supply agreement with BioSyn. pursuant to which BioSyn has
agreed to supply us with KLH. The supply agreement has an initial term of three years and is renewable lor indefinite
additional terms of five years each at our discretion, so long as we are not in default of our obligations pursuant to this
agreement. Either party may terminate the supply agreement cartier upon a breach that is not cured within 60 days or other
events relating to inselvency or bankruptcy. Under this agreement BioSyn is not contractually obligated to supply us with the
amounts of KLH currently being supplied and necessary for our current clinical trial purposes or for commercialization,
There may be no other supplier of KLH of suitable quality for our purposes.

When BiovaxID is administered, the administering physician uses a cytokine to enhance the patient’s immune
response, and this ¢ytokine is administered concurrently with BiovaxID. The cytokine used by physicians for this purpose is
Leuking® sargramostim, a commercially available recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage coleny stimulating factor
known as GM-CSF. This cytokine is a substance that is purchased by the administering physician and is administered with an
antigen to enhance or increase the immune response to that antigen. The physicians whe administer BiovaxID will rely on
Berlex Inc., or Berlex, as a supplier of GM-CSF, and these physicians will generally not have the benefit of a long-term
supply contract with Berlex. GM-CSF is not commercially available from other sources in the United States or Canada.

Establishing additional or replacement suppliers for these materials or components may take a substantial amount of
time. In addition, we may have difficulty obtaining similar components from other supplicrs that are acceptable to the FDA.
1f we have 1o swilch to a replacement supplier, we may face additional regulatory delays and the manufacture and delivery of
BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. could be interrupted for an extended period of time, which
may delay completion of our clinical trials or commercialization of BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop. If we are unable 10 obtain adequate amounts of these components, our clinical trials will be delayed. In addition, we
will be required 1o obtain regulatory clearance [rom the FDA o use different components that may not be as safe or as
effective. As a result, regulatory approval of BiovaxID may not be received at all. All these delays could cause delays in
commercialization of BiovaxID, delays in our ability to generate revenue from BiovaxID, and increased costs.

Other than BioSyn, Berlex, and the exclusive supply relationships that we have for MD Turbo and Respi~TANN, we
are not dependent on any sole-source suppliers.

The market may not be receptive to our products upon their introduction.

The biopharmaceutical products that we may develop may not achieve market acceptance among physicians, patients,
health care payors, and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance will depend upon a number of factors,
including

»  the receipt of regulatory approvals;
»  limited indications of regulatory approvals;

»  the establishment and demenstration in the medical community of the ¢linical efficacy and safety of our products
and their potential advantages over existing treatment methods;

*  the prices of such products;

+ reimbursement policies of government and third-party payors;

«  market acceptance of patient-specific active immunotherapies, in the case of BiovaxID;
«  the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

» potential advantages over alternative treatments;

«  ability to produce our products at a competitive price;

+ stocking and distribution;

+ relative convenience and ease of administration;

»  the strength of marketing and distribution support; and

» sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement.

The failure of our product pipeline to gain market acceptance could impair our ability lo generate revenue. which could
have a material adverse effect on our future business. financial condition and results of operations.
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The National Cancer Institute is not preciuded from working with other companies on developing products that are
competitive with BiovaxiD.

Our BiovaxID vaccine is based on research and studies conducted at Stanford University and the NCI. The concept of
producing a patient-specific anti-cancer vaccine through the hybridoma method from a patient’s own cancer cells has been
discussed in a varicty of publications over a period of many years, and, accordingly, the general method and concept of such
a vaccine is not eligible to be patented by us, the NCI, or any other party. Until November 2006, we were a party to a
Cooperative Research and Development Agreement, or CRADA. with the NCI for the development of a hybridoma-based
patient-specific idiotypic vaccine for the treatment of indolent follicular NHL. We gave notice of termination of the CRADA
in September 2006, and the termination will be effective 60 days after notice. Although the NCI transferred sponsorship of
the IND for BiovaxiD to us in 2004, and although there are certain confidentiality protections for information generated
pursuant to the CRADA. the CRADA does not prevent the NCI from working with other companies on other hybridoma-
based idiotypic vaccines for indolent follicular NHL or other forms of cancer, and the NCI or its future partners may be able
to utilize certain technology developed under our prior CRADA. If the NCI chooses 1o work with other companies in
connection with the development of such a vaccine, such other companies may also develop technology and know-how that
may ultimately enable such companies to develop products that compete with BiovaxID. Additionally, through their
partnership with the NCI, these companies could develop immunotherapies for other forms of cancer that may serve as
barriers to any future products that we may develop for such indications.

Risks Related to Cur Industry

Qur competitors may develop products that are less expensive, safer, or more effective, which may diminish or eliminate
the commercial success of any future products that we may commercialize.

We compete with several biopharmaceutical companies, and our competitors may:

»  develop product candidates and market products that are less expensive or more effective than our future
products;

+ commercialize competing products before we or our partners can launch any products developed from our
product candidates;

* initiate or withstand substantial price competition more successfully than we can;
»  have greater success in recruiting skilled scientific workers from the limited pool of available talent;
+  more effectively negotiate third-party licenses and strategic relationships; and

= take advantage of acquisition or other opportunities more readily than we can.

We will compete for market share against large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies and smaller companies
that are collaborating with larger pharmaceutical companies, new companies, academic institutions, government agencies and
other public and private research organizations. Many of these competitors, either alone or together with their partners, may
develop new product candidates that will compete with ours, and these competitors may, and ini certain cases do, operate
larger research and development programs or have substantially greater financial resources than we do.

If our competitors market products that are less expensive, safer or more effective than our potential products, or that
reach the market sooncr than our potential products, we may not achieve commercial success. In addition, the life sciences
induslry is characterized by rapid technological change. Because our research approach integrates many technologies, it may
be difficult for us to stay abreast of the rapid changes in each technology. If we fail to stay at the forefront of technological
change we may be unable to compete effectively. Our competitors may render our technologies obsolete by advances in
existing technological approaches or the development of new or different approaches, potenially eliminating the advantages
in our drug discovery process that we believe we derive from our research approach and proprietary technologies.

If we fail to comply with extensive regulations enforced by the FDA, EMEA, and other agencies, the sale of our current
products, and the commercialization of our product candidates wonld be prevented or delayed.

Research, pre-clinical development, clinical trials, manufacturing, and marketing of our products are subject to
extensive regulation by various government authorities. Neither we nor our partners have received marketing approval for
SinuNase, BiovaxlD or Emezine. The process of obtaining FDA, European Medicines Agency, or EMEA, and other required
regulatory approvals is lengthy and expensive, and the time required for such approvals is uncertain. The approval process is
affected by such factors as

»  the severity of the disease;
» the quality of submission;

= the clinical efficacy and safety;
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+  the strength of the chemistry and manufacturing control of the process;
+  the manufacturing facility compliance;

+  the availability of alternative treatments;

= the risks and benefits demonstrated in clinical trials; and

+  the patent status and marketing exclusivity rights of certain innovative products.

Any regulatory approvals that we or our partners receive for our product candidates may also be subject (o limitations
on the indicated uses for which the drug may be marketed or contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing
follow-up studies. The subsequent discovery of previousty unknown problems with the drug, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, may resuit in restrictions on the marketing of the drug, and could include withdrawal of
the drug from the market.

Our U.S. manufacturing, labeling, storage, and distribution activities also are subject to strict regulation and licensing
by the FDA. Our biopharmaceutical manufacturing facilities are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA, the EMEA, and
other regulatory authorities and from time to time, we may receive notices of deficiencies from these agencies as a result of
such inspections. Our failure, or the failure of our biopharmaceutical manufacturing facilities, to continue to meet regulatory
standards or to remedy any deficiencies could result in corrective action by the FDA or these other authorities, including the
interruption or prevention of marketing, closure of our biopharmaceutical manufacturing facilities and fines or penalties.

Regulatory authorities also will require post-marketing surveillance 1o monitor and report to the FDA potential adverse
effects of our products or product candidates. Congress or the FDA in specific situations can modify the regulatory process.
Once approved, a product’s failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements could, among other things, result in
warning letters, fines, suspension or revocation of regulatory approvals, product recalls or seizures, operating restrictions,
injunctions, and criminal prosecutions,

The FDA's policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay
regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelthood, nature or extent of adverse government
regulation that may arise from future fcgislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. [f we are not
able to maintain regulatory compliance, we might not be permitted to market our products and our business could suffer.

Although we do not have material sales of our biopharmaceutical products outside the U.S. today, our goal is to expand
our global presence for these products. Distribution of our products outside the U.S. is subject to extensive government
regulation. These regulations, including the requirements for approvals or clearance to market, the time required for
regulatory review and the sanctions imposed for violations, vary from country to country. There can be no assurance that we
will obtain regulatory approvals in such countries or that we will not be required to incur significant costs in obtaining or
maintaining these regulatory approvals. In addition, the export by us of certain of our products that have not yet been cleared
for domestic commercial distribution may be subject to FDA export restrictions. Failure to obtain necessary regulatory
approvals, the restriction, suspension or revocation of existing approvals or any other failure to comply with regulatory
requirements would impair our ability to generate revenue, increase our compliance costs, and have a material adverse effect
on our future business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our Respi~TANN product also contains pseudocephedrine. The DEA regulates pseudoephedrine, pursuant to the CSA
and the Domestic Chemical Diversion Control Act of 1993, as a “listed chemical™ because it can be used in the production of
illicit drugs. There are two groups of listed chemicals, List | chemicals and List [T chemicals; List ! chemicals are more
strictly regulated. Pscudoephedrine is a List I chemical. Persons or firms who manufacture, distribute, import, or export listed
chemicals in amounls above specified threshold levels, or chemical mixtures that contain listed chemicals above specified
threshold amounts, must fulfill certain requirements regarding, among other things, registration, recordkeeping, reporting,
and security. Places where regulated persons or firms handle listed chemicals or chemical mixtures are subject 10
administrative inspections by the DEA. Failure to comply with relevant DEA regulations can result in civil penalties, refusal
10 renew necessary registrations, or initiating proceedings to revoke those registrations. In certain circumstances, violations
can lead to criminal prosecution. Pseudoephedrine is subject to tighter controls than most other listed chemicals that are
lawfully marketed under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Also, recent regulatory actions at the state level may
affect future distribution, advertising, and promotion of pscudoephedrine-containing products,

The insurance coverage and reimbursement siatus of newly approved products is uncertain and failure to obtain or
maintain adeguate coverage and reimbursement for new or current products could limit our ability to market those
products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. The
commercial success of our potential products in both domestic and international markets is substantially dependent on
whether third-party coverage and reimbursement is available for the ordering of our potential products by the medical
profession for use by their patients. Medicare, Medicaid, health maintenance organizations, and other third-party payors are
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increasingly attempting to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement of new
products, and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our potential products. Even our existing
product line could lace declining revenues if competitor products are perceived as providing a substantially equivalent
therapeutic effeet at a lower cost to the payor. They may not view our products as cost-effective and reimbursement may not
be available to consumers or may not be sufficient to allow our producis to be marketed on a competitive basis. Likewise,
legislative or regulatory efforts to control or reduce healtheare costs or reform government healthcare programs could result
in lower prices or rejection of our products. Changes in coverage and reimbursement policies or healthcare cost containment
initiatives that limit or restrict reimbursement for our products may cause our revenue to decline.

We may not be able to maintain sufficient product liability insurance to cover claims against us.

Product liability insurance for the biopharmaccutical industry is generally expensive to the extent it is available at all.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or that we will be able to
secure increased coverage if the commercialization of our products progresses, or that existing, or future claims against us
will be covered by our product liability insurance. Moreover, there can be no assurance that the existing coverage of our
insurance policy and/or any rights of indemnification and contribution that we may have will offset existing or future claims.
We currently maintain product liability insurance of $10 million per occurrence and in the aggregate. We believe that this
coverage is currently adequate based on current and projected business activities and the associated risk exposure, although
we expect to increase this coverage as our business activities and associated risk grow. A successful claim against us with
respect to uninsured liabilities or in excess of insurance coverage and not subject 1o any indemnification or contribution could
have a material adverse effect on our future business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We could be negatively impacted by the application or enforcement of federal and state fraud and abuse lows, including
anti-kickback laws and other federal and state anti-referral laws,

We are subject {o vartous federal and state laws pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse, including anti-kickback laws
and physician self-referral laws. Violatians of these laws are punishable by criminal and civil sanctions, including, in some
instances, nmprisonment and exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs, including the Medicare,
Medicaid and Veterans Administration heaith programs. Because of the far-reaching nature of these taws. we may be
required to alier or discontinue one or more of our practices to be in compliance with these laws, Healthcare fraud and abusc
regulations are complex, and even minor irregularities can potentially give rise to claims that a statute or prohibition has been
violated. Any violations of these laws, or any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend
against it, could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. [f there is a
change in law, regulation or administrative or judicial interpretations, we may have to change or discontinue our business
practices or our existing business practices could be challenged as unlawful, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 1n addition, we could become subject to false ¢laims litigation
under federal statutes. which can lead 10 treble damages based on the reimbursements by federal health care programs, civil
moncy penalties {including penalties levied on a per false claim basis), restitution, criminal fines and imprisonment, and
exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state healthcare programs. These false claims
statutes include the False Claims Act, which allows any person to bring suit on behalf of the federal government alleging the
submission of false or fraudulent claims, or causing to present such false or fraudulent claims, under federal programs or
contracts claims or other violations of the statute and to share in any amounts paid by the entity to the government in fines or
settlement. These suits against biotechnology companies have increased significantly in recent years and have increased the
risk that a healthcare company will have to defend a false claim action, pay fines or restitution, or be excluded from the
Medicare, Medicaid or other federal and state healthcare prograims as a result of an investigation arising out of such action.
We cannet assure you that we will not become subject to such litigation or, if we are not successful in defending against such
actions, that such actions will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, we cannot assure you that the costs of defending claims or allegations under the False Claims Act will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risk Factors Related to Qur Operations

The failure to attract and retain skilled personnel could impair our product development and commercialization efforts.

Our performance is substantially dependent on the performance of our senior management and key scientific and
technical personnel, particularly Francis E. O°Donnetl, ir., M.D., our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Steven R.
Arikian, M.D., our President and Chiel Operating Officer, Biopharmaceutical Products and Services, and Alan M. Pearce,
our Chief Financial Officer. We have entered into employment agreements with each of Messrs. O’ Donnell, Arikian, and
Pcarce, although there is no assurance that they will remain in our employ for the entire term of such employment
agreements. The loss of the services of any member of our senior management, scientific. or technical siaff may significantly
delay or prevent the achievement of product development and other business objectives by diverting management’s attention
to transition matters and identification of suitable replacements, and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
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operating results. and financial condition. We do not maintain key man life insurance for any of Messrs. O’Donnell, Arikian,
or Pearce. We are not aware of any plans by our key personnel to retire or leave us in the near future.

We also rely on consultants and advisors to assist us in formulating our research and development strategy. All of our
consultants and advisors are either self-employed or employed by other organizations, and they may have conflicts of interest
or other commitinents, such as consulting or advisory contracts with other organizations, that may affect their ability to
contribute to us.

In addition, we believe that we will need to recruit additional executive management and scientific and technical
personnel. There is currently intense competition for skilled executives and employees with relevant scientific and technical
expertise, and this competition is likely to continue. The inability to attract and retain sufficient scientific, technical, and
managerial persenncl could limit or delay our product development efforts, which would adversely affect the development of
our product candidates and commercialization of our potential products and growth of our business.

We expect to expand our development, clinical research, and marketing capabilities, and as a result, we may encounter
difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.

We expect to have significant growth in expenditures, the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, in
particular with respect to those product candidates that we elect to commercialize independently or together with a partner.
To manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational, and
financial systems, expand our facilities. and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Due to our limited
resources, we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified
personnel. The physical expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and
business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt
our operations,

We have a limited operating history and financial results are uncertain.

We have a limited history as a consolidated company and face many of the risks of a new business. As a result of our
limited operating history, it is difficult to accurately forecast our potential revenue. Our revenue and income potential is
unproven and our business model is still emerging. Therefore, we cannol assure you that we will provide a rcturn on
investment in the future. An investor in our common stock must consider the challenges, risks, and uncertainties frequently
encountered in the gstablishment of new technologies and products in ecmerging markets and evolving industries, These
challenges include our ability to:

= ¢xccule our business model,;

= create brand recognition;

* manage growth in our operations;

»  create a customer base cost-effectively;

+  refain customers;

+  access additional capital when required; and
+  attract and retain key personnel.

We cannot be certain that our business model will be successful or that it will successfully address these and other
challenges. risks, and uncertainties.

Our relationship with BioDelivery Sciences and the relationship of several of our senior executive officers to BioDelivery
Sciences creates potential for conflicts of interest.

Our company and several of our executive officers have relationships with BioDelivery Sciences Interational, Inc., or
BioDelivery Sciences, a publicly traded drug delivery technology company, which may create conflicts of interest. An
encochleated version of our SinuNase product is being developed under a license agreement with BioDelivery Sciences under
which we have been granted exclusive worldwide rights to BioDelivery Sciences’ encochleation technology for CRS and
asthma products. Additionalty, Emezine is being jointly developed with Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Arius, a wholly
owned subsidiary of BioDelivery Sciences, under a distribution agreement that we entered into with Arius in March 2004.

Francis E. O'Donnell, Jr., M.D., is a principal stockholder and Chairman of the Board of both our company and
BioDelivery Sciences. Previously, Dr. O’Donnell also served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of BioDelivery
Sciences. Alan M. Pearce, our Chief Financial Officer, served as a director for BioDelivery Sciences until September 2005.
Also, three of our employces are shared between BioDelivery Sciences and our company.
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Our directors and executive officers owe a fiduciary duty of loyalty 1o us, and to the extent that they are also directors
or officers of BioDelivery Sciences, they also owe similar fiduciary dutics to BioDelivery Sciences. However, due 1o their
responsibilities to serve both companies, there is potential for conflicts of interest. At any particular time. the needs of
BioDelivery Sciences could cause one or more of these executive officers to devote attention to BioDelivery Sciences at the
expense of our company. In addition, matters may arise that place the fiduciary duties of these individuals in conflicting
positions. Such conflicts will be resolved by our independent directors and directors having no affiliation with BioDelivery
Sciences. If conflicts occur, matters important to us could be delayed. The results of such delays are not susceptible to
accurate predictions but could include, among other things, delay in the production of sufficient amounts of SinuNasc to
complete our clinical trials or to meet potential commercial demands. Such delays could increase our costs of development or
reduce our ability to generate revenue. Our officers will use every effort to avoid material conflicts of interest gencrated by
their responsibilitics to BioDelivery Sciences, but no assurance can be given that material conflicts will not arise which could
be detrimental to our operations and financial prospects.

The existence of minority stockholders in our Biovest subsidiary creates potential for conflicts of interest.

We directly own a majorily of the outstanding capital stock of Biovest International, Inc., or Biovest, which is our
subsidiary that is developing the BiovaxID vaccine, and the remaining Biovest stock is owned by approximately 500
stockholders of record. As a result, conflicts of interest may develop between us and the minority stockholders of Biovest. To
the extent that our officers and directors are also officers or directors of Biovest, matters may arise that place the fiduciary
duties of these individuals in conflicting positions. Although we intend that such conflicts will be resolved by independent
dircctors of Biovest, il this occurs, matters important to us could be delayed. Francis E. O'Donnell, Jr., M.D., our Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, is also Vice Chairman and a director of Biovest, and Dr. Steven R. Arikian, a director and our
President and Chief Operating Officer, Biopharmaceutical Products and Services, is the Chairman, CEQ, and President of
Biovest.

A total of 18 million shares of the Biovest stock held by us is transferable under debentures and warrants issued by us,

We hold approximately 78% of the shares of common stock of Biovest outstanding as of November 30, 2006. In
September 2006, we entered into a private placement in which we issued to investors an aggregate of $25.0 million of 8%
secured convertible debentures together with common stock purchase warrants. The convertible debentures issued by us in
the private placement are convertible at the option of the holder into shares of our common stock or exchangeable for shares
of Biovest stock held by us, and the warrants issued in the transaction are exercisable for our common stock or shares of
Biovest stock held by us. In addition, we have pledged into an escrow account 18 million shares of the Biovest common
stock held by us to secure the repayment of the convertible debentures. The total number of shares of Biovest common stock
transferable by us te the investors in the private placement, whether pursuant to the exchange or exercise of the debentures
and warrants or the exercise of rights under the pledge agreement, may not exceed 18 million shares in the aggregate.
Accordingly, it is possible that our ownership of Biovest common stock could decrease by up to 18 million shares as a result
of the September 2006 private placement. In such case, it is possible that we could cease to be the majority sharcholder of
Biovest,

In addition, we have issued a Warrant to Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. or Laurus to purchase up to 10 million shares of the
Biovest common stock owned by us pursuant to an agreement dated October 31, 2006 The exercise price of these warrants is
$0.01 per share of Biovest common stock.

We occasionally become subject to commercial disputes that could harm our business by distracting our management
Sfrom the operation of our business, by increasing our expenses and, if we do not prevail, by subjecting us to potential
monetary damages and other remedies.

From time 10 time we are engaged in disputes regarding our commercial transactions. These disputes could result in
monetary damages or other remedies that could adversely impact our financial position or operations. Even if we prevail in
these disputes, they may distract our management from operating our business and the cost of defending these disputes would
reduce our operating results. If we do not prevail in these litigation matters or if we are required to expend a significant
amount of resources defending such claims, our operating results, financial position, and cash flows could be adversely
impacted.

Two of our customers generate a large portion of our revenue, and any reduction, delay, or cancellation of orders from
these customers could reduce our revenues.

For the 2006 fiscal year, two of our customers, both wholesale distributors, accounted for more than 10% of our revenue.
Revenues from Cardinal Health, McKesson Corporation, represented approximately 18.9% and 17.5% of our revenue for the
years ended September 30, 2006. For the 2005 and 2004 fiscal years, two of our customers, both wholesale distributors,
accounted for more than 10% of our revenue. Revenues from Cardinal Health represented approximately 25.0% and 15.3%
of our revenue for the year ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and revenues from McKesson Corporation
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represented approximately 14.6% of our revenue for the year ended September 30, 2004. Any reduction, delay or cancellation
of orders from this customer could reduce our revenue.
Our level of indebtedness reduces our financial flexibility and conld impede our ability to operate.

As of December 10, 2006, our long-term debt excluding lines of credit was $33.8 million. Qur long-term debt includes the
following:

+  $26.3 million in principal amount outstanding under our credit facilities with Laurus, consisting of two
convertible (erm loans in the amounts of $8.7 million and $7.6 million, and a revolving credit line in the
amount of $10.0 million. A portion of this credit facility is convertible into common stock as discussed
under “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”

+  $4.0 million in principal amount owtstanding under our revolving credit agreement with Southwest Bank
of St. Louis {7k/a, Missouri State Bank (“Missouri State Bank™).

+  $2.0 million in principal amount outstanding under our term note with Pulaski Bank and Trust Company
("Pulaski Bank™).

»  $1.1 million in principal amount outstanding under our bridge note with Hopkins Capital 1T, LLC.

+  $0.4 million in principal and interest under promissory notes issued by our Biovest subsidiary.
Under the $8.7 million term note with Laurus, assuming that Laurus does not convert the note, we are obligated to make
equal monthly payments of principal and interest of $0.3 million each through the period ending in April 2008. Under the
$7.6 million term notes with Laurus, assuming that Laurus does not convert the note, we are obligated to make equal monthly
payments of principal and interest of $0.3 million each through the period ending in March 2009. Under the notes evidencing
the revolving credit loan portion of our credit facility with Laurus, the $10.0 million principal amount will be due and
payable in April 2008, with accrued interest being payable monthly. Under the revolving credit agreement with Missouri
State Bank, the $4.0 million principal amount will become due and payable in January 2007, with accrued interest being
payable monthly. Under the term note with Pulaski Bank, the $2.0 million principal amount will become due and payable in
January 2007, with accrued interest being payable monthly. Under the bridge note issued to The Hopkins Capitai I1, LLC, the
$1.1 million principai will become dug and payable in August 2007, with accrued interest being payable monthly. The 30.4

million in principal and interest under the notes issucd by Biovest will become due on various dates during 2006 and 2007,
Our level of debt affects our operations in several important ways, including the following:

+  asignificant portion of our cash flow from operations is likely to be dedicated to the payment of the
principal of and interest on our indebtedness;

< our ability to obiain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures or
acquisitions may be limited;

*  we may be unable to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all;

«  our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments; and

we may default on our obligations and the lenders may foreclose on their security interests that secure their loans.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile, and your investment in our stock could decline in value.

The market prices for securities of biotechnology companies in general have been highly volatile and may continue to
be highly volatile in the future. The following factors, in addition to other risk factors described in this section, may have a
significant impact on the market price of our common stock:

«  results from and any delays in the clinical trials programs;

+  failure or delays in entering additional product candidates into clinical trials;

»  failure or discontinuation of any of our research programs,

»  delays in establishing new strategic relationships;

+ delays in the development of our product candidates and commercialization of our potential products;

«  market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors and issuance of new or changed securitics
analysts’ reports or recommendations;

«  actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial and operating results;
+  developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

» introduction of technological innovations or new commercial products by us or our competitors;
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*  issues in manufacturing our product candidates or products;

*  market acceptance of our products;

*  third-party healthcare reimbursement policies;

*  FDA or other United States or foreign regulatory actions affecting us or our industry;

+  litigation or public concern about the safety of our product candidates or products; and

*+  additions or departures of key personnel.

These and other external factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate
substantially, which may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise
negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock. In addition, in the past, when the market price of a stock has been
volatile, holders of that stock have instituted sccurities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any
of our stockholders brought a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defending the lawsuit. Such a lawsuit could
also divert the time and attention of our management.

If the ownership of our common stock continues to be highly concentrated, it may prevent you and other stockholders
Jfrom influencing significant corporate decisions and may result in entrenchment of management or conflicts of interest
that could cause our stock price to decline,

As of September 30, 2006, our executive officers, directors, greater-than-10% sharcholders and their affiliates
beneficially own or control approximately 71.25% of the outstanding shares of our comimon stock (after giving effect the
exercise of all outstanding vested and unvested options and warrants). Accordingly, these persons and their affiliates, acting
as a group, will have substantial influence over the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, including
the election of directors, any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets or any other significant
corporate transactions. These stockholders may also delay or prevent a change of control of our company, even if such a
change of control would benefit our other stockholders. The significant concentration of stock ownership may adversely
affect the trading price of our common stock due 1o investors’ perception that entrenchment of management or conflicts of
interest may exist or arise.

Future sales of cur common stock could fower the market price of our cammon stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of our shares in the public market could harm the market price of our common stock, even
if our business is doing well. An aggregate of 31,717,467 shares of our common stock were outstanding as of November 30,
2006. Approximately 8,185,225 shares of our common stock outstanding as of November 30, 2006 were eligible for sale in
the public market under SEC Rules 144, 144(k), and 701, subject in some cases to volume and other limitations. In addition,
as of November 30, 2006:

* 3,732,014 shares issuable upon exercise of options and warrants to purchase our common stock were vested and
eligible for sale;

* 2,648,482 shares issuable upon the conversion of convertible notes and the exercise of warrants held by Laurus
are eligible for immediate sale under a currently effective regisiration statement covering the resale of such
shares by Laurus (but only if Laurus elects to convert or exercise such notes and warrants and subject to certain
volume limitations on conversion and exercisc); and

« 12,751,583 shares issuable upon the conversion of convertible debentures and the exercise of warrants held by
investors in our September 2006 private placement are eligible for immediate sale (but only if such investors
elect 10 convert or exercise such debentures and warrants),

Due to the foregoing factors and due to registration rights heid by other persons, sales of a substantial number of shares
of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the
holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

Evolving regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses and conlinuing
uncertainiy,

Changing laws. regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure. including the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, new SEC regulations, and NASDAQ Global Market rules are creating uncertainty for public
companies. As a result of these new rules, we will incur additional costs associated with our public company reporting
requirements. In addition, these new rules could make it more difficult or more costly for us to obtain certain types of
insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and this could make it difficult for us to attract and retain
qualified persons to serve on our board of directors.
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We are presently evaluating and monitoring developments with respect to new and proposed rules and cannot predict
or estimate the amount of the additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs. These new or changed laws,
regulations, and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and as a result,
their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This
could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to
disclosure and governance practices.

We arc commitied to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure. As a result, we intend
to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased
general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to
compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new or changed laws, regulations, and standards differ from the activities
intended by regulatory or governing bodics due to ambiguities related to practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal
proceedings against us and we may be harmed.

We have limited experience attempting to comply with public company obligations, including Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2602,

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the SEC has adopted rules requiring public companies
to include a report of management on the company’s internal controls over financial reporting in their annual reports on Form
10-K. In addition, the public accounting firm auditing a public company’s financial statements must attest to and report on
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting. The requirement
for a report of management, as currently in effect, will first apply to our annual repert on Form 10-K for our fiscal year
ending September 30, 2008, The requirement for our auditor to attest on management assessment will apply for the fiscal
ycar ending September 30, 2009, If we are unable to conclude that we have cffective internal controls over {inancial
reporting, or if our independent auditors are unable to provide us with an ungualified report as to the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, investors could lose
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which could result in a decrease in the value of our securities.

We have never paid dividends on our common stock, and we de not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
Joreseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on our commen stock to date. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any,
to fund the development and growth of our businesses, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital
stock for the foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of existing or any future debts may preclude us from paying dividends
on our stock. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be your sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future.

Some provisions of our amended and restated articles of incorporation, bylaws, and Florida law may inhibit potential
acquisition bids that you may consider fauvorable.

Our corporate documents contain provisions that may enable our board of directors to resist a change in control of our
company even if a change in control were to be considered favorable by you and other stockhelders. These provisions
include:

»  the authorization of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which
may be issued without stockholder approval,

+  advance notice procedures required for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring
matters before an annual meeting of stockholders;

»  limitations on persons authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders;
» astaggered board of directors,

»  arequirement that vacancies in directorships are to be filled by a majority of directors then in office and the
number of directors is to be fixed by the board of directors; and

*  no cumulative voting.

These and other provisions contained in our amended and restated articles of incorporation and bylaws could delay or
discourage transactions involving an actal or potential change in contro! of us or our management, including transactions in
which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current prices, and may limit the ability
of stockhelders to remove our current management or approve transactions that our stockholders may deem to be in their best
interests and, therefore, could adversely affect the price of our common stock.
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In addition, we are subject to control share acquisitions provisions and affiliated transaction provisions of the Florida
Business Corporation Act, the applications of which may have the effect of delaying or preventing a merger, takeover or
other change of control of us and therefore could discourage attempts to acquire our company.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office and administrative office is located in Tampa, Florida and consists of approximately 7,400
square feet pursuant to a lease agreement with a term of five years beginning April 1, 2005.

We have a sales and marketing office in Morrisville, North Carolina that consists of approximately 10,000 square feet. This
office is occupied pursuant to a lease agreement that expires on April 30, 2007.

Our Analytica subsidiary leases approximately 13,800 square feet of office space in New York, New York, and
approximately 22,500 square feet of office space in Lorrach, Germany. The New York office is occupied pursuant to a lease
that will expire on August 31, 2010. The Lorrach lease will expire on November 1, 2011.

Our majority-owned Biovest subsidiary leases approximately 17,000 square feet in Worcester, Massachusetts, which it uses
for contract cell production, offices, storage, and future expansion. The Worcester facility is occupied pursuant to a lease, and
we have extended our lease term on this facility through February 28, 2010. Biovest also occupies a facility in Minneapolis,
Minnesota that it uses for offices, a laboratory, manufacturing, warehousing, and contract cell culture services. This facility,
which consists of approximately 33,000 square feet, is occupied pursuant to a lease agreement that is currently operating on a
month-to-month basis, We historically have engaged in development activities for Biovax1D at our Minneapolis facility and
have performed certain steps in the Biovax1D production process at this facility. However, we have consolidated all
Biovax1D-related preduction activities into our Worcester facility,

Biovest leases approximately 24,000 square feet in St. Louis, Missouri, which it uses for the assembly, marketing and
distribution of its AutovaxID instruments and associated cultureware. The lease term on this facility extends for three years.

We plan to continue to evaluate our requirements for facilities. We anticipate that as our development of SinyNase and
BiovaxID advances and as we prepare for the future commercialization of these products, our facilities requirements will
continue to change on an ongoing basis.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any matertal legal proceedings, and management is not aware of any threatened legal proceedings, that
could cause a material adverse impact on our business, assets, or results of operations,

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART H
ITEM S. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market for Registrant’s Common Stock

Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market, formerly known as the Nasdaq National Market under the
symbol “ABPI"" and has been quoted since our initial public offering on October 28, 2005. Prior to such date there was
no public market for our common stock.

Market For Registrant’s Common Equity And Related Stockholder Matters
Quarterly High / Low Company Stock Price - ABPI

FY 2006
2006
High Low
FAEST QUUAITEE 1.ttt ettt et 8.20 4.90
SECONU QUATTET ..ottt et b e bbbttt s er e s es e st sb s i 3.86 512
Third QUATTET ...ttt st et e a s et 7.40 4.25
FOUTTR QUATIET ...ttt s re e 4.35 235




Number of Common Shareholders

As of December 1, 2006, there were approximately 250 stockholders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future eamings to
fund the development and expansion of our business, and therefore we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our
common stock in the foresceable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in
future financing instruments, and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of September 30, 2006 (our last completed fiscal

year end) were as follows:

Number of
securilies
remaining
Number of available for
securities to be Weighted- futore issuance
issued upon average exercise under equity
exercise of price of compensation
outstanding outstanding plans (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants, and warranits, and reflected in
rights rights coluinn {a])
Plan Category |a] [b] lel
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders....ocvciniiininne, 2,186,992 § 3.35 2,486,381
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders.........cooeoeiincne, — N/A —
TOtAL et e e esan e s 2,186,992 % 335 2,486,381

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, we did not issue any securities that were not registered under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) except as disclosed in previous SEC filings.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related
notes thereto and “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS” included elsewhere in this filing. The selected consolidated financial data as of September 30, 2006,
2005, 2004 and 2003 and for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 have been derived from our audited
consolidated financial statemenis included elsewhere in this filing. The selected financial data as of September 30, 2001 for
the year ended September 30, 2001 of our predecessor, The Analytica Group, Ltd., have been derived from our predecessor’s
unaudited financial statemnents that are not included in this Annual Report.

From inception Years ended September 30,
(April 3. 2002)
through
Years ended September 30, September 30, Pro forma Predecessor
(in thousands, except per share data)
2006 2005 2004 2603 2002 2002 2001
Consolidated Statements of
Operations Data:
Net sales...cooinvivieireieceeee s $ 25058 8§ 25195 § 25936 § 9908 § 2761 § 5610 $ 2,440
Cost of sales ..o 8,385 8,234 8,814 2936 544 1,607 972
Gross margin........cooeeeeicioeennevonies 16,673 16,961 17,122 6,972 2217 4,003 1,468
Operating expenses:
Research and development ................. 14,010 9,589 4,210 6,112 — — —
Rescarch and development, related
PAFLY v et 551 1,319 1,309 — — — —
Sales and marketing............coovveneenee, 13,973 15,164 12,015 4,366 — — —
General and administrative ._............... 23,300 21,086 17,021 8,868 2,027 3,140 1,304
Royalties .....coovvvieireeieee e 1,460 1,717 387 — — — —
Impairment charges........ccooovvvreeee.e. 3310 358 360 — — — —
Other operating expense, related party — — 2,500 — — — —
Total operating expenses........o............ 56,604 49,233 37,802 19,346 2,027 3,140 1,304
Operating income (1088).......ccoveuvinnee (39.931) (32,272) (20,680) (12,374) 190 863 164
Other income (expense):
Interest (expense) income, net ............ (5,412) (1,697) (1,241) (230} (19) (12} 16
| Interest expense, net, related party ..., (1,092) (2,120) {1,485) (338) — — —
Derivative gain (loss)..occooeeirenn ., 1,241 (1,14 — — — — —
Settlement expense ........cocooocvvvivene — — — (1,563} — — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt .......... — (4,808) — — — — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt,
related party........ccocooiciniinne. — (2,362) — — — — —
Absorption of prior losses against
MIROTiLY INEETESL ......oveeeerivca 1,690 150 — — — — -
Other income (expense) ........ccoveveenna. 109 (56) 78 — — — —
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes...... (43,395) (44,306) (23,328) (14,505) 171 851 180
Income tax benefit {expense)............. — — 180 (180) (436) —
Net income (loss) from continuing
OPErAlioNS ....evvevevierensrerrisresceseen e {43,395) (44,306) {23,328) (14,325) 9 415 180
Discontinued operations:
Gain on sale of discontinued
operations, net of income tax
EXPENSE eeirereireeneee et ee s e — - — 1618 — — — —
Loss from discontinued operations,
net of income tax benefit................ — (430) (1,516) {2,347 (9.185) (9,185) —
Net income {1088)..ccocvivvririieriircrine (43,395) {44,736) (23,226} (16,672) (9.194) (8,770) 180
Preferred stock dividends.................... (41} (5,552) (5,262) — — —
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Income (loss} attributable to common
stockholders ..o S (43,436) § (50,288) S (2R488) § (16,672) S 9,194y §  (8770) §

Weighted average sharcs outstanding,
basic and diluted M ..o

Per share amounts, basic and diluted
.

Net [ncome (loss) per common share
for:

Continuing operations and minority
INLEIESL.eeveeec e $ (1.56) § (9.69) § (5.86) S (3.0} § — 5 008 §

Discontinucd operations...........c.oecevene — (0.08) 0.02 (0.51) (1.89) (1.87)

27.891 5,147 4,876 4,729 4,876 4.876 1,000

Net Income (loss) attributable to
common stockholders...o..oooveerenn. 5 (1.56) $ {9.77) § 584 % (3.52) § (1.89) $ (1.79) §

(1) See Note 1 to our censolidated financial statements for a description of the method used to compute basic and diluted
net loss per share and number of shares used in computing historical basic and diluted net loss per share.

(2)  There were no cash dividends to common shareholders in the years ended September, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002
and 2001.

September 30,

2006 2005 2004 20039 2002

(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalentS......coveieninee e $ 15392 3§ 2763 3§ 1,905 § 2937 % 569
Working capital (20.469) (40,623) (31,462) (23.104) (88)
TOMA] ASSCLS ..veeveveieveri e eiserer e et imertrees et es et e s en bbb 57,136 36,681 28,133 23,387 6,891
Total Habilities ..o 79.977 66,032 49,093 40,266 2,643
Non-controlling interest in variable interest entity...o..ovove e 3,600 — — — —
Total stockholders” deficite.......coociiiii e (26,441} (29,352) (20,960) (16,880) (2,851)
Long-term obligations ... 29,391 15,319 9,976 7,654 —

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

When vou read this section of this Form 10K, it is important that you also read the financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this Form 10K, This section of this annual report contains forward-looking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties, such as starements of our plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions. We use words such as
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “project.” “continuing. " “ongoing,” “expect,” “believe,” “imtend ™ “may,” “will, "
“should.” “could.” and similar expressions to identifv: forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the factors described below and in
the “Risk Fuctors ™ section of this Form 10K,

Overview

We are a vertically integrated biopharmaccutical company focused on the development and commercialization of late-stage,
targeted therapeutic clinical products in the areas of respiratory disease and oncology. We have two products with fast-track
status in Phase 3 clinical trials. Our first such product candidate, SinuNase, is being developed as a treatment for CRS, which
is a chronic inflammatory condition of the paranasal sinuscs that results in nasal congestion, facial pain and pressure, nasal
discharge. and headaches. SinuNase, is an amphotericin B suspension that is self-administered into a patient’s nasal cavity for
the treatment of CRS. We submitted an IND, with the FDA for SinuNase in April 2005 and we have commenced the first of
two Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase for patients who have recurrent CRS. Our other late-stage product candidate,
BiovaxID, is a paticnt-specific anti-cancer vaccine focusing on the treatment of follicular non-Hedgkin’s lymphoma.
Biovax1D was developed at the National Cancer Institute and is currently in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial. In addition to
these product candidates, our specialty pharmaceutical business, Accentia Pharmaceuticals, currently markets respiratory
products through our own dedicated specialty sales force. Qur pharmaceutical product consulting busincss provides a bread
range of services, including product candidate selection, outcomes research on the economic profiles of pharmaceuticals and
biologics, pricing and market asscssment on these products, reimbursement sirategies and various services designed to
expedite clinical trials to companics and institutions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical markets as well as for
our internal use. Our instrument business manufactures equipment used in the production of cells and other biologics based
on the hollow-fiber production method and including our newly introduced automated instrument, AutovaxID and contract
production of biologics for third-parties.

51




Qur goal is to utilize our vertically integrated business structure to cost-effectively and efficiently develop, acquire, and
commercialize innovative therapeutics that address significant unmet medical needs.

Corporate History and Structure

We were organized in 2002 to develop and commercialize biopharmaceutical products. We commenced business in April
2002 with the acquisition of The Analytica Group, Ltd., a provider of analytical and consulting services 1o the
biopharmaceuticals industry. including clinical trial services, pricing and market assessment and outcomes research. We
acquired Analytica in a merger transaction for $3.7 million cash, $1.2 million of convertible promissory notes, and the
issuance of 8.1 million shares of Series B preferred stock. Analytica, which was founded in 1997, has offices in New York
City and Lorrach, Germany,

In October 2002, Accent RX, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of our company, acquired the assets of American Prescription
Providers, Inc. and American Prescription Providers of New York, Inc., collectively referred to as APP, which we operated
under the name AccentRx after the acquisition. We acquired the assets and liabilities of APP for $0.2 million cash and the
issuance of 10.3 million shares of common stock. We acquired assets of $10.6 million in the transaction and assumed
liabilities of $10.4 million. At the time of acquisition, APP was controlled by our shareholders. AccentRx was a mail order
specialty pharmacy focused on pharmaceuticals for AIDS patients and organ transplants. We sold the assets of AccentRx in
December 2003 for $4.2 million cash.

In April 2003, we acquired, through a merger transaction, TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical
company founded in 2000 to market prescription pharmaceutical products. We acquired TEAMM for $7.9 million through
the issuance of 9.7 million shares of Series D preferred stock, issuance of options to purchase 0.8 million shares of Series D
preferred stock, issuance of warrants (o purchase 2.1 million shares of Series D preferred stock, and the assumnption of $13.7
million of liabilities. Through the TEAMM acquisition, we acquired an in-house sales force and a portfolio of prescription
pharmaceutical products.

In June 2603, in exchange for an §1% interest in Biovest International, Inc., we invested $20.0 million in Biovest pursuant to
an investment agreement with them. Under the investment agreement, as amended, we paid $2.5 miilion in cash at closing
and $2.5 million by a 90-day note that has since been paid in full. The remaining $15.0 million was paid in the form of a non-
interest-bearing promissory note. This note is payable in installments of $2.5 million on June 16, 2004, $2.5 million on

June 16, 2005, and $5.0 million on June 16, 2006 and June 16, 2007. As of September 30, 2006, the $15.0 million non-
interest-bearing note was fully paid in advance of its final due date. Because of our ownership interest in Biovest, this note is
climinated upon consolidation in our financial statements. Biovest is a biologics company that is developing our BiovaxID
patient-specific vaccine for the treatment of follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, Biovest also produces custom biologic
products for a wide variety of customers, including biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, medical schools,
universities, hospitals, and research institutions. The 18% minority interest in Biovest is held by approximately 500
shareholders of record. Biovest common stock is registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
Biovest therefore files periodic and other reports with the SEC.

In December 2003, we acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Private Institute for Medical Outcome
Research GmbH. or IMOR, for $0.6 million cash and assumption of $0.3 million of net liabilities. As part of the employment
agreements with the two former owners of IMOR, we issued to them warrants to purchase 950,029 shares of Series B
preferred stock that vest over five years and are exercisable at $2.63 per share. IMOR is a European-based provider of
research, commercialization, and communications services similar to those provided by Analytica. Our acquisition of IMOR
expanded the geographic reach of our analytical and consulting services business throughout the European Union and Asia,
and provides us with additional capabilities that we believe will enable us to more effectively identify and atiract partners
with product candidates and to efficiently develop, clinically test, and market our products.

Business Segments

For financial reporting purposes, our business is divided into two segments: Biopharmaceutical Products and Services and
Specialty Pharmaceuticals,

Biopharmaceutical Products and Services

Our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment develops late-stage innovative biopharmaceutical products with an
cmphasis on the respiratory and oncology therapeutic arcas. The products currently being developed in this segment consist
of SinuNase and BiovaxID. This segment also includes our consulting business, which provides a broad range of services
relating to biopharmaceutical product development, and our biologics products business, which is engaged in the production
of custom biologic products and cell culture instruments and systems for biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies,
medical schools, universities, hospitals, and research institutions.
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Our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment is headquartered in New York City with an office in Lorrach,
Germany and manufacturing facilities in Minneapolis, Minnesota, and Worcester, Massachusetts. Both manufacturing
jocations have laboratories, offices, and warehouse space for siorage of supplics and inventories. The Minneapohs location is
a 33,000 squarc foot building which includes laboratory and warchouse space. The Worcester facility, where we are
developing the BiovaxID vaccine, has 17,500 square feet, primarily Iaboratories, and has approximately 3,500 square feet of
warchouse.

Historically, our Minneapolis location has housed the National Cell Culture Center, or NCCC, which provides customized
cell culture services for basic research laboratories under a grant from the National Institutes of Health. This contract, which
expired in August 2005, but extended into 2006, generated approximately $0.7 million, $0.9 million, and $1.1 million in net
sales for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As a result of the expiration of this contract, we
no longer house the NCCC. Also at the Minneapolis facility, we generated approximately $4.6 million, $3.0 million, and $2.3
million in net sales for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, froin the manufacture of hollow
fiber perfusion instruments used for the production of cell culture products and the sale of disposable products for use with
these instruments. Additionally, the facility has provided contract cell line production services for rescarch organizations,
generating net sales of approximately $1.9 million, $0.9 million and $1.0 million for the years ended September 30, 20006,
2005 and 2004, respectively, using our hollow fiber perfusion instruments to manufacture monoclonal antibodies for use in
diagnostics and other non-therapeutic applications. We also currently engage in development activities for instruments related
to BiovaxID at our Minneapolis facility.

At our Worcester facility we currently produce vaccines for the BiovaxID clinical trial and also manufacture, on a selective
basis, customized cell lines for external research organizations for their use in clinical trials in cases where we believe there
may be promising potential future opportunities to license new product candidates from these research organizations. Net
sales from contract production of custom cell lines were $0.03 million, $0.2 million and $1.1 million for the years ended
September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Furthermore, at this facility we oversee the design and manufacturing of
our prototype AutovaxID sysiems, which automate the production and purification of patient-specific tumor antigens using
fully enclosed sterile and disposable components for each patient treated. We anticipate that the second generation of these
instruments will also incorporate conjugation and sterile fill of clinical material. We believe these systems will be integral to
cost-cffectively cominercializing BiovaxiD.

In December 2006, we entered into a lease of a facility in St. Louis, Missouri to locate the operations of the AutovaxiD, Inc.
subsidiary of Biovest, which will conduct the assembly, marketing and North American distribution of our AutovaxID
systems.

Consolidated sales for our Analytica International subsidiary were $10.3 million, $10.1 million, and $7.2 million for the years
ended 2006, 2003, and 2004, respectively.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Our Specialty Phanmaceuticals segment, which is based in Morrisville, North Carolina, markets and sells pharmaceutical
products that are developed primarily by our third-party development partners. In this segment, we currently sell the
Respi~TANN, CRSFungal Profile. MD Turbo products and have two additional products under development through
development partners. Respi~TANN is a prescription antitussive decongestant for temporary relief of cough and nasal
congestion, CRSFungal Profile is a test used in connection with the diagnosis of CRS, and MD Turbo is a breath-actuated
inhaler device used by patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. In this segment, we gencrated net
sales of $7.5 million, $10.7 million and $11.9 million for the years ending September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively

We license or obtain distribution or marketing rights to our speciatty pharmaceutical products from third parties who are
developing these products. We fund our partners’ development activities primarily through milestone payments that are based
on the partner achieving specified development goals. Milestone payments to our development partners were $2.0 million,
$1.4 million and $2.9 million in the years ending September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Quarterly Results May Fluctuate
We anticipate that our quarterly results of operations will fluctuate for several reasons, including:

« the timing and extent of our development activities and clinical trials for SinuNase, Biovax]D, and any biopharmaceutical
products that we may develop in the future;

+ the timing and outcome of our applications for regulatory approval for our product candidates;
« the timing and extent of our adding new employees and infrastructure;
« the timing of any milestone payments, license fees, or royalty payments that we may be required to make; and

« scasonal influences on the sale of certain specialty pharmaceutical products sold primarily during the cough and cold
season.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles gencrally accepled in the United
States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
as well as the reported net sales and expenses during the reporting periods.

The accounting policies discussed below are considered by our management to be critical (o an understanding of our financial
statements because their application depends on management’s judgment, with financial reporting results relying on
estimates and assumptions about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates and assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. For all of these policics, management cautions that
future events rarcly develop exactly as forecast and that best estimates routinely require adjustment. Accordingly, actual
results may differ from our estimates under different assumptions or conditions and could materially impact cur financial
condition or results of operations.

While our significant accounting policies are maore fully described in Note | to our consolidated financial statements
appearing at the end of this annual report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting policics are the most
critical to aid you in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results.

Revenue recognition
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services
We recognize revenue in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment as follows:

Products. Net sales of cell culture instruments and disposables are recognized in the period in which the risk and rewards of
ownership have passed (at point of shipment) to the buyer. We do not provide our customers with a right of return; however,
deposits made by customers must be returned to customers in the event of non-performance by us.

Services, Service revenue in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment is gencraled primarily by fixed-price
contracts for cell culture production and consulting services. Such revenue is reccognized over the contract term in accordance
with the percentage-of-completion method based on the percentage of service cost incurred during the period compared to the
total estimated scrvice cost to be incurred over the entire contract. The nature and scope of our contracts often requirc us to
make judgments and estimates in recognizing revenues.

Estimates of 1otal contract revenues and costs are continuously monitored during the term of the contract, and recorded
revenues and costs are subject to revision as cach contract progresses. Such revisions may result in increases or decreases 1o
revenues and income and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the periods in which they are first
identified. Each month we accumulate costs on each contract and compare them to the total current estimated costs to
determine the pereentage of completion. We then apply this percentage to the total contract value to determine the amount of
revenue that can be recognized. Each month we review the total current estimated costs on cach contract to determine if these
estimates are still accurate and, if necessary, we adjust the total estimated costs for each contract. As the work progresses, we
might decide that original estimates were incorreet duc to, among other things, revisions in the scope of work, and a contract
modification might be negotiated with the customer to cover additional costs. If a contract modification is not agreed to, we
could bear the risk of cost overruns. Losses on contracts are recognized during the period in which the loss first becomes
probable and reasonably estimable. Reimbursements of contract-related costs are included in revenues. An equivalent amount
of these reimbursable costs is included in cost of sales. Because of the inherent uncertaintios in estimating costs, it is at least
reasonably possible that the estimates used will change within the near term.

Service costs related to cell culture production include all direct materials and subcontract and labor costs and thosc indirect
costs related to contract performance, such as indirect labor, insurance, supplics, and tools, We believe that actual cost
incurred in contract cell production services is the best indicator of the performance of the contractual obligations, because
the costs relate primarily to the amount of labor incurred to perform such services. The deliverables inherent in cach of our
cell culture production contracts are not output driven. but rather driven by a pre-determined production run. The duration of
our cell culture production contracts range typically from 2 to 14 months.

Service costs relating to our consulting services consists primarily of internal labor expended in the fulfillment of our
consulting projects and, 1o a lesser extent, outsourced research services. Service costs on a specific project may also consist
of a combination of both internal labor and outsourced rescarch service. Our consulting projects are priced and performed in
phases, and the projects are managed by phase. As part of the contract bidding process, we develop an estimate of the total
number of hours of internal labor required to generate each phase of the customer deliverable (for example, a manuscript or
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database), and the labor cost is then computed by multiplying the hours dedicated to each phase by a standard hourly labor
rate. We also determine whether we need services from an outside research or data collection firm and include those
estimated outsourced costs in our total contract cost for the phase. At the end of each month, we collect the cumulative total
hours worked on cach contract and apply a standard labor cost rate to arrive at the total labor cost incurred to date. This
amount is divided by the total estimated contract cost to arrive at the percentage of completion, which is then applied to the
total estimated contract revenues to determine the revenue (o be recognized through the end of the month. Accordingly, as
hours are accumulated against a project and the related service costs are incurred, we concurrently fulfill our contract
obligations. The duration of our consulting service contracts range typically from 1 to 12 months. Certain other professional
service revenues, such as revenues from maintenance services on cell culture equipment, are recognized as the services are
performed.

In our financial statements, unbilled receivables represents revenue that is recognizable under the percentage-of-completion
method due to the performance of services for which billings have not been generated as of the balance sheet date. In general,
amounts become billable pursuant 1o contractual milestones or in accordance with predetermined payment schedules. Under
our consulting services contracts, the customer is required to pay for contract hours worked by us {based on the standard
hourly rate used to calculate the contract price) even if the customer cancels the contract and elects not to proceed to
completion of the project. Unecarned revenucs represemt customer payments in excess of revenue earned under the percentage-
of-completion method. Such payments arc made in accordance with predetermined payment schedules set forth in the
contract.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Revenue in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment is gencrated from the product sales. Revenue from product sales is
recognized when all of the following occur: a purchase order is received from a customer; title and risk of loss pass to our
customer upon the receipt of the shipment of the merchandise under the terms of FOB destination; prices and estimated sales
provisions for product returns, sales rebates, payment discounts, chargebacks, and other promotional allowances are
reasonably determinable; and the customer's payment ability has been reasonably assured. An estimate of three days from the
time the product is shipped via common carrier until it reaches the customer is used for purposes of determining FOB
destination. Revenues in connection with co-prometion agreements are recognized based on the terms of (he agreements.

We make periodic adjustments to our monthly net sales for estimated chargebacks, rebates, and potential product returns we
anticipate might ultimately be required. These adjustments are based on inventory quantity reports provided by our largest
wholesale customers, sales activity reports generated by group purchase organizations with which we have rebate contracts,
and sales activity data provided by a third-party provider of such data. Our net sales will typically reflect an adjustment of 8%
of gross sales for charge-bucks/rebates and 10% for product returns that we record in the form of a reserve. In the twelve
months ended September 30, 2006, we made an additional adjustment to chargeback and return reserves of approximately
3% and 7%, respectively. to appropriately reflect reserves for specific returns, which had the effect of reducing our net sales
by $3.2 miltion. This adjustment was required due to an additional amount of product returns for a specific product that has
now been substantially returned and increased rebate activity for certain products. The percentage of adjustments to net sales
will continue to be evaluated each quarter and modified when necessary.

Actual product returns, chargebacks, and other sales allowances incurred are dependent upon future events and may be
different than our estimates. We continually monitor the factors that influence sales allowance estimates and make
adjustments to these provisions when management belicves that actual product returns, chargebacks, and other sales
allowances may differ from established allowances.

Provisions for these sales allowances are presented in the consolidated financial statements as reductions o gross revenues
and included as current accrued expenses in the balance sheet. These allowances approximated $3.2 miliion and 51.2 million
for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or market. We periodically review inventory quantities of raw materials,
instrumentation components and disposables on hand, and completed pharmaceutical products in our third-party distribution
center. and we record write-downs of inventories to market value based upon contractual provisions and obsolescence, as
well as assumplions about future demand and market conditions. 1f assumptions about future demand change and/or actual
market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional write-downs of inventories may be
required.

Inventory in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment includes raw materials and component parts used in the
assembly of instruments and cultureware for our Biovest subsidiary and totaled $0.2 million at September 30, 2006, an
increase of $0.1 million from September 30, 2005, Estimates for obsolete and unsaleable inventory are determined by
management and updated quarterly. We had a reserve of $0.6 million at September 30, 2006 and September 30,2005 and a
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reserve of $0.3 million at September 30, 2004 against the amounts of inventory classified as current for inventory that
management has deemed obsolete and unsaleable.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals inventory consists primarily of trade products and samples, which totaled $1.3 million at
September 30, 2006, an increase of $0.4 million from September 30, 2005. These inventorics are warehoused at a third-party
distribution center located in Memphis, Tennessee. All distribution. inventory control, and regulatory reporting are
outsourced to this third party. Inventories are written-off if the product dating has expired or the inventory has no market
value.

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assers

Our intangible assets include goodwill, trademarks, product rights, non-compete agreements, technology rights, purchased
customer relationships, and patents, all of which are accounted for based on Financial Accounting Standard Statement

No. 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“FAS 142™). As described below, goodwill and intangible asscts that have
indefinite usefu] lives are not amortized but are tested at least annually for impairment or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Intangible assets with limited useful lives are amortized
using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from two to eighteen and one-half years. We
obtain a valuation of all intangibies purchased in any acquisition and undertake an annual impairment analysis. Goodwill is
tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount to the estimated fair value, in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS™) No. 142. Impairment exists if the carrying amount is less than its estimated fair
value, resulting in a write-down equal to the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated fair value. We have
made no impairment adjustments to recorded goodwill. OQur carrying value of goodwill at September 30, 2006 and 2005 was
$1.2 million. The values recorded for goodwill and other intangible asscts represent fair values calculated by accepted
valuation methods. Such valuations require critical estimates and assumptions derived from and which include., but are not
limited to: (i) information included in our business plan, (ii) estimated cash flows, (iit} discount rates, (iv) patent expiration
information, (vi) terms of license agreements, and (vii) expected timelines and costs to complete any in-process rescarch and
development projects to commercialize our products under development.

We capitalized goodwill in the amount of $0.9 million in connection with our acquisition of Analytica in April 2002, In
connection with the IMOR acquisition in December 2003, we initially capitalized goedwill in the amount of $0.6 million
based on the fair value of the acquired assets net of assumed liabilities. Following this acquisition, we discovered that the
assumed liabilitics were $0.3 million in excess of the amount represented to us in the acquisition agreement, We recorded an
impairment to goodwill in the amount of $0.3 million in the fiscal quarter in which the acquisition occurred.

Our major intangible assets with limited useful lives include product rights acquired in connection with our April 2003,
acquisition of TEAMM and our June 2003 acquisition of Biovest, as well as a variety ol patents, non-competition rights, and
purchased customer relationships. We recorded amortization of intangible assets of $2.2 million, $2.5 million, and $2.0
miilion in the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We amortize intangibles based on their expected
useful lives and look to a number of factors for such cstimations, ncluding the longevity of our license agreements and the
remaining life of patents on products currently being marketed. We recognized impairment losses of $3.3 million during the
year ended September 30, 2006 in connection with our Xedol and pain technology. See the explanation in Note |
“Impairment of long-lived assets”, in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. We have identified several

trademarks and technology rights as intangible assets with indefinite lives. These assets were valued at $1.8 million as of
September 30, 2006 and 2005,

Our carrying value of other intangible assets at September 30, 2006 and 2005 was $17.8 million and $21.2 million net of
accumulated amortization of $7.8 million and $5.6 million, respectively. We begin amortizing capitalized intangibles on their
date of acquisition, as further described in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in this form 10K.

Impairment Testing

Our goodwill impairment testing is calculated at the reporting unit level. Our annual impairment test has two steps, The first
identifies potential impairments by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying value. If the fair value
exceeds the carrying amount. goodwill is not impaired and the second step is not necessary. If the carrying value exceeds the
fair value, the second step calculates the possible impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill with the
carrying amount. If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than the carrying amount, a write-down is recorded.

The impairment test for the other intangible assets is performed by comparing the carrying amount of the intangible assets to
the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows.

In accordance with SFAS 144, which relates to impairment of long-lived assets other than goodwill, impairment exists if the
sum of the future undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the intangible asset or to its related group of
assets,
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We predominately use a discounted cash flow model derived from internal budgets in assessing fair valucs for our
impairment testing, Factors that could change the result of our irnpairment test include, but are not limited to, different
assumptions used to forecast future net sales, expenses, capital expenditures, and working capital requirements used in our
cash flow models. In addition. selection of a risk-adjusted discount rate on the estimated undiscounted cash flows is
susceptible to future changes in market conditions, and when unfavorable, can adversely affect our original estimates of fair
values. In the event that our management determines that the value of intangible assets have become impaired using this
approach, we will record an accounting charge for the amount of the impairment. We recognized impairment losses of $3.3
million during the year ended September 30, 2006 in connection with our Xodol and pain technology, in our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. We recognized impainment losses of $0.4 miltion during the year ended September 30,
2005 in connection with our SRL technology. We recognized impairment losses of $0.4 million during the year ended
September 30, 2004 in connection with our European subsidiary.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account far stock-based awards 10 employees and non-employees using the accounting provisions of SFAS 123 —
accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. which provides for the use of the fair value based method to determine
compensation for all arrangements where shares of stock or equity instruments are issued for compensation. Shares of
common and preferred stock issued in connection with acquisitions are also recorded at their estimated fair values. Fair
valucs of equity securities issued arc determined by management based upon independent valuations obtained by
manageiment.

In December 2004, the FASB revised its SFAS No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123R™). The revision establishes standards for the
accounting of transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services, particularly transactions
in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. The revised statement requires a public
entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-
date fair value of the award. That cost is recognized over the period during which the employee is required 1o provide service
in exchange for the award.

We use the Black-Scholes options-pricing model to determine the fair value of each option grant as of the date of grant for
expense incurred. [n applying the Black-Scholes options-pricing model during fiscal 2006, we assumed no dividend yicld,
risk-free interest rates ranging from 4.32% to 4.60%, expected option terms ranging from 6.0 to 6.5 years, a volatility factor
of 89.53%. share prices ranging from $5.05 to $8.00, and option exercise prices ranging from $6.90 to 38.00.

We recorded stock-based compensation of $1.2 million in the twelve months ended September 30, 2006, which was related
to employce and non-employee stock options. We recorded stock-based compensation of $0.4 millien in the year ended
September 30, 2005. In the year ended September 30, 2004, we recorded stock-based compensation of $3.3 million. In all
periods, stock-based compensation is classified in various categories.

Fair value determination of privately-held equity securities

The fair values of the common and preferred stock as well as the common and preferred stock underlying options and
warrants granted as part of acquisition purchase prices. financing transactions, or as compensation, issued during the period
from April 2002 through September 2004 were originally estimated by our board of directors, with input from management.
We did not obtain contemporaneous valuations until September 30, 2004. Subsequently, we reassessed the valuations of
these securities during the respective periods by obtaining a valuation.

Determining the fair value of stock requires making complex and subjective judgments. We use the income and market
approaches to estimate the value of the enterprise at cach date on which securities are issued or granted. The income approach
involves applying appropriate discount ratcs to estimated cash flows that are based on forecasts of revenue and costs. These
forccasts are based on management’s estimates of expected annual growth rates. There is inherent uncertainty in these
estimates. However, the assumptions underlying the estimates are consistent with our business pian. The risks associated with
achieving the forecasts were assessed in sclecting the appropriate discount rates, which ranged from 15% to 45%. If different
discount rates had been used, the valuations would have been different.

The enterprise value was then allocated to preferred and common shares taking into account the enterprise value available to
all stockholders and allocating that value among the various classes of stock based on the rights, privileges and preferences of
the respective classes.

The range of valucs is wide and somewhat varied by class of stock due to different distribution and liquidation preferences of
such classes of stock.
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Income Taxes

During the year ended September 30, 2006, we had a change in our consolidated group for income tax purposes. Since our
initial acquisition of Biovest, we had an ownership interest in excess of 80%. This allowed Biovest to join with us in filing a
consolidated federal income 1ax return. On December 7, 2005, our ownership interest in Biovest became less then 80%.
Effective as of this date, Biovest is now required to file a separate federal income tax return, Additionally, due to this
deconsolidation the net operating losses (NOLs) generated by Biovest during their time as a member of the consolidated
group are now NOLS to which Biovest is entitled. The provision for income taxes has been prepared as if we filed a
consolidated federal income tax return including Biovest.

We incurred net operating losses for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and consequently did not or will
not be required to pay federal or foreign income taxes, but we did pay nominal state taxes in several states where we have
operations. We have a federal net operating loss carryover of approximately $117.8 million as of September 30, 2006, which
expires through 2026. Of this amount, $39.1 million is attributable to Biovest and will no longer be available to offsct income
generated by the other members of the group.

Under Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, if an ownership change occurs with respect 10 a “loss corporation”
as defined, there are annual limitations on the amount of the net operating loss and other deductions which are available to us,
Due to the acquisition transactions in which we have engaged in recent years, we believe that the use of these net operating
losses will be significantly limited.

in addition, the utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards may be further limited if we experience a change in
ownership of more than 50% subsequent to last change in ownership of September 30, 2003. As a result of our offering, we
may experience another such ownership change. Accordingly, our net operating loss carryforward available to offset future
federal taxable income arising before such ownership changes may be further limited.

We currently have limitations on at least $30.0 million of the NOLS based upon ownership changes through September 30,
2003. Of those losses subject to the limitations, $11.3 million is expected to expire before the losses can be utilized. Of the
remaining amounts, the limitation is approximately $1.8 million per year through approximately the year ended

September 30, 2012. After that, the annual limitation will decrease to approximately $0.2 million through September 30,
2024, We have not determined whether there has been another ownership change since September 30, 2003, As such, we
may have further limitations that would limit the use of the NOLS even further.

Our ability to realize our deferred tax asscts depends on our future taxable income as well as the limitations on usage
discussed above. For financial reporting purposes, a deferred tax asset must be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized prior to its expiration. Because we believe
the realization of our deferred tax assets is uncertain, we have recorded a valuation allowance to fully offset them,

Additionally, since Biovest is no longer part of the consolidated group for income tax purposes, we could in the future have a
net loss but we or Biovest could be subject to tax on our income since the losses may not be available to offset the income of
the other entity.

Results of Operations
Year Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to the Year Ended September 30, 2005
Consolidated Results of Operations

Net Sales. Our net sales for the year ended Seplember 30, 2006 were $25.1 million, a decrease of $0.1 million, or 0.5%, from
the year ended September 30, 2005. This decrease in our consolidated net sales for the fiscal ended September 30, 2006,
reflected a $3.2 million decrease in net sales in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment. This was offset by an increase of $3.1
million in net sales in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment, primarily resulting from a $2.2 million increase
in net sales of our Biovest subsidiary, a $1.4 million increase in net sales of our Analytica International subsidiary, and a $0.5
million decrease in our compounding subsidiary due to the discontinuance of its operations.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales for the year ended September 30, 2006 was $8.4 million, or 33% of net sales, compared to
$8.2 million, or 33% of net sales. during the year ended September 30, 2005. This represented an increase of $0.2 million, or
2%, over the year ended September 30, 2005 attributable to the increase in corresponding sales,

Research and Development Expenses. Our research and development costs were $14.6 million in the year ended

September 30, 2006 an increase of $3.7 million, or 33%, over the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase included
$2.6 million in SinuNase development compared to $1.3 million in SinuNase development for the same period last year. Our
Biovest subsidiary research and development expenses increased $2.1 million during the year ended September 30, 2006 due
to increased emphasis on BiovaxID research and its phase 3 clinical trials from the same period last year. We expect that our
research and development costs will continue to increase as we continue our clinical trials for BiovaxiD and commence our
clinical trials for SinuNase,
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Sales and Marketing expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses were $14.0 million in the year ended September 30, 2006;
a decrease of $1.2 million, or 8%, over the year ended September 30, 2005. This decrease was primartly due to a reduction in
sales related personnel during FY 2006, This decreasc was offset in part due to higher costs of $0.3 million in our Specialty
Pharmaceutical segment due in part to expenses related to the launch of MD Turbo and Xodol 7.5/300 and 5.0/300.

General and Administrative Expenses. Our general and administrative expenses were $23.3 million in the year ended
September 30, 2006, an increase of $2.2 million, or 10%, over the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase was a result
of increased expenscs relating to the cost of maintaining our status as a public company.

Impairment Charges. We had impairment charges of $3.3 million in the year ended September 30, 2006 relating 1o our pain
technology. while in the year ended September 30, 2005 we had $0.4 million in impairment charges associated with the
acquisition of our subsidiary in Germany.

Interest Expense, net. In the twelve month periods ended September 30, 2006, our net interest expense was $6.5 million, an
increase of $2.7 million over the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase was due primarily to interest on our existing
Laurus term note, and increase to our existing Laurus revolver, and to the funding of our second Laurus term note, Pulaski
term note, and convertible debentures. Interest income in both years was nominal.

Loss on extinguishment of debt. In the year ended September 36, 2006 we incurred no loss on extinguishment of debt. We
incurred a $7.2 million loss on extinguishment of debt in the year ended September 30, 2005. This consisted of a loss on
extinguishment of the, related party. in the amount of $2.4 million as a result of the conversion of shareholder debt and
accrued interest into shares of our Series E preferred stock having an aggregate value in excess of the converted debt. The
loss also incurred a $4.8 million loss on extinguishment of debt as a result of changing the accounting for freestanding
warrants and embedded beneficial conversion option associated with the convertible notes from equity to recording these
derivatives as liabilities at lair vaiue at September 30, 20035,

Other income (expense). Other expense in the years ended September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 were nominal,

Derivative gain (loss). Derivative gain was $1.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 as compared to a loss of $1.1
million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increasc was related to the Laurus financing arrangement that
commenced in the year ended September 30, 2005 and results primarily from the decrease in our common stock pricc on
which the derivative liabilities are based.

Absarption of prior losses against minority interest. Absorption of prior losses against minority interest was $1.7 million in
the year ended September 30, 2006, an increase of $1.5 million, primarily due to the conversion of Biovest notes into equity
during 2006 against which previously absorbed Biovest losses could be recovered.

Preferred Stock Dividends. In the year ended September 30, 2006, we incurred dividend costs of $0.04 million, compared to
$0.6 million in the year ended September 30, 2005. The dividend cost in the year ended September 30, 2006 and

Scptember 30, 2005 consisted of dividends accrued on our Series E preferred stock, which was converted to common stock
early in fiscal 2006.

Segment Operating Results

For the Year ended September 30,

2006 2005
% of % of
Segment Segment
Amount Net Sales Amount Net Sales
Net Sales:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services-
BOVESE 1vevveseiuerrsoeeseeseessesessassasesressarses st ssbsarsanasesnssassnssnssnnensansssssssans $ 7,298,503 $ 5,077,305
AL OtheT BUSINCSS UNIS .oivieiieieimee e cteerttreaeeeeeeetesareeeemrresesmeseeenaneeeins 10,310,783 9,424,673
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and Services 17,609,286 14,501,978
Specialty Pharmaccuticals 7.448,762 10,692,804
Total Net Sales......c.ooovicriiirrieeee e $ 25.058,048 $ 25,194,782
Cost of Sales:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services-
BLOVESE -ttt iiececaeeeiesessasaesae et e sea e crae e e eease s et en e s en et $ 3889277 § 3,749.729
All other business units 2.050,633 2,196,953
Total Biopharmaccutical Products and Services.. ..o 5939910 35% 5,956,682 41%




Specialty PharmaceutiCals .........oooovooeeeeeoooeeeoeeeeeoeeeeeoeeeeeoo 2,445,393 32% 2,276,643
Total Cost 0f SAlES ..ot $ 8385303 § 8233325

Gross Margin:
Biopharmaccutical Products and Services-

21%

BHOVEST 1.ttt et et § 3,409,226 $ 1327576

All other BUSINess UMits «.......oo.oeeeooe 8,260,150 7,217,720
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and Services........oovoeeeveeovoooo, 11.669.376 65% 8,545,296 59%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals .......o.cvecooeieeoe oo 5,003,369 68% 8,416,161 79%
Total Gross Margin.........ocoeeeeoeomoiinieeeees oo oo ees e $ 16,672,745 $ 16,961,457
Research and Development Expenses:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services-

BIOVESE (oot $ 12,019,543 $ 9951,145

All other BUSIESS UNIES .ooovoveeovt et 2,541,568 956,717
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and Services. ... 14,561,111 82% 10,907,862 75%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ........cocoicivuivuoooioe oo cescoe oo — 0% — 0%
Total Research and Development EXPenses ..........oocoooovoovooooeooo $ 14,561,111 $ 10,907,862
Sales and Marketing Expenses:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services-

BEOVEST ...ttt $ 146,258 i 270,504

ALl other BUSINESS UNILS ..ot 320,946 1,588,285
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and SErvices..........o.ooevevvvesiorcorionsnn ) 467,204 3% 1,858,789 13%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ... 13,505,550 181% 13,305.278 124%
Total Sales and Marketing EXPenses ............cocoovvvvvveeeosoeooooooooe, $ 13,972,754 $ 15,164,067

Biopharmaceutical Producrs and Services

Net Sales. Net sales in our Biophannaceutical Products and Services segment for the year ended September 30, 2006,
including net sales to related parties, were $17.6 million, an increase of $3.1 million, or 21%, from the year ended
September 30, 2005. This increase was attributable primarily to an increase in net sales of $1.4 million in our Analytica

subsidiary and an increase of $2.2 million is sales of instrument hardware and disposables, offset by a decrease in net sales of

$0.5 million in our compounding activities.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment for the year ended September 30,
2006 was $5.9 million, or 34% of segment nci sales, compared to $6.0 million. or 41% of segment net sales, for the year

ended September 30, 2005. This increase was primarily due higher sales in our Analytica subsidiary and sales of instrument

hardware and disposables.

Research and Development Expenses. Our rescarch and development costs in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services

segment were $14.6 million in the year ended September 30, 2006; an increase of $3.7 million, or 33%, over the year ended

September 30, 2005. This increase included additional $2.4 million in expense relating to our BiovaxlD project, as well as
$1.3 million in SinuNase development expenses.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment

were $0.5 million in the year ended September 30, 2006; a decrease of $1.4 million, or 75%, over the year ended

September 30, 2005. This decrease was attributable to our shift in emphasis in the segment away from cell culture products

and services and more toward the development of BiovaxID.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Net Sales. Net sales in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment for the year ended September 30, 2006, including net sales to
related parties, were $7.4 million, a decrease of $3.2 million, or 30%, from the year ended September 30, 2005, This decrease
was primarily attributable to a decrease in Histex I/E sales due to the manufacturer’s voluntary recall of the product, and a
decision to increase reserves for chargebacks, rebates, and returns. This additional reserve is considered necessary due to the
potential for returns aitributable to the Histex I/E recall and the FDA’s guidance related to continued manufacturing of
products containing carbinoxamine of which this segment promotes three products containing this ingredient under the
Histex label.
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Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment for the year ended September 30, 2006 was $2.4
million. or 33% of net sales, compared to $2.3 million, or 21% of net sales, during the year ended September 30. 2005. The
increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales, during the twelve months ended September 30, 2006 was attributable to
a change of product sales mix due to the introduction of MD Turbo during the third fiscal quarter of 2006 which has a higher
cost of goods, less sales of the Histex line with a lower coast of sales, and the decision to increase our rescrves for
chargebacks, rebates, and returns,

Research and Development Expenses. There were no research and development expenses in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals
segment in either of the twelve-month periods ended September 30, 2006 or 2005.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment were $13.5
million in the year ended September 30, 2006; an increasc of $0.2 million, or 2%, over the year ended September 30, 2005.
This increase was primarily due to expenses related to the launch of MD Turbo in addition to the launch of Xodol 7.5/300
and 5.0/300.

Year Ended September 30, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended September 30, 2004
Consolidated Results of Operations

Net Sales. Our net sales for the year ended September 30, 2005 were $25.2 million, a decrease of $0.7 million, or 2.7%. from
the year cnded September 30, 2004. This decrease was attributable in part to an increase of $0.4 million in our reserve for
chargebacks, rebates and returns on our cough, cold, and allergy products, due to an increase in generic competition for
several of these products. The decrease in our consolidated net salcs for the year cnded September 30, 2005 reflected an
increasc of $0.5 million in net sales in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment, primarily resulting from an
increase in net sales of $0.9 million in our compounding activities.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales for the year ended September 30, 2005 was $8.2 million, or 32% of net sales, compared to
$2.8 million, or 34% of net sales, during the year ended September 30, 2004. This represented a decrease of $0.6 million, or
7%. over the year ended September 30, 2004. The decrease in cost of sales is primarily due to a decrease in net sales of 2.7%.
and improved margins in our Biovest Subsidiary.

Research and Development Expenses. Our research and development costs were $10.9 million in the year ended

September 30, 2005, an increase of $5.4 million, or 98%, over the year ended September 30, 2004, This increase included
$4.1 million of increased research and development activity associated with BiovaxtD, and $1.3 million attributed to our
SinuNase activity, Research and development costs incurred by our company in the year ended September 30, 2005 include
expenses of $1.3 million attributable to the BiovaxID project paid to Pharmaceutical Product Deveiopment, Inc., one of our
sharcholders, under an agreement with them. In the year ended September 30, 2004 we also paid $1.3 million under the PPD
agreement. We expect that our research and development costs will continue to increase as we continue our clinical trials for
Biovax]D and commence our anticipated clinical trials for SinuNase.

Sales and Marketing expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses were $15.2 million in the year ended September 30, 2005;
an increase of $3.1 million, or 26%, over the year ended September 30, 2004. This increase was due in part to an increase in
headcount in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment, which resulted in $2.0 million of increased costs relating to the hiring
of additional sales representatives in this segment. 1t was also due in part to $1.3 million of increased costs in our
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services scgment resulting from the addition of cight therapeutic specialists in this segment
who participate in our CRS educational programs. The increased costs were offset by a $0.4 million deercase in sales and
marketing expense in our Biopharmaceutical Product and Services segment resulting from our shift in emphasis in that
segment away from cell culture products and services and more toward the development of Biovax1D. We expect that our
sales and marketing expenses will continue to increase over the next 24 months upon the FDA approval and launch of
additional products in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment that are now in our development pipeline.

General and Administrative Expenses. Qur general and administrative expenses were $21.1 million in the year ended
September 30, 2005, an increase of $4.1 million, or 24%. over the year ended September 30, 2004. This increase was a result
of the growth of our corporate infrastructure to support an anticipated increase in our business activities. We expect that our
general and administrative expenses will continue to increase as we hire new personnel and build up our corporate
infrastructure necessary for the management of our business. The costs associated with being a public company may increase
our general and administrative cxpenses.

Impairment Charges. We had impairment charges of $0.4 million in the year ended September 30, 2005 relating to our
sustained release technology. while in the year ended September 30, 2004, we had $0.4 million in impairment charges
associated with the acquisition of our subsidiary in Germany.




Interest Expense, net. In the twelve month periods ended September 30, 2005, our net interest expense was $3.8 million, an
increase of $1.1 million over the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was due primarily to interest relating to the
Laurus funding in April 2005 and August 2005. Interest income in both years was nominal.

Other income (expense). In the year ended September 30, 2005, we recognized other expense of $2.4 million, compared to
nominal other income in the year ended September 30, 2004. The other expense in the year ended September 30, 2005
consisted of a loss on extinguishment of debt in the amount of $2.4 million as a result of the conversion of shareholder debt
and accrued interest into shares of our Series E preferred stock having an aggregate value in excess of the converted debt. In
addition, there was a $4.8 million loss on extinguishment of debt related to the Laurus financing in August 2005,

Derivative loss. Derivative loss was $1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 as compared to no derivative loss for
the year ended September 30, 2004, This increase was due to the Laurus financing arrangement that commenced in the
quarter ended June 30, 2005.

Preferred Stock Dividends. In the year ended September 30, 2005, we incurred dividend costs of $0.6 million, compared to
$0.4 million in the year ended September 30, 2004, The dividend cost in the year ended September 30, 2005 and
September 30, 2004 consisted of dividends accrued on our Serics E preferred stock.
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Segment Operating Results

For the Year ended Sepiember 30,

2004

% of
Segment
et Sales

Amount

% of
Segment
Net Sales

2005
Amount
Net Sales:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services-
BAOVESE 1tvettettieeeeeeeeieoeee e eesessestestestsesssaesresseaseaessseseesenteesanaananrannns $ 5,077,305
All O1her DUSINESS UNMIES .ooviiie i eeiee s v vinsresssesimrrrrreeeesremceaeeraameenes 9,424,673
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and Services......oooeccciiininnnn, 14,501,978
Specialty Pharmaceulicals .......c.oooiieirinarioir oo 10,692,804
TOlAE INEE SAIES. ..ot e st te e etar e st e ee e e e e e eebe s e iraa s e b anaeanns § 25,194,782
Coslt of Sales:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services-
BAOVEST 1ivieiiee et iirs sttt sb e s ms v e e e e s e et e e e et et et e e e $ 3,657,972
Al 0ther BUSTNESS UNILS (oviviiiiiiiiiriarirrae e e eseeeseeeeimesee e e sme e reseeeens 2,298,710
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and Services.......iinnecnns 5,856,682
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ... 2,276,643
TOLA] COSt O SALES ... oot e s s ee et e enae b et e seeeteensemees $ 8233325
Gross Margin:
Biopharmaccutical Products and Services-
B OVESE ittt e e e iae e et et aa s er e e re e e anaen $  1,419.333
All other BUSINESS UTHLS ... iiire e s esarvr e ee e e e e rerenee e 7,125,963
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and Services. e 8,545,296
Specialty PharmaceutiCals .o e ieeeniecriecrmre e 8,416,161
Total Gross Margin.........ccccoiiiiiiii s e $ 16,961,457
Research and Development Expensces:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services
BIOVEST 1.1 oot itiei i st erstesrs e e s s ees st e te e saaeeeae e sar et e eamea s esta s sbasias $ 9,631,609
All other business units 1,276,253
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and Serviees.....cviinieonvcnnnn. 10,907,862
Specialty Pharmaceulicals ... —
Total Research and Development EXpenscs ....ooovvvonvvmnimieciciecieiciees $ 10,907,862
Sales and Marketing Expenses:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services
BHOVESE Lo iit et eeot st ee oo e e eeett e e e v e seebe e s ebeasemereeeesttasastasneasntasarntes $ 270,504
All Other BUSINESS UMILS . vviievie e eeeeeeie ettt e e eeaans 1,588,285
Total Biopharmaceutical Products and SCrvices.......oovovoeeciincicinicnns 1,858,789
Spectalty Pharmaceuticals ......oovoco oo 13,305,278
Total Sales and Markceting EXPenses .....occvieionenicn v § 15,164,067

Biopharmaceutical Products and Services

Net Sales, Net sales in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment for the year ended September 30, 2005,

41%
21%

59%
79%

75%
0%

13%
124%

$ 5,705,544

8,290,987

13,996,531
11,939,089

$ 25,935,620

§ 5251109

1,223,111

6,474,220
2,339,370

3 8,813,590

3 454435
7,067,876
7,522.311
9,599,519

¥ 17,121,830

$ 5508961
10,197

5,519,158

$ 5,519,158

b 968,169
511,292

1,479,461

10,535,583

$ 12,015,044

including net sales to refated parties, were $14.5 million, a increase of $0.5 million, or 4%, from the year ended
September 30, 2004. This increase was attributable primarily to an increase in net sales of $0.9 million in our compounding

activities,

46%
20%

54%
80%

39%
0%

1%
88%

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment for the year ended September 30,
2005 was $6.0 million, or 41% of scgment net sales, compared to $6.5 million, or 46% of segment net sales, during the year

ended September 30, 2004, This decrease was primarily due to a $0.3 million write-off of inventory consisting of cell

production instruments and disposables in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment.
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Research and Development Expenses. Our research and development costs in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services
segment were $10.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2005, an increase of $5.4 million, or 98%, over the year ended
September 30, 2004, This increase included $4.1 million of increased research and development activity associated with
BiovaxID, and $1.3 million attributed to our SinuNase activity, Research and development costs incurred by our company in
the year ended September 30, 2005 include expenses of $1.3 million attributable to the BiovaxID project paid to
Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc., one of our sharcholders, under an agreement with them. In the year ended
September 30, 2004 we paid $1.3 million under the PPD agreement.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment
were $1.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2005; an increase of $0.4 million, or 26%, over the year ended

September 30, 2004. This increase was attributable to $1.1 million of increased costs resulting from the addition of 11
therapeutic specialists in this segment who participate in our CRS educational programs. The increased costs were offset by a
$0.7 million decrease in sales and marketing expense in this segment resulting trom our shift in emphasis from the segment’s
cell culture production business to the development of BiovaxID.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Net Sales. Net sales in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment for the year ended September 30, 2003, including net sales to
related parties, were $10.7 million, a decrease of $1.2 million, or 10%, from the year ended September 30, 2004. This
decrease was primarily attributable to a $1.0 million decrease in sales of our cough, cold and allergy products as a result of a
later-than-normal onset of flue season in calendar year 2004 and increased competition from generic products. The decrease
was also atributable to an increase of $3.8 million in charges for product returns, chargebacks and rebates on our cough,
cold, and allergy products, which had the effect of reducing net sales. The decrease in net sales during the year ended
September 30, 2005 was offset by an increase in sales of Respi~TANN, Xodol and our co-promotion revenues totaling $3.6
million.

Cosf of Safes. Our cost of sales in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 was $2.3
millien, or 21% of net sales, comparcd to $2.3 million, or 20% of net sales, during the year ended September 30, 2004, The
increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was attributable to an increase in our reserve for chargebacks and rebates
on our cough, cold, and allergy products and a large return of one of these products by a customer during the year ended
September 30, 2005, The effect of the changes in these reserves is reflected in our revenues.

Research and Development Expenses, There were no research and development expenses in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals
segment in either of the twelve-month periods ended September 30, 2003 or 2004.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment were $13.3
million in the year ended September 30, 2005; an increase of $2.8 million, or 26%, over the year ended September 30, 2004,
This increase was due to an increase in sales force headcount in the segment and increased marketin g efforts associated with
new products under co-promotion agreements. We expect that our sales and marketing expenses in this segment will continue
to increase over the next 24 months upon the FDA approval and launch of additional products that are now in our
development pipeline.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

Since our inception, we have funded our operations primarily through public and private placements of our capital stock, debt
financing, conversions of debt to equity, and financing transactions with our strategic partners. These transactions are
described throughout the following pages.

At September 30, 2006, our cash, cash equivalents and current and non-current restricted cash totals $25.3 million. Excluding
restricted cash, our cash and cash equivalents were $15.4 million at September 30, 2006 compared with $2.8 million at
September 30, 2005. Restricted cash for September 30, 2006 totals $9.9 million and includes $2.6 million which was released
in December 2006, $5.0 million to be used for a debt payment due in early January 2007 and the $2.3 million classified as
non-current cash held in escrow for payment of principal and interest coming due in 2008, There was no restricted cash as of
September 30, 2005, On November 2, 2005, we closed our Initial Public Offering (“TPO™) with gross and net proceeds of
$19.2 million and $14.7 million, respectively.

Based on our current operating plans, we expect that our existing capital resources and cash flow from operations, together
with borrowing availability under our lines of credit with Laurus and Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC. or Hopkins 1, will be
sufficient to fund our operations and development activities into the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007 assuming Biovest
receives its own financing. We are currently engaged in efforts to restructure certain of our existing indebtedness in order to
increase available funds on a near-term basis, and we also intend to seck additional financing through one or more public or
private equity offerings, additional debt financings, corporate collaborations or licensing transactions. We cannot be certain
that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at alt. If adequate funds are not available from the foregoing
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sources, we may consider additional strategic financing options, including sales of assets or business units (such as specialty
pharmaceuticals, market services or cell culture equipment) that are non-essential to the ongoing development or future
commercialization of SinuNase, or we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more of our
research or development programs or curtail some of our commercialization efforts.

Qur Biovest subsidiary is seeking financing through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, corporate
collaborations, or licensing transactions. As of December 1, 2006, an aggregate of $6.8 million in intercornpany demand
notes payable to us by Biovest were outstanding, representing funds advanced to Biovest in excess to our funding
commitment under the investment agreement plus intercompany obligations arising from the conversion of Biovest notes into
our common stock in accordance with the terms of such notes, After the completion of a funding transaction by Biovest, if
any, we do not anticipate that we will continue to finance Biovest's operations. In addition, upon the completion of such a
Biovest financing transaction, we anticipate that Biovest may repay some or all of the outstanding demand notes. Additional
sources of funding have not been established; however, additional financing is currently being sought from a number of
sources, including the sale of Biovest equity or debt securities, strategic collaborations, recognized rescarch funding
programs, as well as domestic and/or foreign licensing of Biovest’s vaccine. Biovest management is currently in the process
of exploring various financing alternatives, and has hired investment consultants to assist in these efforts.

Capital Raised through Equity Issuances

We have received funding from our initial public offering, private placements of our common and preferred stock and from
the exercise of warrants and options to purchase capital stock.

Debt Financing

We have also obtained debt financing from various sources to fund our operations.

Credit Facility with Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. On April 29, 2005, we entered into a credit facility with Laurus Master Fund,
Ltd., or Laurus. The Laurus credit facility originally provided for total loan availability of $10 million, consisting of a $5
million term loan and a revolving credit facility of up to $5 million. As of September 30, 2005, a total of $5.0 million in
principal amount was outstanding under the term loan portion of the credit facility, while $9.7 million in principal amount
was outstanding under the revolving loan pontion of the credit facility. On August 16, 2005, the credit facility was amended
to increase the term loan portion of the credit facility from $5.0 million to $10.0 million in principal amount.

The term loan portion of the Laurus credit facility is evidenced by an amended and restated secured convertible term note,
dated August 16, 2005, in the principal amount of $10 million. The revolving loan portion of the credit facility is evidenced
by an amended and restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note in the amount of $2.5 million and a secured
revolving note of up to $5 million, provided that the aggregate principal amount under both notes combined may not exceed
5 million. Both of the revolving loan notes are dated as of April 29, 2005. Under the revolving loan, we have the right to
borrow up to the sum of 85% of all of eligible accounts receivable and 50% of eligible inventory pledged to secure the loan
(with the eligibility criteria being set forth in the loan agreements), as well as 50% of the market value of publicly traded
securities pledged by the Francis E. O’ Donnell [rrevocable Trust #1. Our initial advance under the revolving loans was $5.0
million, of which $2.5 million was repaid in November 2005, Laurus waived our minimum collateral requirements under our
borrowing base for a period of 180 days after April 29, 2005, provided that we pay an applicable over-advance interest rate of
10% per annum on any over-advanced amount.

In connection with the Laurus credit facility, as amended. we issued to Laurus a warrant 10 purchase a number of shares of
our common stock that is equal to $8.0 million divided by our per share initial public offering price of $8.00. Based on the
initial public

offering price of $8.00 per share, a total of 1,000,000 shares of our common stock are subject to this warrant agreement at an
exercise price of $8.00 per share. The warrant will expire on the fifthanniversary of the date of warrant issuance. Laurus may
exercise the warrant with cash, in a cashless exercise pursuant to the surrender of the warrant or shares issuable under the
warrant, or any combination of the foregoing. We have the right to require Laurus to exercise this warrant so long as (i) there
is an effective current registration statement in place covering the resale of all of the shares of our common stock issuable to
Laurus pursuant to the credit facility and (ii) the average closing price of our common stock for the 20 consecutive trading
days immediately preceding the forced exercise date is greater than 140% of our per share initial public offering price. As a
part of the August 2005 amendment o the Laurus credit facility, we granted to Laurus an additional warrant to purchase up to
277.778 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $.001 per share, This additional warrant is immediately
exercisable and, except for the absence of a forced exercise provision, has substantially the same terms and conditions as the
other warrant granted to Laurus.

The principal and accrued but unpaid interest under each of the Laurus notes were convertible at the option of Laurus into
shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $6.95 per share. After the completion of our initial public
offering, the conversion price became an amount equal to 85% of the per share initial public offering price or $5.91 per share.
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However, these notes cannot be converted by Laurus until the earlicr of 270 days after the date of the note or 180 days after
our initial public offering. In connection with this credit facility. we entered into a registration rights agreement under which
we agreed to register for public resale all of the shares of our common stock into which the amended and restated secured
convertible term note, amended and restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note, and the warrants granted to
Laurus are convertible or exercisable. However, these registration rights do not apply to the sccured revolving note. At any
time after the cffectiveness of a registration staternent covering the resale of the shares into which these notes are convertible,
up to $2.5 million in principal amount under the secured revolving note may be transferred by Laurus to the amended and
restaled secured convertible minimum borrowing note, thereby making such portion of the principal amount subject to the
registration rights agreement.

The amended and restated secured convertible term note accrues interest at a rate of the greater of 10% per annum or prime
rate plus 4%. The amended and restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note and secured revolving note accrue
intercst at a rate equal to the greater of 7.75% per year or prime rate plus 2%. However, provided that (i) there is an effective
registration statement in place covering the resale of the shares into which the notes are convertible and (ii) the market price
of our common stock exceeds the conversion price by 25% for five consecutive trading days, then the interest rate will be
reduced by 2% for each 25% of increase in the market price of our common stock above the conversion price.

The amended and restated secured convertible term note is payable (hrough April 29, 2008 in equal monthly payments of
principal and interest of $0.3 million. The secured revolving note and amended and restated secured convertible minimum
borrowing note are due on April 29, 2008 with all accrued but unpaid interest payable monthly. We have the right to redeem
the notes (other than the secured revolving note) at any time at a redemption price equal to 130% of the principal amount of
the note plus all accrued but unpaid interest, subject 1o the right of Laurus to convert the note prior to a redemption. The
secured revolving note may be prepaid at any time without penalty. On any date on which a payment is due under the
amended and restated convertible term note, Laurus is required to convert the monthly payment amount into shares of
common stock so long as and to the extent that (i} there is an effective current registration statement in place covering the
resale of all of the shares of our common stock issuable to Laurus pursuant to the credit facility, (i) the average closing price
of our common stock for the five trading days immediately preceding the payment date is greater than 125% of the note
conversion price, and (iii) the number of shares of common stock to be issued as payment does not exceed 25% of the
aggregate doliar trading volume of our common stock during the 22 immediately preceding trading days. Under the amended
and restated secured convertible term note and amended and restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note, Laurus is
required to convert such note into a number of shares of our common stock equal to 20% of the aggregate trading volume of
our common stock during the five immediately trading days at the conversion price provided that (i) there is an effective
current registration statement in place covering the resaie of all for the shares of our common stock issuable to Laurus
pursuant to the credit facility. (ii) the average closing price of our common stock for the five trading days immediately
preceding the conversion date is greater than 125% of the note conversion price, and (iii) the amount of the conversion does
not exceed 20% of the aggregate dotlar trading volume of our common stock during the 20 immediately preceding trading
days.

The Laurus notes are secured by a first priority security interest in all of our tangible and intangible assets and our Analytica
subsidiary (including the stock of their respective subsidiaries). This security interest does not extend to any assets of our
Accentia Pharmaceuticals, Biovest. or IMOR subsidiaries. The notes are also secured by certain publicly traded securities
owned by the Francis E. O’Donnell Jr, [rrevocable Trust #1.

On December 29, 2005, Laurus agreed to make a loan to us in excess of the Formula Amount under the Security Agreement
daied April 29, 2005, This overadvance is in the amount of up to $2.5 million. In connection with this overadvance, we
granted Laurus a warrant to purchase up to 51,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share.

On July 31. 2006. we repaid our loan to Harbinger Mezzanine Partners and increased the principal amount outstanding under
our revolving credit line with Laurus to $7.5 million under an overadvance letter agreement with Laurus.

Credit Facility with Laurus Master Fund, Ltd., Biovest — On March 31, 2006, our majority-owned subsidiary, Biovest closed
a financing transaction (the “Transaction™) with Laurus, pursuant to which Laurus purchased from Biovest a secured
promissory note in the principal amount of $7,799,000 (the “Note™) and a warrant to purchase up to 18,087,889 shares of
Biovest’s common stock at an exercise price of $.01 per share (the “Warrant™). Since June 2003, we have been the primary
source of financing for Biovest; however. this Transaction with Laurus represents the initial financing by Biovest from
sources other than us,

The Note and Warrant were purchased pursuant to a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement between Biovest and Laurus {the
“Purchase Agreement”). The following describes certain material terms of the Biovest Transaction:

. Under the terms of the Note, $299,000 of the principal amount was disbursed at the closing of Laurus and other third
parties to cover closing fees and expenses relating to the transaction, and $7,500,000 of the principal amount was
deposited into & restricted bank account of Biovest (the “Restricted Account™) pursuant to a restricted account
agreement between Biovest and Laurus.

66




. Under otherwise agreed by Laurus is expected to authorize disbursements from the Restricted Account as the Company
is able 1o secure additional working capital financing, including without limitation threugh financings involving New
Market Tax Credits in the amounts and of the type more particularly described in the Transacuon documents. On
April 28, 2006, $2.5 million was released from the restricted account as part of a financing transaction involving New
Market Tax Credits.

. The Note will become due and payable on March 31, 2009, provided that any portion of the principal amount not
contained in the Restricted Account will be amortized in equal monthly payments of principal and interest beginning
on July 1, 2006 and ending on the maturity date. The initial monthly payment amount will be $9.060.61 per month,
provided that as amounts are released from the Restricied Account from time to time, such amounts will be added to
the amortizing portion of the Notc, and the monthly payments will increasc accordingly. The Note can be prepaid by
Biovest at any time without penalty.

. The outstanding principal amount of the Note will bear interest at a rate equal to the greater of the prime rate plus 2%
or 9% per annum, except that any portion of the principal amount contained in the Restricted Account will bear interest
at prime rate.

. Sixty-four percent (64%) of the Note is guaranteed by us. We also have a separate credit facility with Laurus pursuant
10 which we pledged our asscts as collateral, and pursuant to the Transaction documents, this pledge of collateral by us
will also secure our guarantee of the Note. Additionally, all of the asscts of Biovest, including its intellectual property
and the stock of Biovax, Inc. subsidiary, were pledged by Biovest as collateral of the Note and Obligations to Laurus.

. The Warrant provides that Laurus may purchase up to 18,087,889 shares of Biovest™s common stock at an exercise
price equal to $.01 per share. The Warrant will expire on March 31, 2021,

. In connection with the Transaction. Laurus and Biovest entered into a registration rights agreement providing that
Laurus will have the right 1o require Biovest to file a registration statement with the U.S. Sccurities and Exchange
Commission to register the resale of the shares issuable to Laurus pursuant to the exercise of the warrant. Biovest will
be required to file such registration statement within sixty (60) days after written demand by Laurus, provided that in
no event will Biovest be required (o file such registration statement carlier than ninety (90) days afier the closing of the
Transaction.

The note payable provides for monthly payment provisions, a variable interest feature that includes a cap of 9.0% and a
default put at 130% of face value for certain contingent events, including service defaults and changes in control, for the
amortizing portion of the arrangement; these features are not present for unreleased, non-amortizing balances. We evaluated
all terms and conditions of the amortizing notes for indications of embedded derivative financial instruments. While the
interest rate cap was found to be clearly and closely related to the host instrument, we determined that the default put did not
meet the clearly and closely related criteria as provided in FASB 133 Derivative Financial Instruments. Accordingly, upon
release of funds underlying the first tranche, we reclassified an amount of $306,750 which represents the estimated fair value
of the default put liability to derivative liability. Upon release of funds under the second tranche, we reclassified $122,700 to
derivative liability. The default liability is initially and subsequently carried at fair value with changes recorded in income.
Accordingly, $236,369 is recorded us a derivative liability in the accompanying balance sheet on September 30, 2006.

New Market Tax Credit Financing, On April 25, 2006, Biovest, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Biovax, Inc.
(“Biovax™) became the recipient of $3.0 million in net-funds under a qualified New Market Tax Credit Program (“NMTC”).
The NMTC was provided for in the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000 (the “Act™) and is intended to induce
investment capital in underserved and impoverished areas of the United States. The Act permits taxpayers (whether
companics or individuals) to claim credits against their Federal income taxes for up to 39% of qualified investments in
qualified, active low-income businesses or ventures. Biovax is a qualified. active low-income business and is eligible to
receive investment capital under the NMTC.

NMTC investments are made though Community Development Entities (“CDE™); such entities are qualified for this purpose
through the U.S. Department of the Treasury. The CDE investor in the Company’s financing arrangement is Telesis CDE I,
LLC, which was cstablished solely for this investment, Telesis CDE [I, LLC is managed and partiatly owned (0.01%) by
Telesis CDE Corporation, which is a private financial institution, The remaining equity interest in Telesis CDE I, LLC
(99.99%} is owned by Biovax Investments, LLC (the “Fund™), a company established solely for the purpose of facilitating
this NMTC financing arrangement. The Fund equity is owned 99.99% by US Bancorp and 0.01% by Telesis CDE
Corporation.

The fund was capitalized with $3.6 million equity from US Bancorp and a nominal equity investment by Telesis CDE
Corporation. In addition, Biovest and the Company. through a consolidated subsidiary, loaned $8.5 million to the Fund
pursuant to a 5.18%, annual rate, senior-secured. convertible note receivable, due in seven and onc-half years. The note is
convertible at the option of the Fund into shares of Biovest's common stock at a price based upon trading market prices of
Biovest's common stock near the maturity date in seven and onc-half years. These proceeds received by the Fund from the
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aforementioned financing transactions were used to make a contemporaneous 99.99% equity investment in Telesis CDE I,
LLC (812.0 million) and payment for management, legal and accounting fees ($0.1 million).

Telesis CDE 11, LLC, upon receipt of its equity funding, contemporaneously issued $11.5 million to Biovax for (a) a 1.0%
convertible promissory note payable, due in seven and one-half years, (b) warrants to purchase 1.2 million shares of
Biovest’s common stock over a period of nine-years at a fixed price of $9.00 and (c) warrants to purchase 0.2 million shares
of the Company’s comimon stock over a period of seven years at a fixed price of $1.30. The convertible promissory note is
convertible into common stock at the option of Telesis CDE I, LLC within 5 days of the maturity date at a conversion price
equaling the then trading market price of the common stock. The overall arrangement provides that in the event Telesis CDE
I1, LLC converts the note payable, the aforementioned note receivable is subject to immediate conversion at the same
conversion price.

Loans from Pulaski Bank. On September 5, 2006, Biovest closed a loan transaction with Pulaski Bank and Trust Company of
St. Louis, MO (“Pulaski™), pursuant to which Pulaski loaned the sum of $2 million to Biovest pursuant to an unsecured
Promissory Note (the “Note). The Note will become due and payable on January 5, 2007. The Note bears interest at prime
rate minus .05%. The Note is guaranteed by entities and individuals that are stockholders, officers or directors of Biovest
and/or Accentia. Biovest entered into Indemnification Agreements with each of the guarantors. As additional consideration,
Biovest issued Pulaski a warrant (the “Warrant™) to purchase 66,667 shares of Biovest Common Stock at an exercise price of
$1.10 per share through September 5, 2011. Under the terms of the Warrant, Pulaski was granted piggy-back registration
rights. The Note is an unsecured obligation of Biovest and is subordinated to Biovest’s outstanding loan to Laurus.

Loans from McKesson Corporation. On September 29, 2006, we made a $0.4 million payment to the McKesson Corporation
("McKesson™) to extinguish all remaining outstanding debt and accrued interest with the McKesson.

Bridge Loans from Hopkins Capital Group I, LLC. In June 2005, we borrowed an aggregate of $0.6 million in the form of a
bridge loan from The Hopkins Capital Group [, LLC, otherwise referred to as Hopkins I1. Dr. Francis E. O’Donnell, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, is the sole manager of Hopkins II, and several irrevocable trusts established by

Dr. O’Donnelt collectively constitute the largest equity owners of Hopkins II. The June 2005 bridge loan was evidenced by
an unsecured interest-free promissory note that was due on the earlier of August 31, 2005 or the closing of this offering. A
total of $0.6 million in principal was outstanding under this bridge loan as of June 30, 2005, and from July 1, 2005 through
August 16, 2005, additional advances in the amount of $3.6 million were made by Hopkins II under this loan.

In August 2005, we entered into a new bridge loan agreement with Hopkins I1 that provides for aggregate borrowing
availability of up to $7.5 million in principal amount at an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. In connection with this
agreement, the $4.2 million advanced under the previous Hopkins 11 bridge loan was converted into an obligation under the
new bridge loan agreement. The new bridge loan (including all accrued interest) will become due upon the earlier of

August 16, 2007 or the completion by our company of a debt or equity financing that results in proceeds of more than $35.0
million (net of underwriting discounts, commissions, or placement agent fees). We may prepay the bridge loan at any time
without penalty or premium. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on the date on which the bridge loan becomes due or on which
we desire (0 prepay the loan, we must not be in default under our credit facility with Laurus, and the remaining balance under
the Laurus credit facility at such time must be $2.5 million or less. If both of these conditions are not satisfied, then the bridge
loan will not become due and cannot be paid until the first day on which both of these conditions are satisfied.

Under the August 2005 bridge loan agreement with Hopkins 11, we have the unconditional right to borrow up to $5.0 million
in the aggregate upen ten days’ prior written notice to Hopkins 11, provided that our right to borrow any amounts in excess of
$5.0 million is conditioned upon us either being in default under our credit facility with Laurus or having less than $5.0
million cash on hand at the time of the advance. The loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate equal to 4.25% per annum,
simple interest. No payments of principal or interest are due until the maturity date of the loan. The Hopkins IT bridge loan is
subordinate to the Laurus credit facility and the McKesson loans, provided that we may repay the bridge loan prior to the full
satisfaction of our obligations to Laurus so long as the above-described conditions are satisfied. On May 15, 2006, Hopkins
Capital Group 11, LLC elected to convert $3.3 million of debt and accrued interest into 412,892 shares at $8.00 per share. The
outstanding balance on September 30, 2006 was $1.1 million.

Credit Facility with Southwest Bank of St. Louis fik/a Missouri State Bank. In addition to the Laurus credit facility, in
December 2005, we secured a $3.0 million subordinated revolving credit agreement with Southwest Bank of $t. Louis f'k/a
Missouri State Bank and Trust Company. In March of 2006 we were granted an incremental $1.0 million expansion of the
existing credit facility, bringing to total credit facility to $4.0 million. This loan bears interest at prime per annum and has a
January 2007 maturity date. The agreement is secured by the accounts receivable and inventory of our Accentia
Pharmaceuticals subsidiary. Additionaily, the agreement is secured by assets and personal guarantees of the Francis E.
O’Donnell Jr. lirevocable Trust #1, Steven Stogel and Dennis Ryl (directors and/or principal shareholders of our company).
As of September 30, 2006, the entire $4.0 million credit facility had been drawn and was outstanding.
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Our level of debt affects our operations in several impertant ways, including the following:

+  asignificant portion of our cash flow from operations is likely to be dedicated to the payment of the principal of
and interest on our indebtedness;

*  our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures or acquisitions
may be limited;

*  we may be unable to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all;

«  our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments; and

we may default on our obligations and the lenders may foreclose on their security interests that secure their loans.

Private Placement of Convertible Debentures

On September 29, 2006, we entered into definitive agreements relating to a private placement (the “Private
Placement™) of $25.0 million in principal amount of 8% Secured Convertible Debentures due September 29, 2010 (the
“Debentures™). The Private Placement resulted in gross proceeds of $23.5 million after placement agent fees of $1.5 million
but before other expenses associated with the transaction. To secure certain amounts payable by us to Laurus, our senior
lender, a total of $7.3 million of the proceeds from the Private Offering were placed into an escrow account and paid to
Laurus when certain amounts become due under our credit facility with Laurus,

The Debentures will be convertible at any time at the option of the holder into shares of our common stock at
$2.60 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, and the like. In the event that we issue or grant in the
future any rights to purchase any of our common stock, or other security convertible into our common stock, for an effective
per share price less than the conversion price then in effect, the conversion price of all unconverted Debentures will be
decreased to equal such lower price. The Debentures are also exchangeable for shares of common stock of Biovest held by us
at an exchange price of $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, and the like, at any time after
the earlier to occur of (i) September 29, 2007 or (ii) such time as the closing price of Biovest’s common stock exceeds $2.25
for cach of 20 consecutive trading days, subject to certain volume requirements and other conditions. In the event that
Biovest issues or prants in the future any rights to purchase any of Biovest’s common stock, or other sceurity convertible into
Biovest’s common stock, for a per share price less than the exchange price then in effect, the exchange price for ail
unconverted Debentures will be decreased to equal such lower price. The above-described adjustments to the conversion
price or exchange price for future stock issuances by us or Biovest will not apply to certain exempt issuances, including stock
issuances pursuant to employee stock option plans and strategic transactions.

Prior to maturity the Debentures will bear interest at 8% per annum with interest payable quarterly in arrears in
cash, or, at our option, in shares of our commeon stock. Qur ability to pay interest with shares of our common stock will be
subject to specified conditions, including the existence of an effective registration statement covering the resale of the shares
issued in payment of interest and certain minimum trading volumes in the stock to be issued. Shares delivered in payment of
interest will be valued at 90% of the average of the daily velume weighted average price of the shares for the 20 trading days
prior to the interest payment date. From and afler an event of default under the Debentures and for so long as the event of
default is continuing, the Debentures will bear default interest at a rate of 18% per annum.

Beginning October 1, 2007, and on the 1% of each month thereafter, we will be required to redeem 1/37% of the
face valuc of the Debentures in cash or, at our election, with shares of our common stock , shares of Biovest common stock
held by us , or a combination thereof. Our ability to pay interest with shares of our or Biovest common stock will be subject
to specified conditions, including the existence of an effective registration statement covering the resale of the shares issued
in payment of the redemption amount and certain minimum trading volumes in the stock to be issued. Any payment in
common stock of either us or Biovest may not exceed 15% of the total dollar traded volume in the applicable stock for the 20
trading days prior to the amortization payment. Any of our common stock or Biovest common stock delivered in satisfaction
of an amortization payment will be valued at the lesser of (i) the conversion price or the exchange price, as the case may be,
in effect at the time of the amortization payment or (i1} 90% of the average of the daily volume weighted average price of the
applicable shares for the 20 trading days prior to the amortization payment. Any unconverted Debentures will become due on
September 29, 2010.

[n the event that the average of the daily volume weighted average price of the shares of our common stock for
any 20 consecutive trading days exceeds $6.50, we will have the right, but not the obligation, to require the holders of the
Debentures to convert into our conunon stock at the conversion price then in effect up to 50% of any outstanding Debentures
(or 100% of any outstanding Debentures, in the event that the average of the daily volume weighted average price of the
shares of our common stock for any 20 consecutive trading days exceeds 300% of the then-effective conversion price). Such
a mandatory conversion is subject to specified conditions, including the existence of an effective registration statement
covering the resale of the sharcs inte which the Debentures are converted and certain minimum trading volumes in the stock
to be issued. The registration statement was declared effective on November 17, 2006.
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At any time beginning on the first anniversary of the effectiveness of a registration statement covering the resale
of the shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the Debentures, we may redeem, subjcct 1o specified
conditions and upon 20 trading days” written notice, any or all of the outstanding Debentures for a redemption price of
(i) cash of 120% of par plus accrued and unpaid interest on the Debentures to be redeemed and (i} warrants to subscribe for a
number of shares of our common stock equal to the principal amount of the Debentures to be redeemed, divided by the
conversion price then in ¢ffect. Such warrants will have an exercise price equal to the average of the daily volume weighted
average price for the shares of our commen stock for the 20 trading day period immediately preceding the redemption and a
term equal to the weighted average remaining term of the Debentures.

As a part of the Private Placement. we issued Warrants to the purchasers of the Debentures giving them the right
to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,136,201 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.75 per share, provided that
such Warrants may be alternatively exercised for shares of Biovest common stock held by us at an exercise price of $1.10 per
share. The warrant cxercise prices are subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, and the like. The Warrants may
not be exercised for any shares of Biovest commeon stock until the earlier to occur of (i) September 29, 2007 or (ii} such time
as the closing price of Biovest’s common stock exceeds $2.25 for each of 20 consecutive trading days, subject to certain
volume requirements and adjustments. In the event that we in the future issues or grants any rights to purchase any of our
common stock. or other security convertible into our common stock, for a per share price less than the exercise price then in
effect. the exercise price of the Warrant with respect to shares of our cominon stock will be reduced to equal such lower price
and the number of shares of our common stock for which the Warrant may be exercised will be increased so that the total
aggregate exercisce price remains constant. In the event that Biovest in the future issues or grants any rights to purchasc any of
Biovest's commen stock, or other security convertible into Biovest’s common stock, for a per share price less than the
exercise price then in effect, the exercise price of the Warrant with respect to shares of Biovest's common stock will be
reduced to equal such lower price. The foregeing adjustments to the exercise price for both our common stock and Biovest’s
commeon stock for future stock issues will not apply Lo certain exempt issuances, including issuances pursuant to employce
stock option plans and strategic transactions. In connection with the Private Placement, we also issued to the placement agent
for the transaction warrants to purchase an aggregate of 545,455 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.75 per
share. All of the Warrants (including the warrants granted to the Placement Agent) will expire on September 29, 201 1.

Unless and until shareholder approval of the Private Placement is obtained by us, the aggregate number of shares
of our Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of any of the Debentures and upon the exercisc of any of the Warrants is
limited to 19.99% of the number of shares of our common stock outstanding on the date of the closing of the Private
Placement. We agreed to include a proposal for sharcholder approval of the Private Placement at its next annual meeting of
shareholders. and sharcholders holding more than 50% of our common stock have entered into voling agreements agreeing to
vole their respective shares in favor of such proposal. In addition, the total number of shares of Biovest common stock held
by us that may be transferred to the investors in the Private Placement pursuant to the Debentures or Warrants may not
exceed 18,000,000 shares in the aggregate. Pursuant to a Pledge Agreement among us and all of the purchasers of the
Debentures, the Debentures are also secured by these 18,000,000 shares of Biovest common stock held by the Company.

In connection with the Private Placement, we and the purchasers of the Debentures entered into a Registration

Rights Agreement under which we are required, on or before November 1, 2006, 1o file a registration statement with the SEC
covering the resale of the shares of our common stock issuable pursuant to the Debentures and Warrants and to use its best
clforts to have the registration declared effective at the earliest date (but in no event later than 90 days afier filing if there is
no SEC review of the registration statement. or 120 days if there is an SEC review). We will be subject to certain monetary
penalties. as set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement, if the registration statement is not filed or does not become
cffective on a timely basis. Biovest and the purchasers of the Debentures have entered into a similar registration rights
agreement under which Biovest is required to file with the SEC and seck to have declared effective a registration statement
covering the resale of the shares of Biovest common stock transferable by us pursuant to the Debentures and Warrants.

Cash Resources

At September 30, 2006, we had cash and cash equivalents of $15.4 million compared with cash and cash equivalents of $2.8
million at September 30, 2005,

We have lines of credit with Hopkins Capital Group 1. LLC and with Laurus Master Funds, LP which subject to compliance
with borrowing requirements may represent additional cash resources aggregating approximately $3.0 million.

Cash Flows for the Year Ended September 30, 2006

For the year ended September 30, 2006, we used $28.6 million in cash to fund our operating activities. This consisted
primarily of a net loss of $43.4 million, derivative gain of $1.2 mitlion, absorption of prior losses against minority interest of
$1.7 millien, reduced by non-cash charges of approximately $0.2 million related 10 a loss on sale of assets, $0.7 million of
depreciation, $2.2 million in amortization of intangibles, $2.0 million accretion of debt discount, $1.2 million of stock-based
compensation and the issuance of common stock warrants of $0.1 million. We also had $3.3 million in impairment charges
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due to the sale of our pain preducts, valued in fiscal 2006, but sold subsequent to year end. This use of ¢ash was offset by an
increase in working capital of $8.0 million primarily due from $1.5 million accounts receivable, $2.5 million accounts
payable, and $3.8 million accrued expenses.

We had net cash flows from investing activities of $2.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2006, primarily consisting of
$5.2 million proceeds from restricted cash, offset by payments for product rights of $1.7 million, improvements to our
Worcester laboratory facility of $0.5 million, and computer equipment and office improvements of $0.1 million,

We had net cash flows from financing activities of $38.3 million in the year ended September 30, 2006, consisting of $22.5
million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock, $16.1 million in proceeds from convertible debentures, net funding
from lines of credit of $8.9 million, $3.0 million in net proceeds from a non-controlling investment in a variable interest
entity, $2.0 million from the proceeds of long-term debt, and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of 30.1 million. We
reduced our debt by $14.8 miilion, paid $0.4 miilion of stockholder notes, and paid related party payables of $0.2 million.

Our net working capital deficit at September 30, 2006 decreased from September 30, 2005 by $20.2 million to $20.5 million,
which was attributed largely to the issuance of common stock at our I[nitial Public Offering, net debt proceeds, proceeds form
restricted cash, and offset by our fiscal 2006 loss,

Funding Requirements

We expect to devote substantial resources to further our commercialization efforts for our late-stage clinical products in our
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services division, including regulatory approvals of SinuNase and BiovaxID, as well as the
commercial launch of Allernase. Our future funding requirements and our ability to raise additional capital will depend on
factors that include:

. the timing and amount of expense incurred to complete our clinical trials;

. the costs and timing of the regulatory process as we seck approval of our products in development,

. the advancement of our products in development;

. the timing, receipt and amounts of milestone payments lo our existing development pariners;

’ our ability to gencrate new refationships with industry partners whose business plans seek long-term commercialization
opportunities which allow for up-front deposits or advance payments in exchange for license agreements;

. the timing, receipt and amount of sales, if any, from our products in development in our Biopharmaceutical Products
and Services segment;

. the timing, receipt and amount of sales in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment,

. the cost of manufacturing (paid to third parties) of our licensed products, and the cost of marketing and sales activities
of those products;

. the continued willingness of our vendors to provide trade credit on historical terms;

. the costs of prosecuting, maintaining, and enforcing patent claims, if any claims are made;

. our ability to maintain existing collaborative relationships and establish new relationships as we advance our products

in development; and

. the receptivity of the financial market to biopharmaceutical companies.
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Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following chart summarizes our contractual payment obligations as of September 30, 2006. The long- and short-term
debt is reflected as liabilities on our balance sheet as of September 30, 2006. Operating leases are accrued and paid on a
monthly basis.

The other contractual obligations reflected in the table include obligations to purchase product candidate materials contingent
on the delivery of the materials and to fund various clinical trials contingent on the performance of services. These
obligations also include long-term obligations, including milestone payments that may arise under agreements that we may
lerminate prior to the milestone payments being due. The table excludes contingent royalty payments that we may be
obligated to pay in the future.

Payments Due by Peried

Less than One to Three to After
Oune Year Two Years Five Years Five Years Total
(in thousands)
Long-term debt = .......... e b et te e b areee b et e ant et e rte e b e eante s $ 12,243 $ 30646 § 8,880 § — $ 51,769
Cooperative rescarch and development agreements................ 45 — — — 45
Employment agreements .. .....ocvevevervvieneneirsnnsiesie s oee oo 3,209 4,399 221 — 7,829
LICENSE BETEEMENTS ...octitiitiiiriesres e arecr e r et ees s 2,262 3,512 1,346 — 7,120
$ 17,759 § 38,557 $§ 10447 § — § 66,763

(a) Includes interest on long-term debt. |

The above table does not include any additional amounts that we may be required to pay under license or distribution
agreements upon the achievement of scientific, regulatory, and commercial milestones that may become payable depending
on the progress of scientific development and regulatory approvals, including milestones such as the submissien of drug
approval applications to the FDA and approval of such applications. While we cannot predict when and if such events will
occur, depending on the successful achievement of such scientific, regulatory and commercial milestones, we may owe up o
$4.0 million and $6.0 million in fiscal years 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Under the Biologics Distribution Agreement that we entered into with McKesson Corporation in February 2004, as described
above, we granted McKesson exclusive distribution rights to our biologics products in exchange for a $3.0 million refundable
deposit. McKesson has the right to terminate this agreement at any time upon 180 days’ prior written notice, and upon such
termination, we will be required to refund the $3.0 million deposit to McKesson.

Under the September 2004 Royalty Stream Purchase Agreement with Pharmaceutical Products Development (“PPD"), as
described above, if PPD does not receive at least $2.5 million in royalties from SinuNase under this agreement by 2009, then
PPD has the right to terminate the agreement. In the event of such a termination, we will be required to refund the $2.5
million that PPD paid to us upon the execntion of the agreement in consideration of the future royalty rights granted to them
under the agreement.

Under the promissory note that we issued to Biovest in connection with our June 2003 investment agreement with Biovest, a
total of $15.0 million became payable to Biovest on various dates through June 2007. In August 2004, we entered inlo an
amendment of the investment agreement under which we agreed to use reasonable efforts to make advances to Biovest under
the note prior to the due date of the payments thereunder. We completed funding of our commitment under the note by
September 30, 2005, and have advanced approximately $4.7 million in additional funds subsequent to that date through
September 30, 2006.

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet financing arrangements,

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) has recently announced a new interpretation, FASB Interpretation
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), which will be effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Tncome Taxes”. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company has not determined the impact of the adoption of FIN
48 on its consolidated financial statements.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No, 157, “Fair Value
Measurements™ (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157 clarifies the definition of fair value, describes methods used to appropriately
measurc fair value, and expands fair value disclosure requirements. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The Company is currently in the process of assessing the impact that SFAS 157 will have on the
consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various market risks as a part of our operations, and we anticipate that this exposure will increase as
a result of our planned growth. 1n an effort to mitigate losses associated with these risks, we may at times enter into
derivative financial instruments, although we have not historically done so. These may take the form of forward sales
contracts, option contracts, foreign currency exchange contracts, and interest rate swaps. We do not, and do not intend
to, engage in the practice of trading derivative securities for profit.

Interest Rates

Some of our funds may be invested in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade securities. The value of these
securities will be subject to interest rate risk and could fall in value if interest rates rise, Due to the fact that we hold our
excess funds in cash equivalents, a 1% change in interest rates would not have a significant effect on the value of our
cash equivalents.

Foreign Exchange Rates

While we have operations in Germany, these operations are not significant to our overall financial results. Therefore,
we do not believe fluctuations in exchange rates would have a material impact on our financial results.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

The financial statements required by this item are located in Item 15 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Based on their evaluation, as of a date within 90 days prior to the date of the filing of this report, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have each concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective and sufficient to ensure that we record, process, summarize, and report
information required to be disclosed by us in our periodic reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act within the time
periods specified by the Securities and exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

Subsequent to the date of their evaluation, there have not been any significant changes in our internal controls or in other
factors to our knowledge that could significantly affect these controls, including any corrective action with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. The design of any system of controls and procedures is based in part upon
certain asswmptions about the likelihood of future events.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART 11
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The information in response to this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the information under the captions
“DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS” and “SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING
COMPLIANCE" presented in the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and used in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the
“Proxy Statement™).

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in response to this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the information under the captions
“"COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS”, “*DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS. “COMPENSATION
COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION”, “REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION BY
THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS” and “PERFORMANCE GRAPH presented in the
Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information in response to this item is located in ITEM 5 and is hereby incorporated by reference to the information
under the caption “SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT” presented
in the Proxy Statement,

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information in response to this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the information under the caption “CERTAIN
RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS” presented in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information under the caption “PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES” in the Proxy Statcment.

PARTIV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITSAND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

(1) Financial Statements

See Index to Financial Statements on page F-1,

(2) Supplemental Schedules

Schedule I - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (see last page of Consolidated Financial Statements)

All other schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present in amounts sufficient to
require submission of the schedule, or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits
Sec Item 15(b) below.
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{b) The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this annual report on Form 10-K:

Number Description of Document
2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 27, 2006, among Accentia, TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Victory Pharma, Inc.
31 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration

32

4.1
42

4.3

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorperated herein by reference).

Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2,

Form of Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
{Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005 {Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganization, dated January 8, 2003, between Accentia, TEAMM
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and TEAMM Principals (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form §-1
filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganization, dated April 3, 2002, between
Accentia, The Analytica Group, Ltd., and The Analytica Group, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration
Statement on Form S$-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Merger Agreement, dated September 30, 2003, between Accentia and IMOR Private Institute for Medical
Outcome Research GmbH (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Investors” Rights Agreement and Form of Agreement and Waiver, between Accentia and certain
investors named therein including The Joyce A. Aboussie Revocable Trust, Robert Carr, John P. Dubinsky,
Charles R. and Ann T. Eveker, D&G Strategic Investments, Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, Lee Kling,
McKesson Corporation, MOAB Investments, Gary Munson, DKR SoundShore Qasis Holding Fund, Ltd., John
D. Prosperi, Nicholas G. and Linda P. Rallo, Dennis Ryll, MRB&B, LLC, Allen Family Partnership, Alan
Hirmes, Harold Harris, Michael Fowler, Nathalie Rallo, Sophia Rallo, Tom MacDonald, Jim Varney, Jane
Mingey, Jeffrey Lynford, Steve Kirby, Jeff Tobolski, George Vomas, Mayo Foundation, David Sabino, Donald
L. Fergusen Living Trust, and Vincent Keating (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 {Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Investors’ Rights Agreement and Form of Agreement and Waiver, between Accentia and certain
investors named therein including Ronald E. Osman and Steve Stogel (filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).
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48 —

49 —

410 —

412 —

10.1 —

10.2% —

163 —

104 —

10.5% —

106 —

10.7% —

10.8" —

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated January 7, 2005, between Accentia and Pharmaceutical
Product Development, Inc., as amended July 8, 2005 and August 11, 2005 (including Assignment and Assumption
Agreement, dated June 28, 2005, among the Company, Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. and PPD
International Holdings, Inc.) (filed as Exhibit 4.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7)
filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Series E Convertibie Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 9, 2004, between Accentia and
Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on
February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Series E Convertible Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 15, 2004, between Accentia and Ronald E.
Osman (filed as Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration
No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Series E Subscription Agreement between Accentia and certain investors named therein, including The
Joyce A. Aboussie Revocable Trust, Robert Carr, John P. Dubinsky, Charles R. and Ann T. Eveker, D&G
Strategic Investments, Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, Lee Kling, McKesson Corporation, MOAB Investments,
Gary Munson, DKR SoundShore Oasis Holding Fund, Ltd., John D, Prosperi, Nicholas G. and Linda P. Ralio,
Dennis Ryll, MRB&B, LLC, Allen Family Partnership, Alan Hirmes, Harold Harris, Michael Fowler, Nathalie
Rallo, Sophia Rallo, Tom MacDenald, Jim Varney, Jane Mingey, Jeffrey Lynford, Steve Kirby, Jeff Tobolski,
George Vornas, Mayo Foundation, David Sabino, Donald L. Ferguson Living Trust, Steve Stogel, and Vincent
Keating (filed as Exhibit 4.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-| filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration
No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 3, 2002, between Accentia and Steven Arikian, M.D., John Doyle,
Julian Casciano, and Roman Casciano, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated March 30, 2005, and Amendment
No. 2, dated April 29, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 4.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No, 3)
filed on June 13, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

License Agreement, dated April 12, 2004, between Accentia and BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc., as
amended pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 7, 2004 and as further amended by those
certain letter agreements dated March 28, 2005 and April 25, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

License Agreement, dated February 10, 2004, between Accentia and Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and
Research (“MAYO"), as amended on December 12, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Amendment No. ) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorperated herein by
reference).

Exclusive Agreement, dated September 17, 2004, between Accentia and The Board of Trustees of the Leland
Stanford Junior University (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11,
2005 (Registration No, 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Investment Agreement, dated April 10, 2003, between Accentia and Biovest Intcrnational, Inc. (“Biovest™, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration
No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Distribution Agreement, dated March 12, 2004, between Accentia and Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc, (filed as Exhibit
10.6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Biologics Distribution Agreement, dated February 27, 2004, between Accentia and McKesson Corperation (filed
as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registration Statemnent on Form $-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Distribution and Supply Agreement, dated August 12, 2005, between Accentia and
Respirics, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on
September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Product Development Agreement, dated January 24, 2003, between Accentia and Respirics, Inc. (filed as Exhibit
10.11 to the Registration Statemnent on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.9 — Cooperative Research and Development Agreement, dated May 27, 1999, between Accentia and The National
Cancer Institute, as amended by that certain amendment dated April 6, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769)
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10™ — Supply Agreement, dated December 1, 2004, between Accentia and biosyn Arzeneimittel GmbH: (filed as
Exhibit 10.14 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.11 — First Amended and Restated Royalty Stream Purchase Agreement, dated August 11, 2005, between Accentia
and Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Registration Statement on Form $-
1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.12 — Office Lease, dated May 1, 2004, between Accentia, as Tenant, and AP Southeast Portfolio Partners, LP, as
Landlord (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form $S-1 filed on February 11, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated hercin by reference).

10.13 — Standard Form of Lease, dated April 1, 2004, between Accentia, as Tenant, and Pizzagalli Properties, LLC, as
Landlord, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on February 11,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorperated herein by reference).

10.14 — Agreement of Lease, dated December 1998, between Accentia, as Tenant, and We’re Associales Company, as
Landlord {filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11. 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.15 — Agreement of Lease, dated February 26, 2002, between Accentia, as Tenant, and Heartland Rental Properties,
LLC, as Landlord, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10,19 1o the Registration Statement on Form §-1 filed on
February |1, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.16 — Lease, dated March 22, 2005, between 460 Park Associates, as Landlord, and Accentia, as Tenant (filed as
Exhibit 10.20 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005
{Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.17 — Space Lease, dated October 26, 1995, between Accentia, as Tenant, and Worcester Business Development
Corporation, as Landlord, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.2] to the Registration Statement on Form 3-1
{Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.18 — Lease Agreement dated December 2003, between Accentia and IMOR Private Institute for Medical Qutcome
Research GmbH (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-1 filed on February 11, 2005
{Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.19% — 2003 Stock Option Plan. as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
February |1, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.20 — Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2005, between Accentia and Dr. Francis E. O’Donnell (filed as
Exhibit 10,24 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.21® — Employment Agreement, dated April 3, 2002, between Accentia and Dr. Steven R. Arikian, as amended (filed as
Exhibit 10.25 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 {Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005
{Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.22@ — Second Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated December 31, 2004, between Accentia
and Martin G. Baum, as amended on February 10, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 {(Amendment No. 2} filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

1023 —— Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2005, between Accentia and Alan M. Pearce (filed as Exhibit 10.27 10
the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).
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10.24* — Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2005, between Accentia and Samuel S. Duffey (filed as Exhibit 10.28
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to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by refercnce).

Form of Director and Officer Indemnity Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the Registration Statement on
Form 3-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Warrant for Purchase of Common Stock granted by Accentia to Common Stock Holder (filed as
Exhibit 10.32 to the Registration Statement on Form S-] filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769} and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.34 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1
filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

2005 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February
11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated March 30, 2004, between Missouri State Bank and Trust Company and
Accentia, as amended on March 22, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.36 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference}.

Accentia Assumption of Debt and Security Agreement, dated December 31, 2003, between Accentia and
McKesson Cerporation, as amended by the First Amendment, dated February 9, 2005, and as modified on May
31,2005, June 28, 2005, July 8, 2005, August 15, 2005, and September 13, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the
Registration Statement on Form -1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Forbearance Agreement, dated December 9, 2003, between Accentia, Accent Rx, Inc. and McKesson
Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated December 1, 1998, between Accentia and McKesson Corporation (filed as
Exhibit 10.41 10 the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Credit Agreement, dated November 30, 1998, between Accentia and McKesson Corporation (filed as Exhibit
10.42 to the Registration Statement on Form 3-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Security Agreement, dated November 30, 1998, between Accentia and McKesson Corporation (filed as Exhibit
10.43 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Lease Agreement, dated November 2004, between Accentia and Bay Villa Developers, Inc., as General Partner
for Hyde Park Plaza Associates, Lid. (filed as Exhibit 10.64 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Post Residential Rental Agreement, dated April 15, 2005, between Accentia and Post Apartment Homes, L.P.
(filed as Exhibit [0.65 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

—— Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated August 23, 2002, between Accentia and Kiel Laboratories (filed

as Exhibit 10.66 to the Registration Staternent on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated April 29, 2005, between Accentia and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd.
(“Laurus”) (filed as Exhibit 10.67 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May
16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Security Agreement dated April 29, 2005, between Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.68 to on Accentia’s
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Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

1041 — Amended and Restated Secured Convertible Term Note, dated April 29, 2003, of Accentia payable to Laurus
(filed as Exhibit 10.69 10 the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on 2005March 6, 2006 (Registration No.
333-132237) and incorporated by reference).

1042 — Amended and Restated Convertible Minimum Borrowing Note dated April 29, 2005, of Accentia and Laurus
{filed as Exhibit 10.0n2 10 Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.43 — Sccured Revolving Note dated April 29, 2005, of Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.on7 to Accentia’s
Form 10-Q) filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.44 — Stock Pledge Agreement and InterCompany Note Pledge Agreement, dated April 29, 2005, between Accentia
and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.72 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May
16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated hercin by reference).

10.45 — Amended and Restated Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated August 16, 2005, granted by Accentia to
Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.73 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on
September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorperated herein by reference).

10.46 — Subsidiary Guaranty, dated April 29, 2003, between Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.74 to the
Registration Statement on Form $-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769)
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.47 — Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 29, 2005, between Accentia and Laurus, as amended (filed as
Exhibit 10.75 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3. 2005
{Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

1048 — Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated February 13, 2006 between Accentia and Laurus
(filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.49 — Promissory Note, dated September 1, 2001, of Accentia payable to Dr. David DeFouw, as medified on January
18, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.77 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 {Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.50 — Unsecured Promissory Note, dated June 30, 2005, issued to The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC (ftled as Exhibit
10.79 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3} filed on June 13, 2005 (Registration No.
333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5} — Unsecured Promissory Note, dated June 30, 2003, issued to The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC (filed as Exhibit
10.80 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 6) filed on July 11, 2005 (Registration No.
333-122769) and incorporated hercin by reference).

| 10.52 — Omnibus Amendment and Consent, dated August 16, 2005, between Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.8]
| to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 {(Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 {Registration No.
333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.54 — Bridge Loan Agreement, dated August 16, 2005, between Accentia and The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC,
together with Bridge Loan Note, dated August 16, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.82 to the Registration Statement on
Form $-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated
hercin by reference).

10.55% — Option Agreement, dated December 6, 2005, between Accentia and MAYQ.

10.56® — Licensing and Distribution Agreement, dated November 22, 2003, between Accentia and Collegium
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

10.57 Promissory Note Dated September 30, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.85 to Accentia’s Form 10-K filed December 29,
2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

10,58 Agreement with Collegium Pharmaceutical, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.84 to Accentia’s Form 10-K filed
December 29, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.86 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on March 6, 2006
{Registration No. 333-132237} and incorporated by reference).

Trust Ratification dated February 13, 2006 between Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form
10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated hercin by reference).

MSB Subordination Agreement dated February 13, 2006 between Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Omnibus Amendment dated February 13, 2006 between Accentia and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to
Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Joinder Agreement dated February 13, 2006 between TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, inc. and Laurus (filed as Exhibit
10.8 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Revolving Credit Agreement dated December 30, 2005 between Accentia and Missouri State Bank (filed as
Exhibit 10.9 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Revolving Credit Note dated December 30, 2005 between Accentia and Missouri State Bank (filed as Exhibit
10.10 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Security Agreement dated December 30, 2005 betwcen Accentia and Missouri State Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.11
to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Continuing Contract of Guaranty dated December 30, 2005 between Accentia, Missouri State Bank, and other
parties (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference),

Security Agreement dated December 30, 2005 between TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Missouri State Bank
(filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated December 30, 2005 between The Francis E. O'Donnell, fr. Irrevocable Trust No. |
dated May 25, 1990 and Missouri State Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Securities Pledge and Security Agreement dated December 30, 2005 between Dennis L. Ryll and Missouri State
Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Incentive Option Grant under 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q
filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Non-Qualified Option Grant under 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Accentia’s Form
10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference),

Form of Non-Employec Directors Option Grant under 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.18% to
Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Warrant dated February 13, 2006 from Accentia to Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed
February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2005 and amended and restated as of April
25, 2006, among Laurus, Accentia, and each other Pledgor party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form
8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Demand Note, dated April 25, 2006, issued by Biovest to Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.2 10 Accentia’s Form §-K
filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

First Bank Subordination Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, by and among Laurus, First Bank (“First Bank™)
and Accentia (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Telesis Subordination Agrecment, dated as of April 25, 2006, by and among Laurus, Telesis CDE Two, LLC
(“Telesis CDE"), Biovax, Inc. (*Biovax™), Biovest and Accentia (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Accentia’s Form $-K
filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Promissory Note, dated April 25, 2006, issued by Biovax Investment LLC (“Leverage Fund”) to Biolender, LLC
(“Biolender™} (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, between Leverage Fund and Biolender (filed as Exhibit
10.6 to Accentia’s Form §-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Subordinated Convertible Promissory Neote, dated April 25, 2006, from Biovax to Telesis CDE (filed as Exhibit
10.7 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Convertible Loan Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, by and among Biovax, Telesis CDE and Biovest (filed as
Exhibit 10.8 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Guaranty, dated April 25, 2006, made by Frances E. O’Donnell, Jr., Kathleen M. O’Donnell (as Trustee of the
Frances E. O’ Donnell, Jr. Irrevocable Trust), Dennis L. Ryll, Ronald Osman, Steven J. Stogel, Donald L.
Ferguson, Donald L. Ferguson (as trustee of the Donald L. Ferguson Revocable Trust), Biovest and Accentia in
favor of U.S. Bancorp Community Investment Corporation (“USBCIC”) and Telesis CDE (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Biolender, LLC, dated April 25, 2006, between Biovest and Accentia
(filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Put Option Agreement dated April 25, 2006, between Biovax IC, Leverage Fund, USBCIC and Biolender (filed as
Exhibit 10.11 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Purchase Option Agreement dated April 25, 2006, between Biovax 1C, Leverage Fund, USBCIC and Biolender
{filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated April 23, 2006, issued by Biovest to Telesis CDE (filed as Exhibit 10.13
to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated April 25, 2006, issued by Accentia to Telesis CDE (filed as Exhibit 10.14
to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Tax Credit Reimbursement and Indemnity Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, between Biovax and USBCIC
(filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated April 18, 2006 between Biovest and Biovax (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Accentia’s
Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Vaccine Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2006, between Biovax and Biovest (filed as Exhibit
10.17 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, from Biovest to Dennis Ryll (filed as Exhibit 10.18 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, from Biovest to Steven Stogel (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, from Biovest to Donald Ferguson (filed as Exhibit 10.20
to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, from Biovest to Ronald Osman (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2006, from Biovest to Francis O’Donnell (filed as Exhibit 10.22
to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated March 31, 2006, between Biovest and Laurus {filed as Exhibit 10.1
to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed April 6, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Sccured Promissory Note, dated March 31, 2006, issued by Biovest to Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Accentia’s
Form &-K filed April 6, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Restricted Account Agreement, dated March 31, 2006, among Biovest, Laurus, and North Fork Bank (filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed April 6, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Restricted Account Letter Agreement, dated March 31, 2006, between Biovest and Laurus (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed April 6, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Stock Pledge Agreement, dated March 31, 2006, between Laurus and Accentia (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Accentia’s
Form 8-K filed April 6, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated May 15, 2006, among Accentia and the parties identified as “Buyers”
therein (“Securities Purchase Agreemem™) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 19, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated May 15, 2006, issued by Accentia pursuant to Securities
Purchase Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 19, 2006 and incorporated herein
by reference),

Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 15, 2006, among Accentia and Buyers under Securities Purchase
Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed May 19, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Overadvance Letter Agreement, dated July 13, 2006, among Laurus, Accentia, The Analytica Group, Inc., and
TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed July 19, 2006 and
incerporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Option Agreement, dated July 20, 2006, between Accentia and MAYO together with Form of
Common Stock Purchase Warrant. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed July 24, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment and Consent to Release between Biovest and Laurus dated August 2, 2006, {filed as Exhibit 10.8
to Accentia’s Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment to License Agreement, dated August 22, 2006, between Accentia and MAYO (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed August 28, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated August 22, 2006, between Accentia and MAYQ (filed as Exhibit 10.2
to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed August 28, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Side Letter dated August 22, 2006 between Accentia and MAYQ (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Accentia’s Form 8-K
filed August 28, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2006, among Accentia and each of the purchasers
named therein (including form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant and form of Secured Convertible
Debenture issued thereunder) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed October 2, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2006, among Accentia and each of the purchasers of
Secured Convertible Debentures. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed October 2, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2006, among Biovest, and each of the purchasers of
Secured Convertible Debentures (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed October 2, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Pledge Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2006, among Accentia, each of the purchasers of Secured
Convertible Debentures, and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Accentia’s
Form 8-K filed October 2, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2006, among Accentia, TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Tiber, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed October 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Amendment No. 1 to the First Amended and Restated Royalty Stream Purchase Agreement between Pharmaco
Investments, Inc., dated October 9, 2006 (fiied as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed October 19, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendatory and Supplemental Letter Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2006, among Accentia and Argent
Development Group, LLC.

Mutual Termination Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2006, among Accentia, TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and Acheron Development Group, LLC.

Mutual Termination Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2006, among Accentia, TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

82




10.120

10.121

10.122

10.123
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10.138

10.139

10.140

10.141

and Ryan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Fifth Amendment to Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2006, among Accentia, TEAMM
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Argent Development Group, LLC.

Sixth Amendment to Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2006, among Accentia, TEAMM
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Argent Developmemnt Group, LLC.

Trademark Assignment, dated as of October 27, 2006, among Accentia, TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Victory Pharma, Inc.

Termination of Agreement Letter, dated as of October 27, 2006, among Accentia and Mikart, Inc.

Settlement of Employment and Compensation Related Matters Between Accentia and Martin G. Baum dated
October 26, 2006.

Settlement of All Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary Employment and Compensation Related
Matters Between Accentia and Nicholas J. Leb dated October 31, 2006.

Royalty Agreement between Accentia and Biovest dated October 31, 2006.

Termination Agreement between Accentia and Biovest dated October 31, 20006,

Purchase Agreement of Biolender, LLC between Accentia and Biovest dated October 31, 2006.
Consent between Accentia and Laurus dated October 31, 2006.

Commoen Stock Purchase Warrant. dated October 31, 2006 from Accentia to Laurus,

License and Asset Purchase Agrecment, dated as of December 8, 2006, between Biovest and AutovaxID, Inc.
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

License Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, between Biovest and Autovax[D, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Secured Promissory Note, dated as of December &, 2006, made by Biovest for the benefit of Accentia {filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, between Leverage Fund and Biolender il (filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporaled herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated December 8, 2006, issued by AutovaxID Investment LLC (“Leverage Fund”} to Biolender
1. LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by
refercnce).

Subordinated Promissory Note, dated December 8, 2006. from AutovaxID to the CDE (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

QLICI Loan Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, by and among AutovaxID, the CDE and Biovest (filed as
Exhibit 10.7 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Subordination Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, by and among Laurus, St. Louis New Markets Tax
Credit Fund-1i, LLC (“CDE™), US Bancorp Community Investment Corporation (*USBCIC™), Autevax1D and
Biovest (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Second Lien Security Agreement, dated December 8, 2006, from AutovaxID to the CDE (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Tax Credit Reimbursement and Indemnity Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, between AutovaxID and
USBCIC (filed as Exhibit 10,10 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Guaranty, dated December 8, 2006, made by Hopkins Capital Group 11, LLC, Frances E. O’Donnell, Jr., Kathleen
M. O'Donnell (as Trustce of the Frances E. O’ Donnell. Ir. Irrevocable Trust), Dennis L. Ryll. Ronald E. Osman,
Alan M. Pearce, Steven R. Arikian, Steven 1. Stogel, Donald L. Ferguson, Donald L. Ferguson (as trustee of the
Donald L. Ferguson Revocable Trust)] and Biovest in favor of USBCIC and the CDE (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

83




10.142

10.143

10.144

10.145

10.146

10.147

10.148

10.149

10.150

10.151

10.152

10,153

10.154

10.155

10.156

10.157

i10.158

10.159

10.160

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Biolender I1, LLC, dated December 8, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to
Accentia’s Form §-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by refercnce).

Put Option Agreement dated December 8, 2006, between AutovaxID, Leverage Fund, USBCIC and Biolender 11
(filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Purchase Option Agreement dated December 8, 2006, between AwtovaxID, Leverage Fund, USBCIC and
Biolender 11 {filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, from Bjovest to Dennis Ryll (filed as Exhibit 16.15 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, from Biovest to Steven Stogel (filed as Exhibit 10.16
to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, from Riovest to Donald Ferguson (filed as Exhibit
10.17 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incerporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, from Biovest to Ronald Osman (filed as Exhibit
10.18 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, from Biovest to Francis O’ Donnell {filed as Exhibit
10.19 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indemnification Agreement, daled as of December §. 2006, from Biovest to Alan Pearce (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reflerence).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2006, from Biovest to Steven Arikian (filed as Exhibit
10.21 10 Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference}.

Subscription Agreement, dated December 8, 2006, between Biovest and SLDC {filed as Exhibit 10.27 to
Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated December 14, 2006 issued by Biovest to Dennis Ryil (filed as Exhibit
10.28 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated December 14, 2006 issued by Biovest o Steven Stogel (filed as Exhibit
10.29 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorpeorated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warran, dated December 14, 2006 issued by Biovest to Donald Ferguson (filed as
Exhibit 10.30 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Commen Stock Purchase Warrant, dated December 14, 2006 issued by Biovest to Ronald Osman (filed as
Exhibit 10.31 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated December 14, 2006 issued by Biovest to Hopkins Capital Group 11, LLC
(filed as Exhibit 10,32 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated December 14, 2006 issued by Biovest to Alan Pearce (filed as Exhibit
10.33 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated December 14, 2006 issued by Biovest to Steven Arikian (filed as
Exhibit 10.34 to Accentia’s Form 8-K filed December 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Notice to Exercise of Option to Terminate Services dated December 15, 2006 from Accentia to Pharmaco
Investments, Inc. and Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc.
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21 Subsidiaries of the Accentia (filed as Exhibit 21 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11,
2005 (Registration No, 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-15 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

312 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-15 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

12.1 Centification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003,

392 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant 1o 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003.

{a) Indicates management contract or compensatory plan

{(b)  Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request. Omitted information has been
filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors
Accentia Biopharmaceuticals. Inc. and Subsidiaries
Tampa, Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of operations, siockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for
the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements,
we have also audited the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15. These consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States of
America). Thosc standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal cantrol over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information contained therein,

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company incurred cumulative net losses of approximately $111.4 million
during the three years ended September 30, 2006, $34.2 million of which was attributable to its 72% owned subsidiary, and,
as of that date, had a working capital deficiency of approximately $20.5 million. These conditions raise substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are described in
Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments with respect to the possible future effects on the
recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of
this uncertainty.

/s/ AipMaN, Pisier & CoMPANY, P oA,

Tampa, Florida
December 20, 2006




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash, restricted, net of $2.3 million non-current portion

Accounts receivable:

Trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $366,309 and $345 458 at

September 2006 and 2005, respectively
Stockholder
Inventories
Inventory deposits
Unbilled receivables
Prepaid expenses and cther current assets

Total current assets

Cash, restricted, non-current
Goodwill
Other intangible assets:
Product rights
Non-compete agreements
Trademarks
Purchased customer relationships
Other intangible assets
Accumulated amortization

Total other intangible assets

Furniture, equipment and leaschold improvements, net
Deferred offering costs

Deferred finance costs

Other assets

(Continued)

F-2

September 30,

2006 2005
$ 15,391,799 $ 2,763,452
7,550,817 —
2,719,280 3,715,488
170,510 676,752
1,500,185 1,013,896
997,149 844,740
1,087,159 690,886
700,490 385,241
30,117,389 10,090,455
2,328,584 —
1,193,437 1,193,437
19,914,707 21,216,334
2,104,000 2,104,000
1,634,659 1,631,474
1,268,950 1,268,950
648,288 648,040
(7.783,227) (5,631,122)
17,787,377 21,237,676
1,535,978 1,775,819
821,573
4,109,028 1,497,012
64,449 64,621
$ 57,136,242 § 36,680,593




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(CONTINUED)
September 30,
2006 2005
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
CUITENE HABIIHES -1t it ier it ev ettt e ettt e et e st et et oo e e e e s e e e e e b et e e s e e
Current maturities of long-term debt: ...
REIBIEA PAFTY 1ovvevervcrcceemmisiiis st is et S s S — § 7414742
L1111 OSSO OO U UT OO P PP PSPPI PIOT R 3,652,152 8,888,847
(DR T L= ey eyt L1 SO OO OO OO UU PO PO PP IUT RSP SPR T RRTORS
RCIAIEA PAMEY ooovreece e sttt ems s d s s bbb S e 1,060,497 —
L0111 Y= (TRT U OT OO O DO FO OO OSUT U U PS P TOTO ST 13,925473 5,052,604
Accounts payable (including related party of $688,135 and $346,423 at Scptember 30, 2006
and 2005, TESPECHIVEIY) 1. vrreer et s s 8,016,559 5,519,626
Accrued expenses (including related party accrued interest of $-0- and $147,983 at
September 2006 and 2005, TESPECUIVELY) ......vimemmerieiie e s 10,160,946 6,917,721
UUMEATTIEM TEVEIIUES ..vevveeereeeeeeesenteeeeeeiesssabesiueeaabaesasenbesarsseseeeneseeneeaad s s eAE sy rATee e e ra b ne s gy pasme et eneas 1,395,098 863,096
Product development obligations {including $-0- and $200,000 due to related party at
September 30, 2006 and 2005, reSPeCtively) ... oot e — 500,000
Dividends payable ... et 479,452 575,447
Stockholder advances AN MOTES .vvevee i i reiireeeicreesee e e s et ras oo oemanesaeemte s e be ettt e s e saneene e — 350,000
CUSTOMCT QEPOSTES 1uvevrveecereeeeeuiass ettt d b nb et bR R s 1,025,404 828,050
DepoSits, FElAtEd PATLY ..ocovriie e iier it ar e T 3,000,000 3,000,000
DErivative THADILLY. ..oviirereiee oottt oot e et 5,870,088 10,802,825
Total CUTENT HADITIIES ...t irie i e s rs e oo b e sm s esa e s ebe b er s sb e st r s b s ress 50,585,669 50,712,958
Long-term debt, net of current MAtUITIES: . s
RELAEA PATEY 1. evv e ceeeeremee et essesab st ba st a8 — 3,661917
[0 11T SR U OO O OO OO T UP PO PP PP P T OP PRSP 27,021,205 4,902,666
Line of credit, Telated PATLY ..o i oo ab s e e s — 4,180,000
Other liabilities, Telated PATLY ..c.vr e eob b b s 2,370,200 2,574,865
TOAL HADIIIIES <. oeoetiieesteseeveetesescteer e e ees et eaesen s essrear e ererreesas s e m et e s e aea bbb g s ae s pe ety e enen 79,977,074 66,032,406
{Continued)
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(CONTINUED)

September 30,
2006 2005

Non-controlling interest in variable interest entities 3,600,000 —
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 17 and 18) — —
Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,006,000 shares authorized;

31,716,279 and 5,170,421 shares issued and outstanding at

September 30, 2006, and 2005, respectively 31,716 5,170
Preferred stock, Series A, $1.00 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized:

-0- and 2,937,013 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,

2006, and 2005 — 6,183,000
Preferred stock, Series B, $1.00 par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized:

-0- and 3,895,888 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,

2006, and 2005, respectively — 2399019
Preferred stock, Series C, $1.00 par value; 10,006,000 shares authorized;

-0- and 3,562,607 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,

2006, and 2003, respectively — 7,500,000
Preferred stock, Series D, $1.00 par value: 15,000,000 shares authorized,

-0- and 4,672,482 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,

2006 and 2003, respectively — 219,769
Preferred stock, Series E, $1.00 par value: 60,060,000 shares authorized:

-0- and 20,506,178 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,

2006 and 2005, respectively — 49,789,554
Additional paid-in capital 135,102,051 24,851,870
Accumulated deficit (161,574,599) (118,141,095)
Total stockholders’ deficit (26,440,832) (29,351,813)

5 57,136,242 % 36,680,593

See notes to consolidated financial staternents.
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ACCENTIA BHOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Sales
Products
Services
Related party, products
Related party, services

Total net sales
Cost of sales:
Products
Services

Tota! cost of sales (exclusive of amortization of acquired product

rights)
Gross margin
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Research and development, related party
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Royaltics
Impairment charges
Other operating expense, related party

Total operating expenses

Opcerating loss
Other income (cxpense):
Interest expense
[nterest expense, net, related party
Derivative gain (foss)
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss on extinguishment of debt. refated party
Absorption of prior losses against minority interest
Other income (cxpensc)

Loss from continuing opcrations before income taxes
Income tax benefit

Net loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operations:
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of 30 income tax expense
Loss from discontinued operations, net of $0 income tax benefit

Net loss
Constructive preferred stock dividend
Preferved stock dividends, other

Loss attributable to common steckholders

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and dituted

Per share amounts, basic and diluted:

Loss attributable to common stockholders per common share for:
Continuing operations and minority intercst
Discontinued operations

Loss attributable to commeon stockholders

Years Ending September 30,

2006 2005 04
§ 10163780 $ 10882685 § 10,528,756
12.414.319 10.460.011 11,632,343
2,479,949 3.766,586 3,774,521
— 85,500 —
25.058.048 25,194,782 25,935,620
4,660,605 4,479,395 3,852,880
3.724.698 3,753,930 4,960,710
$,385,303 8,233,325 8,813,590
16,672,745 16.961.457 17,122,030
14,009,947 9,588,677 4,210,058
551,164 1,319,185 1,309,100
13.972,754 15.164.067 12,015,044
23,299,945 21,086,188 17.021.219
1,460,268 1.717,291 387,130
3,309,932 357,931 359,445
- — 2,500,000
56,604,010 49.233.339 37.801,996
(39,931.265) (32,271,882) (20.679,966)
(5.411.804) (1.696.964) {1,240.906)
(1,092.388) (2.119,621) (1,485.616)
1,241,019 {1,140,732) —
— {4.808.,782) —
— (2.361,894) —
1,690,010 150,000 —
109,524 (56,384) 78,164
(43.394,904) (44.306,259) (23.328.324)
(43,394.904) {44,306,259) (23,328.324)
— — 1.618.400
— (430,110} (1,516,017)
(43,394 .904) (44,736.369) (23.225,941)
— (4.949,031) (4.906.612)
(40,739) (603,097) (355.367)
$  (43.435,643) 8 (50288497) S  (28.487,920)
27.890.825 5.147.222 4.875.683
$ (1.56) S (9.69) § (5.86)
(0.00) (0.08) 0.02
$ (1.56) $ 9.77) S (5.84)

See notes to conseclidated financial statements.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® DEFICIT
YEARS ENDED SEFPTEMBER 30, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

Balances,
September 30,

Issuance of
preferred
stock for

Exercise of
stock
options and
warrants.......

Series E
preferred
stock
dividends .....

Stock-based
compensation

Net loss for the

Common Stock Preferred Stock Additional
Paid-In Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

4875641 % 10,264 13,308,715 § 10,410,844 $ 12,063,693 $ (39,364368) § (16,879,567)

— — 7,500,000 15,789,000 — — 15,789,000
687 ] 3,947 8,309 (3,434) — 4,876
— — — — 4,906,612 (5,262,289) (355,677)
— — — — 3,707,132 — 3,707,132

_ _ _ — — (23,225,941) (23,225,941)

Balances.
September 30,
2004............

4,876,328 3 10,265 20,812,662 § 26,208,153 § 20,674,003 $ (67,.852,598) $ (20,960,177)

{Continued)
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® DEFICIT
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

Additional
Paid-In Accumulated
Comman Stock Preferred Stock Capital Delicit Total

Balances,
September 30,
2004

Issuances of
common
stock for
cash

Issuance of
preferred
stock for
cash

Issuance of
preferred
stock in
exchange
for debt

Issuance of
preferred
stock in
payment of
licensing
rights

Issuance of
warrants for
product
rights

Stock-based
compensation

Repurchase of
preferred
stock
warrants

Preferred stock
dividends

Net loss for the
year

Reclassification
of derivative
liability to
equity

Effect of 1-for-
2.1052
reverse
stock split

4,876,328 § 10,265 20,812,662 $ 26208153 § 20,674,003 $ (67,852,598} S (20.960,177)

294,093 611 — — 617.567 - 618,178
— — 12,220,367 25,754,535 (100,297) — 25,654,238
— — 1,401,105 5,311,954 — — 5,311,954
— — 1,140,034 6,657,600 — — 6,657,600
. — — — 200,000 — 200,000
— — — — 434,583 — 434,583
— — — — (2,000,000) — (2,000,000)
— — — — 4,949,031 (5.552,128) (603,097)

. _ _ —_ — (44,736,369)  (44.736,369)

— — — — 71.277 — 71,277

— (5.706) — — 3,706 — —

Balances,
September 30,
2005

5170421 § 5,170 35,574,168 $§ 63,932,242 § 24851870 § (118,141,095) § (29.351,813)

(Continued)
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

Balances, Scptember 30, 2005

Conversion of preferred shares to
common stock

Issuance of common stock for
cash at initial public offering,
net of offering costs

Issuance of common stock in
private cquity transaction, net
of offering costs

Issuance of common stock for
finance costs

Issuance of common stock for
cash — options excrcised

Issuance of common stock in
cashless warrant exercise

Issuance of common stock
warrants for deferred
financing costs

[ssuance of common stock
warrants for services

issuance of common stock
warrants for intangible asscts

Issuance of common stock upon
conversion of notes payable
and accrued interest

Series E Preferred Stock
dividends converted to
comumon stock

Other comprehensive income

Stock-based compensation

Preferred stock dividends

Reclassification of derivative
liability to equity

Net loss for the year

Balances, September 30, 2006

Additional
Paid-In Accumulated

Commaon Stock Preferred Stock Capital Deficit Total
5170421 85,170 35,574,168  $63.932,242 324851870  $(118,141,095) $(29,351,813)
20910908 200911 (35,574,168) (63,932,242) 63,911,331 — —_
2,400,000 2,400 — — 14,738,962 — 14,741,362
1,647,000 1,647 — — 7,719,073 — 7,720,720
100,060 100 — — 349,900 —_ 350,000
30.872 31 — — 74.387 — 74,418
533,253 533 — — (391} — 142
— — — — 5,714,967 — 5,714,967
— — — — 82.740 — 82,740
— — — — 793,306 — 793,306
906,734 907 — — 7.043,023 — 7,043,930
17,091 17 — — 136,717 — 136,734
— —_ -— — — 2,139 2,139
— — — — 1,218,813 —_ 1,218,813
— — — — — (40.739) (40,739)
— — — — 8,467,353 — 8,467,353
— — — — —_ (43,394,904) (43,394,904)
31,716.279 831,716 — — $135,102,051 $(161,574,599) $(26.440,832)

(Continued)
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ending September 30,

2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (43.394,904) $ (44,736,369) $ (23,225,941)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating

activities:
Loss on sale of property and equipment 179,940 — —
Depreciation 637,035 705,959 593,256
Amortization 2,152,105 2,448,916 1,969,779
Stock-based cost of disposal of business — — 2,581,600
Stock-based compensation 1,218,812 434,583 683,236
Accretion of debt discounts 1,963,348 1,181,952 —
Derivative (gain) loss (1,241,019) 1,140,732 —
Issuance of common stock warrants for services 82,740 — —
Absorption of prior losses against minority interest (1,690,010) — —
Other non-cash charges 2,141 (69,600) 95,350
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 7,170,676 —
Impairment charges 3,309,932 357,931 359,445
Default interest charged — — 748,149
Increase (decrease} in cash resulting from changes in:
Accounts receivable 1,502,450 (1,153,984) 1,625,247
Inventories {486,289) 265,159 293,356
Inventory deposits (152,409} {844,740} —
Unbilled receivables (396,273) (46,405) (474,891
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (315,249) 33,059 270,880
Other assets 961.816 (268,567) (13,078)
Accounts payable 2,496,933 (1,147,670) (1,650,915
Accrued expenses 3,788,415 1,996,248 (3.546,190)
Unearned revenues 532,002 (428,055} 405,497
Due o affiliate — — 113,981
Customer deposits 197,354 (32.048) 633,317
Net cash flows from operating activities (28,601,130) (32,992,223 (18,537,922)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash paid in business acquisition — — {600,874)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 13,804 — —
Release of restricted cash 5,248,183 — 1,270,823
Acquisition of furniture, equipment, and leasehold improvements (640,938) (478,743) (784,524)
Cash paid for acquisition of product rights and other intangibles (1,718,433) (4,600,593) (2,940,345)
Net cash flows from investing activities 2,902,616 (5,079,336) (3,054,9200
Cash flows from financing activities:
Deferred offering costs 821,573 (821,573 —
Payments on notes payable and long-term debt (14,765,226) (2,268,616) (5,250,004)
Proceeds from deposits and other liabiiities — — 5,500,000
Proceeds from issnance of common stock, net of offering cost of

$4,922917 22,462,082 618,178 1
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock — 25,654,178 15,793,874
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 74,418 — —
Proceeds from non-controlling investment in variable interest entity 3,000,000 — —
Payment of Series E preferred stock dividends — (316,311) (67,015)
Proceeds {payments) on related party loans (204,665) 4,180,000 2,943,299
Proceeds from convertible debentures (net of $7.3 million cash

restricted in 2006 for debt payments) 16,121,416 10,000,000 —
Proceeds from long-term debt 2,000,000 — 524,531
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Repayment of amounts due to stockholders

Proceeds from line of credit, net {net of $7.8 million cash restricted in
2006 for debt payments)

Issuance of common stock for finance costs

Proceeds from minority interest investment

Net cash flows from financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (net of $5.9 million cash
restricted at September 30, 2006)

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for:

Interest

Income taxes

{439,025) — (885,418)
8,906,288 1,734,217 3,272,587
350,000 — —
— 150,000 —
38,326,861 38,930,073 21,831,855
12,628,347 858,514 239,013
2,763,452 1,904,938 1,665,925
$ 15391,799 % 2,763,452 1,904,938
$ 2899562 $ 3,424,730 1,258,149




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:

2006:

2004:

The Company issued warrants valued at $0.8 million for preduct rights.

An aggregate of $0.04 million in preferred dividends were declared but unpaid during the year ended September 30,
2006.

The Company paid for $5.7 million of Capitalized Finance Costs through the issuance of common stock warrants.
The Company converted $7.0 million in debt into equity in 2006.
The Company incurred $0.2 million in debt to reduce accrued expenses in 2006.

The Company borrowed $7.8 miition from Laurus in 2006 which was restricted cash at the time of the transaction, $5.2
million of those restricted funds were released in 2006.

$7.3 million of the procceds from the Convertible Debenture financing are held in escrow and classified as restricted
cash.

During 2006. $8.5 million of derivative liabilities were reclassified to equity.

The Company issucd warrants valued at $0.2 million for product rights.

The Company issued 1.1 million shares of Series E preferred stock with a fair value of $6.7 million in exchange for
56.6 million in product rights and $0.1 million for general and administrative expenses.

The Company issued 743,685 shares of Serics E preferred stock and 657,420 shares of Series A preferred stock with a
fair value of $5.3 million in settlement of $2.9 million of related party debt obligations (including interest) resulting in
2 52.4 million loss on extinguishment of debt, related party.

The Company repurchased 1,424,074 warrants at a cost of $2.0 million, which was financed by a $2.0 million increase
in notes payable.

An aggregate of $0.3 million in preferred dividends were acerued but unpaid in 2005,

The Company repaid $3.0 million net advances from the Missouri State Bank line of credit with a portion of the Laurus
Master Fund Ltd. note proceeds.

In 2005, the Company recognized $4.0 miilion in discounts associated with warrants and beneficial conversion feature
for convertible feature for convertible debentures.

The Company assumed net liabilities aggregating $0.3 million in connection with its acquisition of its Germany
subsidiary.

[n connection with the acquisition of product rights of $4.4 million, the Company entered into short-term financing
arrangements with the seller for a like amount.

The Company has issued warrants to purchase 1,008,120 shares of Series A and D preferred stock with a fair value of
$0.8 million in connection with certain financing arrangements that have been accounted for as discounts on notes
payable.

An aggregate of $0.3 million in preferred dividends were accrued and were paid in December 2004,

In 2004, the Company recognized a constructive dividend in the amount of $4.9 million in connection with a beneficial
conversion feature for Series E preferred stock issued with warrants.

See notes to consolidated financial statemenits.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies
Business and organization

Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries, Analytica lnternational, Inc. (*Analytica™). TEAMM Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (“TEAMM™), Accent RX, Inc. ("AccentRx"), Biovest International, Inc. (“Biovest™), and Accentia Specialty Pharmacy
(“ASP”) (collectively referred to as the “Company™ or “Accentia™) is a vertically integrated specialty biopharmaceutical
company. The Company is focused on the development and commercialization of late-stage clinical products in the
therapeutic areas of respiratory disease and oncology. The Company has two product candidates entering or in Phase 3
clinical trials. The first product candidate, SinuNase™, has been developed as a novel application and formulation of a known
therapeutic to treat chronic rhinosinusitis. The second product candidate, BiovaxI[)'™, is a patient-specific cancer vaccine
focusing on the treatment of follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. BiovaxID} is currently in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial,

Segment veporting

The Company has operations in two business segments and, as a result, has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 131—Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (“FAS 1317). FAS 131
establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments in annual financial statements. Operating segments
are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and is evaluated on a
regular basis by the chief operating decision maker or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources to an
individual segment and in assessing performance of the segment. The Company has identified these segments based on the
nature of business conducted by each. They are described as follows:

The Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment (“Biopharmaceutical Segment”) of the Company is focused on the
research and development of contract cell production and biologic drug development and ownership, the production and
contract manufacturing of biologic drugs and products and provides pre-market rescarch, pharmacoeconomics and outcomes
analyses to its pharmaceutical and biophanmaceutical partners and clients. This segment’s two primary products are SinulNase
and BiovaxID. This scgment also develops, manufactures and markets patented cell culture systems and equipment to
pharmaceutical, diagnostic and biotechnology companies, as well as leading research institutions worldwide, and has
provided contract cell production services to those institutions. Additionally, this segment provides strategic services prior to
product launch, such as icchnology assessment and valuation, and formulary and sirategic reimbursement planning,

The Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment markets and sells pharmaceutical preducts that are developed primarily through
third-party development partners. This segment currently sells a portfolio of ten pharmaceutical products and has a pipeline
of additional products under development by our development partners. Currently marketed specialty pharmaceutical
products include Respi~TANN*, a prescription antitussive decongestant for temporary reiief of cough and nasal congestion,
and MD Turbo,

Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Accentia, its three wholly-owned subsidiaries,
its 72% owned subsidiary, and certain entities that qualify as variable interest entities where the Company or a consolidated
subsidiary are considered the primary beneficiary (see Variable interest entities, below). All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated. The Company does not currently recognize a minority interest in its 72% owned
subsidiary pursuant to Accounting Research Bulletin 51, Consolidated Financial Statements. Where losses applicable to the
minority interest in a subsidiary exceed the minority interest in the equity capital of the subsidiary, such excess and any
further losses applicable to the minority interest shall be charged against the majority interest, as there is no obligation of the
minority interest to make good such losses. However, if future minority equity or carnings do materialize, the majority
interest will be credited to the extent of such losses previously absorbed. The Company currently records any equity raised
through Biovest as Absorption of Prior Losses Against Minority Interest in the Other Income section on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. The Company will continue to record these transactions in this manner until losscs applicable to
Biovest no longer cxceed the minority interest in the equity capital of Biovest.

Variable interest entities

The Company evaluates all significant arrangements and relationships for indications of variable interest entities pursuant to
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation 46R, Consofidation of Variable Interest Entities As discussed in Note
19, during April 2006, the Company and Biovest entered into a financing arrangement that involved entities that met the
definition of variable interest entities. As a result, the Company was required to consolidate these entities and reflect the non-
controlling interest of $3,600,000 in its financial statements,
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Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly-liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Concentrations of credit risk and customer and vendor concentrations

Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk include cash and accounts receivable. The
Company places its cash in several high-quality financial institutions. Such amounts are insured by the FDIC up to $100,000
per institution.

Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms. The Company sells its products to
pharmaceutical distribution companies and retail organizations nationwide. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations of customers’ financial condition and does not require collateral,

Management reviews accounts receivable on a monthly basis to determine collectibility. Balances that are determined to be
uncollectible are written off to the allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts contains a general
accrual for estimated bad debts and had a balance of approximately $0.4 million and $0.3 million at September 30, 2006 and
2005 respectively, which management considers adequate; however actual write-offs may exceed the allowance.

As set forth below, two customers in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment accounted for approximately 36% of
consolidated net sales for the year ended September 30, 2006, One of these customers (McKesson) accounted for
approximately 6% of the Company’s trade accounts receivable balance as September 30, 2006. They are as follows:

Sales

CUSIOMNET Lottt cn sttt ses bbb et s et et ensea st e s et e s n e e e s araseansesemreenseseeneeeneansanrens 19%
CUSOMET 2 (MCIESSOM) ..ot et ettt ee ettt b e et eeee ettt e ettt e e et eesae s ereseans 17%
36%

As set forth below, one customers in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment accounted for approximately 25% of
consolidated net sales for the year ended September 30, 2003. This customer accounted for approximately 19% of the
Company’s trade receivables as of September 30, 2005.

Sales

CUSTOMIET Lo e e e e e e e eeeeveme et e st e es e e s e et e et s ee e e ee s e s eesemsnas s 25%
25%

As set forth below, three customers in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment accounted for approximately 40% of
consolidated net sales for the year ended September 30, 2004, They are as follows:

Sales
Customer 1 15%
Customer 2 (McKesson) 15%
Customer 3 10%

40%

One vendor in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment provided approximately 14% of total product purchases during the year
ended September 30, 2006.
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Two vendors in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment provided approximately 27% of total product purchases during the
year ended September 30, 2005. They are as follows:

Purchascs
Vendor | 16%
Vendor 2 11%
27%

Two vendors in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment provided approximately 21% of total product purchases during the
year ended September 30, 2004. They are as follows:

Purchases
Vendor | 11%
Vendor 2 10%
21%

Inventories

Inventories consist primartly of trade pharmaceutical products, supplies/parts used in instrumentation assembly and related
materials. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined using the first-in first-out (“FIFO™)
method. In evaluating whether inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, management considers such factors as the
amount of inventory on hand and in the distribution channel, estimated time required to sell such inventory, remaining shelf
life and current and cxpected market conditions, including levels of competition. As appropriate, a provision is recorded to
reduce inventories to their net realizable value.

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
determined using straighi-line and accelerated methods over the estimated useful lives of three to seven years for furniture
and equipment. Amortization of leasehold improvements is over the shorter of the improvements’ estimated economic lives
or the related lease terms.

Goodwill and intangible assers

[ntangible assets include trademarks, product rights, noncompete agreements, technology rights, purchased customer data
relationships and patents, and are accounted for based on Financial Accounting Standard Statement No. 142 Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets (“FAS 1427). In that regard, goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives are not
amortized but are tested at least annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the asset might be impaired. The Company has identified certain trademarks, and purchased customer relationships as
intangible assets with indefinite lives and, therefore, thesc assets are not amortized.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the estimated useful lives from the date of acquisition as follows:

Noncompete agreements 210 4 years

Customer relationships 10 years

Software 3 years

Patents 3 years

Product rights 4.5 to 20.5 years
F-15




Deferred finance cosis

Deferred finance costs will be amortized over the term of the related financial instmment. Approximate future amortization
of deferred finance costs:

Year ending September 30,

2007 S 1,568,000
2008 1,020,000
2009 612,000
2010 606,000
Thercafter 304,000

$ 4,110,000

Advertising expense

The Company cxpenscs the costs of advertising, which includes promotional expenses, as incurred. For the years ended
September 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, advertising expenses were nominal,

fncome taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the financial statements and income
tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future, based on enacted tax laws and
rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected 1o affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary 1o reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments, as defined in Financial Accounting Standard No. 107 Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments (FAS 107), consist of cash, cvidence of ownership in an entity and contracts that both (i) impose on one entity a
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial instrument to a sccond cntity, or to exchange other financial
instruments on potentially unfavorable terms with the second entity, and (ii} conveys to that second entity a contractual right
(a) to receive cash or another fimancial instrument from the first entity or (b) to exchange other financial instruments on
potentially favorable terms with the first entity, Accordingly, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, long-term debt, derivative financial instruments, and
convertible debentures.

The Company carries cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities at historical
costs; their respective estimated fair values approximate carrying values due o their current nature. The Company also
carrics notes payable and convertible debt, included in long-term debt, at historical cost; however, fair values of these debt
instruments arc cstimated for disclosure purposes based upon the present value of the estimated cash flows at market interest
rates applicable to similar instruments. The fair value of the Company’s historical cost debt instruments, including deposits
and other habilities, if recalculated based on current interest rates (1 1.25% current borrowing rate) would be approximately
$30.5 million or $3.3 million lower than the recorded amounts at September 30, 2006. The Company carries its convertible
debentures at fair value pursuant to Financial Accounting Standard No. 155 Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial
Instruments (FAS 155).

In February 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 155 (SFAS No. 155),
“Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments—An Amendment Of FASB Statements No. 133 and 1407, to simplify
and make more consistent the accoustting for certain financial instruments. Specifically, SFAS No. 155 amends SFAS

No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities™, to permit fair value re-measurement for any
hybrid financial instrument with an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation provided that the whole
instrument is accounted for on a fair value basis. Prior to fair value measurement, however, interests in securitized {inancial
assets must be evaluated to identify interests containing embedded derivatives requiring bifurcation. SFAS No. 155 applies to
all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15,
20006, with earlier application allowed.




The Company generally does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to cash-flow, market or foreign-
currency risks. However, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have entered into certain other financial instruments
and contracts, such as debt financing arrangements and freestanding warrants with features that are either (i) not afforded
equity classification, (ii) embody risks not clearly and closely related to host contracts, or (iii) may be net-cash settled by the
counterparty. Except as provided in FAS 155, these instruments are required to be carried as derivative liabilities, at fair
value, in our financial statements. In instances, where the Company ¢lects not to bifurcate embedded derivative features, the
entire hybrid instrument is carricd at fair value in the financial statements.

The Company estimates fair values of derivative financial instruments using various techniques (and combinations thereof)
that are considered to be consistent with the objective measuring fair values. In selecting the appropriate technique(s),
management considers, among other factors, the nature of the instrument, the market risks that it embodies and the expected
means of settlement. For less complex derivative instruments, such as free-standing warrants, the Company generally uscs
the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation technique because it embodies all of the requisite assumptions (including trading
volatility, estimated terms and risk free rates) necessary to fair value these instruments, For complex derivative instruments,
such as embedded conversion options, the Company generally uses the Flexible Monte Carlo valuation technique because it
embodies all of the requisite assumptions (including credit risk, interest-rate risk and exercise/conversion behaviors) that are
necessary to fair value these more complex instruments. For forward contracts that contingently requirc net-cash settlement
as the principal means of settlement, management projects and discounts future cash flows applying probability-weightage to
multiple possible outcomes. Estimating fair values of derivative financial instruments requires the development of significant
and subjective estimates that may, and are likely to, change over the duration of the instrument with related changes in
internal and external market factors. In addition. option-based techniques are highly volatile and sensitive to changes in the
Company’s trading market price which has high-historical volatility. Since derivative financial instruments are initially and
subsequently carried at fair values, the Company’s income will reflect the volatility in these estimate and assumption
changes.

The following tabular presentation reflects the components of derivative financial instruments on the Company’s balance
sheet at:

September 30,

2006 2005
Embedded derivative instruments that have been bifurcated $ — 3 4,707,955
Freestanding derivatives (principally warrants) 5,633,719 6,094,870
Default Put Liability 236,369 —

$ 5870,088 § 10,802,825

The following tabular presentation reflects the number of common shares into which the aforementioned derivatives are
indexed as of:

Scptember 3,
2006 2005
Common shares indexed:
Embedded derivative instrumments that have been bifurcated — 2,674,975
Freestanding derivatives (principally warrants) 3,136,201 1,018,797
Default Put Liability — —
3,136,201 3,693,772

Derivative income (expense) in the accompanying statement of operations is related to the individual derivatives as follows:

Year Ending September 340,

2006 2005 2004
Embedded derivative inStruments..............oocoeevereeiciiceecie e S 2,090,963 § (230,709 § —
Freestanding derivatives (warrants)... (1,043.025) (910,023) —
Default Put Liability ..o e 193,081 — —

$ 1241019 § (1,140732) § —
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Foreign enrrency translation

The Company translates the assets and liabilities of its non-U.S. functional currency subsidiary into dollars at the current
rates of exchange in effect at the end of each reporting period, while net sales and expenses are translated using the average
exchange rate. Foreign currency translation adjustments were nominal during the period and, as such, no adjustments have
been recognized in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Indefinite lived assets, including goodwill, are tested for impairment at least annually. The Company will perform this test
annually, effective as of the last day of the fourth fiscal quarter of each year. The Company recognized impairment losses of
$3.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.4 million during the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. See
Note 15 for further discussion,

Revenue recognition
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services

The Company recognizes revenue in its Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment as follows:

Services

Service revenue is generated primarily by fixed price contracts for cell culture preduction and consulting services. Such
revenue is recognized over the contract term based on the percentage of services cost incurred during the period compared to
the total estimated service cost to be incurred over the entire contract. The nature and scope of the Company’s contracls often
require the Company to make judgments and estimates in recognizing revenues. Estimates of total contract revenues and
costs are continuously monitored during the term of the contract, and recorded revenues and costs are subject to revision as
each contract progresses. Such revisions may result in increases or decreases to revenues and income and are reflected in the
consotidated financiat statements in the periods in which they are first identified. Each month the Company accumulates
costs on each contract and compares them to the total current estimated costs to determine the percentage of completion. The
Company then applies this percentage to the total contract value to determine the amount of revenue that can be recognized.
Each month the Company reviews the total current estimated cosis on each contract to determine if these estimates are still
accurate and. if necessary, the Company adjusts the total estimated costs for each contract. As the work progresses, the
Company might decide that original estimates were incorrect due 10, among other things, revisions in the scope of work, and
a contract modification might be negotiated with the customer to cover additional costs. I a contract modification is not
agreed to, the Company could bear the risk of cost overruns. Losses on contracts are recognized during the period in which
the loss first becomes probable and reasonably estimable. Retmbursements of contract-related costs are included in revenues.
An equivalent amount of these reimbursable costs is included in cost of sales. Because of the inherent uncertainties in
estimating costs, it is at lcast rcasonably possible that the estimates used will change within the near term.

Contract costs related to cell culture production include all direct material, subcontract and labor costs and those indirect
costs related to contract performance, such as indirect labor, insurance, supplies and tools. The Company believes that actual
cost incurred in contract cell production services is the best indicator of the performance of the contractual obligations,
because the costs relate primarily to the amount of labor incurred 10 perform such services. The deliverables inherent in each
of'the Company’s cell culture production contracts are not output driven, but rather driven by a pre-determined production
run. The duration of the Company’s cell culture production contracts range typically from 2 1o 14 months.

Revenuces stemming from consulting services are recognized based on the percentage of service cost incurred during the
period compared to the total estimated service cost to be incurred over the entire contract. Service costs relating to the
Company’s consuiting services consist primarily of internal labor expended in the fulfillment of the Company’s consulting
projects and, to a lesser extent, outsourced research services. Service costs on a specific project may also consist of a
combination of both internal labor and outsourced research service. The Company’s consulting projects are priced and
performed in phases, and the projects are managed by phase. As part of the contract bidding process, the Company develops
an estimate of the total number of hours of internal labor required to generate each phase of the customer deliverable (for
example, a manuscript or database), and the labor cost is then computed by multiplying the hours dedicated to cach phase by
a standard hourly labor rate. The Company also determines whether the Company needs services from an outside research or
data collection firm and includes those estimated outsourced costs in the Company’s total contract cost for the phase. At the
end of each month, the Company collects the cumulative total hours worked on each contract and applies a standard labor
cost rate to arrive at the total labor cost incurred to date. This amount is divided by the total estimated contract cost to arrive
at the percentage of completion, which is then applied to the total estimated contract revenues to determine the revenue to be
recognized through the end of the month. Accordingly, as hours are accumulated against a project and the related service
costs are incurred, the Company concurrently fulfills its contract obligations. The duration of the Company’s consulting
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service contracts range typically from | to 6 months. Certain other professional service revenues are recognized as the
services are performed.

The asset unbilled receivables represents revenue that is recognizable under the percentage of completion method due to the
performance of services for which billings have not been generated as of the balance sheet date. In general, amounts become
billable pursuant to contractual milestones or in accordance with predetermined payment schedules. Under the Company’s
consulting services contracts, the customer is required to pay for contract hours worked by the Company (based on the
standard hourly rate used to calculate the contract price) even if the customer cancels the contract and elects not to proceed to
completion of the project.

Pursuant to these contracts, the project is typically billed in two or three equal installments at different times over the
duration of the engagement, and therefore it is possible that contractually prescribed billing date will occur after the hours are
worked. There are instances in which the scope of a project may be reduced (or increased) after work has commenced. In
order to ensure proper revenue recognition, the Company evaluates changes in the scope of all open projects on a monthly
basis in order to determine whether the estimated revenues and costs at completion are valid in light of current contractual
and customer expectations. In cases in which the scope of a project is reduced, the Company documents the understanding
with its customer regarding the scope reduction as well as the revised total amounts biilable under the contract. The Company
then evaluates revenues recognized to date based on the old estimates; revises the total estimated contract costs, revenues,
and percentage of completion to date; and applies this revised percentage to the new estimated total contract revenue. If the
amount of revenue recognizable based on the new estimates is less than revenues recognized to date, the Company reverses
the excess revenue in the pertod of the change and accordingly reduces recetvables in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Uncarned revenues represent customer payments in excess of revenue earned under the percentage of completion method.
Such payments are made in accordance with predetermined payment schedules set forth in the contract.

Products

Net sales of instruments and disposables are recognized in the period in which the rewards of ownership have passed (at point
of shipment) to the buyer. The Company does not provide its customers with a right of return; however, deposits made by
customers must be returned to customers in the event of non-performance by the Company.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Revenue from product sales is recognized when all of the following occur: a purchase order is received from a customer; title
and risk of loss pass to the Company’s customer upon the receipt of the shipment of the merchandise under the terms of FOB
destination; prices and estimated sales provisions for product returns, sales rebates, payment discounts, chargebacks, and
other promotional allowances are reasonably determinable; and the customer’s payment ability has been reasonably assured.
An cstimate of three days from the time the product is shipped via common carrier until it reaches the customer is used for
purposes of determining FOB destination. Revenues in connection with co-promotion agreements are recognized based on
the terms of the agreements.

Concurrently with the recognition of revenue, the Company records estimated sales provisions for estimated product returns,
sales rebates, payment discounts, chargebacks, and other sales allowances. Estimates are established base upon consideration
of a variety of factors, including but not limited to, historical relationship to revenues, historical payment and return
experience, estimated customer inventory levels, customer rebate arrangements, and current contract sales terms with
wholesale and indirect customers.

Actual product returns, chargebacks and other sales allowances incurred are, however, dependent upon future events and may
be different than the Company’s estimates. The Company continually monitors the factors that influence sales allowance
estimates and makes adjustments to these provisions when management believes that actual product returns, chargebacks and
other sales allowances may differ from established allowances.

Provisions for these sales allowances are presented in the consolidated financial statements as reductions to net revenues and
included as current accrued expenses in the balance sheet. These allowances approximated $ 0.4 million, $0.2 million, $1.7
million as of September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

During 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. (“PPD™), a common
stockholder (see Note 10 for a full discussion of the agreement). In connection with the agreement, PPD acquired future
royalty rights in exchange for $2.5 million received by the Company in September 2004; however, the agreement provides
for return of the net purchase price ($2.5 million less royalty payments remitted to date) should royalties received by PPD
through December 2009 be less than $2.5 million. In addition, there are certain other default provisions that would require the
Company’s return of the net funds received. As a result, Accentia will recognize revenue in the future as royalties are
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remitted to PPD. As of September 30, 2006 and September 2003, the balance of this liability is $2.4 million, reflecting
royalties payable to PPD accrued as of the date (included in other liabilities, related party on the balance sheets).

Cosr of sales

Cost of sales excludes amortization of acquired product rights of $2.2 million, $1.5 million, $0.4 million in 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively.

Shipping and handling costs

Shipping and handling costs are included as a component of cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

Research and development

The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred. Such costs include payroll and related costs, facility
costs, consulting and professional fees, equipment rental and maintenance, lab supplies, and certain other indirect cost
allocations that are directly related to research and development activities. The Company incurred total research and
development expenses of $14.6 million in the year ended September 30, 2006, $10.9 million in the year ended September 30,
2005 and $5.5 million in the year ended September 30, 2004,

Stock-based compensation

The Company has adopted the accounting provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R—
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ("FAS 123R™), which requires the use of the fair-value based method to
determine compensation for all arrangements under which employees and others receive shares of stock or equity instruments
{warrants and options). The Company uses the Black-Scholes options-pricing medel to determine the fair value of each
option grant.

In applying the Black-Scholes options-pricing model, assumptions are as follows:

2006 Range of values Weighted Avg,
Dividend yield ..o et %0 $ 0
Expected volatility.............. 89.53% 89.53%
Risk free interest rate 4.32 - 4.60% 4.50%
EXPECtEd lIfC ..ovneceiicc it 6.0 to 6.50 years 6.25 years

2005 Range of values Weighted Avg.
DivIdend Y1l c.oocoiiiiiii ettt e e e $0 $ 0
Expected volatility ..o, 0% to 50% 12.83%
Risk free interest rate...............ccocoene 2.05 - 3.53% 2.38%
Expected e ..ot 0.510 5 years 0.71 years

2004: Range of values Weighted Avg.
Dividend yield ... 50 3 0
Expected volatility ..o, 0% to 45.174% 1.35%
Risk free INtErest TAEE ... ovivvvivisc i ernern et 1.62 — 3.93%, 2.48%
EXpected L oottt 110 5 years 1.96 years

Net loss per common share

The Company had net losses for all periods presented in which potential commeon shares were in existence. Diluted loss per
share assumes conversion of all potentially dilutive outstanding commeon stock options and warrants. Potential common
shares outstanding are excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share if their effect is anti-dilutive. As such, dilutive

lass per share is the same as basic loss per share for all periods presented as the effect of all options outstanding is anti- F
dilutive.
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The following table sets forth the calculations of basic and diluted net loss per share:

September 39,

2006 2005 2004
R LTS T (o) OSSO U R USSRV SPRTOTPRRR
Net loss applicable to common stockholders ..., $ (43,435,643) $ (50,288497) § (28.487,920)
DCIOIMUNALOT, ... iceirecteeiesteeieeeteaeeetessaessessaesimarnseene e e eusremesaseneenans
For basic loss per share—weighted average shares ... 27,890,825 5,147,222 4.875,683
Effect of dilutive SCOUMTIIES ...ovivvivrerieee e e es s — — —
Weighted average shares for dilutive loss per share ... 27,890,825 5,147.222 4,875,683
Net loss per share applicable to common stockholders, basic and diluted ..... $ (1.56) % 9.77) % (5.84)
EPS effect of preferred dividends.......oovoveoceveiiiniicii e $ 0.00 $ (1.08) § (2.16)

The effect of common stock equivalents and common shares indexed to our convertible debt securities are not considered in
the calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect would be anti-dilutive. They are as follows:

2006 2008 2004
Options and warrants 10 purchase common SI0CK . ......cocoi, 8,302,147 3,027,933 1,933,158
Convertible debt INSEUMICTIL . cvirvriivis e eeeeeereeeeeree e e ren e seme e e e eeceesisa s 11,263,867 1,790,882 —
Preferred stock convertible 1o commOn S1OCK ..o vcvece v e — 35,574,154 20,812,662
Preferred stock options and warrants convertible to preferred which is then
CONVETHIDIC 10 COMITION. ....v.eeiieeeeeeiemee oot et sb e bt s et e st e s e nenens — 1,211,502 15,307,015

Reclassification:

Certain amounts in the 2005 and 2004 financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the 2006 presentation.

Deferred offering costs:

Deferred offering costs at September 30, 2005 represent legal, accounting and other costs associated with the initial public
offering that were charged to additional paid-in capital in fiscal 2006 upon completion of the initial public offering.

Recent qceounting pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™} has recently announced a new interpretation, FASB Interpretation
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes™ (FIN 48}, which will be effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainly in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with FASE Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes™. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in 2 tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties.
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company has not determined the impact of the adoption of FIN
48 on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“"SFAS™) No. 157, “Fair Value
Mecasurements™ (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157 clarifies the delinition of fair value, describes methods used to appropriately
measure fair value, and

expands fair value disclosure requirements. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007, The Company is currently in the process of assessing the impact that SFAS 157 will have on the consolidated financial
statements.

2, Liquidity and management’s plans

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes Accentia will realize its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. As reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements, the Company incurred net losses of $111.3 million and used cash from operations of $79.8 million during the
three years ended September 30, 2006, and has a working capital deficit of $20.5 million at September 30, 2006. The
Company projects operating deficits for fiscal 2007 before consideration of potential funding sources for this same period.
These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Funding to date of the
Company's working capital requirements has resulted principally from the issuance of comman and preferred stock and
proceeds from debt.
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A breakdown of the losses between Accentia and Biovest is as follows:

(in millions)

2006 2005 2004
Accentia $ 297 § 332 %5 142
BIOVEST 1ottt ettt eeee e r e $ 137 %8 115 % 9.0
ConSOlIAAtRd ...ttt e $ 434 % 447 § 232

Since the Company's inception, operations have been funded primarily through its Initial Public Offering (“*1PO”) which
closed on November 2. 2005, with gross and net proceeds of $19.2 million and $£4.7 million, private placements of capital
stock, debt financing, conversions of debt to equity, and financing transactions with strategic partners. In May 2006 we
closed a private placement of common stock with 19 institutional investors with gross and net proceeds of $8.2 million and
$7.7 million respectively. In September 2006, we closed a private placement of convertible and exchangeable debentures
with 10 institutional investors with gross and net proceeds of $25.0 million and $23.5 million respectively. These transactions
are described throughout the footnotes,

The Company has $3.3 million available under the Hopkins Il line of credit.

While the Conpany is currently engaged in efforts to restructure certain existing indebiedness (including $4.0 million line of
credit and $2.0 million term note obligations due in January 2007 — see Notes 9 and 10) in order to increase available funds
on a near-term basis, and they also intend to seek additional financing during the next six months through one or more public
or private equity offerings, additional debt financings, corporate coliaborations, or licensing transactions, the Company
cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequaie funds are not available,
the Company may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more of the rescarch or development
programs or commercialization cfforts,

The Company further anticipates that Biovest will seek additional financing during the next six months through public and
private cquity offerings, debl financings, corporate collaborations, or licensing transactions. As of December 1, 2006, an
aggregatc of $6.8 million intercompany demand notes payable to Accentia by Biovest are outstanding, representing funds
advanced to Biovest in excess of the funding commitment under the investment agreement plus intercompany obligations
arising from the conversion of Biovest notes into common stock of Accentia in accordance with the terms of such notes.
Management does not anticipate that Accentia will continue to finance Biovest’s operations. In addition, upon the completion
of a Biovest financing transaction, Management anticipates that Biovest may repay some or all of the outstanding demand
notes.

There are currently no commitments in piace for these debt and equity transactions, nor can assurances be given that such
financing will be available. While management is confident that they will raise the capital necessary to fund operations and
achieve successful commercialization of the products under development, there can be no assurances in that regard. The
financial statements do not include any adjusiments that may arise as a result of this uncertainty.

3. Acquisitions and dispositions
Acquisition

On December 10, 2003 and effective October 1, the Company through its newly formed subsidiary IMOR-Analytica, GmbH,
cntered into an agreement to purchase certain assets and labilities of Private Institute for Medical Qutcome Research GmbH
(*IMOR?) for €0.5 million ($0.6 million). Pursuant to this agreement, Analytica International, Inc. leases a building and has
the option to purchase such real estate located in Lorrach, Germany. This lease and option expires on November 30, 2008.
Pursuant to the purchase, employment agreements were exccuted with the two prior owners of IMOR, which include annual
compensation of €0.3 million and options to purchase 950,029 shares of Series B preferred stock at an exercise price of
$1.25. The options converted to common stock options at our [PO. The purchase price was allocated as follows: purchased
customer relationships $0.2 million; software $0.1 million; and goodwill $0.3 million (after taking into account the
impairment charge described below). The allocation was based on a review by management based on the estimated relative
fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The net assets acquired consisted of all of IMOR s business
activities, intangiblc assets, and software. IMOR provides strategic services prior to product Jaunch, including clinical trials
management, technology assessment and valuation, and formulary and strategic reimbursement planning, In connection with
the [IMOR acquisition, the Company initially capitalized goodwill in the amount of $0.6 million based on the fair value of the
acquired assets net of assumed liabilities. Following this acquisition, the Company discovered that the assumed liabilities
were $0.3 million in excess of the amount represented in the acquisition agreement. Because the Company has been unable to
negotiate a post-closing purchase price adjustment as a result of this excess liability. the Company recorded an impairment to
goodwill in the amount of $0.3 million in the fiscal quarter in which the acquisition occurred.
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The pro forma effects of this acquisition were considered immaterial. In addition the effect of the retroactive effective date
was also nominal.

Disposition

On December 8, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement to sell certain assets of AccentRx for $4.2 million in cash.
The sale agreement provided for the sale of AccentRx’s trademarks, customer lists and goodwill associated with the
AccentRx pharmacy business, none of which had a cost basis, and were therefore not recorded on the Company’s balance
sheet. All proceeds reduced current liabilities. Furthermore, during December 2003, the Company renegotiated the terms of
certain indebledness to McKesson in the Assumption of Debt and Security Agreement. which amendment was required as a
condition of McKesson’s approval of the AccentRx sale. Subsequently, this agreement was amended to, among other things,
grant McKesson warrants lo purchase up to 1,425,043 million shares of Scries E preferred stock of Accentia. Accordingly,
the fair value of these warrants computed using the Black Scholes pricing model is $2.6 million, which was offset against the
gain on the sale transaction. The McKesson indebtedness was paid off in September 2006.

Revenues and pre-tax income (loss) reported as discontinued operations are as follows:

2006 2005 2004
RV IS .ottt en e e e st n st eins $ — 3 - § 3,745,688
Pre-tax [08S...ccviv oo 5 — 5 (430,110) § (1,516,017)

Continuing cash flows in 2005 from discontinued operations resulted from the resolution of lease matters,

4. Restricted Cash
Funds from Convertible Debenture transaction held in escrow to pay down Laurus debt:
. $5.0 million to be released in January 2007 to reduce Laurus line of credit balance

. $2.3 million to be released throughout 2008 to for final payoff of Laurus Term Note

Funds from New Market Tax Credit financings:

. $2.6 million released in December 2006 upon the completion of the second New Market Tax Credit transaction
!
5. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

September 30,
2006 2005
Pharmaceutical products held for sale ..o e 5 1,266,732 § 314,862
Finished goods, other, net of $0.3 million allowance for obsolescence... 34,253 35,787
Work-in-process e 102,228 120,977
RaAW MALETIALS ..ot een et srs st st ra e 96,972 42,270

§ 1,500,185 $§ 1,013,896




6. Unbilled receivables and unearned revenucs

Unbilled receivables and unearned revenues are as follows:

Costs incurred on uncompleted service contracts ...................
Estimated earnings. ...,

Less bHIINGS 10 date .o

6. Unbilled receivables and unearned revenues (continued):

September 30,
2006 2005
E) 9.026436 $ 7.020,113
8.084,874 7,286,296
17,111,310 14,306,409

(17,419,249) (14,478,619)

h (307939 § (172,210)

These amounts are presented in the accompanying balance sheets under the following captions:

Unbilled receivables ..o
Unearncd FEVENUES........vviiiiiiiiiiiee e essseese e sresesssesssessesseseeas

7. Other intangible asscts

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, consist of the following;

Indefinite-life intangible assets:

TEAACIIATKS oot erea e e s a e e e

Amortizable intangible asscts:

NONCOMPLIE AFIEETMCNS ..ot eeee e eereee

Fatents

Software
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2006

2005

................ S 1,087,
(1,395,098) (863.,096)

59 5§ 690,886

$ (307.939) $ (172,210)

Purchased customer relationships ........o.ovoveeiiiionee e
Product Hghts ..ot

September 30, Weighted
Average
Amortization
2006 2005 Periad
i
1,525433 § 1.525.433
225,137 225,137
1.750.570 1.750,570
2,104,000 2,104,000 3.5 years
149,871 149,624 3.5 years
1.043.813 1.043.813 9.5 years
19,914,707 21216334 14.3 years
498416 498,416 3.5 years
109.227 106,041 7.5 years
23,820.034 25,118,228
(7,783,227) (5,631,122
16,036,807 19,487,106
17,787,377 §  21,237.676




Acquired
Balances in Imor Bus Acq. Acquired 2004 Batances
Sep. 30, 2003 In 2004 in 2004 Amortization Sep. 20, 2004
Indefinite-life intangibles:
Trademarks . ......cooviiiire e e $ 1,525,433 $  1,525433
GOOAWIlL...oociiiiic e 893,000 300,437 1,193,437
Purchased customer relationships. ..o, 225,137 225,137
2,643,370 2.944 007
Amortizable intangible assets:
NORCOMPELE AZICCINENLS L.oiiiiiiiriririre oo, 2,104,000 2,104,000
PAents ..ocooiie et 103,248 43365 146,613
Purchased customer relationships........covnvivvniennnn. 803,463 240350 1.043.813
SOMWATE 1ottt een e e e sis b 438,329 60,087 498.416
TrademMarkS voeeeeee i icrit e e eene e e 104,000 104,000
Product Fights .....cocoiieiec e 7,296,829 7.306.811 14,603,640
Less accumulated amortization ..., {1,354,496) (1,969,779} (3,324.275)
9495373 % 600,874 $ 7,350,176 3 (1,969,779) 15,176,207
Total .o s $ 12,138,943 $ 18,120,214
2008
Amortization
Balances Acquired and Removal of Balances
Sep. 36, 2004 in 2005 Impaired Asset Sep. 20, 2008
Indefinite-life intangibles:
TrAUEITIATKS ..o ieertet et st s e tresernb et eesstaseestasersnsenssnsneeannsnteesneeeas $ 1,525,433 $ 1,525,433
Goodwill 1,193,437 1,193,437
Purchased customer relationships......comic 225,137 225,137
2,944,007 2,944,007
Amortizable intangible assets:
NONCOMPELE AZICCINENIS . ....ooiiieieieee et e ss et e srres 2.104,000 2,104,000
PaAlenIS. ... s . 146,613 § 3,011 149,624
Purchased customer relationshipsS........ccvoroiieeimieiiiir e 1,043,813 1,043,813
SOTIWATE ... vs s eeieet e e e ereeetmeere b seaarevase e s b aesambe s s reeeeteaataseabessanbessaeareee e 498,416 498,416
TEAGEITIATKS .o oot veter e e s areassrnr e e castemsnesassssssansarensembeesenbeasnasnns 104,000 2,041 106,041
ProdUCT FIZhLS. e 14,603,640 8,082,694 S (1,470.000) 21,216,334
Less accumulated amortiZation. ......ovivriresiresnee e sissrasiareressssesarves (3,324.275) (2,306,847) (5,631,122)
15,176,207 $ R, 087,746 § (3,776,847} 19,487,106
TOLAL et crte e ee et s e st e et st e rts s srran et essee et et ebenransn st e ee e s esenbaneaseae e $ $
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Indefinite-life imangibles:

Goodwill ...

Purchased customer relationships

..................................... 225,137

Noncompete agreements. ... vcceeseeenaen

Patents...............

Purchased customer relationships

SOftWAre ..o

Trademarks.........
Product rights......
Less accumulated

TOMAL. et

amortization

......................................... (5,631,122} $ (2,152,105)

Product rights by product are as follows:

Developer if

Balances - Acquired 2006

Sep, 30, 2005 in 2006 Amortization

2006 Balances

Impairment Sep. 30, 2006

S 1,525433
1,193,437

2,944,007

2,104,000

149,624
1,043,813 § 247

498,416
106,041 3,186
21,216,334 2,008,305

$  1,525433
1,193,437
225,137

2,944 007

2,104,000
149,624
1,044,060
498 416
109,227

§ (3309932) 19,914,707

(7,783,227)

19487,106 S 2,011,738 § (2,152,105) § (3,309,932) 16,036,807

§ 22431.113

S 18,980,814

product under Purchased Product
development ap Balance Impairment Fiscal Year 2006 Balznce ohligation
Licensor Sept 2006 30-5¢p-05 Fisca) Year 206 Amortization 30-Sep-06 30-Sep-06

Product Rights:

Chronic

thinosinusitis ... Mayo (g} Accentia S 8873902 S — §5 958305 § (471,419) $ 9832207 S —
HisteX .oooooovvieee. Andex Product in market 999,000 — — (222,000) 999,000 —
Respitan ................ Product in market 607,000 — — {60,996) 607,000 —
Alcotin/Novacort...  Primus Product in market 250,000 — — {82,996) 250,000 —
Emezing ................ Arius (b) Arius 1,600,000 — — (85,363) 1,600,000 —
Xodol ......cccoouveeeo. Ryan (c) Product in market 2,192,000 (108,928) — (368,638) 2,083,072 —
Pain ... Argent (d) Mikart 1,457,940 (1,778,816) 550,000 (128,322) 229,124 —
Pain........... Achcron (e) Mikan 1,883.000 (1.422,186) — (131,661} 460,814 —
MD Turbo .. ... Respirics () Respirics 2,932,000 (2) — (145,414} 2,931,998 —
AllerNase............ Collegium (2) Collcgium 300,000 — 500,000 (44,999) 800,600 —
Other..oovveeeie, 121,492 — — (28,758) 121,492 —

Less accumulated
amortization .....

21,216,334 § (3,309,932} $ 2,008,305

(2,740,168)
S 18,476,166
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Developer if

product undey Removal of Purchased Product
development at Balance Impaired Asset Fiscal Year 2005 Balance obligation
Licensor Sept 2006 30-Sep-04 Fiscal Year 2005 Amortization 30-Sep-05 30-Sep-05
Product Rights:
Chronic
rhinosinusitis
Mayo Accentia S 2155000 $ — § 6718902 & (302994) § B8,873902 § —_
HisteX .oooeeranes Andrx Product in market 999,000 — — (222,000) 999,000 —
Respitan ........ Product in market 607,000 — — {60,996) 607,000 —
Alcotin/Novacort
................... Primus Product in market 250,000 — — (125,004) 250,000 —
Sustained release
................... SRL N/A technology 1,470,000 (1,470,000} — (101,379 — —
Asthma........ Mayo Mayo & Accentia — — — — — —
CRS Worldwide
------------------- Mayo Accentia — — — — — _
Emezine ......... Arius Arius 1,300,000 — 300,000 (68,902) 1,600,000 200,000
Xodol .............  Ryan Product in market 2,192,000 — — (368.688) 2,192,000 300.000
Pain ..o Argent Mikart 814,148 — 643,792 (70,649) 1,457,940 —
Pain..ooeevnns Acheron  Mikart 1,883,000 — — (131,661) 1,883,000 —
MD Turbo ...... Respirics  Respirics 2,812,000 — 120,000 (142,168} 2,932,000 —
AllerNase.......  Collegium Collegium — — 300,000 (3,333 300,000 —
Other.oenen, 121,492 — — (26.999) 121,492 —
14,603,640 S§  (1,470,000) $ 8,082,694 21,216,334  § 500,000
Less
accumulated
amortization
................... (1,269,224) 5 (1,624,773) (2,740,168)
. $ 13334416 $ 18,476,166 .
Continued
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product under Purchased Product
development at Balance Fiscal Year 2004 Balance obligation
Licensor Sept 2006 30-Sep-03 2004 Amortization 30-Sep-04 H-5¢p-04

Product Rights:
Chronic rhinosinusitis ......... Mayo Accentia $ — % 2,155,000 § (48,000) § 2,155,000 $ 1,005,000
Histex ....ooeeevieien, Andrx Product in market 999,000 — (222,000) 999,000 —
Respitan ..........ccccocoovviena. Product in market 607,000 — (61,000) 607,000 —
Alcotin/Novacort................. Primus  Product in market — 250,000 (42,000) 250,000 —
Sustained release.................. SRL N/A technology — 1,470,000 (50,690} 1,470,000 1,360,000
Asthma......coiinne. Mayo Mayo & Accentia — — — - -
CRS Worldwide................... Mayo Accentia — — — _ —
Emezine ......o.ooovieeoien. Arius Arius — 1,300,000 (31,707) 1,300,000 1,000,000
Xodol oo, Ryan Product in market 1,692,000 500,000 (172,130) 2,192,000 270,000
Pain ..o Argent  Mikart — 814,148 (30,154) 814,148 756,750
Pain........cccceocevivivvvveven. Acheron  Mikart 1,883,000 — (131,662) 1,883,000 —
MD Turbo ..o, Respirics Respirics 2,112,000 700,000 (120,973} 2,812,000 —
Other ..o, 3,829 117,663 {27,000} 121,492 —

7,296,829 § 7306811 14,603,640 $ 4,391,750
Less accunulated

amortization.................. (331,908) $  (937.316) (1,269,224)

Developer if

$ 6,964,92] § 13334416

All products being developed are currently FDA approved chemical entities being developed in different dosage strengths or
formulations under FDA guidelines, with the exception of MD Turbo, was is being developed under predicate device FDA
guidelines. Development and approval paths are expected to average approximately 24 months:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d

(e)

t)]

(g)

Represents exclusive licensing and distribution rights from a third-party under a licensing and distribution agreement
for one product, with expected sNDA submission to the FDA in the first quarter of 2007 and expected approval in the
third quarter of 2007.

Represents exclusive U.S. rights for distribution of anti-emetic therapy for treatment of nausea and vomiting acquired
from a third-party.

Represents exclusive LS. distribution rights acquired from a third-party under a distribution agreement. Product was
approved by FDA in June 2004, and amortization of acquired product cost is being recognized commencing in fiscal
2004. This product achieved approval within 10 months of filing. These rights were sold subsequent to September 30,
2006.

Represents exclusive U.S. distribution rights acquired from third-party under a distribution agreement for nine
products. These rights were sold subsequent to September 30, 2006.

Represents exclusive U.S. distribution rights acquired from a third-party under a distribution agreement for one
product. These rights were sold subsequent to September 30, 2006.

Represents distribution rights acquired from a third-party for a medical device that can be used in the administration of
multiple products, Commercial launch commenced in fiscal year 2006.

The Mayo Clinic has approved patents supporting these products.

See Notes 11 and 17 for detailed discussions relating to acquisition of these intangibles.

F-28




Estimated future amortization of amortizable intangible assets with finite lives is as follows:
Year ending SepIemBET 30 ..ot
007 oottt et ae ey aaa s e s enes e e ek e te A bt £ beb e ReA et SRR SRR AT ER TSR b T 3 1,640,553
011 OO O VO U P T PSSP O PP PSPPSR PRSP 1,375,764
D00 oottt erarer et e et et ee e e teeatasegan S E e eA et e At ed2mt e et et 4T h e R R R e AR SRS Ea bbb 1,328,212
1) K T OU TR OO PO U g OSSO PSSR TIPSR 943,048
1] 1 OO OO SO OO TO T TO PO PO PSS OO F SO PSP PP PP RIS TRSRR SN 941,723
T 1 UTUUTTUTUT T OO P TR TU OO ROy U OO O PSP PPIRTP 9,807,507
$ 16,036,807
8. Furniture, equipment and leaschold improvements

Fumiture, equipment and leasehold improvements consist of the following:

9.

September 30,
2006 2005
FUIIILITE oo ee e e eeeassasseeeenaasseresomemeteeameesests s aaeeaneans e et eebnesiane e sh S AR bR R s e a2 s a s s en 3 261,469 § 253,130
Office and [abOratory eQUIPIMENT ..ot e 2,420,217 2,737,291
Leasehold IMPrOVEMENLS ......ooiviiviiiis e sttt s 1,184,313 791,687
3,865,999 3,782,108
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortiZation ... {2,330,021) (2,006,289)

8 1,535978 % 1,775,819

Lines of credit

Lines of credit consist of the following:

September 30,
2006 2005
Related Party:
Bridge note related party, interest at 4.25%, unsecured, matures August 2007
) FO RO U UV TO U U RSO TSP PSRRI ST $ 1,060,497 § 4,180,000

Other:
Secured revolving note, of which $2.5 million is convertible, due to Laurus

Master Fund, Ltd., interest at prime plus 2% (10.25% at September 30,

2006); matures April 2008; principa! and accrued interest convertible at

fixed conversion price of $6.80 per share (See Note 9) oo, 9,925,473 5,052,604
Revolving credit agreement, interest at prime rate (8.25% at September 30,

2006); matures January 2007; secured by Company’s accounts reccivable

and guarantee of major SCKhOIRT ... 4,000,000 —
14,985,970 9,232,604
LSS CUITETIL INATUTIEIES ... ivveevirersesareeesasinrersreses sommeesbasenssrannnssnsssesassnnessbassessasanaasss 14,985,970 5,052,604
$ — § 4,180,000

(a)

This note was amended to provide up to $4.0 million in available borrowings from Hopkins 1L The Company may
prepay the bridge loan at any time without penalty or premium. However, on the date on which the bridge loan
becomes due or on which the Company desires to prepay the loan, the Company must not be in default under its credit
facility with Laurus Master Fund, Ltd., and the remaining balance under the Laurus credit facility at such time must be
$2.5 million or less. If both of these conditions are not satisfied, then the bridge loan will not become due and cannot
be paid until the first day on which both of these conditions are satisfied.

The Company has the unconditional right to borrow up to $4.0 million in the aggregate upon ten days’ prior written
notice to Hopkins I1. The Company’s right to borrow any amounts in excess of $4.0 million is conditioned upon the
Company either being in default under its credit facility with Laurus or having less than $5.0 million cash on hand at
the time of the advance. As of September 30, 2006, $1.1 million is outstanding under this bridge loan after conversion
of $3.2 million in principal into common stock in May 2006, leaving potentially available borrowing capacity 0f $2.9
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million. The loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate equal to 4.25% per annum, simple interest. No payments of
principal or interest are due until the maturity date of the loan.

Dr. Francis E. O'Donnell, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, is the sole manager of Hopkins I,
and several irrevocable trusts established by Dr. O’Donnell collectively constitute the largest equity owners of Hopkins
[I.

Weighted average interest on all short-term borrowings aggregated 9.29%, 6.42%, and 5.30% at September 30, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. At September 30, 2006, the Company has an aggregate of $2.9 million available under its lines of
credit,

10. Long-term debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

September 30,
2006 2005
Related party:
Term loan due to McKesson, a holder of shares of common stock and major supplier,
payable at 10% contract Fate (@) oo $ — 5§ 3,900,000
Note due to McKesson, interest payable monthly at 10% (8) .....vov.vvereeeoeeeoooooo — 2,095,414
Notes payable, former Biovest management, interest at 7%; due in 2006 (b) ................. — 4,439 328
ACCTURD INETESE (D)....o. ettt ttens e e oo oo eeeeo — 641,917
11,076,659
Less CUITENt MALUIIHES ..ot v eest e — (7.414,742)
3 — 5 3,661,917
Other:
Face value $25,000,000 convertible debentures, at fair value(g) oo § 21,727869 § —
Convertible amortizing term note, due to Laurus Master Fund, Ltd., interest payable
monthly at prime rate plus 4%; due April 2008(C)(€) <..vvevevre oo 6,166,670 6,496,127
Note payable, Harbinger Mezzanine Partners, LP, net of discount; secured by assets of
TEAMM; interest payable monthly at 13.5%:; $5.0 million principal balance
Matures August 2000 (Q) ..o et — 6,589,854
Convertible notes payable, Biovest bridge financing, due in 2006(a).....ccoomiie, — 100,000
Convertible notes payable, Biovest 2000 bridge financing, interest at 10%, due in
2O06(A) ..ttt e oo 114,499 175,469
Convertible amortizing term note, due to Laurus Master Fund, Ltd., interest payable
monthly at the greater of prime rate plus 2% or 10.25%, due March 31, 2009 (e) ...... 2,354,128 —
Term note, Pulaski Bank and Trust Company, interest payable monthly at prime rate
minus 0.05% or 8.20%, due January 3, 2007 (D) e 2,000,000 —
Note payable, former cmployee settlement ..............oo..ooooveooooeeoeeoeeooooo 119,950 —
OHREE (oo s eee e 104,263 119,050
Long term acerued iMEIESI(B) .......ouvimerrierseee oo cee oo 85,978 311,013

32,673,357 13,791,513

LesS CUITCNT MALUIIHES .......oovvreieieeimeieieeee et (5,652,152) (8,888,847)

§ 27,021,205 § 4,902,666

Footnotes to long-term debt

(a)
(b)

(<)
(d)

(e)

Re-paid in fiscal 2006.

Notes collateralized by cettain assets of Biovest; convertible at the option of the holder into Biovest common stock (at
$0.50 per share) or Accentia common stock (at either discounts ranging from zero to $1.60 of the $8 IPO offering
price). During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, $0.5 million of the debt was paid down, and $3.9 million of
the debt was converted 1o equity.

Note is convertible into shares of common stock at $6.80 per share, exercisable through April 2008,

Notes are convertible into shares of Biovest common stock at $1.00 per share and include warrants to purchase 50,000
shares of Biovest common stock at an excrcise price of $1.25 per share, exercisable through September 2007.
Discounts on long-term debt include the value of warrants issued in conjunction with leng-term debt and are accreted
over the life of the related debt. The debt provides for monthly payment provisions, a variable interest feature that

includes a cap of 9.0% and a default put at 130% of face value for certain contingent events, including service defaults
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and changes in control, for the amortizing portion of the arrangement; these features are not present for unreleased,
non-amortizing balances. The Company evaluated all terms and conditions of the amortizing notes for indications of
embedded derivative financial instruments. While the interest rate cap was found 1o be clearly and closely related to the
host instrument, the Company determined that the default put did not meet the clearly and closely related criteria as
provided in FASB 133 Derivative Financial Instruments. Accordingly, upon release of funds underlying the first
tranche, the Company reclassified an amount of $306,750 on the date of release, which represents the estimated fair
value of the default put liability to derivative liability. Upon release of funds under the second tranche, the Company
reclassified $122,700 to derivative liability. The default liability is initially and subsequently carried at fair value with
changes recorded in income. Accordingly, $236,369 is recorded as a derivative liability in the accompanying balance
sheet on September 30, 2006.

Upon issuance of the note, $50,000 of the principal amount was disbursed at the closing to Pulaski to cover closing fees
relating to the loan transaction. The note will become due and payable on January 5, 2007 but may be prepaid by the
Biovest at any time without penalty. The outstanding principal amount of the note will bear interest at the rate of the
prime rate minus .05% (7.75% per annum initially). Monthly payments of accrued interest only shall be due and
payable monthly on the 5* day of each month commencing on October 5, 2006. The note is an unsecured obligation of
Biovest and is subordinated to Biovest's outstanding obligation to Laurus. The note is guarantced by entities and
individuals affiliated with the Biovest or Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., the majority stockholder of the Biovest.
Biovest has entered into Indemnification Agreements that hold the guarantors harmless from all claims and losses with
respect to enforcement of the guarantees provided the guarantors fulfili certain notice conditions and waiting periods.
Biovest issued to Pulaski a warrant to purchase up to 66,667 shares of Biovest’s Common Stock. par value $0.01 per
share, at an exercise price of $1.10 per share. The warrant will expire on September 5, 2011. The warrant provides
Pulaski with piggy-back registration rights for the shares underlying the warrant.

Private Placement of $25.0 million in principal amount of 8% Secured Convertible Debentures due September 29,
2010, resulting in gross proceeds of $23.5 million after placement agent fees of $1.5 million but before other expenses
associated with the transaction. A total of $7.3 million of the proceeds from the Private Offering were placed into an
escrow account and will be paid to Laurus when certain amounts become due under the Company's credit facility with
Laurus. The Debentures are converible at any time, at the option of the holder, into shares of the Company’s common
stock at $2.60 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, and the like. Debentures bear intercst at
8% per annum with interest payable quarterly in arrears in cash, or, at the Company’s option, in shares of Company
commeon stock. The Debentures will bear default interest at a rate of 18% per annum.

Beginning October 1, 2007, and on the 1* of each month thereafter, the Company will be required to redeem 1/37" of
the face value of the Debentures in cash or, at the Company’s election, with shares of Company common stock, shares
of Biovest common stock held by the Company, or a combination thereof. Any unconverted Debentures will become
due on September 29, 2010

As a part of the Private Placement, the Company issued Warrants to the purchasers of the Debentures giving them the

right to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,136,201 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.75
per share, provided that such Warrants may be alternatively exercised for shares of Biovest common stock held by the
Company at an exercise price of $1.10 per share. All of the Warrants (including the warrants granted to the Placement
Agent} will expire on September 29, 201 1.

Unless and until shareholder approval of the Private Placement is obtained by the Company, the aggregate number of
shares of the Common Stock of the Company issuable upon the conversion of any of the Debentures and upon the
exercise of any of the Warrants is limited to 19.99% of the number of shares of Company common stock outstanding
on the date of the closing of the Private Placement.

Future maturities of long-term debt are as follows as of September 30, 2006:

Years ending September 30,

007 oo etetatarae s et et et et sesusemeneseeeeeERAnR R SRR e AR LSRR LR R S %,135.610
2008 .ooooeesereteverseeeese st et seesas e e eneeaeasssessaerassarseseee AL ELE SRR LRSS 17,718,224
o100 USSP P PSSPV TIPS P TP PR ISR 9,392.333

43,754,670
Less unamortized discount and adjustment to fair value on convertible debentures ... 11,081,313

$ 32,673.357

Lawris Master Funds, Lid.
On April 29, 2005, the Company obtained an aggregate total of $10.0 million in debt financing from Laurus Master Funds,

Ltd. (

‘Laurus”™). The term loan portion of the Laurus credit facility is evidenced by a secured convertible term note in the

principal amount of $5.0 million. The revolving loan portion of the credit facility is evidenced by a secured convertible
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minimum berrowing note in the amount of $2.5 million and a secured revolving note of up to $5.0 million, provided that the
aggregate principal amount under both notes combined may not exceed $5.0 million.

In August 2005, the term loan portion of the Laurus credit facility was amended and restated secured convertible term note,
dated August 16, 2005, in the principal amount of $10.0 million (an increase of $5.0 mitlion).

The amended and restated secured convertible term note accrues interest at a rate of the greater of 10% per annum or prime
rate plus 4%. The secured convertible minimum borrowing note and secured revolving note accrue interest at a rate equal to
the greater of 7.75% per year or prime rate plus 2%.

Certain repayment terms were conditional based on timing of the initial public offering. As a resuit of completion of the
offering, the amended and restated secured convertible term note is payable over three years in equal monthly payments of
principal and interest of $0.3 million. The secured revolving note and secured convertible minimum borrowing note are due
on the third anniversary of the notes with all accrued but unpaid interest payable monthly.

[n connection with the Laurus credit facility, the Company issued to Laurus a warrant to purchase a number of shares of our
common stock that is equal to $8.0 million divided by our per share initial public offering price ($8.00) (1,000,000 warrants),
and such warrant has an exercise price equal to our per share initial public offering price ($8.00). The warrant will expire on
the 5th anniversary of the date of warrant issuance.

As a part of the August 2005 amendment to the Laurus credit facility, the Company granted Laurus an additional warrant to
purchase up to 277,778 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.001 per share. This additional
warrant is immediately exercisable and, except for the absence of a forced exercise provision, has substantially the same
terms and conditions as the other warrant granted to Laurus.

The principal and accrued but unpaid interest under each of the Laurus notes is convertible at the option of Laurus into shares
of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $6.95 per share, provided that from after the completion of our initial
public offering, the conversion price will be an amount equal to 85% of our per share initial public offering price or $6.80 per
share.

On August 2, 2006, Biovest entered into an Amendment and Consent to Release (the “Amendment™) with Laurus. The
Amendment amends the Restricted Account Agreement and Side Letter Agreement entered into by Biovest and Laurus on
March 31, 2006 (the “Agreements™) to permit the release to Biovest from the Restricted Account of the sum of £2,500,000
(the “Release™) prior to the satisfaction of the preconditions for such Release as set forth in the Agreements.

The Laurus financings included registration rights and certain other terms and conditions related to share settlement of the
embedded derivatives and the warrants that Biovest has determined are not within its control. In addition, certain features
associated with the financings, such as anti-dilution protection afforded the financing agreements render the number of shares
issuable to be indeterminate. In these instances, EITF 00-19 Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and
Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock, requires ailocation of the proceeds between the various instruments and the
derivative elements carried at fair values. The following represents the allocation of the proceeds:

Principle balance of LAts NOLES: . ov....ovveveoceeooeeeceeeeeee oo £ 20,000,000
Less reduction fori. ...,
Fair value of beneficial conversion of options (4,413,514
Fair value of warrants (3,989,610)
Recorded al ClOSING ......oiiviiiii e e e 11,596,876
Accretion of discount (interest expense) through September 30, 2006 using effective interest
TIENOM L.t eeeee e e s ee e eeee 1,299,390
Loss on extinguishment of debt resulting from the August 2005 amendment.............ooooooovvooo 4,808,782
DDt PAYIMCIIS 1ot (1,612,907)
Carrying value at September 30, 2006.............cooeooovorreeeee oo 5 16,092,141
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As presented on Balanee Sl Lo
Current maturities of long term debt-other e ¥ 2,740,753
L1185 OF CrOI-CUITEIIE oeevs e e e civestssareeseeeeeseestmsessesasnsanesaesre s reeer e e e sataraseesaaeesseeabbsnarabraraesensins 9,925,473

Long-term debt, net of current maturities-0ther ... 3,425915
$ 16,092,141

The discount to the debt instruments resulting from the aforcmentioned allocation is being amortized through periodic
charges to interest expense using the effective method for the Notes.

The fair value of convertible notes for disclosure purposes only are estimated based upon the present value of the estimated
cash flow at credit risk adjusted interest rates for convertible instruments. As of September 30, 2006, estimated fair values
and respective carrying values for debt instruments are as follows:

Carrying
Fair Value Value
$£10,000,000 Face Value Convertible Secured Term NOte (oo $ 8,709.677 § 7,828,923
$10,000,000 Revolving Line of Credil v, $ 10,000,000 $ 8,988,764

Private Placement of Convertible Debentures

On September 29, 2006, the Company entered into definitive agreements relating to a privatc placement (the “Private
Placement”) of $25.0 million in principal amount of 8% Secured Convertible Debentures due September 29, 2010 (the
“Debentures™). The funds raised in the Privatc Placement were disbursed from escrow to the Company on October 2, 2006.
The principal purposcs of the Private Placement was to raise additional funding for working capital to support the
commercialization of the Company s specialty pharmaceutical products and to continue the development of the Company’s
proprietary intranasal antifungal therapy for chronic sinusitis and to repay certain short-term debt. The Private Placement
resulted in gross proceeds of $23.5 million after placement agent fees of $1.5 million but before other expenses associated
with the transaction. To secure certain amounts payable by the Company 1o Laurus, the Company’s senior lender, a total of
$7.3 million of the proceeds from the Private Offering were placed into an escrow account and will be paid to Laurus when
certain amounis become due under the Company’s credit facility with Laurus.

The Debentures are convertible at any time at the option of the holder into shares of the Company’s common stock at $2.60
per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, and the like. In the cvent that the Company issues or grants
in the future any rights to purchase any of the Company’s common stock, or other security convertible into the Company's
common stock, for an effective per share price less than the conversion price then in effect, the conversion price of all
unconverted Debentures will be decreased to equal such lower price. The Debentures are also exchangeable for shares of
common stock of Biovest held by the Company at an exchange price of $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits,
stock dividends, and the like, at any time after the earlier to occur of (i) September 29, 2007 or (ii) such time as the closing
price of Biovest’s common stock exceeds $2.25 for each of 20 consecutive trading days, subject to certain volume
requirements and other conditions. Biovest is a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company. In the event that Biovest issues
or grants in the future any rights to purchase any of Biovest’s common stock, or other security convertible into Biovest’s
common stock, for a per share price less than the exchange price then in effect, the exchange price for all unconverted
Debentures will be decreased to equal such lower price. The above-described adjustments to the conversion price or
exchange price for future stock issuances by the Company or Biovest will not apply to certain exempt issuances, including
stock issuances pursuant to employee stock option plans and strategic transactions.

Prior to maturity the Debentures will bear interest at 8% per annum with interest payable quarterly in arrears in cash, or, at
the Company’s option, in shares of Company common stock. The Company’s ability to pay interest with shares of Company
common stock will be subject to specified conditions, including the existence of an effective registration statcment covering
the resale of the shares issued in payment of interest and certain minimum trading volumes in the stock to be issued. Shares
delivered in payment of intcrest will be valued at 90% of the average of the daily volume weighted average price of the
shares for the 20 trading days prior to the interest payment date. From and after an event of default under the Debentures and
for so long as the event of default is continuing, the Debentures will bear default interest at a rate of 18% per annum.

Beginning October 1, 2007, and on the 1* of each month thercatter, the Company will be required to redeem 1/37" of the face
value of the Debentures in cash or, at the Company’s clection, with shares of Company comimon stock, shares of Biovest
common stock held by the Company, or a combination thercof. The Company’s ability to pay interest with shares of
Company or Biovest common stock will be subject to specified conditions, including the existence of an effective registration
statement covering the resale of the shares issued in payment of the redemption amount and certain minimum trading
volumes in the stock to be issued. Any payment in common stock of ejther the Company or Biovest may not exceed 15% of
the total dollar traded volume in the applicable stock for the 20 trading days prior to the amortization payment. Any common
stock of the Company or Biovest delivered in satisfaction of an amortization payment will be valued at the lesser of (i} the
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conversion price or the exchange price, as the case may be, in effect at the time of the amortization payment or (ii) 90% of
the average of the daily volume weighted average price of the applicable shares for the 20 trading days prior to the
amortization payment. Any unconverted Debentures will become due on September 29, 2010

[n the event that the average of the daily volume weighted average price of the shares of the Company’s common stock for
any 20 consecutive trading days exceeds $6.50, the Company will have the right, but not the obligation, to require the holders
of the Debentures to convert into Company common stock at the conversion price then in effect up to 50% of any outstanding
Debentures (or 100% of any outstanding Debentures, in the event that the average of the daily volume weighted average price
of the shares of the Company’s common stock for any 20 consecutive trading days exceeds 300% of the then-effective
conversion price). Such a mandatory conversion is subject to specified conditions, including the existence of an effective
registration statement covering the resale of the shares into which the Debentures are converted and certain minimum trading
volumes in the stock to be issued. The registration statement was declared effective on November 17, 2006.

At any time beginning on the first anniversary of the effectiveness of a registration statement covering the resale of the shares
of Company common stock issuable upon conversion of the Debentures, the Company may redeem, subject to specified
conditions and upon 20 trading days’ written notice, any or all of the outstanding Debentures for a redemption price of

(i) cash of 120% of par plus accrued and unpaid interest on the Debentures to be redeemed and (i1) warrants to subscribe for a
number of shares of the Company s common stock equal to the principal amount of the Debentures to be redeemed, divided
by the conversion price then in effect. Such warrants will have an exercise price equal to the average of the daily volume
weighted average price for the shares of the Company’s common stock for the 20 trading day period immediately preceding
the redemption and a term equal to the weighted average remaining term of the Debentures.

As a part of the Private Placement, the Company issued Warrants to the purchasers of the Debentures giving them the right to
purchase up to an aggregate of 3,136,201 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.75 per share,
provided that such Warrants may be alternatively exercised for shares of Biovest commeon stock held by the Company at an
exercise price of $1.10 per share. The warrant exercise prices are subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, and
the like. The Warrants may not be exercised for any shares of Biovest common stock until the earlier to occur of

(i) September 29, 2007 or (ii} such time as the closing price of Biovest’s common stock exceeds $2.25 for each of 20
consecutive trading days, subject to certain volume requirements and adjustments. In the event that the Company in the future
issues or grants any rights to purchase any of the Company’s common stock, or other security convertible into the Company’s
common stock, for a per share price less than the exercise price then in effect, the exercise price of the Warrant with respect
to shares of the Company’s common stock will be reduced to equal such lower price and the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock for which the Warrant may be exercised will be increased so that the total aggregate exercise price
remains constant. In the event that Biovest in the future issues or grants any rights to purchase any of Biovest’s common
stock, or other security convertible into Biovest’s common stock, for a per share price less than the exercise price then in
effect, the exercise price of the Warrant with respect to shares of Biovest’s common stock will be reduced to equal such
lower price. The foregoing adjustments to the exercise price for both the Companty’s common stock and Biovest’s common
stock for future stock issues will not apply to certain exempt issuances, inctuding issuances pursuant to employee stock
option plans and strategic transactions. In connection with the Private Placement, the Company also issued to the placement
agent for the transaction warrants to purchase an aggregate of 545,455 shares of Company common stock at an exercise price
of $2.75 per share. All of the Warrants (including the warrants granted to the Placement Agent) will expire on September 29,
2011,

Unless and until shareholder approval of the Private Placement is obtained by the Company, the aggregate number of shares
of the Common Stock of the Company issuable upon the conversion of any of the Debentures and upon the exercise of any of
the Warrants is limited to 19.99% of the number of shares of Company common stock outstanding on the date of the closing
of the Private Placement. The Company has agreed to include a proposal for sharcholder approval of the Private Placement at
its next annual meeting of shareholders, and shareholders holding more than 50% of the Company’s common stock have
entered into voting agreements agreeing to vote their respective shares in favor of such proposal. In addition, the tota] number
of shares of Biovest common stock held by the Company that may be transferred to the investors in the Private Placement
pursuant to the Debentures or Warrants may not exceed 18,000,000 shares in the aggregate. Pursuant to a Pledge Agreement
among the Company and all of the purchasers of the Debentures, the Debentures are also secured by these 18,000,000 shares
of Biovest common stock held by the Company.

In connection with the Private Placement, the Company and the purchasers of the Debentures entered into a Registration
Rights Agreement under which the Company is required, on or before November 1, 2006, to file a registration statement with
the SEC covering the resale of the shares of Company common stock issuable pursuant to the Debentures and Warrants and
to use its best efforts to have the registration declared effective at the earliest date (but in no event later than 90 days after
filing if there is no SEC review of the registration statement, or 120 days if there is an SEC review). The Company will be
subject to certain monetary penalties, as set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement, if the registration statement is not
filed or does not become effective on a timely basis. Biovest and the purchasers of the Debentures have entered into a similar
registration rights agreement under which Biovest is required to file with the SEC and seek to have declared effective a
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registeation statement covering the resale of the shares of Biovest common stock transferable by the Company pursuant to the
Debentures and Warrants. The registration statements were filed on November 17, 2006.

On the inccption date of the Convertible Debenture and Warrant financing. the Company evaluated the terms and conditions
of the transaction and determined (i) the convertible debenturcs possessed certain features, including the conversion
provision, redemption rights and certain other features, that were not clearly and closely related to the host debt instrument
and (ii) the terms of the warrants did not provide for ail of the conditions necessary for equity classification.

When a hybrid debt instrument, such as the convertible debentures, embodies derivative features that are not clearly and
closely related to the host instrument, current accounting standards afford the Company an option to bifurcate from the
hybrid instrument one “compound” derivative financial instrument that would be carried as a derivative liability at fair value
{the FAS133 Context) or carry the entire hybnid financial instrument at fair value (the FAS155 Context). See the Financial
Instruments Policy Note for information on these standards. After reviewing the terms and conditions of the arrangement in
its entircty, the Company clected (o apply the FAS155 Context to the canvertible debentures. Accordingly, proceeds from the
financing were allocated to the convertible debentures based upon their fair value of $21,727,869. The Company valued the
hybrid instrument as a forward contract (that is, the present value of the future cash flows including cash flows projected
from redemption features and penalties at market intercst rates) enhanced by a conversion option. The company valued the
conversion option component of the hybrid instrument using the Flexible Monte Carlo technique because it reflects all of the
requisite assumptions (including credit risk, interest-rate risk and exercise/conversion behaviors) that are necessary to fair
value these more complex instruments. The hybrid instrument will continue to be adjusted to fair value at the end of each
reporting period until it matres, is converted or is redeemed.

Since. as previously noted, the Warrants did not achieve all of the conditions necessary for equity classification, the
Company allocated proceeds of $5.057,227 to the detachable warrants based upon their fair value using the Black-Scholes-
Merton valuation technique.

The aforementioned allocation resulted in the recognition of a day-one derivative loss of $1.835.097. That means that the fair
value of the hybrid debt instrument and warrants exceeded the net proceeds that the Company received from the arrangement
and, accordingly. the Company was required 10 record a loss to record the financial instruments at fair value. The Company
did not enter into any other financing arrangements during the periods reported that reflected day-one losses.

11. Related party transactions
o
Related party transactions
in order to induce additional investment in the Company. two principal stockholders entered into the following agreements:

In connection with the sale of 1,187,536 shares of Series E preferred stock (subsequently converted to common stock), a
party related to a principal stockholder of the Company (the “Trust™) has pledged shares of a publicly traded company (0
sccure obligations pursuant to a Put Call Agreement (“PCA™). The PCA provides that, for a period of two years, the preferred
stockholder has the right to require the Trust to repurchase up to 1,187,536 shares of Series E preferred stock at $2.11 per
share plus 5% per year. [n addition, for a period of two years, the Trust has the right to repurchase 593,768 of said shares at
$2.11 per share plus 5% per year: however, in May 2005, the Trust irrevocably waived this right.

In connection with equity transactions in the first quarter of 2005, two principal stockholders assigned an aggregate of
237,507 warrants to purchase shares of Series E preferred stock to a Series E preferred stockholder. These warrants were then
exercised.

Acconnts receivable, stockhoider

Accounts receivable stockholder consists of amounts due from McKesson. a holder of common stock. These amounts are due
in accordance with customary trade terms in the Specialty Pharmacceuticals segment.

Stackholder advances and notes

The Stockholder Note at September 30, 2005 is an unsecured 6% convertible note in the amount of $0.4 million, and was
repaid in 2006,

See Notes 8 and 9 for related party notes payable
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Related party license agreement
Buckground

On February 10, 2004, the Company entered into a license agreement with Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and
Rescarch (*“MAYO™) for the license of certain technology as it relates to development of therapeutic products for the
treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis (*CRS™). The license grants the Company a) an exclusive license under the patent rights to
use, offer for sale, seli, develop, manufacture, and have manufactured amphotericin-B and derivatives thereof as an FDA
Product in the United States and European Union; b) an exclusive license in the United States and European Union to use,
offer for sale, sell, import and manufacture, but not have manufactured, products, excluding FDA Products, for the treatment
of CRS; and ¢) a nonexclusive license to use the technical information and data provided by MAYO {0 the Company that
relate 10 the treatment of CRS to develop, manufacture, use and sell products and FDA products for the treatment of CRS.
The agreement expires on the last to expire claim within the patent rights covered under the agreement, some of which are
pending at September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005.

In connection with the Mayo agreement, Accentia agreed to acquire or obtain all rights owned or licensed by BioDelivery
Sciences International, Inc. (“BDSI™) (a company related to the Company through partial common ownership and control} to
develop an FDA product under the Mayo license based on cochleated amphotericin-B without interference from BDSI.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Company’s agreement with MAYO was amended to provide for the
following:

*  Expansion of territory 1o worldwide;

*  Reduction of minimum royalties;

*  Milestone royalhties increased:

*  Licensing of and addition of asthma milestone royaities; and

*  Payment of 1,140,034 shares of Series E preferred stock as an up-front, non-refundable royalty,

Reluted party license agreement and sale of rovalty rights

On April 12, 2004, the Company entered into a license agreement (as licensee) with BDSI relating to certain products.
Accentia’s responsibilities included paying the costs associated with any of the commercial aspects, in keeping with its
business plan (utilization of sales force, education of the public and prescribing population, etc.). In connection therewith,
BDSI is entitled to royalties of 12% for sales of all products covered under the MAYO agreement including but not limited to
topical antifungal products that do not require FDA approval and 14% of licensed products. The royalty obligations shall
catinue for each product for the term of the last to expire of the licensed patent rights covering the product.

Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. (“PPI>}, a holder of our common stock, expressed an interest in purchasing
ceriain royalty rights that BDSI possessed in connection with its April 12, 2004 arrangement with the Company, but PPD did
not wish to deal directly with BDS] since the original technology was licensed to the Company from MAYO. As a result the
Company entered into an agreement to acquire 50% of the toyalty rights back from BDSI for $2.5 million.

Simultaneous with the BDSI transaction, the Company entered into an agreement whereby PPD purchased from the
Company 50% of said royalty rights based on the sale of certain products. The royalty rights are defined as 6% of net sales
for all non-FDA products and 7% of all FDA product sales, which is 50% of the initial royalty calculations. respectively. The
sales price for these royally rights was $2.5 million.

PPD acquired only the royalty rights and did not assume any liability or obligation of the Company. Further, pursuant to the
agreement, the Company has agreed to make minimum royalty payments through December 2009 of $2.5 million. Failure to
make such minimum payments is deemed a material breach. In connection therewith, Accentia may make up such shortfall 1o
cure the breach. In addition, termination of (he “enabling agreements™ (BDSI and MAYO) constitutes a default as well as
failure to maintain market exclusivity and failure to enforce Mayo Patent Rights. In the event of termination, the Company is
required to refund the purchase price less the aggregate royalties paid prior to termination, except that if aggregate royalties
exceed $2.5 million, the Company has no obligation to refund the purchase price. As discussed in Note 1, the $2.5 million
received from PPD is recorded as “other liabilities, related party” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of
September 30, 2006 and 2005, As such, other liabilities, related party includes $2.37 million and $2.44 million associated
with this transaction at September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively (net of royalties earned through those respective dates).
Further. as a result of the sale to PPD of the purchased future royalties from BDSI and the fact that the Company has no
recourse against BDSI if these royalties do not materialize, the $2.5 million paid to BDSI in connection with the acquisition
thereof has been expensed as “other operating expense, related party™ in the accompanying 2004 consolidated statement of
operations. If royalties do materialize, they must be paid to PPD, at which time revenue from the sale of these rights to PPD
would be recognized.

F-36




Distribution agreement with Arius

On March 12, 2004, the Company entered into a distribution agreement with Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (*“Arius™) which
grants the Company an exclusive perpetual license to market and sell a central nervous system product called Emezine ™in
the United States. Pursuant to the distribution agreement, as consideration for the distribution rights, the Company is
obligated to pay: a) $0.1 million upon execution of the distribution agreement; b) $0.2 million upon the confirmation of NDA
requirements; ¢) $1.0 million upon the initiation of clinical studies; d) $0.3 million upon FDA filing and acceptance; ¢) 50.4
million upon NDA approval; and f) perpetual royalties on net product sales, subject to annual minimum royalties of $2.0
million in year one and $4.0 million for every year thereafter, pro rated for any portion thereof, until the initial sale of 2
generic competitor to the product. The agreement expires at the termination or expiration of Arius’s master license agreement
with Reckitt Benckiser Healthcare (UK) Ltd., (January 2014) unless terminated for causes as defined in the agreement.

An aggregate of $1.6 million in acquired product rights were purchased from Arius (see a, b, ¢ and d above), $-0- and $0.2
million of which is accrued and included in “product development obligations™ in the accompanying 2006 and 2005
consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

Subsequent to the above referenced March transaction, Arius was acguired by BDSI and became a related party through
commen ownership and control,

Biologics distribution agreement with McKesson

In February 2004, the Company signed a biologics distribution agreement with McKesson (“McKesson™) Corporation to
convey to McKesson exclusive rights to distribute all current and future biolegic products developed or acquired by the
Company in the United States, Mexico and Canada. Pursuant to the agreement, McKesson remitted a $3.0 million non-
interest bearing refundabte deposit upon execution of the agreement and, as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, has been
included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as “deposits, related party”™. The refundable deposit will be
returned to McKesson upon termination of the agreement and McKesson will then cease to have the exclusive distribution
rights. The Company may repurchase the rights granted McKesson prior to FDA approval of the Company’s first biologic
product upon payment of the greater of $6.0 million or 3% of the sharcholders’ equity of the Company at the time of
termination. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will pay a monthly royalty on all net revenues of all biologic products
ticensed by the Company and reimburse McKesson for all costs of distribution, as defined in the agreement. The agreement
shall continue until the first to occur of 1) mutual written termination, 2) written notice of material breach, not cured, 3) 180
days afler McKesson requests termination, or 4) repurchase of the distribution rights by Accentia prior to FDA approval.
There were no biologics product sales subject to this agreement in 2006 and 2005.
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12. Income taxes -

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

September 30,

2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses deductible 10 futire .........oooveeeeeoeee oo $ 3,927,000 § 2,991,000
Allowance for doubtful ACCOUNLS............eieiiveeieoeeeeeeeeee oo 30,000 45,000
Basis difference i aSselS.......ocooiiiii oo 776,000 359,000
Inventory valuation allOWANCe ............cocoooeuiiioeoer oo 497,000 318,000
Stock based COMPENSAtON..........ov.eiiieeceeeceetes e oot ee oo 755,000 755,000
IEANGIDIES ..ot e e 1,628,000 1,628,000
Net operating loss carryforWard .................coocoooooiooior oo 44,716,000 31,849,000
OBET e et e e 623,000 —
Valuation AlIOWANCE ...........uuiiirierceeie st ee oo oo (52,335,000) (35,668,000)
617,000 2,277,000

Deferred tax liabilities:
IMANEIDIES oo e e s oo {617,000) {2,277,000)

5 — & —

Year ended September 30,

2006 2008 2004

CUITEAL ..ot $ — 5 — 3 —
DEfITCU oot (3,799,000) {352,000) 218,000
Benefit of net operating 1058 CATTYOVET . ...v.voee e (12,868,000) (13,816,000) (8,253,000)
Increase in valuation allowWance ...........oe.oveeveeveeeeeeeeeeaeoeoeoooeoeoeoee 16,667,000 14,168,000 8,035,000

¥ - 3 — 8 =
Allocation between continuing and discontinued operations:
CoNtinuIng OPErations. ........cc.oveemuiiiirieriiieseomoe e eeeees e 5 — § — 3 —
Discontinued OPerations ...........coo..vveorveeoeccoeeei e — — —

¥ — 3 — 5 —

The expected income tax benefit at the statutory tax rate differed from income taxes in the accompanying statements of
operations as follows:

2006 2005 2004
SHTBIULOTY TAX FALE...___.__.. oottt e e e e oo eeeeeeeeeee oo 34% 34% 34%
SEALE TAXES ... vveeieeect st cas st et h e sttt et eeee e e oo oo oo 4% 4% 4%
ACQUISIHION AAJUSIMEILS L....o.vvviieiesiiie st e oo e oo eeees oo — — —
OBRET e oo — @ —
Change in valuation BlLOWANCE ..........ovviweooe oo (38)% (36)Y% (38)%
Effective tax rate in accompanying statement of OPErations ...............ooveoeoooooooo 0% 0% 0%

During the year ended September 30, 2006, we had a change in our consolidated group for income tax purposes. Since our
initia] acquisition of Biovest, we had an ownership interest in excess of 80%. This allowed Biovest to join with us in filing a
consolidated federal income tax return. On December 7, 2005, our ownership interest in Biovest became less then 80%.

Effective as of this date, Biovest is now required to file a separate federal income tax return. Additionally, due to this
deconsolidation the net operating losses (NOLs) generated by Biovest during their time as a member of the consolidated
group are now NOLs to which Biovest is entitled. The provision for income taxes has been prepared as if we filed a
consolidated federal income tax return including Biovest.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than
not (a likelihood of more than 50 percent) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The
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valuation allowance should be sufficient 1o reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount that is more likely than not to be
realized. As a result, the Company recorded a valuation allowance with respect to all the Company’s deferred tax assels.

Under Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, if an ownership change occurs with respect to a “loss corporation”,
as defined, there are annual limitations on the amount of the net operating loss and other deductions, which are available to
the Company. Due to the acquisition transactions in which the Company has engaged in recent years, the Company believes
that the use of these net operating losses will be significantly limited. As a consequence of the initial public offering, the
Company may experience another such ownership change. Accordingly, our net operating loss carryforward arising before
such ownership changes may be also limited to offset future federal taxable income.

The Company has a federal net operating loss carryover of approximately $1 17.8 million as of September 30, 2006, which
expires through 2026, and of which $30.0 million is subject to various Section 382 limitations based upon ownership changes
that occurred through September 30, 2003. Of those losscs subject to the limitations, $1t.3 million is expected to expire
before the losses can be utilized. Of the remaining amounts, the limitation is approximately $1.8 million per year through
approximately the year ended September 30, 2012. After that, the annual limitation will decreasc to approximately $0.2
mitlion through September 30, 2024. We have not determined whether any ownership changes have occurred since
September 30, 2003 and therefore, our NOLs may be limited even beyond the amounts described above. Of the total NOLs,
$39.1 million is attributable 10 Biovest.

13. Stockholders’ equity

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the following common shares were issued:

Shares of common stock issued upon conversion of preferred shares ..o 20910908
Shares of commeon stock issued for cash at initial public offering, net of offering costs.....ocovi i 2.400,000
Shares of common stock issued in private equity transaction, net of offering Costs.......oi e 1.647,000
Shares of common $tock issued fOT TINANCE COSIS...oiiiiiiir s 100,000
Shares of common stock issue for cash upon the exercise of OPHONS. ... 30.872
Shares of common stock issued in cashless eXerciSe ... 533,253
Shares of common stock issued upon conversion of notes payable and acerued IMETESto.. v 506,734
Shares of common stock issued upon conversion of Series E preferred stock dividends ..., 17,091

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the following shares were issued:

Shares of common stock i55ued FOT CASI ... e 294,093
Shares of Series A preferred Stock fOr Cash ... 340,110
Shares of Series A preferred stock for extinguishment oF debt.....ooiiii 657,420

Total shares of Serics A preferred ISSUEd ..o 997,530
Shares of Series B preferred stock FOF CASH v 60,498
Shares of Series D preferred stock for cash ... 56,031
Sharcs of Series E preferred stock Or €ash....o i 11,763,728
Shares of Series E preferred stock for extinguishment 00 debl. ..o 743 685
Shares of Series E preferred stock for Heensing Fghts ... 1,140,034

Total Series E preferred shares 18SUBG. ..o s 13,647,447

During the year ended September 30, 2004, the following shares were issued:

Shares of common stock i5SUEd (0T CASN ..o it b 686
Shares of Serics A preferred stock iSSUd O CASH ......vvmirmemni i 1.235,037
Shares of Series E preferred stock issued for Cash.....orn 3,633,859
Shares of Series E preferred stock issued for extinguishment of debl ... 2037336

Commion stock

The Company has one class of common stock with an aggregate authorization of three hundred million shares. Each share of
common stock carries equal voting rights, dividend preferences, and a par value of $.001 per share.
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Preferred stock

The Company has an aggregate of one hundred twenty-five million authorized shares of convertible preferred stock
designated in five serics (the “preferred stock™), each at a par value of $1.00 per share as follows:

Convertible Preferred Shares authorized:

SEIIES A Lottt et e 10,000,000
SMES B oo 30,000,000
SEIIES C oottt et 10,000,000
SETIES Dottt et ettt e et 15,000,000
SETIES E. oottt 60,000,000

125,000,000

Series E preferred stock was gencrally issued with Class A and Class B warrants. These warrants were exercisable for Series
E preferred stock at an exercise price of $2.11 per share. These warrants expired upon closing of the initial public offering.
The Company has recorded a constructive dividend in 2005 of $4.9 million attributable to the fair value of warrants issucd in
connection therewith. The preferred stock was converted into shares of common stock during the year ended September 30,
2006.

Fair value determination of privatel-held equity securities

The fair values of the common and preferred stock as well as the common and preferred stock underlying options and
warrants granted as part of acquisition purchase prices or as compensation, issued during the period from April 2002 through
September 2004 were originally estimated by the board of directors, with input from managementi. The Company did not
obtain contemporaneous valuations by an unrelated valuation specialist until September 30, 2004. Subsequently, the
Company reassessed the valuations of these securities during the respective periods.

Determining the fair value of stock requires making complex and subjective judgments. The Company used the income and
market approaches to cstimate the value of the enterprise at each date on which securitics were issued/granted. The income
approach involves applying appropriate discount rates to estimated cash flows that are based on forecasts of revenue and
costs. Revenue forecasts were based on expected annual growth rates ranging from 9% to 177% based on management's
estimates. There is inherent uncertainty in these estimates. The assumptions underlying the estimates were consistent with the
Company’s business plan. The risks associated with achieving the forecasts were assessed in selecting the appropriate
discount rates, which ranged from 15% to 45%. I different discount rates had been used, the valuations would have been
different.

The enterprise value was then allocated to preferred and common shares taking into account the enterprise value available to
all stockholders and allocating that value among the various classes of stock based on the rights, privileges and preferences of
the respective classes.

Stock eptions and warrants

The company provides for two option plans, the 2003 Stock Option Plan (“2003™) per its second amendment on February 27,
2004, and the 2005 Equity [ncentive Plan (“2003™). Both plans provide for the issuance of qualified and non-qualificd
options as those terms are defined by the Internal Revenue Code.

The 2003 Plan, as amended, provides for the issuance of 3,500,000 shares of common stock, and 762,571 shares of Series D
Preferred Stock. At September 30, 2006, all Series D Preferred options have been converted into common share options. All
options issued, pursuant to the 2003 Plan, cannot have a term greater than ten years, Options granted under this plan vest over
periods established in the option agreement. As of Seplember 30, 2006, 1,673,373 options are outstanding under the 2003
Plan.

On February 1. 2005, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive
Plan. The 2005 Plan provides for the issuance of 3,000,000 shares of common stock. All options issued, pursuant to the 2005
Plan, cannot have a term greater than ten years. Options granted under this plan vest over periods established in the option
agreement. As of September 30, 2006, 513,619 options are outstanding under the 2005 Plan. The Company may, at any time,
amend or modify the Plan without limitation.
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Stock options and warrants issued, redeemed and owtstanding during the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are

as follows:

Options and warrants outstanding
September 30, 2003 ...
Options issued..........oooennininnecn,
Options terminated/forfeited..........
Warrants issued in connection
with preferred stock ..................
Warrants issued in connection
with $ErvICes ..o
Options exercised. ..o,

Options and warrants outstanding,
September 30,2004 ..................

Activity for the year ended
September 30, 2005:
Warrants issued........coooeenniiinn,
Options issued.......c..cooooveininen
Options terminated/forfeited..........
Warrants terminated.... ..o
Warrants exercised.........cc.cccoeeenen,
Options exercised.........ocniiininn
Rounding differences resulting
from reverse sphit .....ovoeiieeeen.

Options and warrants outstanding,
September 30, 2005 ..o

Activity for the year ended
September 30, 2006:
Options converted to common
OPLIONS..cciveiiciiiirinrir e ereeeniennes
Warrants issued...........cooovinnn
Options issucd..........oooeviniieneen,
Options terminated/forfeited...........
Warrants terminated........ocooenen
Warrants exercised.....ooooeiienn
Options exercised.......ococeevviiininin

Options and warrants outstanding,
Seplember 30, 2006 ...

Options outstanding .......ccveevierinres
Warrants outstanding ...

Options and warrants outstanding,
September 30, 2006 ...

Outstanding Optivas and Warrants to Acguire Average
Exercise
Common Preferred Preferred Preferred Preferred Preferred price

Stock Series A Series B Serivs C Series D Series E per share
793.192 — — 712,521 1,560,643 — 0.72
811,179 950,029 — 30.194 — 2.1
(71,914) — — — (18,378) — 1.77
— — — — — 9,642,789 2.11
401.387 760,023 — — 248,097 1,425,043 211
(686) — — — (3,946) — 1.05
1,833,158 760,023 950,029 712,521 1.816.610 11,067,832 .89
1,375,854 — — — — 3,874,903 315
71,737 — — — — — 3le
(58.882) — — (712,589) (14.678) — 1.16
— — — — (1.424.209) (4,372,633) 1.62
(292.921)  (760,095) — — (42,755)  (10,571,148) 2.10
(1,201) — (60.498) — (13,279) — 2.33

188 72 91 68 191 1,048
3,027,933 — 889,622 — 321,880 — 3.48
320,967 — (332,510 — (321,880 — 323
5,115,156 — — — - — 3.60
513,619 — — — — - 6.70
(74.243) — — — — — 5.37
(179,775) — (557,112) — — — 491
(390.638) — — — — — 0.01
(30,872} — — - — — 241
8,302,147 — — — — — 4.06
2,186,992 — — — — — 335
6,115,155 — — — — — 4.32
8.302,147 — — — — — 4.06
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The weighted average grant date fair values of stock options and warrants granted during the years ended September 30,
2006, 2005, and 2004 were as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Options Warrants
Year ended September 30, 2006 .........coooiooioeiie e $ 526 § 1.70
Year ended September 30, 2005 ....ovviiirieeeeee e, $ 105 § 2.69
Year ended September 30, 2004 .......oooviiieoen e $ 0.13 % 1.68

Stock-based compensation was approximately $1.2 million during the year ended September 30, 2006.

The following table summarizes information for options and warrants outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2006:

Options and Warrants Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
remaining Latrinsic exercise exercise Intrinsic
Range of Exercise Prices Number life VYalue price Number price Value
$0.00-1.05................ 600,990 6.54 years 3 1.05 600,990 § 1.05
$1.06-2.11 ... 583,851 7.04 years 21 565,224 2.11
$2.12-263 e 273,136 7.07 years 2.44 245978 242
$2.64-9.00................ 6,844,170 5.17 years 4,56 6,127,274 441
8,302,147 5.46 years$ 1,239,083 % 4.06 7,539,466 $ 391 § 1,230,234

The following table summarizes information for options and warrants outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2005;

Options and Warrants Quistanding Excreisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

remaining exercise exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Number life price Number price
F1O5 1,174,136 8.09 years $ 0.80 1,174,114 § 0.80
$1.06-2.11 o 703,691 8.00 years 2.11 494,332 2.11
$212-263 . 1,064,734 8.24 years 263 214,385 2.63
$2.64-533 317,562 8.91 years 4.77 241,083 528
$5.33-8.169 ..o 979,312 4,88 years 8.17 979,312 8.17
4,239,435 3,103,226

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested options as of September 30, 2006, and changes during the year ended
September 30, 2006, is summarized as follows:

Weighted-
Average Grant- Intrinsic
Nonvested Shares Shares Date Fair Value Value

Nonvested at October 1, 2005, ..o oo ee e oo 367,942

GIPBIIEE ..ottt et s e et ee e 513,619

WESHEA ...ttt et ee ettt s s ee e s e e ettt ettt e (409,773

FOTTRIEA ettt ee e e e s e e (37,855)

Nonvested at September 30, 2006 ..o 433,933 % 3.45 8,849

The total uncarned compensation cost of $ 1,868,878 relating to the 433,933 nonvested options as of September 30, 2006 will
be recognized over a weighted average period of two years.

14. Employee benefit plans

The Company maintains defined contribution benefit plans qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Any
employee who has met minimum service requirements may enroll. Participants may contribute a percentage of their
compensation within certain limits. Employer contributions are discretionary. The Company contributed approximately $0.1
million, $0.04 million, and $0.09 million, to the plan for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, respectively.
Participants are always 100% vested in their contributions and earnings. Employer contributions are fully vested after three
years of service.
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15, Operational resulis for Biovest

INEL SALES .otiiicriieiiireeererrtssararersemseesibesesabaerensarntssansnaaesteseesiasenanas
oSt O BALES ... rr e iy ean

GroSs MATEIN .ooii it ree s semn e ne e een e
Operating eXpPeNSCS....cviirriiecee e srisrarra e e e e oo e e eeare e

L0ss from operations ...
Interest iNCOME (CXPENSE] .cooverieriiiiiiiiiienin s
Other INCOME (EXPENSEY....viiriiieiierrir e sene e
Absorption of prior losses against minority interest...................

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted............
Loss attributable to common stockholder per common share ........

16. Segment information

For the year ended Scptember 30,

206 2005
Consolidated Consolidated
without without
Biovest Biovest Biovest Biovest
b 7,298,503 $ 17,759,545 5,077,305 20,117,477
3,889,277 4,496,026 3,749,729 4,483,596
3,409,226 13,263,519 1,327,576 15,633,881
15,425,283 317,868,798 12,388,878 30,844 468
(12,016,057} (24,605,279) (11,061,303) (21,210,579)
(1,876,644} (4,627,548) (395271)  (3,421,314)
240,922 (2,200,308) (22,737)  (8,775,165)
— 1,690,010 — 150,000
(13,651,779)  (29,743,125)  (11,479,311)  (33,257,058)
(40,739) — (5.552,128)
(13,651,779)  (29,783,864)  (11,479,311)  (38,809,186)
27,890,825 27,890,825 5,147,222 5,147,222
(0.49) (1.07) (2.23) (7.54)

We define our segment operating results as earnings {loss) beforc general and administrative costs, interest expense, interest
income, other income, discontinued operations and income taxes. Inter-segment sales of $0.3 million, $1.6 million, and 30.3
million for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, representing the sale of services from the
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment to the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment have been eliminated from

segment sales.

Segment information for the year ended September 30, 2006 is as follows:

Biopharmaceutical
Products Specialty
and Services Pharmaccuticals Total

Net sales:

PEOUCES ...ttt ae e e eme s et ettt s e e 5 5,194,967 § 7,448,762 § 12,643,729
Y 4 1 =< SO S VDU 12,414,319 — 12,414,319
Total net sales......ccoovvnviniivenrinnen. e eteeteeateniahiestereseniraaneieaeeeaneteeteeeeaeanarnaeeann 17,609,286 7,448,762 25,058,048
Cost of sales:

PROUCTS et te e e ee e e ee e n it e s b e e s e nrar e arens 2,215,212 2,445,393 4,660,605
SRIVICES 11rvetiresmeeeeteeeseeeaseestesearessemrasestmseseaseasseesasesseneassssssn e st arsarensessansesnnnanns 3,724,698 — 3,724,698
Total CoSt OF SAIES .coviiiii vt s 5,939.910 2,445,393 8,385,303
GITOSS MATZIIL 1.ttt et et s se e s et s st s e esseabssaneas 11,669,376 5,003,369 16,672,745
Sales and MAarketing ........ccooiiiiiiniin i e 467,204 13,505,550 13,972,754
Research and development. ... 14,561,111 — 14,561,111
TOUAL ASSEES 1vvvieiieirererreereeeeerttiereease st ntereseen e ntmsraseaasssmseeseneassemnemaeeesaeiabntaraes 46,361,926 10,774,316 57,136,242
GOOAWILL ..ttt ss st ra e s s vt et e e e e e e s e oo e et 1,193,437 — 1,193,437
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Segment information for the year ended September 30, 2005 is as follows:

Biopharmaceutical
Products Specialty
and Services Pharmaceuticals Total
Net sales:
PROAUCIS et $ 3956467 § 10,692,804 § 14,649,271
SBIVICES <.ttt ittt ettt ee e e s e e e et et ee et ess e et 10,545,511 — 10,545,511
TOMAl NET SAIES. ..ot r e e 14,501,978 10,692,804 25,194,782
Cost of sales;
PrOQUCES ..ot ee et 2,202,752 2,276,643 4,479,395
SEIVICES oottt es vt e et e e et ettt ettt et e 3,753,930 — 3,753,930
TOLAl COSL OT SALES ....vvvevisieiie et et e 5,956,682 2,276,643 8,233,325
GTOSS MIATEIN Lovteer e e e s et e et oot e e e 8,545,296 8,416,161 16,961,457
Sales and Marketing .......coioii e oo 1,858,789 13,305,278 15,164,067
Research and development ..........coo.ooo oo 10,907,862 — 10,907,862
TOUAL BRSEES ...ttt vttt st r s e s ene s e sesees st s es e 23,631,924 13,048,669 36,680,593
GOOAWIH ...ttt e e e 1,193,437 — 1,193,437
Segment information for the year ended September 30, 2004 is as follows:
Biepharmaceutical
Products Specialty
and Services Pharmaceuficals Total
Net sales:
PIOAUECES ottt ettt ettt et s e $ 2,364,188 § 11,939,089 § 14,303,277
ETVICES 1ottt ettt e es e oo eseeee et 11,632,343 — 11,632,343
TOtAl MEE SAIES.....cveeivevieiteeiecerie st ss e s e er s se e e s et be s 13,996,531 11,939,089 25,935,620
Cost of sales: "
PrOUCTS ...ttt ettt 1,513,510 2,339.370 3,852,880
SEIVICES ..ottt e et e e 4,960,710 — 4,960,710
TOtal COSE OF SALES. .....ooeeceeceeeee e et 6,474,220 2,339,370 8,813,590
GTOSS TIIATEIT .o ettt e oo e et e e et st st s e 7,522,311 9,599,719 17,122,030
Sales and marketing ..o e e 1.479.461 10,535,583 12,015,044
Research and development .............cocooooi oo 3,519,158 — 5,519,158
TOAL ASSELS ..ot ettt er et ee et e et et e s et et es et oo 14,375,796 13,756,838 28,132,634
GOOAWINL..... it e et ee e et et et e e 1,193,437 — 1,193,437

Domestic and foreign operations

As discussed in Note 3, during 2004, the Company made an insignificant acquisition of a foreign entity, IMOR. Total assets
and net losses of this operation were insignificant; however, total revenues agpregated approximately 22% of total revenues
of the Company since its acquisition. This entity, which is based in Germany, operates in the Biopharmaceutical Products and
Services Segment and its general segment data is included therein. Segment information on a geographic basis for the year

ended September 30, 2006 is as follows:

International
Domestic {Europe) Total
INEE SAIES ..ot ettt ettt et et eeeeeera st e s eraeeteneeets $ 20674822 $ 4383226 § 25,058,048
NELTOBS ottt et en sttt e et st (43,113,303) (281,601) (43,394,904)
TOAL ASSELS ....oucveeee e et e e et n et s et ee b 54,333,106 2,803,136 57,136,242
GOOAWITL. ..ottt e et s as e e an s aren 893,000 300,437 1,193,437

F-44




Segment information on a geographic basis for the year ended September 30, 2005 is as follows:

International
Domestic {Europe) Total
INEE BAIES .o etisssse e s seee e e eesesersesessessessessessenneneenreeneneeeeeeee B 20,468,614 8 4726168 § 25,194,782
NEt INCOME (0SS ). ueeiieriieieeitiirtisrsrreeetie e eteateeeseabeamsassassseseensenscnnsaennesnesseesmeansens (45,195,115) 458,746 (44,736,369)
TOMAD A SSRIS et ireeitiie et s iee st st s e et eere et e e e s e et e e s er e e e re e ane et e ere e e 34,177,901 2,502,692 36,680,593
GOOAWLIL..c e et et ettt s st s me s rerbe st eetesanaanbensena 893,000 300,437 1,193,437
Segment information on a geographic basis for the year ended September 30, 2004 is as {ollows:
International
Domestic (Europe) Total
Net sales ovvrninieeneee e eAreeeeerAteeiereteaeresee e bee e e ee s et eraenre s s inaeeea e e aarrnteearn $ 22,584,668 § 3350952 % 25935620
N OB ettt e re e et e et ettt a b e b et rabr e ara b et an e nennne (22,765,858) (460,083) (23,225,941)
TOtAL ASSEES ..eeiiiiiiiiiir ettt et et ene et e e ee e s ea s te e e sessbeeassseeansanan e e nneeere e e e annrenans 25,577,634 2,555,000 28,132,634
GROOAWI] .o et s e nb e aen b ne e e eabas 893,000 300,437 1,193,437

17. Product rights and obligations
a) Product rights and obligations

The Company has entered into certain product development and licensing agreements which provide for the acquisition of
product rights and performance payments based on achievement of milestones as it relates to product development.

Parties to these agreements are as follows:

. Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research (*“MAYO™)
. Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Arius”)

. Respirics, Inc. (“Respirics”)

. Mikart, Inc. (*Mikart™)

b) Stanford

In September 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with Stanford University (“Stanford™) providing for worldwide
rights to use two proprietary hybridoma cell lines that are used in the production of BiovaxID. These arc the same cell lines
that been used by researchers at Stanford and the National Cancer Institute to perform their studies of the hybridoma idiotype
vaceine in non-Hodgkins Lymphoma. This agreement gives the Company exclusivity to this cell line through 2019 in the
fieids of B-cell and T-cell cancers, and it provides non-exclusive rights in such fields of use at all times thereafter. The
agreement also gives the Company the right to sublicense or transfer the licensed biological materials to collaborators in the
licensed fields. Under the agreement with Stanford, the Company is obligated to pay Stanford an up-front license fee of
$15,000 within 30 days following the execution of the agreement, and an annual maintenance fee of $10,000 thereafter. If
BiovaxID is approved by the FDA, the agreement provides for a $100,000 payment to Stanford upon approval, and following
approval, Stanford will receive a royalty of the greater of $50.00 per patient or 0.05% of the amount received by us for each
BiovaxID patient treated using this cell line. This running royalty will be creditable against the yearly maintenance fee. The
agreement with Stanford obligates the Company to diligently develop, manufacture, market, and sell BiovaxID and to
provide progress reports to Stanford regarding these activities. The Company can terminate this agreement at any time upon
30 days prior written notice, and Stanford can terminate the agreement upon a breach of the agreement by the Company that
remains uncured for 30 days after written notice of the breach from Stanford.
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18. Commitments and contingencies

a) Operating leases

The Company has operating leases for various facilities, automobiles, machinery, and equipment, which expire at various
times through 2012. The annual aggregate rental commitments under non-cancelable leases are as follows:

Year ending September 30,

2007 et b e bbb eS b b oA A e b o4 A a2 et en e e nee e e e et an et e e s eneeenen $ 2,261,882
2D ettt ettt ettt et et 1ottt e ettt etee et ee e tat e e st et et et aeteratesreteretesreteneternanas 1,847,287
200 et r e st e st st et enet s er et et s s et s eserenoe e e ee e et ee s ee e ee e 1,665,041
20T ottt ettt ettt ettt et s e e e e e s s erene et eeerernen 930,342
ZOTL ettt ettt ettt ettt er ettt er Aot a2t ae et e 2t at et e e et me s e e een e e s e re e sr e e eeeteren 383,304

BTl = = PO 31,942

§ 7,119,798

The annual aggregate future rental income from sub-leases is as follows:

Year ending September 30,

2007 e bbbkt er ettt er ettt ar e 5 476,431
Z0DB <ottt e sttt a s e s st bt ettt st an e bes et r e 493,106
200T ettt e e en et e s e et en e eesoen e e st anes 187,751

£ 1,157,288

Rent expense for all operating leascs was approximately $3.2 million, $2.5 million, and $1.9 million for the years ended
September 30, 2006, 2065, and 2004 respectively. Rental income from subleases aggregated $0.1million, $0.4 million, and
$0.4 million for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and has been included in loss from
discontinued operations in the accompanying statements of operations.

b) Cooperative research and development agreement

In September 2001 Biovest entered into a definitive Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (“CRADA”) with
the National Cancer Institute (“NCI”) for the development and ultimate commercialization of patient-specific vaccines for the
treatment of non-Hodgkin’s low-grade follicular lymphoma. The terms of the CRADA, as amended, included, among other
things, a requirement to pay $0.5 million quarterly to NCI for expenses incurred in connection with the ongoing Phase 3
clinical trials. Since the transfer to Biovest of the IND for development of this vaccine, which occurred in April 2004, these
payments to NCI were reduced to approximately $580,000 annuaily. Failure to remit these reduced payments will constitute
the Company’s unilateral termination of the CRADA and Biovest will lose the rights to commercialize the results of its
collaborative research. The Company has funded the continuing development costs as described above, including the
renovation of our Worcester facility to meet FDA requirements. Successful development of the vaccine, if approved by the
FDA, from Phase 3 clinical trials through commercialization will commit Biovest to several years of significant expenditures
before revenues will be realized, if ever. The agreement was unilaterally terminated by the Company effective November 25,
2006.

The terms of the CRADA provide for the Company to be granted an exclusive option to negotiate with the NCI for a license
to commercialize certain intellectual property resulting from the research conducted pursuant to the CRADA. There can be
no assurance that research under the CRADA will be successful or, if it is successful, that the Company will be able to
negotiate a license on faverable terms. In addition, the Company may not be able to derive any revenue from a license for a
number of years.

¢) Government regulation

Government authorities in the United States at the federal, state, and local levels and foreign countries extensively regulate,
among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising, distribution, sampling,
marketing, and import and export of pharmaceutical products, biologics, and medical devices. All of our products in
development will require regulatory approval by government agencies prior to commereialization. In particular, human
therapeutic products are subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical trials and other approval procedures of the FDA and
similar regulatory authorities in foreign countries. Various federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations also
govern testing, manufacturing, safety, labeling, storage, and record-keeping related to such products and their marketing, The
process of obtaining these approvals and the subsequent process of maintaining substantial compliance with appropriate
federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. In

F-46




addition, statutes, rules, regulations, and policies may change and new legislation or regulations may be issued that could
delay such approvals.

d) Product liahility

The contract production services for the Company’s therapeutic products offered exposes the Company to an inherent risk of
liability as the proteins or other substances manufactured, at the request and to the specifications of customers, could
potentially cause adverse effects. The Company obtains agreements from contract production customers indemnifying and
defending the Company from any potential liability arising from such risk. There can be no assurance. however, that the
Company will be successful in obtaining such agreements in the future or that such indemnification agreements will
adequately protect the Company against potential claims relating to such contract production services. The Company may
also be exposed to potential product liability claims by users of its products. A successful partial or completely uninsured
claim against the Company could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations. Management believes that
insurance coverage is adequate to cover risks inherent in the business.

¢} Litigation

The Company’s Analytica subsidiary is a party to a litigation brought against a former employee, alleging breach of
covenants not to compete, breach of confidentiality agreements and misappropriation of proprietary information. This matter
is pending in the Supreme Court of New York, New York County. The defendant has filed an Answer containing
counterclaims against Anatytica, the Company and an officer of the Company. The Company has filed a motion seeking to
dismiss all claims naming the Company and the Company’s officer personally, and to dismiss certain claims against all
defendants. The Company has indicated that it plans to pursue its affirmative claims in this matter vigorously and will assert
all available defenses against the counterclaims, which the Company believes are withoul merit.

Further, from time to time the Company is subject to various legal proceedings in the normal course of business, some of
which is covered by insurance. Management believes that these proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the
financial statements.

f} Emplovment agreements

The Company has employment agreements with certain officers and executives, which extend from 18 to 60 months. These
agreements provide for base levels of compensation and separation benefits.

Future minimuim payments under these employment agreements are as follows:

Year ending September 30,

2007 §  3,209.000
2008 2,413,060
2009 1,986,000
2010 221,000

5 7,829,000

e —————————

19. New Market Tax Credit Financing

On April 25, 2006, Biovest, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Biovax, Inc. (“Biovax™) became the recipient of $3.0
million in net-funds under a qualified New Market Tax Credit Program (“NMTC”), The NMTC was provided for in the
Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000 (the “Act™) and is intended to induce investment capital in underserved and
impoverished arcas of the United States. The Act permits taxpayers (whether companies or individuals) to claim credits
against their Federal income taxes for up to 39% of qualified investments in qualified, active low-income businesses or
ventures. Biovax is a qualified, active low-income business and is eligible to receive investment capital under the NMTC.

NMTC investments are made though Community Development Entities (“CDE"™); such entities are qualified for this purpose
through the U.S. Department of the Treasury. The CDE investor in the Company’s financing arrangement is Telesis CDE 11,
LLC, which was established solely for this investment. Telesis CDE 1. LLC is managed and partially owned (0.01%) by
Telesis CDE Corporation, which is a private financial institution. The remaining equity interest in Telesis CDE I, LLC
(99.99%) is owned by Biovax Investments, LLC (the “Fund™), a company established solcly for the purpose of facilitating
this NMTC financing arrangement. The Fund equity is owned 99.99% by US Bancorp and 0.01% by Telesis CDE
Corporation.
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The fund was capitalized with $3.6 million equity from US Bancorp and a nominal equity investment by Telesis CDE
Corporation. In addition, Biovest and the Company, through a consolidated subsidiary, loaned $8.5 million to the Fund
pursuant te a 5.18%, annual rate, senior-secured, convertible note receivable, due in scven and one-half years. The note is
convertible at the option of the Fund into shares of Biovest’s common stock at a price based upon trading market prices of
Biovest's common stock near the maturity date in seven and one-half years. These proceeds received by the Fund from the
aforementioned financing transactions were used to make a contemporaneous 99.99% equity investment in Telesis CDE I,
LLC ($12.0 million) and payment for management, legal and accounting fees (50.1 million).

Telesis CDE I LLC, upon receipt of its equity funding, contemporaneously issued $11.5 million to Biovax for (a) a 1.0%
canvertible promissory note payable, due in seven and onc-half years, (b) warrants to purchase 1.2 million shares of
Biovest’s common stock over a period of nine-years at a fixed price of $9.00 and (¢} warrants to purchase 0.2 million shares
of the Company’s common stock over a period of seven years at a fixed price of $1.30. The convertible promissory note is
convertible into common stock at the option of Telesis CDE 11, LLC within 5 days of the maturity date at a conversion price
cqualing the then trading market price of the common stock. The overall arrangement provides that in the event Telesis CDE
I, LLC converts the note payable, the aforementioned note receivable is subject to immediate conversion at the same
conversion price.

Other salient terms and conditions of the NMTC financing arrangement are as follows:

1. The new market tax credits arising from this transaction were fully assigned to US Bancorp. Biovest, its
subsidiaries and certain related parties have entered into an indemnification agreement directly with US Bancorp
that provides for indemnification in the event of tax credit recapture from events caused by the Company.
Examples of events that would cause recapture are relocation out of the qualified zone or disqualification from
changes in Biovax’s employment mix. An example of an event that would not cause a recapture is a change in
the Internal Revenue Code that results in such recapture. The total indemnification amount could be $4.7 million
(representing 39% of the $12.0 million qualified invesument). However, in accordance with Financial
Interpretation 435 Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantecs, including Indircet
Guarantees of the [ndebtedness of Others, the conditions and events that could result in recapture are within
Biovest’s control. Therefore, the financial statements do not reflect a liability for this indemnification at
September 30, 2006.

In connection with the NMTC financing, the Company and US Bancorp entered into a put option wherein US
Bancorp will have the right to put it’s investment in the Fund 1o Biovest near the maturity of the instruments at a
price of $180,000. The counterparties also extended a purchase option to Biovest to purchase US Bancorp’s
interest in the fund near the maturity date at fair value. These instruments were evaluated pursuant to the
provisions of FAS133 and it was concluded that the put liability required recognition in Biovesi’s financial
statements because it is highly probable that, upon maturity, US Bancorp will put its investment in the Fund to
the Company.

(o]

3. Biovest, its subsidiarics and certain related parties have entered into a guaraniee arrangement with Telesis CDE
(1. Inc. for the debt service of Biovax. In addition, the Company has partially guaranteed debt service with
limitations established at no greater than $60,000 each year the instrument is outstanding. Biovest issued
warrants to purchase 1.0 million shares of common stock 10 the related parties as compensation for their
guarantees. The guarantees were treated in a manner similar to contributed service and the fair value of the
warrants issued for consideration was charged 1o expense upon issuance.

Accounting for the NMTC financing arrangement:

The Company evaluated the structure of the NMTC financing arrangement and entities so involved under the context of
FIN46. FIN46 provides a framework for determining whether certain entities should be consolidated (irrespective of equity
ownership} based upon a variable interests model. This model determines the contrel and consolidation based upon potential
variability in gains and losses of the entity being evaluated for consolidation. Generally, a variable interest holder that
absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, if they occur, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual return, it
they occur, or both is identified as the primary beneficiary for consolidation purposes.
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The Company concluded that the Fund and Telesis CDE I, LLC met the definition of variable interest entity. However, for
Biovest to be required to apply the provisions of the Interpretation. it must have a variable interest in the entity. Variable
mterests in a variable interest entity are contractual, ownership or other money interests in an entity that change with changes
in the value of the net assets of the entity. The following table illustrates the variable interests have been identified in each of
the entities considered by the Company and the related holder:

Variable Interests

Variable Interest Holder Variable Interests Fund Telesis CDEI1, LL.C
Biovest and its Related Parties Senior beneficial interest Senior beneficial interest
Guaranty Agreement Guarantee Agreement
Indemnification Agreement Call (Biovest Equity)

Put (VIE Equity)
Call (VIE Equity)

Fund VIE Equity (99.9%)
US Bancorp VIE Equity (99.9%} Tax Credit Rights
Biovest Investment Comp. VIE Equity (0.01%)

Telesis CDE, Ing, VIE Equity {0.01%}

The above table iHlustrates the weight of the variable interests that are held by Biovest. In addition, in performing quantitative
valuation, the Company afforded significant weight to the guarantee agreement, indemnification and put feature, the
preponderance of which limit the equity investor’s risk of loss on the venture, In evaluating both qualitative and quantitative
considerations, the Company has concluded that its variable interests in the entity absorb most of the entities’ losses and
should, thercfore, consolidate the entities under the scope of FIN46.

The assets and liabilitics of the variable interest entities, identified above, are limited to the instruments referred to in the
description of the NMTC financing arrangement above, In accordance with consolidation principles, these assets and
liabilities are eliminated in consolidation leaving the non-controlling interests of US Bancorp and Telesis CDE Corporation
reflected on Biovest’s and therclore Accentia’s consolidated balance sheet. All intercompany accounts will continue to be
climinated so long as (i) the entities meet the definition of variable interest entities and (i1) Biovest is the primary beneficiary.

20. Quarterly financial data

2006
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
Net 5ales oo $ 6817966 § 7,053,925 $ 5,726,527 $ 5,459,030
Gross profit 4942193 4,403,310 3,360,552 3,966,690
INCEEOSS 1ot (317,026) (13.797,533) (12,131,710} (17,148,635)
Nel loss per share available to common
stockholders ... g 002) $ 047) $ {0.40) § (0.54)
2005
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
INEESAIES oo $ 4517119 § 7,575,192 3§ 5608307 % 7,494,164
Gross profit 2,302,788 5,402,034 3,664,055 5,592,580
NCLIOSS et e (11,032,146) (7.649,767) (9,919,840) (16,134,616)
Net loss per share available to common
SLOCKROIARTS oo\ $ (3.12) § (1.53) § {193 § (3.12)
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21. Subsequent Events
Amendments to PPD Agreements.

On October 9, 2006, the Company cntered into an agreement with Pharmaco Investments, Inc. (“PPD") titled “Amendment
No. 1 o the First Amended and Restated Royalty Stream Purchase Agreement” (the “Amendment™), amending the Royalty
Stream Purchase Agreement dated September 7, 2004 and the First Amended and Restated Royalty Stream Purchase
Agreement dated August 11, 2005 (collectively the Royalty Stream Agreements™). The Amendment contains a provision
allowing either the Company or PPD to elect to terminate the Amendment at any time prior fo December 31, 2006 upon
written notice to the other party. In the event of such termination, the Company would be required 1o pay to PPD, upon
receipt of a proper invoice, for all direct labor costs incurred in the provision of the Services, as defined in the Agreement.
Upon such a termination and the payment of the invoiced direct labor costs, the royalty rate for future sales of SinuNase shall
revert to a 7% rate as defined in the Royalty Stream Agreements.

On December 15, 2006, the Company gave notice to PPD of its election to exercise its option to terminate services in
accordance with the provisions contained in Amendment #1 to the First Amended and Restated Royalty Stream Purchase
Agreement dated as of September 26, 2006. The election was effective as of the close of business on December 28, 2006. As
a result of this termination, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, the amount of the “Royalty Stream™ to be paid by the
Company as defined in the applicable agreements will be reduced to 7%.

Asset sale

On October 27, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment and termination of its Distribution Agreements with Argent
Development Group, LLC (“Argent”) and Ryan Phanmaceuticals, Inc. (“Ryan™). Under those agreements, the Company held
a license to three formulations of pain products marketed under the name “Xodol” (the “Xodol Products™). Under the
amendment and termination, the Company relinquished its license to the Xodol products. In addition, the Company
terminated its rights in and to certain other formulations of pain products licensed from Argent and Ryan.

Simultaneously, on October 27, 2006, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with a non-affiliate third-
party purchaser (the “Purchaser™) whereby the Purchaser purchased from the Company all rights to market and distributc the
Xodol Products in North America. and the Company terminated all of its rights pursuant to a Supply Agreement with Mikart,
Inc. (“Mikart™) for the Xodol Products. In connection with this transaction, the Company agreed to make payment for
specific quantity of returned Xodol Products being received from Cardinal Health while the Purchaser has agreed to assume
responsibility for all future returned products, discounts and chargebacks associated with the Xodol Products.

New Markers Tax Credits

On December 8, 2006, the Company’s majority-owned subsidiary, Biovest, through its wholly owned subsidiary, AutovaxID,
Inc. (“AutovaxID™) closed a financing transaction (the “Transactions™) that was structured in an effort to obtain certain
perceived advantages and enhancements from the New Markets Tax Credit regulations adopted under the auspices of the
United States Department of the Treasury in 2002 to provide incentive for investing in businesses located in “qualifying
census tracts,” or areas with a median income below the poverty line. Autovax!ID is presently located in a qualifying census
tract, and the New Plant (as defined below) will be located in a qualifying census tract.

In the Transaction, AutovaxID entered into a QLICI Loan Agreement where St. Louis New Markets Tax Credit Fund-11, LLC
{the “CDE") made a loan to AutovaxID, evidenced by a Subordinated Promissory Note dated as of December &, 2006, in the
principal amount of $7.700,000 (*CDE Loan™). The CDE Loan has a maturity date of December 8, 2036 and is described in
more detail below, qualified entirely by the QLICI Loan Agreement attached as an exhibit. The following parties were
mmvolved in the Transaction: AutovaxID, the Company, Biovest’s majority shareholder, Biolender 11, LLC (“Biolender 117),
the CDE, St. Louis Development Corporation (“SLDC™), AutovaxID Investment LLC (“Leverage Fund”), U.S. Bancorp
Community Investment Corporation (“USBCIC") and Laurus Master Fund, Lid, (“Laurus™).

Under a License and Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of December 8, 2006, Biovest granted a nonexclusive license to the
intellectual property enabling AutovaxID to manufacture and sell automated cell culture instruments in the United States,
Canada and Mexico (the “License™), which license will become exclusive upon the occupancy by AutovaxID of a space
located at 1031 Macklind Avenue, St. Louis, Missouri (the “New Plant”). Biovest also agreed to sell AutovaxID certain
cquipment (the “Equipment”) to Autovax[D upon the occupancy by AutovaxID of the New Plant. AutovaxID must use its
best efforts to occupy the New Plant by March 31, 2007, and must occupy the new plant by June 15, 2007. As full purchase
price for the License and related business opportunity, AutovaxiD paid Biovest $3,600,000. Upon the attainment of
occupancy of the New Plant, AutovaxID will pay Biovest fair market value for the Equipment, which is estimated to be
$896.100.
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On December 8, 2006, we loaned to Biovest $3,100,000 pursuant to a Secured Promissory Note {the “Accentia Note™) in
order to facilitate Biovest’s ability to close the Transaction. Under the terms of the Accentia Note, interest shall accrue at a
rate equal to prime rate, payable upon demand of the Company. Biovest shall pay principal and interest as follows:

(a) $1,100,000 was paid to the Company upon the closing of the Transaction and (b) the remaining $2,000.000 of principal

and all accrued and unpaid interest shall be paid by Biovest upon demand by the Company.

All amounts payable by AutovaxI[ under the CDE Loan are guaranteed by Biovest. In addition, Biovest and certain officers,
directors and shareholders of Biovest and/or the Company {and related trusts) (“Individual Guarantors™) guarantee the
payment of all obligations under AutovaxID’s indemnity to USBCIC. The Individual Guarantors’ obligations are
proportionate and provide for a maximum aggregate liability for each of the Individual Guarantors as set forth in the
Guaranty Agreement. Biovest entered into Indemnity Agreements with the Individual Guarantors, and, in consideration of
such guaranties, has granted warrants to the [ndividual Guarantors for the purchase of a total of 2,629,543 shares of Biovest’s
commeon stock at $1.10 per share in proportion to the amounts of their guaranties.

SLDC has used a portion of the credits allocation transaction fee it received from Biovest in order to purchase 326,098 shares
of Biovest’s common stock, valued at $1.10 per share, Biovest issued its shares to SLDC under a transaction that was exempt
from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™), by virtue of Rule 506 of Regulation D
under the Securities Act. Such sale and issuance did not invelve a public offering, was made without general solicitation or
advertising, and St. Louis Development Corporation is an accredited investor with access to all relevant information
necessary to evaluate the investment, representing to Biovest that the common stock was being acquired for investment,

Restructure of Intercompany Agreements with Biovest

. The Company and Biovest entered into a Royalty Agreement that terminated and superseded the Biologics

] Products Commercialization Agreement (the “Biologics Commercialization Agreement™), dated August 17,
2004, between the two companies. The Biologies Commercialization Agreement had provided that the Company
was the exclusive commercialization partner for Biovest's biologic products and was entitled to 49% of Biovest’s
net profits from the sale of biologic products. Net revenue as used in the Biologics Cormmercialization
Agreement included all receipts from the sale, license, sub-license, joint venture or other receipts from each
Biovest biologic product less all expenses including the costs of product acquisition, research, manufacture,
sales, distribution, commercialization and governmental regulation. The new Royalty Agreement provides that
the Company is no longer Biovest’s exclusive commercialization partner and replaces the share of net profits
with a 19.5% rovalty based on net sales of biologics products. The products and territory subject to the Royalty
Agreement remain identical to those terms as previously contained in the Biologics Commercialization
Agreement. In consideration for the Company entering into this Royalty Agreement, Biovest agreed to issue to
the Company five millien new shares of Biovest common stock, representing the independently appraised value
to Biovest of the new agreement.

. The Company and Biovest entered into a Termination Agreement under which the Company agreed to
immediately terminate its absolute anti-dilution rights that were granted te the Company pursuant to the First
Right of Refusal Agreement dated June 16, 2003 with Biovest. In consideration of the Company’s termination of
the First Right of Refusal Agreement, Biovest issued to the Company five million additional new shares of
Biovest common stock.

. The Company and Biovest entered into a Purchase Agreement whereby Biovest purchased the Company’s 70.5%
ownership interest in Biolender, LLC (“Biolender™). Biolender is the entity that was formed by Biovest and the
Company to participate in Biovest’s New Market Tax Credit enhanced financing that closed on April 23, 2006.
Biolender’s principal assets is a promissory note in principal amount of $8.5 million which is anticipated to be
repaid in approximately seven years when Biovest is required to repay the Joan that it received as part of this
New Market Tax Credit enhanced financing. in consideration of the sale of this interest in Biolender, Biovest
agreed to issue to the Company ten million additional new shares of Biovest common stock, representing the
negotiated value of the purchased interest.

. In order to consummate the foregoing transactions, the Company was required to obtain the consent of its senior
lender, Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. {*Laurus”), under the Company’s loan agreements with Laurus. In
consideration for providing such consent, the Company entered into an agreement with Laurus pursuant to which
Laurus consented to the above-described agreements and the Company issued to Laurus a warrant to purchase
10 million outstanding shares of Biovest common stock owned by the Company at an exercise price of $.01 per
share. The warrant expires in October 2012.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report
10 be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:/s/ Francis E. O’ Donnell, Jr.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:/s/ Alan M. Pearce

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Date: December 29, 2006

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and as of the date indicated:

Signature Title Date

Chief Executive Ofticer; Chairman ofthe Board; December 29, 2006

By"s’l Francis E. O"Donnell, Jr, M.D. Director (Principal Exccutive Officer)

Francis E. O'Donnell, Ir., M.D.

Chief Financial Officer; Director (Principal December 29, 2006
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting

By,/s/ Alan M, Pearce Officer)

Alan M. Pearce

Director; President and Chief Operating Officer, December 29, 2006

By'/s‘/ Steven R, Arikian, M.D. Biopharmaceutical Products and Services

Steven R. Arikian, M.D.

s/ David M, Schubert Director December 29, 2006
David M. Schubert

By

By,fs/ John P. Dubinsky Director December 29, 2006
John P. Dubinsky

By_/s/ Todd D. Thomason Director December 29, 2006
Todd D. Thomason

By,/s/ Edmund C. King Director December 29, 2006

Edmund C. King
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Registrar and Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10038

(800) 937-5449

www.amstock.com

Stock Trading Symbol
Accentia's shares trade on the The Nasdag Stock Market® under the symbol “ABPI"

Annual Meeting

Accentia’s 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on February 28, 2007, at
11:00 a.m. (local time). The meeting will be held at the St. Louis Club, 7701 Forsyth Blvd.,
Clayton, Missouri 63105.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Aidman, Piser & Company

401 East Jackson St., Suite 3400
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813)222-8555

WwWWw.apcpa.com

Corporate Headquarters

324 South Hyde Park Ave., Suite 350
Tampa, Florida 33606

(813) 864-2544

www.accentia.net

Investor Relations Firm

The Investor Relations Group

11 Stone St., 3rd Floor

New York, New York 10004
(212) 825-3210
www.investorrelationsgroup.com

Quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and the Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission are available in the "Investor Relations” section of Accentia’s
website at www.accentia.net and can be obtained by calling Accentia's investor relations
firm, The tnvestor Relations Group, at 212-825-3210.

Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this Annual Repart, inciuding the letter from our CEQ that are not strictly historical in noture constitute “forword-
locking stotements.” Such stotements include, but are net limited to, statements about our praducts, product candidetes, and
product development progroms, Such stotements moy include, without limitation, statements with respect to the Company’s
' plans, objectives, expectations ond intentions ond other stotements identiffed by words such as “may, " “cowld,” "would,” “should,”
“hetieves,” “expects,” “onticipotes,” “estimates,” “intends,” “plons” or similer expressions. Such forward-lpoking stetements
involve known and unknown risks, uncertointies, and other foctors that may couse the octual resuits of Accentia to be moterially
different from historicol results or frem any resuits expressed or implied by such forword-looking statements. These foctors
include, but are not limited to, risks ond uncertainties reloted to the progress, timing, cost, and results of clinical trials ond
praduct development programs; timing of product founches, difficulties or defays in obtoining reguletory approval for product
condidates; competition fram other phermaceoticol or biotechnology componies; end the additiono! risks discussed in filings
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